
^tf^Hli
HBmHL





-K.

.,^•7; ;' 0h.









MEMOIRS

NAPOLEON BONAPARTE.









Empress Josephine.

Photo- Etching.— After Painting by Pauquet.





MEMOIRS
OF

NAPOLEON BONAPARTE

BY

LOUIS ANTOINE FAUVELET DE BOURRIENNE

l^is ^rttiatc Srrrctarg

TO WHICH ARE ADDED AN ACCOUNT OF THE IMPORTANT EVENTS OF THE

HUNDRED DAYS, OF NAPOLEON's SURRENDER TO THE ENGLISH,

AND OF HIS RESIDENCE AND DEATH AT ST. HELENA, WITH

ANECDOTES AND ILLUSTRATIVE EXTRACTS FROM

ALL THE MOST AUTHENTIC SOURCES

EDITED BY R. W. PHIPPS

Colonel, late Royal Ayiillery

mew and revised edition, with numerous illustrations

in four volumes

Vol. IL

NEW YORK
MERRILL AND BAKER

PUBLISHERS



Sintijcrsttg i^rrss

:

John Wilson and Son, Cambridge, U.S.A.



Dc
25S

CONTENTS OF VOLUME 11.

CHAPTER I.

1800.

(Pages 1-20.)

Bonaparte's coujadence iu the army. Ma belle France. The convent

of Bernardins. Passage of Mont St. Bernard. Arrival at the convent.

Refreshments distributed to the soldiers. Mont Albaredo. Artillery dis-

mounted. Tiie fort of Bard. Fortunate temerity. Bonaparte and Melas.

The spy. Bonaparte's opinion of M. Necker. Capitulation of Genoa.

Intercepted despatch. Lannes at Montebello. Boudet succeeded by
Desaix. Coolness of the First Consul to M. Collot. Conversation and
recollections. The battle of Marengo. General Kellerinan. Supper sent

from tlie Convent del Bosco. Particulars respecting the death of Desaix.

The Prince of Liechtenstein. Return to Milau. Savary and Rapp.

CHAPTER II.

1800.

(Pages 21-36.)

Suspension of ho.stilities. Letter to the Con.snls. Second occupation

of Milan. Bonaparte and Masscna. Public acclamations and the voice

of Josephine. Stray recollections. Organisation of Piedmont. Sabres of

honour. Rewards to the army of the Rhine. Pretended army of reserve.

General Zach. Anniversary of the 14th of July. Monument to Desaix.

Desaix and Foy. Bonaparte's speech in the Temple of Mars. Arrival

of the Consular Guard. Tlie bones of Marshal Turenne. Lucien's suc-

cessful speech. Letter from Lucien to Joseph Bonaparte. The First

Consul's return to Paris. Accidents on the road. Difficulty of gaining

lasting fame. Assassination of Kle'ber. Situation of the terrace on wliich

Kle'ber was stabbed. Odious rumours. Arrival of a courier. A night

scene. Bonaparte's distress on perusing the despatches from Egypt.



vi CONTENTS.

CHAPTER III.

1800-1801.

(Pages 37-59.)

Bonaparte's wish to negotiate with England and Austria. An emi-

grant's letter. Domestic details. The bell. Conspiracy of Ce'racchi,

Arena, Harrel, and others. Bonaparte's visit to the opera. Arrests.

Harrel appointed commandant of Viucennes. The Due d'Engliien's

foster-sister. The 3d Nivose. First performance of Haydn's " Creation."

Tlie infernal machine. Congratulatory addresses. Arbitrary condemna-

tions. M. Tissot erased from the list of the bani.shed. M. Truguet.

Bonaparte's hatred of the Jacobins explained. The real criminals dis-

covered. Justification of Fouche'. Execution of St. Re'gent and Carbon.

Caesar, Cromwell, and Bonaparte. Conversation between Bonaparte and

Fouche. Pretended anger. Fouche's dissimulation. Lucien's resigna-

tion. His embassy to Spain. War between Spain and Portugal. Dinner

at Fouche''s. Treachery of Joseph Bonaparte. A trick upon the First

Consul. A three days' coolness. Keconciliation.

CHAPTER IV.

1800-1801.

(Pages GO-71.)

Austria bribed by England. M. de St. Julien in Paris. Dnroc's mis-

sion. Rupture of the armistice. Surrender of three garrisons. IM. Otto

in London. Battle of Hohenlinden. Madame Moreau and Madame
Hulot. Bonaparte's ill-treatment of the latter. Congress of Luneville.

General Clarke. M. Maret. Peace between France and Austria. Joseph

Bonaparte's speculations in the funds. M. de Talleyrand's advice Post-

office regulation. Cambace'res. Importance of good dinners in the affairs

of Government. Steamboats and intriguers. Death of Paul I. New
thoughts of the re-establishment of Poland. Duroc at St. Petersburg.

Bribe rejected. Death of Abercromby.

CHAPTER V.

1801-1802.

(Pages 72-82.)

An experiment of royalty. Louis de Bourbon and Maria Louisa of

Spain. Creation of the Kingdom of Etruria. The Count of Leghorn in



CONTENTS. vii

Paris. Entertainments given him. Bonaparte's opinion of the King of

Etruria. His departure for Florence, and had reception there. Negotia-

tions with the Pope. Bonaparte's opinion on religion. Te Deum at Notre
Dame. Behaviour of the people in the church. Irreligion of the Con-
sular Court. Augereau's remark on the Te Deum. First Mass at St.

Cloud. Mass in Bonaparte's apartments. Talleyrand relieved from his

clerical vows. My appointment to the CouncQ of State.

CHAPTER VI.

1802.

(Pages 83-88.)

Last chapter on Egypt. Admiral Gantheaume. "Way to please Bona-
parte. General Menou's flattery and his reward. Davoust. Bonaparte
regrets giving the command to Menou, who is defeated by Abercromby.
M. Otto's negotiation in London. Preliminaries of peace.

CHAPTER VII.

1802.

(Pages 89-103.)

The most glorious epoch for France. The First Consul's desire of

peace. Malta ceded and kept. Bonaparte and the English journals.

Mr. Addington's letter to the First Consul. Bonaparte prosecutes Peltier.

Leclerc's expedition to St. Domingo. Tonssaint Louverture. Death of

Leclerc. Pochambeau, his successor, abandons St. Domingo. First symp-
toms of Bonaparte's malady. Josephine's intrigues for the marriage of

Hortense. Falsehood contradicted.

CHAPTER VIII.

1802-1803.

(Pages 104-115.)

Bonaparte President of the Cisalpine Republic. Meeting of the deputa-

tion at Lyons. Malta and the English. My immortality. Fete given
by Madame Murat. Erasures from the emigrant list. Pestitution of

property. General Sebastiani. Lord "Whitworth. Napoleon's first .symp-

toms of disease. Corvisart. Influence of physical suffering on Napoleon's



viii CONTENTS.

temper. Articles for the " Moniteur." General Andreossi. M. Talley-

rand's ])nn. Jc'rume Bonaparte. Extravagance of Bonaparte's brothers.

M. CoUot and the navy contract.

CHAPTER IX.

1802.

(Pages 116-125.)

Proverbial falsehood of bulletins. M. Doublet. Creation of the

Legion of Honour. (Opposition to it in the Council and other authori-

ties of the State. The partisans of an hereditary system. The question

of the Consulship for life.

CHAPTER X.

1802.

(Pages 126-143.)

General Bernadotte pacifies La Vende'e and suppresses a mutiny
at Tours. Bonaparte's injustice towards him. A premeditated scene.

Advice given to Bernadotte, and Bonaparte disappointed. The First

Consul's residence at St. Cloud. His rehearsals for the Empire. His

contempt of mankind. Mr. Fox and Bonaparte. Information of plans

of assassination. A military dinner given by Bonaparte. Moreau not of

the party. Effect of the Senatus-consultes on the Consulate for life.

Journey to Plombieres. Previous scene between Lucien and Josephine.

Theatrical representations at Neuilly and Malmaison. Loss of a watch,

and honesty rewarded. Canova at St. Cloud. Bonaparte's reluctance to

stand for a model.

CHAPTER XL

1802.

(Pages 144-1.55.)

Bonaparte's principle as to the change of Ministers. Fouche'. His

influence with the First Consul. Fouche''s dismissal. The departments

of Police and Justice united under Begnier. Madame Bonaparte's regret

for the dismissal of Fouche'. Family scenes. Madame Louis Bona-

parte's pregnancy. False and infamous reports to Josephine. Legiti-

macy and a bastard. Boederer reproached by Josephine. Her visit to

Kuel. Long conversation with her. Assertion at St. Helena respecting

a great political fraud.



CONTENTS. ix

CHAPTER XII,

1802.

(Pages 15G-170.)

Citizen Fesch created Cardinal Fescli. Arts and industry. Exhibition

in tlie Louvre Aspect of Paris in 1802. The Medicean Venus and tlie

Velletrian PaUas. Signs of general pro.sperit}-. Rise of the funds.

Irresponsible Ministers. The Bourbons. The military Government.
.Annoying familiarity of Lannes. Plan laid for his disgrace. Indigna-

tion of Lannes. His embassy to Portugal. The delayed despatch.

Bonaparte's rage. I resign my situation. Duroc. I breakfast with

Bonaparte. Duroc's intercession. Temporary reconciliation.

CHAPTER Xin.

1802-1803.

(Pages 171-180.)

The Concordat and the Legion of Honour. The Council of State and
the Tribunate. Discussion on the word " subjects." Chenier. Chabot de
I'Allier's proposition to the Tribunate. The marked proof of national

gratitude. Bonaparte's duplicity and self-command. Reply to the

Senatus-consulte. The people consulted. Consular decree. The most,

or the least. M. de Vaublanc's speech. Bonaparte's reply. The addresa

of the Tribunate. Hopes and predictions thwarted.

CHAPTER XIV.

1802-1803.

(Pages 181-190.)

Departure for Malmaison. LTnexpected question relative to the Bour-
l)ons. Distinction between two opposition parties. New intrigues of

Lucien. Camille Jordan's pamphlet seized. Vituperation against the

liberty of the press. Hevisal of the Constitution. New Senatus-consulte.

Deputation from the Senate. A u; Hence of the Diplomatic Body. Jose-

phine's melancholy. The discontented. Secret meetings. Fouche and
the police agents. The Code Napoleon. Bonaparte's regular attendance
at the Council of State. His knowledge of mankind, and the science of

government. Napoleon's first sovereign act. His visit to the Senate.



X CONTENTS.

The Consular procession. Polite etiquette. The Senate and the Council

of State. Coniplaints a|i;aiiist Lucieu. The deaf and dumb assembly.

Creation of seuatorsbips.

CHAPTER XV.

1802.

(Pages 191-202.)

The intoxication of great men. Unlucky zeal. MM. Maret, Cham-
pagny, and Savary. M. de Talleyrand's real services. Postponement of

the execution of orders. Fouche' and the Revolution. The Koyalist com-
mittee. The charter first planned during the (Consulate. Mission to

Cobleutz. Influence of the Royalists upon Josephine. The statue and
the pedestal. Madame de Genlis' romance of Madame de la Valliere.

The Legion of Honour and the carnations. Influence of tlie Faubourg
St. Germain. Inconsiderate step taken by Bonaparte Louis XVIII.'s

indignation. Prudent advice of the Abbe Andre. Letter from Louis

XVIII. to Bonaparte. Council held at Neuilly. Tlie letter delivered.

Indifference of Bonaparte, and satisfaction of the Royalists.

CHAPTER XVI.

1802.

(Pages 203-220.)

The day after my di.sgrace. Renewal of my duties. Bonaparte's

affected regard for me. Offer of an assistant. M. de Mcneval. My
second rupture with Bonaparte. The Due de Rovigo's account of it.

Letter from M. de Barbe Marbois. Real causes of my separation from

the First Consul. Postscript to the letter of M. de Bar])e Marbois. The
black cabinet. Inspection of letters during the Consulate. I retire to

St. Cloud. Communications from M. de Me'neval. A week's conflict

between friendsliip and pride. My formal dismissal. Petty revenge.

My request to visit England. Monosyllabic answer. Wrong suspicion.

Burial of my papers. Communication from Duroc. My letter to the

First Consul. The truth acknowledged.

CHAPTER XVIL

1803.

(Pages 221-228.)

The First Consul's presentiments re.specting the duration of peace.

England's uneasiness at the prosperity of France. Bonajjarte's real



CONTENTS. xi

wisli for wnr. Concourse of foreipjiiers in Paris. Bad faitli of England.

Bonaparte and Lord Whitworth. Relative position of France and Eng-

land. Honaparte's journey to the seal)oar(I departments. Breakfast at

Conii)iegne Father Berton. Irritation excited by the presence of Bou-

quet. Father Berton 's derangement and death. Rapp ordered to send

for me. Order countermanded.

CHAPTER XVIII.

1803.

(Pages 229-234.)

Vast works undertaken. The French and the Roman soldiers. Itiner-

ary of Bonaparte's journeys to the coast. Twelve hours on horseback.

Discussions in Council. Opposition of Truguet. Bonaparte's opinion

on the point under discussion. Two divisions of tlie world. Europe a

province. Bonaparte's jealousy of tlie dignity of France. The English-

man in the dockyard of Brest. Public audience at the Tuileries. The
First Consul's remarks upon England. His wish to enjoy the good

opinion of the English people. Ball at Malmaison. Lines on Hortense's

dancing. Singular motive for giving the ball.

CHAPTER XIX.

1803.

(Pa<];os 235-243.)

Mr. Pitt. Motive of his going out of office. Error of the English

Government. Pretended regard for the Bourbons. Violation of the

treaty of Amiens. Re(i]n'ocal accusations. Malta. Lord Whitworth's

departure. Rome and Carthage. Secret satisfaction of Bonaparte.

Message to the Senate, the Legislative Body, and the Tribunate. The
King of England's renunciation of the title of King of France. Com-
plaints of the English Government. French agents in British ports.

Views of France upon Turkey. Observation made by Bonaparte to the

Legislative Body. Its false interpretation. Conquest of Hanover. The
Duke of Caml)ridge caricatured. The King of England and the Elector

of Hanover. First address to the clergj'. Use of the word " Monsieur."

The Republican weeks and months.



xii CONTENTS.

CHAPTER XX.

1803.

(Pages 244-2.51 )

Presentation of Prince Borghcse to Bonaparte. Departure for Bel-

gium. Revival of a royal custom. Tlie swans of Amiens. Change of

formula in the acts of Government. Company of performers in Bona-

parte's suite. Revival of old customs. Division of the Institute into

four classes. Science and literature. Bonaparte's hatred of literary

men. Ducis. Bernardin de Saint-Pierre. Chenier and Lemercier. Ex-

planation of Bonaparte's aversion to literature. Lalande and iiis dic-

tionary. Education in the hands of Government. M. de Roquelaure,

Archbishop of Maliues.

CHAPTER XXI.

1804.

(Pages 252-268.)

The Temple. The intrigues of Europe. Prelude to the Continental

system. Bombardment of Granville. My conversation with the First

Consul on tlie projected invasion of England. Fauche Borel. Moreau
and Pichegru. Fouche's manoeuvres. The Abbe David and Lajolais.

Fouche's visit to St. Cloud. Regnier outwitted by Fouche'. My inter-

view with the First Consul. His indignation at the reports respecting

Hortense. Contradiction of these calumnies. The brothers Faucher.

Their execution. The First Consul's levee. My conversation with Duroc.

Conspiracy of Georges, Moreau, and Pichegru. Moreau averse to the

re.storation of the Bourbons. Bouvet de Lozier's attempted suicide.

Arrest of Moreau. Declaration of MM. de Polignac and de Riviere.

Connivance of the police. Arrest of M. Carbonnet and his nephew.

CHAPTER XXII.

1804.

(Pages 269-283.)

The events of 1804. Death of the Due d'Enghien. Napoleon's argu-

ments at St. Helena. Comparison of dates. Possibility of my having

saved the Due d'Enghien's life. Advice given to the Due d'Enghien. Sir

Charles Stuart. Delay of the Austrian Cabinet. Pichegru and the



CONTENTS. xiii

mysterious being. M. Massias. The historians of St. Helena. Bona-

parte's threats against the emigrants and M. Cobentzel. Singuhir ad-

venture of Davoust's secretary. The quartermaster. The brigand of

La Vendee.

chapti:r XXIII.

1804.

(Pages 284-303.)

General Ordener's mission. Arrest of the Due d'Enghien. Horrible

night-scene. Harrel's account of the deatli of tlie Prince. Order for

digging tlie grave. The foster-sister of the Due d'Engiiien. Reading

the sentence. 'J'he lantern. General Savary. The faithful dog and the

police. My visit to Malmaison. Josephine's grief. The Due d'Enghien's

portrait and lock of hair. Savary's emotion. M. de Chateaubriand's

resignation. M. de Chateauliriantl's connection with Bonaparte. Madame
Bacciocchi and M. de Fontanes. Cardinal Fesch. Dedication of the

second edition of the " Genie du Christiauisme." M. de Chateaubriand's

visit to the First Consul on the morning of the Due d'Enghien's death.

Consequences of the Due d'Enghien's death. Change of opinion in tlie

provinces. The Gentry of the Chateaux. Effect of the Due d'Plnghien's

death on foreign Courts. Remarkable words of Mr. Pitt. Louis XVIII.
sends back the insignia of the Golden Fleece to the King of Spain.

CHAPTER XXIV.

1804.

(Pages 304-313.)

Pichegru betrayed. His arrest. His conduct to his old aide-de-camp.

Account of Pichegru's family, and his education at Brienne. Permission

to visit M. Carbonnet. The prisoners in the Temple. Absurd applica-

tion of the word "brigand." Moreau and the state of public opinion

respecting him. Pichegru's firmness. Pichegru strangled in prison.

Public opinion at the time. Report on the death of Pichegru.

CHAPTER XXV.

1804.

(Pages 314-333.)

Arrest of Georges. The fruiterer's daughter of the Rue de la Mon-
tague St. Genevieve. Louis Bonaparte's visit to the Temple. Gen-



xiv CONTENTS.

eral Lauristou. Arrest of Villeneuve and Barco. Villeneuve wounded
Moreaii duriiis;; Ijis iiii])risoiiment. Preparations for leaving the Temple,
lieniarkalile cliange in Georges. Addresses and congratulations. ISpeech

of the First Consul forgotten. Secret negotiations with the Senate.

Official proposition of Bonaparte's elevation to the Empire. Sitting of

the Council of State. Interference of Bonaparte. Individual votes.

Seven against twenty. Ilis subjects and his people. Appropriateness of

tlie title of I'^mperor. Communications between Bonaparte and the Sen-

ate. Bonaparte first called Sire by Cambace'res. First letter .signed by
Napoleon as Emperor. Grand levee at the Tuileries. Napoleon's address

to the Imperial Guard. Organic Smalus-consulte. Revival of old formu-

las and titles. The Republicanism of Lucien. The Spanish Princess.

Lucien's clandestine marriage. Bonaparte's influence on the German
Princes. Intrigues of England. Drake at Munich. Project for over-

throwing Bonaparte's Government. Circular from the Minister for

I'oreigu Affairs to the members of the Diplomatic Body. Answers to

that circular.

CHAPTER XXVI.

1804.

(Pages 334-351.)

Trial of Moreau, Georges, and others. Public interest excited by

Moreau. Arraignment of the prisoners. Moreau's letter to Bonaparte.

Violence of tlie Presitlent of the Court towards the prisoners. Lajolais

and Rolland. Examinations intended to criminate Moreau. Remarkable

ol)servations. Speech written by M. Garat. Bonaparte's opinion of

Garat's eloquence. General Lecourbe and Moreau's son. Respect shown

to Moreau by the military. Different sentiments excited by Georges

and Moreau. Thuriot and Tiie-roi. Georges' answers to the interroga-

tories. He refuses an offer of pardon. Coster St. Victor. Napoleon and

an actress. Captain Wright. M. de Riviere and the medal of the Comte

d'Artois. Generous struggle between MM. de Polignac. Sentence on

the prisoners. Bonaparte's remark. Pardons and executions.

CHAPTER XXYII.

1804.

(Pa^es 352-368.)

Clavier and Hemart. Singular proposal of Corvisart. M. Desmaisons.

Project of influencing the judges. Visit to the Tuileries. Rapp in at-

tendance. Long conversation with the Emperor. Ilis opinion on the



CONTENTS. XV

trial of Moreau. English assassins and Mr. Fox. Complaints against tlie

Englisli Government. Bonaparte and Lacuee. Affectionate behavionr.

Arrest of Pichegru. Method employed by the Fir.st Consul to rliscover

his presence in Paris. Cliaracter of Moreau. Measures of Bonaparte
regarding him. Lauriston sent to the Temple. Silence respecting the

Due d'Engliien. Napoleon's opinion of Moreau and Georges. Admira-
tion of Georges. (Offers of employment and dismis.sal. Recital of former
vexations. Audience of the Empress. Melancliol\' forebodings. What
Bonaparte said couceruing himself. Marks of kindness.

CHAPTER XXVIII.

1804.

(Pages 369-385.)

Curious disclosures of Fouche. Remarkable words of Bonaparte re-

specting tlie protest of Louis XVIII. Secret document inserted in the
" Moniteur." Announcement from Bonaparte to Regnier. Fouche ap-

pointed Minister of Police. Error of Regnier respecting the conspiracy

of Georges. Undeserved })raise bestowed on Fouche. Indications of the

return of the Bourbons. Variance between the words and conduct of

Bonaparte. The iron crown. Celebration of the 14th of July. Church
festivals and loss of time. Grand ceremonial at the Invalides. Recollec-

tions of the 18th Brumaire. New oath of the Legion of Honour. Gen-
eral enthusiasm. Departure for Boulogne. Visits to .lo.sephine at St.

Cloud and Malmaison. Josephine and Madame de Remusat. Pardons
granted by the Emperor. Anniversary of the 14th of July. Departure

for the camp of Boulogne. General error respecting Napoleon's designs.

Caesar's Tower. Distribution of the crosses of the Legion of Honour.
The military throne. Bonaparte's charlatanism. Intrepidity of two
English sailors. Tlie decennial prizes and the Polvtechnic School. Meet-

ing of the Emperor and Empress. First negotiation with the Holy See.

The Prefect of Arras and Comte Louis de Narbonne. Change in the

French Ministry.

CHAPTER XXIX.

1804.

(Pages 386-403.)

England deceived by Napoleon. Admirals Missiessy and Villeneuve.

Command given to Lauriston. Napoleon's opinion of Madame de Staiil.

Her letters to Napoleon. Her enthusiasm converted into hatred. Bona-



XVI CONTENTS.

])arte's opinion of the power of the Churcli. The Pope's arrival at

Fontainchloan. Napoleon's first interview with Pius VII. The Pope
and the Km])eri)r on a footinij of cf|uality. Honours rendered to the

Pope. His ajiartinents at the Tuileries. His visit to the Iinjicrial print-

ing-office. Paternal rehuke. Effect produced in En^ilaiid by the Pope's

))resence in Paris. Preparations for Napoleon's coronal i<in. Votes in

favour of hereditary succession. Convocation of the Legi.slative Body.
The presidents of cantons. Anecdote related hy Michot the actor. Com-
parisons. Influence of the Coronation on the trade of Paris. The insignia

of Napoleon and the insignia of Charlemagne. The Pope's mule. Anec-
dote of the notary Raguideau. Distribution of eagles in the Champ de

Mars. Remarkable coincidence.

CHAPTER XXX.

1805.

(Pages 404-4 IG.)

M}' appointment as Minister Plenipotentiary at Hamburg. jMy inter-

view with Bonaparte at Malmaison. Bonaparte's designs respecting

Italy. His wish to revisit Brienne. Instructions for my residence in

Hamhurg. Regeneration of European society. Bonaparte's plan of mak-
ing liimself the oldest sovereign in Europe. Amc'dee Jaubert's mission.

Commission from the Emperor to the Empress. My conversation with

Madame Bonaparte.

CHAPTER XXXT.

1805.

(Pages 417-428.)

Napoleon and Voltaire. Demands of the Holy See. Coolness between

tlie Pope and the Emperor. Napoleon's departure for Italy. Last inter-

view Itetween the Pope and the Emperor at Turin. Alessandria. The
field of Marengo. The last Doge of Genoa. Bonaparte's arrival at

Milan. Union of Genoa to the French Empire. Error in the " Memorial
of St. Helena." Bonaparte and Madame Grassini. Symptoms of dis-

satisfaction on the part of Austria and Russia. Napoleon's departure

from Milan. Monument to commemorate the battle of Marengo. Napo-

leon's arrival in Paris and departure for Boulogne. Unfortunate result of

a naval engagement. My visit to F^ouche"s country-seat. Sieves, Barras,

the Bourbons, and Bonaparte. Observations respecting Josephine.



CONTENTS. XVii

CHAPTER XXXII.

1805.

(Pages 429-436.)

Capitulation of Sublingen. Preparatious for war. Utility of com-

mercial iiifi)rinatiou. My iu.structious. Inspectiou of the emigrants and
the journals. A pamphlet by Kotzebue. Offers from the Emperor of

llussia to Moreau. Portrait of Gustavus Adolphus by one of his minis-

ters. Fouche's denunciations. Duels at Hamburg. M. de Gimel. The
" Hamburg Correspondant." Letter from Beruadotte.

CHAPTER XXXIII.

1805.

(Pages 437-448.)

Treaty of alliance between England and Russia. Certainty of an
approaching war. M. Forshmann, tlie Russian Minister. Duroc's mis-

sion to Berlin. New project of the King of Sweden. Secret mi.ssion to

the Baltic. Animosity against France. Fall of the exchange between
HamV)urg and Paris. Destruction of the first Austrian army. Taking
of Ulm. The Emperor's displeasure at the remark of a soldier. Battle

of Trafalgar. Duroc's position at the Court of Prussia. Armaments
in Russia. Libel upon Napoleon in the " Hamburg Correspondant."

Embarrassment of the Syndic and Burgomaster of Hamburg. The
conduct of the Russian Minister censured by the Swedish and English

Ministers.

CHAPTER XXXIV.

1805.

(Pages 449-468.)

Difficulties of my situation at Hamburg. Toil and responsibility.

Supervision of the emigrants. Foreign Ministers. Journals. Packet
from Strasburg. Bonaparte fond of narrating. Giulio, an extempore
recitation of a story composed by the Emperor.

A Concordance of the Republican and the Gregorian Calen-
dars End of Vol.

VOL. II — h





LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS.

Vol. II.

Page

Empress Josephine Frontispiece

Kleber 34:

Bernadotte ..... 126

Talleyrand 192

MOREAU 304

Napoleon 420





MEMOIRS
OF

NAPOLEON BONAPARTE.

CHAPTER I.

1800.

It cannot be denied that if, from the 18th Brumaire to

the epoch when Bonaparte began the campaign, innumer-

able improvements had been made in the internal affairs

of France, foreign affairs could not be seen with the same
satisfaction. Italy had been lost, and from the frontiers of

Provence the Austrian camp-fires were seen. Bonaparte

was not ignorant of the difficulties of his position, and it

was even on account of these very difficulties that, what-

ever might be the result of his hardy enterprise, he wished

to escape from it as quickly as possible. He cherished no

illusions, and often said all must be staked to gain all.

The army which the First Consul was preparing to

attack was numerous, well disciplined, and victorious.

His, with the exception of a very small number of troops,

was composed of conscripts ; but these conscripts were

commanded by officers whose ardour was unparalleled.

Bonaparte's fortune was now to depend on the wdnnmg or

losing of a battle. A battle lost would have dispelled all

the dreams of his imagination, and with them would have

vanished all his immense schemes for the future of France.
VOL. II. — 1
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He saw the danger, but was not intimidated liy it ; and
trusting to his accustomed good fortune, and to the cour-

age and fidelity of his troops, he said, " I have, it is true,

many conscripts in my army, but they are Frenchmen.
Four years ago did I not with a feeble army drive be-

fore me hordes of Sardinians and Austrians, and scour

the face of Italy ? We shall do so again. The sun which
now shines on us is the same that shone at Areola and
Lodi. I rely on Massdna. I hope he will hold out in

Genoa. But should famine oblige him to surrender, I

will retake Genoa in the plains of the Scrivia. With
what pleasure shall I then return to my dear France,—
ma belle France !

"

At this moment, when a possible, nay, a probable

chance might forever have blasted his ambitious hopes,

he for the first time spoke of France as his. Consider-

ing the circumstances in which we then stood, this use

of the possessive pronoun " my " describes more forcibly

than anything that can be said the flashes of divination

which crossed Bonaparte's brain when he was wrapped up
in his chimerical ideas of glory and fortune.

In this favourable disposition of mind the First Consul

arrived at Martigny on the 20th of May. Martigny is a

convent of Bernardins, situated in a valley where the rays

of the sun scarcely ever penetrate. The army was in full

march to the Great St, Bernard. In this gloomy solitude

did Bonaparte wait three days, expecting the fort of Bard,

situated beyond the mountain and covering the road to

Yvrt^e, to surrender. The town was carried on the 21st

of May, and on the third day he learned that the fort still

held out and that there were no indications of its surren-

der. He launched into complaints against the commander
of the siege, and said, " I am weary of staying in this con-

vent ; those fools will never take Bard ; I must go myself

and see what can be done. They cannot even settle so
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contemptible an affair without me !

" He immediately

gave orders for our departure.

The grand idea of the invasion of Italy by crossing

Mont St. Bernard emanated exclusively from the First

Consul. This miraculous achievement justly excited

the admiration of the world. The incredible difficul-

ties it presented did not daunt the courage of Bonaparte's

troops. His generals, accustomed as they had been to

brave fatigue and danger, regarded without concern the

gigantic enterprise of the modern Hannibal.

A convent or hospice, which had been established on

the mountain for the purpose of affording assistance to

solitary travellers, sufficiently bespeaks the dangers of

these stormy regions. But the St. Bernard was now to

be crossed, not by solitary travellers, but by an army.

Cavalry, baggage, limbers, and artillery were now to wend
their way along those narrow paths where the goat-herd

cautiously picks his footsteps. On the one hand masses

of snow, suspended above our heads, every moment
threatened to break in avalanches, and sweep us away in

their descent. On the other, a false step was death. We
all passed, men and horse, one by one, along the goat-

paths. The artillery was dismounted, and the guns, put

into excavated trunks of trees, were drawn by ropes.

I have already mentioned that the First Consul had

transmitted funds to the hospice of the Great St. Bernard.

The good fathers had procured from the two valleys a con-

siderable supply of cheese, bread, and wine. Tables were

laid out in front of the hospice, and each soldier as he de-

filed past took a glass of wine and a piece of bread and

cheese, and then resigned his place to the next. The
fathers served, and renewed the portions with admirable

order and activity.

The First Consul ascended the St. Bernard with that

calm self-possession and that air of indifference for which
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he was always reniarkalile when he felt the necessity of

setting an example and exposing himself to danger. He
asked his guide many questions about the two valleys,

inquired what were the resources of the inhabitants, and
whether accidents were as frequent as they were said to

be. The guide informed him that the experience of ages

enabled the inhabitants to foresee good or bad weather,

and that they were seldom deceived.

Bonaparte, who wore his gray greatcoat, and had his

whip in his hand, appeared somewhat disappointed at not

seeing any one come from the valley of Aosta to inform

him of the taking of the fort of Bard. I never left him
for a moment during the ascent. We encountered no

personal danger, and escaped with no other inconvenience

than excessive fatigue.

On his arrival at the convent the First Consul visited

the chapel and the three little libraries. He had time to

read a few pages of an old book, of which I have forgotten

the title.i

Our breakfast-dinner was very frugal. The little garden

was still covered with snow, and I said to one of the

fathers, " You can have but few vegetables here."— " We
get our vegetables from the valleys," he replied ;

" but in

the month of August, in warm seasons, we have a few let-

tuces of our own growing.

"

When we reached the summit of the mountain, we
seated ourselves on the snow and slid down. Those who
went first smoothed the way for those who came behind

them. This rapid descent greatly amused us, and we were

only stopped by the mud which succeeded the snow at the

distance of five or six hundred toises down the declivity.

1 The Vallaisians afterwards erected a tablet in honour of Napoleon in

the Convent of the Great St. Bernard, inscribing it in terse, if not elegant,

Latin : " Napoleoxi . . . ^gyptiaco, bis italico, sempeb invicto . .

.

GRATA RESPUBLICA."
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We crossed, or rather climbed up, Mont Albaredo to

avoid passing under the fort of Bard, which closes the

valley of Aosta. As it was impossible to get the artillery

up this mountain, it was resolved to convey it through the

town of Bard, which was not fortified. For this operation

we made choice of night, and, the wheels of the cannon

and caissons, and even the horses' feet, being wrapped in

straw, the whole passed quietly through the little town.

They were, indeed, under the fire of the fort ; however, it

did not so completely command the street but that the

houses would have protected them against any very fatal

consequences. A great part of the army had passed

before the surrender of the fort, which so completely

commands the narrow valley leading to Aosta that it is

difficult to comprehend the negligence of the Austrians

in not throwmg up more efficient works ; by very simple

precautions they might have rendered the passage of St.

Bernard unavailing.

On the 23d we came within sight of the fort of Bard,

which commands the road bounded by the Doria Baltea

on the right and Mont Albaredo on the left. The Doria

Baltea is a small torrent which separates the town of Bard

from the fort. Bonaparte, whose retinue was not very

numerous, crossed the torrent. On arriving within gun-

shot of the fort he ordered us to quicken our pace to gain

a little bridle-path on the left, leading to the summit of

Mont Albaredo, and turning the town and fort of Bard.

We ascended this path on foot with some difficulty. On
reaching the summit of the mountain, which commands
the fort, Bonaparte levelled his telescope on the grass, and
stationing himself behind some bushes, which served at

once to shelter and conceal him, he attentively reconnoi-

tred the fort. After addressing several questions to the

persons who had come to give him information, he men-
tioned, in a tone of dissatisfaction, the faults that had been
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committed, and ordered the erection of a new battery to

attack a point which he marked out, and from whence, he

guaranteed, the firing of a few shots would obhge the

fort to surrender. Having given these orders, he descended

the mountain and went to sleep that night at Yvrde. On
the 2d of June he learned that the fort had surrendered

the day before.

The passage of Mont St. Bernard must occupy a great

place in the annals of successful temerity. The boldness

of the First Consul seemed, as it were, to have fascinated

the enemy, and his enterprise was so unexpected that not

a single Austrian corps defended the approaches of the

fort of Bard. The country was entirely exposed, and we
only encountered here and there a few feeble parties, who
were incapable of checking our march upon Milan. Bona-

parte's advance astonished and confounded the enemy,

who thought of nothing but marching back the way he

came, and renouncing the invasion of France. The bold

genius which actuated Bonaparte did not inspire General

Melas, the commander-in-chief of the Austrian forces. If

Melas had had the firmness which ought to belong to the

leader of an army ; if he had compared the respective

positions of the two parties ; if he had considered that

there was no longer time to regain his line of operations

and recover his communication with the Hereditary States,

that he was master of all the strong places in Italy, that

he had nothing to fear from Mass^na, that Suchet could

not resist him,— if, then, following Bonaparte's example,

he had marched upon Lyons, what would have become

of the First Consul ? Melas would have found few ob-

stacles, and almost everywhere open towns, while tlie

French Army would have been exhausted without having

an enemy to fight. This is, doubtless, what Bonaparte

would have done had he been Melas ; but, fortunately for

us, Melas was not Bonaparte.
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We arrived at Milan on the 2d of June, the day on

which the First Consul heard that the fort of Bard was

taken. But little resistance was opposed to our entrance

into the capital of Lonibardy, and the term " engagements

'

can scarcely be applied to a few affairs of advance posts

in which success could not be for a moment doubtful

The fort of Milan was immediately blockaded. Murat

was sent to Piacenza, of which he took possession with

out difficulty, and Lannes beat General Ott at Montebello,

He was far from imagining that by that exploit he con-

quered for himself a future duchy

!

The First Consul passed six days at Milan. On the

day after our arrival there a spy who had served us very

well in the first campaign in Italy was announced. The

First Consul recollected him, and ordered him to be shown

into his cabinet. "What, are you here?" he exclaimed;
" so you are not shot yet !

"— " General," replied the spy,

" when the war recommenced, I determined to serve the

Austriaus because you were far from Europe. I always

follow the fortunate ; but the truth is, I am tired of the

trade. I wish to have done with it, and to get enough to

enable me to retire. I have been sent to your lines by

General Melas, and I can render you an important service.

I will give an exact account of the force and the position

of all the enemy's corps, and the names of their com-

manders. I can tell you the situation in which Alessan-

dria now is. You know me : I will not deceive you ; but

I must carry back some report to my general. You need

not care for giving me some true particulars which I can

communicate to him."— " Oh ! as to that," resumed the

First Consul, " the enemy is welcome to know my forces

and my positions, provided I know' his, and he be ignorant

of my plans. You shall be satisfied; but do not deceive

me: you ask for 1000 louis
;
you shall have them if you

serve me well." I then wrote down, from the dictation
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of the spy, the names of the corps, their amount, their

positions, and the names of the generals commanding them.

The Consul stuck pins in the map to mark his plans on

the places respecting which he received information from

the spy. We also learned that Alessandria was without

provisions, that Melas was far from exy)ecting a siege, that

many of his troops were sick, and that he wanted medi-

cines. Berthier was ordered to draw up for the spy a

nearly accurate statement of our positions.

The information given by this man proved so accurate

and useful that on his return from Marengo Bonaparte or-

dered me to pay him the 1000 louis. The spy afterwards

informed him that Melas was delighted with the way in

which he had served him in this affair, and had rewarded

him handsomely. He assured us that he had bidden fare-

well to his odious profession. The First Consul regarded

this little event as one of the favours of fortune.

In passing through Geneva the First Consul had an in-

terview with M. Necker.i j know not how it happened,

but at the time he did not speak to me of this interview.

However, I was curious to know what he thought of a

man who had acquired so much celebrity in France. One
evening, when we were talking of one thing and another,

I managed to turn the conversation on that subject. " M.
Necker," said he, " appears to me very far below his repu-

tation. He did not equal the idea I had formed of him.

I tried all I could to get him to talk ; but he said nothing

remarkable. He is an ideologist,^— a banker. It is im-

1 Madame de Staiil briefly mentions this interview in her " Considera-

tions sur la Revohition Fran^aise." " M. Necker," she says, " had an inter-

view with Bonaparte, when he was on his way to Italy by the passage of

Mont St. Bernard, a few days before the battle of Marengo. During this

conversation, which lasted two hours, the First Consul made a very favour-

able impression on my father by the confident way he spoke of his future

projects."— Bourrienne.

2 This was a constant term of reproach with Bonaparte. He set all

the metaphysicians of the Continent against him by exclaiming, " Je ne

veux point d'ideologues."
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possible that such a man can have any but narrow views
;

and, besides, most celebrated people lose on a close view."

— "Not always. General," observed I. — "Ah!" said he,

smiling, " that is not bad, Bourrienne. You are improv-

ing. I see I shall make something of you in time
!

"

The day was approaching when all was to be lost or

won. The First Consul made all his arrangements, and

sent off the different corps to occupy the points he had

marked out. I have already mentioned that Murat's task

was the occupation of Piacenza. As soon as he was in

possession of that town, he intercepted a courier of Gen-

eral Melas. The despatch, wliich was addressed to the

Aulic Council of Vienna, was delivered to us on the night

of the 8th of June. It announced the capitulation of

Genoa, which took place on the 4th, after the long and

memorable defence which reflected so much honour on

Massdna, Melas in his despatch spoke of what he called

our pretended army of reserve with inconceivable con-

tempt, and alluded to the presence of Bonaparte in Italy

as a mere fabrication. He declared he was still in Paris.

It was past three in the morning when Murat's courier ar-

rived. I immediately translated the despatcb, which was

in German. About four o'clock I entered the chamber of

the First Consul, whom I was obliged to shake by the

arm in order to wake him. He had desired me, as I have

already mentioned, never to respect his repose on the ar-

rival of bad news, but on the receipt of good news to let

him sleep. I read to him the despatch, and so much was

he confounded by this unexpected event that his first ex-

clamation was, " Bah ! you do not understand German."

But hardly had he uttered these words when he arose, and

by eight o'clock in the morning orders were despatched

for repairing the possible consequences of this disaster,

and countermanding the march of the troops on the Seri-

via. He himself proceeded the same day to Stradella.
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I have seen it mentioned in some accounts that the First

Consul in person gained the battle of Montebello, This is

a mistake. He did not leave Milan until the 9th of June,

and tliat very day Lannes was engaged with the enemy.

The conlhct was so terrible that Lannes, a few days after,

describing it in my presence to M. CoUot, used these re-

markable words, which I well renieniljer :
" Bones were

cracking in my division like a shower of hail falling on a

skylight."

By a singular chance Desaix, who was to contribute to

the victory and stop the rout of Marengo, arrived from

Egypt at Toulon, on the very day on which we departed

from Paris. He was enabled to leave Egypt in consequence

of the capitulation of El-Arish, which happened on the

4th of January, 1800. He wrote me a letter, dated 16th

Floreal, year VIII. (6th of May, 1800), announcing his ar-

rival. This letter I did not receive until we reached Mar-

tigny. I showed it to the First Consul. " Ah !
" exclaimed

he, " Desaix in Paris ! " and he immediately despatched an

order for him to repair to the headquarters of the army of

Italy wherever they might be. Desaix arrived at Stradella

on the morning of the 11th of June. The First Consul

received him with the warmest cordiality, as a man for

whom he had a high esteem, and whose talents and char-

acter afforded the fairest promise of what might one day

be expected of him. Bonaparte was jealous of some gen-

erals, the rivalry of whose ambition he feared ; but on

this subject Desaix gave him no uneasiness ; equally re-

markable for his unassuming disposition, his talent, and

information, he proved by his conduct that he loved glory

for her own sake, and that every wish for the possession

of political power was foreign to his mind. Bonaparte's

friendship for him was enthusiastic. At this interview at

Stradella Desaix was closeted with the First Consul for

upwards of three hours. On the day after his arrival an
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order of the day communicated to the army that Desaix

was appomted to the command of Boudet's division.^

I expressed to Bonaparte my surprise at his long inter-

view with Desaix. " Yes," replied he, " he has been a long

time with me ; but you know what a favourite he is. As
soon as I return to Paris I will make him War Minister.

I would make him a prince if I could. He is quite an

antique character." Desaix died two days after he had

completed his thirty-third year, and in less than a week

after the above observations.

About this time M. Ctjllot came to Italy and saw Bona-

parte at Milan. The latter received him coldly, though

he had not yet gained the battle of Marengo. M. Collot

had been on the most intimate footing with Bonaparte,

and had rendered him many valuable services. These

circumstances sufficiently accounted for Bonaparte's cool-

ness, for he would never acknowledge himself under

obligations to any one, and he did not like those who
were initiated into certain family secrets which he had

resolved to conceal.^

1 Boudet was on terms of great intimacy with Bonaparte, who, no doubt,

was much affected at his death. However, the only remark he made on
receiving the intelligence, was, " Who the devil shall I get to supply Bou-
det's place ? "— Bourrienne.

The command given to Desaix was a corps especially formed of the two
divisions of Boudet and Monnier {Savan/, tome i. p. 262). Boudet was
not killed at Marengo, still less before (see " Erreurs," tome i. p. 14).

- The day after the interview I had a long conversation with M. Collot

while Bonaparte was gone to review some corps stationed at Milan. M.
Collot perfectly understood the cause of the unkind treatment he had ex-

perienced, and of which he gave me the following explanation • —
Some days before the Consulate — that is to say, two or three days after

our return from Egypt — Bonaparte, during his jealous fit, spoke to M.
Collot aljout his wife, her levities, and their publicity. " flenceforth," said

Bonaparte, " I will have nothing to do with her."— " What, would you
part from her ? "— " Does not her conduct justify me in so doing ? " — " I

do not know ; but is this the time to think of such a thing, when the eyes

of all France are fixed upon you ' These domestic squa1»bles will degrade
you in the eyes of the people, who expect you to be wholly devoted to their
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On the 13th the First Consul slept at Torre di Galifolo.

During the evening he ordered a staff-officer to ascertain

interests ; and you will be laughed at, like one of Moliere's husbands. If

you are displeased with your wife's conduct, you can call her to account

when you have nothing better to do. Begin by raising up the State. After

that you may find a thousand reasons for your resentment when now you
would not find one. You know the French people well enough to see how
important it is that you should not commence with this absurdity."

By these and other similar remarks M. Collot thought he had produced

some impression, when Bonaparte suddenly exclaimed :
" No, my determina-

tion is fixed ; she shall never again enter my house. I care not what people

say. They will gossip al)Out the affair for two days, and on the third it will

be forgotten. She shall go to Malmaison, and I will live here. The public

know enough, not to be mistaken as to the reasons of her removal."

M. Collot vainly endeavoured to calm his irritation. Bonaparte vented

a torrent of reproaches upon Josephine. " All this violence," observed M.
Collot, " proves that you still love her. Do but see her ; she will explain

the business to your satisfaction, and you will forgive her." — "I forgive

her ! Never ! Collot, you know me. If I were not sure of my own reso-

lution, / would tear out this heart, and cast it into the fire." Here anger

almost choked his utterance, and he made a motion with his hand as if

tearing his breast.

When this violent paroxysm had somewhat subsided, M. Collot with-

drew ; but before he went away Bonaparte invited him to breakfast on the

following morning.

At ten o'clock M. Collot was there, and as he was passing through the

courtyard he was informed that Madame Bonaparte, who, as I have already

mentioned, had gone to Lyons without meeting the General, had returned

during the night. On M. CoUot's entrance Bonaparte appeared con-

sidera1)ly embarrassed. He led him into a side room, not wishing to l)ring

him into the room where I was writing. " Well," said Bonaparte to M.
Collot, " she is here."— "I rejoice to hear it. You have done well for

yourself as well as for us."— " But do not imagine I have forgiven her.

As long as I live I shall suspect. The fact is, that on her arrival I desired

her to be gone ; but that fool Joseph was there. What could I do, Collot?

I saw her descend the staircase followed by Eugene and Hortense. They
were all weeping ; and I have not a heai't to resist tears. Eugene was witli

me in Egypt. I have been accustomed to look upon him as my adopted

son. He is a fine, brave lad. Hortense is just about to be introduced into

society, and she is admired by all who kn(?^' her. I confess, Collot, I was
deeply moved ; I could not endure the distress of the two poor children.
' Should they,' thought I, ' suffer for their mother's faults'? ' I called back

Eugene and Hortense, and tlieir mother followed them. What could I say,

what could I do? I should not be a man without some weakness."— " Be
assured they will reward you for this."— " They ought, Collot, they ought

,
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whether the Austrians had a bridge across the Bormida.

A report arrived very hxte that there was none. This

information set Bonaparte's mind at rest, and he went to

bed very well satisfied ; but early next morning, when a

firing was heard, and he learned that the Austrians had
debouched on the plain, where the troops were engaged,

he flew into a furious passion, called the staff-officer a

coward, and said he had not advanced far enough. He
even spoke of bringing the matter to an investigation.

From motives of delicacy I refrain from mentioning the

name of the officer here alluded to,

Bonaparte mounted his horse and proceeded immedi-

ately to the scene of action. I did not see him again

until six in the evening. In obedience to his instruc-

tions I repaired to San Giuliano, which is not above

two leagues from the place where the engagement com-

menced. In the course of the afternoon I saw a great

many wounded passing through the village, and shortly

afterwards a multitude of fugitives. At San Giuliano

nothing was talked of but a retreat, which, it was said,

Bonaparte alone firmly opposed. I was then advised to

leave San Giuliano, where I had just received a courier

for the General-in-Chief. On the morning of the 14th

General Desaix was sent towards Novi to observe the

road to Genoa, which city had fallen several days before,

in spite of the efforts of its illustrious defender, Mass^na.

I returned with this division to San Giuliano. I was
struck with the numerical weakness of the corps which
was marching to aid an army already much reduced and
dispersed. The battle was looked upon as lost, and so

for it lias cost me a hard struggle." After this dialogue Bonaparte and
M. Collot entered the breakfast-jiarlour, where I was then sitting. Eugene
breakfasted with us, but neither Josephine nor Hortense. I have already

related how I acted the part of mediator in this affair. Next day nothing

was wanting to complete the reconciliation between the Conqueror of

Egypt and the charming woman who conquered Bonaparte. — Bourrienne.
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indeed it was. The First Consul having asked Desaix

what he thought of it, that brave General bluntly replied,

" The battle is completely lost ; but it is only two o'clock,

we have time to gain another to-day." I heard this from

Bonaparte himself the same evening. Who could have

imagined that Desaix's little corps, together with the few

heavy cavalry commanded by General Kellerman, would,

about five o'clock, have changed the fortune of the day ?

It cannot be denied that it was the instantaneous inspira-

tion of Kellerman that converted a defeat into a victory,

and decided the battle of Marengo.

That memorable battle, of which the results were incal-

culable, has been described in various ways. Bonaparte

had an account of it commenced no less than three times

;

and I must confess that none of the narratives are more

correct than that contained in the " Memoirs of the Duke
of Eovigo." The Emperor Napoleon became dissatisfied

with what had been said by the First Consul Bonaparte.

For my part, not having had the honour to bear a sword,

I cannot say that I saw any particular movement executed

this or that way ; but I may mention here what I heard

on the evening of the battle of Marengo respecting the

probable chances of that event. As to the part which the

First Consul took in it, the reader, perhaps, is sufficiently

acquainted with his character to account for it. He did

not choose that a result so decisive should be attributed

to any other cause than the combinations of his genius

;

and if I had not known his insatiable thirst for glory, I

should have been surprised at the sort of half satisfaction

evinced at the cause of the success amidst the joy mani-

fested for the success itself. It must be confessed that

in this he was very unlike Jourdan, Hoche, Kl^ber, and

Moreau, who were ever ready to acknowledge the services

of those who had fought under their orders.

Within two hours of the time when the divisions
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commanded by Desaix left San Giuliano, I was joyfully

surprised by the triumphant return of the army, whose

fate, since the morning, had caused me so much anxiety.

Never did fortune within so short a time show herself

under two such various faces. At two o'clock all denoted

the desolation of a defeat, with all its fatal consequences
;

at five victory was again faithful to the flag of Areola.

Italy was reconquered by a single blow, and the crown

of France appeared in the perspective.

At seven in the evening, when I returned with the

First Consul to headquarters, he expressed to me his

sincere regret for the loss of Desaix, and then he added,

" Little Kellerman made a lucky charge. He did it

at just the right moment. We are much indebted to

him. You see what trifling circumstances decide these

affairs."

These few words show that Bonaparte sufficiently ap-

preciated the services of Kellerman. However, when that

officer approached the table at which were seated the First

Consul and a number of his generals, Bonaparte merely

said, " You made a pretty good charge." By way of

counterbalancing this cool compliment he turned towards

Bessi^res, who commanded the horse grenadiers of the

Guard, and said, " Bessiferes, the Guard has covered itself

with glory." Yet the fact is, that the Guard took no part

in the charge of Kellerman, who could assemble only 500

heavy cavalry ; and with this handful of brave men he

cut in two the Austrian column, w^iich had overwhelmed

Desaix's division, and had made 6,000 prisoners. The

Guard did not charge at Marengo until nightfall.

Naxt day it was reported that Kellerman, in his first

feeling of dissatisfaction at the dry congratulation he had

received, said to the First Consul, " I have just placed the

crown on your head ! " I did not hear this, and I cannot

vouch for the truth of its having been said. I could only
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have ascertained tliat fact through Bonaparte, and of

coarse I could not, with propriety, remind him of a thing

which must have been very offensive to him. However,

whether true or not, the observation was circulated about,

verbally and in writing, and Bonaparte knew it. Hence

the small degree of favour shown to Kellerman, who was

not made a general of division on the field of battle as a

reward for his charge at Marengo.^

1 If Savary's story be correct, aud he was then aide-de-camp to Desaix,

and Bourrienne acknowledges his account to be the best, the inspiration of

the charge did not come from young Kellerman. Savary says that Desaix

sent him to tell Napoleon that he could not delay his attack, and that he

must be supported by some cavalry. Savaiy was then sent by Napoleon

to a spot where he was told he would find Kellerman, to order him to

charge in support of Desaix. Desaix aud Kellerman M'ere so placed as

to be out of sight of each other {Saran/, tome i. pp. 274-279). Thiers

(tome i. p. 445) follows Savary.

It may here be mentioned that Savary, in his account of the battle,

expressly states that he carried the order from Bonaparte to Kellerman
to make this charge. He also makes the following oliservations on the

subject .
—

" After the fall of the Imperial Government some pretended friends of

General Kellerman have presumed to claim for him tlie merit of origi-

nating the charge of cavalry. That general, whose share of glory is suffi-

ciently brilliant to gratify his most sanguine wishes, can have no knowledge

of so presumptuous a pretension. I the more readily accjuit him from the

circumstance that, as we were conversing one day respecting that battle,

I called to his mind my having brought to him tlie First Consul's orders,

and he appeared not to have forgotten that fact. I am far from suspect-

ing his friends of the design of lessening the glory of either General

Bonaparte or General Desaix; they know as well as myself that theirs are

names so respected that they can never be affected bj' such detractions,

and that it would be as vain to dispute the praise due to the Chief who
planned the battle as to attempt to depreciate the brilliant share which
General Kellerman had in its successful result. I will add to the above a

few observations.

" From the position which he occupied, General Desaix could not see

General Kellerman ; he had even desired me to request the First Consul
to afford him the support of some cavalry. Neither could General Keller-

man, from the point where he was stationed, perceive General Desaix's

division ; it is even probable that he was not aware of the arrival of that

General, who had only joined the army two days before. Both were igno-

rant of each other's position, which the First Consul was alone acquainted
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M. Delaforet, the Postmaster-General, sometimes trans-

acted business with the Mrst Consul. The nature of this

secret business may easily be guessed at.^ On the occa-

sion of one of their interviews the First Consul saw a

letter from Kellerman to Lasalle, which contained the

following passage :
" Would you believe, my friend, that

Bonaparte has not made ine a general of division though

I have just placed the crown on his head ?" The letter

was sealed agaiu and sent to its address ; but Bonaparte

never forgot its contents.

Whether Kellerman did or did not give the crown of

France to the First Consul, it is very certain that on the

evening of the battle of Marengo he gave him a supper,

of which his famishing staff and the rest of iis par-

took. This was no inconsiderable service in the destitute

condition in which we were. We thought ourselves ex-

ceedingly fortunate in profiting by the precaution of

Kellerman, who had procured provisions from one of

those pious retreats which are always well supplied, and

which soldiers are very glad to fall in with when cani-

with ; he alone could introduce harmony into their movements , he alone

Could make their efforts respectively conduce to the same object.

" The fate of the battle was decided by Kellerman's bold charge ; had
it, however, been made ])reviously to General Desaix's attack, iu all prob-

ability it would have had a quite different result. Kellerman appears to

have beeu convinced of it, since he allowed the Austrian column to cross

our field of battle and extend its front beyond that of tlie troops we had
still in line without making the least attempt to impede its progress. The
reason of Kellerman's not charging it sooner was that it was too serious a

movement, and tlie consequences of failure would have been irretrievable
;

that charge, therefore, could ouly enter into a general combination of

plans, to winch he was necessarily a stranger" (Memoirs of the Duke of

Jiovifjo, tome i. pp. 278-280).

1 When M. Delaforet was replaced soon after tliis by Lavalette, Napo-

leon ordered the discontinuance of the practice followed until then of

allowing letters to be opened by subordinate oihcials. This right was
restricted, as in England, to the Minister. However bad this practice, it

was limited, not e.xtended, in his reign. See Me'neval, tome iii. pp. 60-62,

and Lavalette, tome ii. p. 10.

VOL. II. — 2
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paigning. It was the Convent del Bosco which on this

occasion was laid under contribution ; and in return for

the abundance of good provisions and wine with which
they supplied the commander of the heavy cavalry, the

holy fathers were allowed a guard to protect them against

pillage and the other disastrous concomitants of war.

After supper was over, the First Consul dictated to me
the bulletin of the battle. When we were alone, I said to

him, "General, here is a tine victory! You recollect

what you said the other day about the pleasure with which
you would return to France after striking a grand blow in

Italy ; surely you must be satisfied now ? " — " Yes, Bour-

rienne, I am satisfied. But Desaixl . . , Ah, what a

triumph would this have been if I could have embraced

him to-night on the field of battle
!

" As he uttered these

words, I saw that Bonaparte was on the point of shed-

ding tears, so sincere and profound was his grief for the

death of Desaix. He certainly never loved, esteemed, or

regretted any man so much.

The death of Desaix has been variously related, and I

need not now state that the words attributed to him in

the bulletin were imaginary. Neither did he die in the

arms of his aide-de-camp, Lebrun, as I wrote from the

dictation of the First Consul. The following facts are

more correct, or at all events more probable : the death

of Desaix was not perceived at the moment it took place.

He fell without saying a word, at a little distance from

Lefebvre-Desnouettes. A sergeant of battalion of the 9th

brigade of light infantry, commanded by Barrois, seeing

him extended on the ground, asked permission to pick up

his cloak. It was found to l)e perforated behind; and

this circumstance leaves it doubtful whether Desaix was

killed by some unlucky inadvertency, while advancing at

the head of his troops, or by the enemy when turning

towards his men to encourage them. However, the event
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was so instantaneous, the disorder so complete, and the

change of fortune so sudden, that it is not surprising there

should be no positive account of the circumstances which

attended his death.^

Early next morning the Prince of Liechtenstein came
from General Melas with negotiations to the First Consul.

The propositions of the General did not suit Bonaparte,

and he declared to the Prince that the army shut up in

Alessandria should evacuate freely, and with the honours

of war ; l)ut on those conditions which are well known,

and by which Italy was to be fully restored to the French

domination. That day were repaired the faults of Scherer,

whose inertness and inbecility had paralysed everything,

and who had fled, and been constantly beaten, from the

Adriatic to Mont Cenis. The Prince of Liechtenstein

begged to return to render an account of his mission to

(general Melas. He came back in the evening, and made
many observations on the hard nature of the conditions.

" Sir," replied the First Consul, in a tone of marked impa-

tience, " carry my final determination to your General,

and return quickly. It is irrevocable ' Know that I am
as well acquainted with your position as you are your-

selves. I did not begin to learn the art of war yesterday.

You are blocked up in Alessandria
;
you have many sick

and wounded; you are in want of provisions and medi-

cines. I occupy the whole of your rear. Your finest

1 Savary, thoiTjrh Desaix's aide-de-camp, throws no light on the cause

of that General's death. He says :
" As .soon as the Austrian column

was dispersed, I quitted General Kellermau's cavalry, and was returning

to meet General Desaix, whose troops were debouching in my view, when
the Colonel of the 9th regiment informed me that he had been killed. I

was at the distance of only a hundred paces from the spot where I had left

him. I hastened to it, and found tlie General .stretched upon the ground,

completely stripped of his clothes, and surrounded by other naked bodies.

I recognised him notwithstanding the darkness, owing to the thickness

of his hair, wliich still retained its tie " {Memoirs of the Duke oj Rovigo,

tome i. p. 277).
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troops are among the killed and wounded. I might in-

sist on harder conditions ; my position would warrant me
in so doing ; but I moderate my demands in consideration

of the gray hairs of your General, whom I respect."

This reply was delivered with considerable dignity and
energy. I showed the Prince out, and he said to me,
" These conditions are very hard, especially that of giving

up Genoa, which surrendered to us only a fortnight ago,

after so long a siege." It is a curious fact that the

Emperor of Austria received intelligence of the capitula-

tion and restitution of Genoa at the same time.

When the First Consul returned to Milan, he made
Savary and Eapp his aides-de-camp. They had previously

served in the same rank under Desaix. The First Consul

was at first not much disposed to take them, alleging that

he had aides-de-camp enough. But his respect for the

choice of Desaix, added to a little solicitation on my part,

soon removed every obstacle. These two officers served

him to the last hour of his political career with unfailing

zeal and fidelity.

I have seen nothing in the " Memoirs of the Due de

Eovigo" (Savary) about my having had anything to do

with his admission to the honour. I can probably tell the

reason why one of the two aides-de-camp has risen higher

than the other. Eapp had an Alsacian frankness which

always injured him.^

1 Several instances of this will be found in Rapp's Memoirs, wliich may
indeed partly explain why he was only count when Savary was a duke. A
Corsican connection being introduced into Napoleon's room, Rapp, as in

the case of Georges Cadoudal (see unfe), would not at first withdraw, and

when ordered out left the door ajar, telling Napoleon afterwards, " I do

not like your Corsicans." On another occasion, " Rapp," said Napoleon,

having a quantity of French gold before him, " do not the Germans like

these little napoleons^ "— "Yes, Sire, much more than they do tlie great

one." — " See," answered Napoleon, " what may be called German frank-

ness" {Rapp, p. 25).



CHAPTER 11.

1800.

What little time, and how few events sometimes suffice

to change the destiny of nations ! We left ]\Iilan on the

13th of June, Marengo on the 14th, and on tlie 15th Italy

was ours ! A suspension of hostilities between the French

and Austrian armies was the immediate result of a single

battle ; and by virtue of a convention concluded between

Berthier and Melas, we resumed possession of all the

fortified places of any importance, witli the exception of

Mantua. As soon as this convention was signed, Bona-

parte dictated to me at Torre di Galifolo the following

letter to his colleagues :
—

The day after the battle of Marengo, Citizens Consuls,

General Melas transmitted a message to our advance posts

requesting permission to send General Skal to nie. During the

day the convention, of which I send you a copy, was drawn up,

and at night it was signed by Generals Berthier and Melas. I

hope the French people will be satisfied with the conduct of

their army.-^

(Signed) Bonaparte.

The only thing worthy of remark in this letter would
be the concluding sentence, in which the First Consul still

^ The nephew of Cambace'ros points out that Bourrienne has omitted

the heading of this letter, "To the Consuls of the Repulilic," and also its

ending, " I shall be at Milan this evening," " I salute you affectionately."

This last formula, he says. Napoleon seems to haye attached some impor-

tance to, as in other original letters, where Bourrienne in his haste had
omitted it, Napoleon had added it with his own hands (Erreurs, tome ii.

p. 185).



22 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1800.

affected to acknowledge the sovereignty of the people,

were it not that the words " Citizens Consuls " were evi-

dently foisted in with a particular design. The battle

was gained ; and even in a trifling matter like this it was

necessary that the two other Consuls should feel that they

were not so much the colleagues as the subordinates of

the First Consul.

We returned to Milan, and our second occupation of

that city was marked by continued acclamations wlierever

the First Consul showed himself. At Milan the First

Consul now saw Massdna for the first time since our de-

parture for Egypt. Bonaparte lavished upon him the

highest praises, but not higher than he deserved, for his

admirable defence of Genoa. He named him his successor

in the command of the army of Italy. Moreau was on

the Ehine, and therefore none but the conqueror of Zurich

could properly have succeeded the First Consul in that

command. The great blow was struck ; but there might

still occur an emergency requiring the presence of a skil-

ful experienced general, well acquainted with the country.

And besides, we could not be perfectly at ease, until it

was ascertained what conditions would be adhered to by

the Cabinet of A^ienna, which was then entirely under the

influence of the Cabinet of London.

After our return from the battle the popular joy was

general and heartfelt, not only among the higher and

middle ranks of society, but in all classes ; and the affec-

tion evinced from all quarters to the First Consul was

unfeigned. In what a tone of sincerity did he say to me
one day, when returning from the parade, " Bourrienne,

do you hear the acclamations still resounding ? That

noise is as sweet to me as the sound of Josephine's voice.

How happy and proud I am to be loved by such a

people
!

"

During our stay at Milan Bonaparte had arranged a



1800. ORGANISATION OF I'IKDMONT. 23

new government for Piedmont; he had ever since cher-

ished the wish to unite that rich and fertile country to

the French territory because some Piedmontese provinces

had been possessed by Louis XIY. That monarch was
the only king whom the Pirst Consul really admired.

"If," said he one day, "Louis XIV. had not been born a

king, he would have been a great man. But he did not

know mankind ; he could not know them, for he never

knew misfortune." He admn-ed the resolution of the old

King, who would rather bury himself under the ruins of

the monarchy than submit to degrading conditions, after

having commanded the sovereigns of Europe. I recollect

that Bonaparte was extremely pleased to see in the re-

ports which he ordered to be made that in Casal, and in

the valleys of Pignerol, Latour, and Luzerne, there still

existed many traces of the period when those countries

belonged to France ; and that the French language was

yet preserved there. He already began to identify himself

with the past; and abusing the old kings of France was

not the way to conciliate his favour.

Tlie First Consul appointed for the government of

Piedmont a Council which, as may naturally be imagined,

he composed of those Piedmontese who were the declared

partisans of France. He stated as the grounds of this

arrangement that it was to give to Piedmont a new proof

of the affection and attachment of the French people.

He afterwards appointed General Dupont President of

the Council, with the title of Minister-Extraordinary of

the French Government. I will here mention a secret

step taken by Bonaparte towards the overthrowing of the

Eepublic. In making the first draught of General Du-

pout's appointment I had mechanically written, " Ministei'-

Extraordinary of the French Republic."— " No ! no ! " said

Bonaparte, "not of the Repuljlic ; say of the Govei^nmcnt.''

On his return to Paris the First Consul gave almost
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incredible proofs of his activity. The day after his arrival

he promulgated a great number of decrees, and afterwards

allotted the rewards to his soldiers. He appointed Kel-

lerman a general of division, which, on every principle of

justice, he ought to have done on the fiedd of battle. He
distributed sabres of honour, with the following inscrip-

tion, highly complimentary to himself :

—
" Battle of Maringo,^ commanded in person by the First

Consul. — Given by the Government of the Eepublic to

General Lannes."

Similar sabres were presented to Generals Victor,

Watrin, Gardanne, and Murat ; and sabres of less value

to other officers : and also muskets and drumsticks of

honour to the soldiers and drummers who had distin-

guished themselves at Marengo, or in the army of the

Ehine; for Bonaparte took care that the officers and men
who had fought under Moreau should be included among

those to whom the national rewards were presented. He
even had a medal struck to perpetuate the memory of the

entry of the French Army into Munich. It is worthy of

remark that while official fabrications and exaggerated de-

tails of facts were published respecting Marengo and the

short campaign of Italy, by a feigned modesty the victorious

army of Marengo received the unambitious title of Army
of Reserve. By this artifice the honour of the Constitu-

tion was saved. The First Consul had not violated it.

If he had marched to the field, and staked everything on

a chance, it was merely accidentally, for he commanded

only an "Army of Eeserve" which nevertheless he had

greeted with the title of Grand Army before he entered

upon the campaign. It is scarcely conceivable that Bona-

parte, possessing as he did an extraordinary mind, should

have descended to such pitiful artifices.^

- Spelt for some time, I do not know why, as Marmgo.— Bourrienne.

2 Thiers (tome vi. p. 70) says the title Grande Arm^e wa.s first given

by Napoleon to the force prepared in 1805 for the campaign against
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Even foreigners and prisoners were objects of Bona-

parte's designing intentions. I recollect one evening his

saying to me, " Bourrienne, write to the Minister of War,
and tell him to select a line brace of pistols, of the Ver-

sailles manufacture, and send them, in my name, to Gen-
eral Zach. He dined with me to-day, and highly praised

our manufacture of arms. I should like to give him a

token of remembrance; besides,— the matter will be

talked of at Vienna, and may perhaps do good !

"

As soon as the news of tlie battle of Marengo reached

Paris, Lucien Bonaparte, Minister of the Interior, ordered

preparations for the festival, fixed for the 14th of July, in

commemoration of the first Federation. This festival and

that of the 1st Venddmiaire were the only ones preserved

by the Consular Government. Indeed, iy. those memo-
rable days, when the Eevolution appeared in its fairest

point of view, France had never known such joy as that

to which the battle of Marengo gave rise. Still, amidst

all this popular transport there was a feeling of regret.

The fame of Desaix, his heroic character, his death, the

words attributed to him and believed to be true, caused

mourning to be mingled with joy. It was agreed to open

a subscription fur erecting a national monument to his

memory. A reflection naturally arises here upon the dif-

ference between the period referred to and the present

time. France has endowed with nearly a million the

children of one of her greatest orators and most eloquent

defenders of public liberty, yet for the monument to the

memory of Desaix scarcely 20,000 francs were subscribed.

Does not this form a singular contrast with the patriotic

munificence displayed at the death of General Foy ? The
pitiful monument to Desaix, on the Place Dauphine, suf-

Austria. The Coii.stitutiou forbade the First Consul to command the

armies in person. Hence the title Army of Reserve, given to the force

which fought at Mareugo.
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ficiently attests the want of spirit on the part of the sub-

scribers. Bonaparte, who was much dissatisfied with it,

gave the name of Desaix to a new quay, the first stone of

which was laid with great solemnity on the 14th of July.

On that day the crowd was immense in the Champ-
de-Mars and in the Temple of Mars, the name which at

that time the Church of the Invalides still preserved.

Lucien delivered a speech on the encouraging prospects of

France, and Lannes made an appropriate address on pre-

senting to the Government the flags taken at Marengo.

Two more speeches followed,— one from an aide-de-camp

of Massdna, and the other from an aide-de-camp of

Lecourbe ; and after the distribution of some medals the

First Consul then delivered the following address :
—

" Citizens ! Soldiers ! — The flags presented to the Govern-

ment, in the presence of the people of this immense capital,

attest at once the genius of the Commanders-in-Chief Moreau,

Massena, and Berthier ; the military talents of the generals, their

lientenants ; and the bravery of the French soldiers.

" On your return to the camp tell your comrades that for the

1st Venderaiaire, when we shall celebrate the anniversary of the

Republic, the French people expect either peace or, if the enemy

obstinately refuse it, other flags, the fruit of fresh victories."

After this harangue of the First Consul, in which he

addressed the military in the name of the people, and

ascribed to Berthier the glory of Marengo, a hymn was

chanted, the words of wdiich were written by M. de Fon-

tanes, and the music composed by Mehul. But what was

most remarkable in tliis fete was neither the poetry, the

music, nor even the panegyrical eloquence of Lucien,— it

was the arrival at the Cliamp-de-Mars, after the ceremony

at the Invalides, of the Consular Guard returning from

Marengo. I was at a window of the Ecole-Militaire, and

I can never forget the commotion, almost electrical, which
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made the air resound with cries of enthusiasm at their

appearance. These suhliers did not defile Lefore the

First Consul in fine uniforms as at a review. Leaving

the field of battle when the firing ceased, they had

crossed Lomlardy, Piedmont, Alont Cenis, Savoy, and

France in the space of twenty-nine days. They appeared

worn by the fatigue of a long journey, with faces browned
by the summer sun of Italy, and with their arms and

clothing showing the effects of desperate struggles. Do
you wish to have an idea of their appearance ? You will

find a perfect type in the first grenadier put by Gerard at

one side of his picture of the battle of Austerlitz.

At the time of this fijtc— that is to say, in the middle

of the month of July — the First Consul could not have

imagined that the moderate conditions he had proposed

after the victory would not be accepted by Austria. In

the hope, therefore, of a peace which could not but be

considered probable, he, for the first time since the estab-

lishment of the Consular Government, convoked the

deputies of the departments, and appointed their time

of assembling in Paris for the 1 st Vend^miaire, a day

which formed the close of one remarkable century and
marked the commencement of another.

The remains of Marslial Turenne, to which Louis XIV.
had awarded the honours of annihilation by giving them
a place among the royal tombs in the vaults of St. Denis,

had been torn from their grave at the time of the sacrile-

gious violation of the tombs. His bones, mingled indis-

criminately with others, had long lain in obscurity in a

garret of the College of Medicine when M. Lenoir col-

lected and restored them to the ancient tomb of Turenne
in the Musde des Petits Augustins. Bonaparte resolved

to enshrine these relics in that sculptured marble with

which the glory of Turenne could so well dispense. This

was, however, intended as a connecting link between the
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past days of France and the future to which he looked

forward. He th()uy,ht that the sentiments inspired by the

solemn honours rendered to the memory of Turenne

would dispose the deputies of the departments to receive

with greater enthusiasm the pacific communications he

hoped to be able to make.

However, the negotiations did not take the favourable

turn which the First Consul had expected ; and, notwith-

standing all the address of Lucien, the communication

was not heard without much uneasiness. But Lucien

had prepared a speech quite to the taste of the First Con-

sul. After dilating for some time on the efforts of the

Government to obtain peace, he deplored the tergiver-

sations of Austria, accused the fatal influence of England,

and added in a more elevated and solemn tone, " At the

very moment when the Consuls were leaving the Palace

of the Government, a courier arrived bearing despatches

which the First Consul has directed me to communicate

to you." He then read a note declaring that the Aus-

trian Government consented to surrender to France the

three fortresses of Ulm, Philipsburg, and Ingolstadt.

This was considered as a security for the preliminaries

of peace being speedily signed. The news was received

with enthusiasm, and that anxious day closed in a way
highly gratifying to the First Consul.

Whilst victory confirmed in Italy the destinies of the

First Consul, his brothers were more concerned about their

own interests than the affairs of France. They loved

money as much as Bonaparte loved glory. A letter from

Lucien to his brother Joseph, which I shall subjoin, shows

how ready they always were to turn to their own advan-

tage the glory and fortune of him to whom they were

indebted for all their importance. I found this letter

among my papers, but I cannot tell why and how I pre-

served it. It is interesting, inasmuch as it shows the
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opinion that family of future kings entertained of their

own situation, and of what their fate woukl have been

had Bonaparte, like Desaix, fallen on the tield of Ma-
rengo. It is, besides, curious to observe the philoso-

pher Lucien causing Te Dcum to be chanted with the view

of influencing the public funds. At all events, I copy

Lucien's letter as he wrote it, giving the words marked
in Italics, and the numerous notes of exclamation which

distinguish the original.

24th June.

My Brother, — I send you a courier ; I particularly wish

that the First Consul would give me notice of his arrival twenty-

four hours beforehand, and that he would inform me alone of

the barrier b_y which he will enter. The city wislies to pre-

pare triumplial arches for him, and it deserves not to be dis-

appointed.

At my request a Te Deum was chanted yesterday. There

were 60,000 persons present.

The intrigues of Auteuil ^ continue It has been found dif-

ficult to decide between C and La F . The latter has

proposed his daughter in marriage to me. Intrigue has been

carried to the last extreme. I do not know yet whether the

High Priest lias decided for one party or the other. I believe

1 This intrigue, so called from Talleyrand, one of its heads living in the

suburb of Auteuil, arose from the wish of many of the most influential

men to be prepared in case of the deatli of Napoleon in any .action in

Italy, It was simply a continuation of tlie same combinations which had

been attempted or planned in 1799, till the arrival of Bonaparte from

Egypt made the party choose him as the instrument for the overthrow

of the Directors. There was little secrecy about tlieir plans ; see Miot

de Melito (tome i. p. 276), where Joseph Bonaparte tells his friends all

that was being proposed in case his brother fell. Carnot seems to have

been the most probable choice as leader and replacer of Bonaparte. In

the above letter " C " stands for Carnot, " La F " for La Fayette,

the " High Priest " is Sieyes, and the " friend of Auteuil " is Talleyrand ;

see lung's 'Lucien," tome i. p. 411. The postscript seems to refer to a

wretched scandal about Caroline and Lucien ; see lung's " Lucien," tome

i. pp. 411,432-43.3. The reader should remark the retention of tiiis

and other documents by Bourrienne, which forms one of the charges

brought against him farther on.
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tliat he woulil ch(!at tliem botli for an Orleans, and your friend

of Auteiul was at the bottom of it all. The news of the battle

of Marengo petritied them, and yet next day the High Priest

certainly spent three hours with your friend of Auteuil. As to

us, had the victory of Marengo closed the First Consul's career,

we should now have been proscribed.

Your letters say nothing of what I expected to hear. I hope

at least to be informed of the answer from Vienna before any

one. I am sorry you have not paid me back for the battle

of Marengo.

The festival of the 14th of July will be very gratifying. We
expect peace as a certainty, and the triuniphant return of the

First Consul. The family is all well. Your wife and all her

family are at Morfontaine. Ney is at Paris. Why do j'^ou

return witli the First Consul 1 Peace ! and Italy ! ! Think of

our last interview. I embrace you.

(Signed) LuciEN.

On the margin is written :
—

P. S. — Read the letter addressed to the Consul, and give it

to him after you have carefully closed it.

Forward the enclosed. Madame Murat never lodged in my
house. Her husljand is a fool, whom his wife ought to punish

by not writing to him for a month.

(Signed) LuciEX Bonaparte.

Bonaparte, confirmed in liis power by the victory of

Marengo, remained some days longer at Milan to settle

the affairs of Italy. He directed me to furnish Madame
Grassini with money to pay her expenses to Paris.^ We
departed amidst the acclamations of the inhabitants, and

took the road to Turin. The First Consul stopped at

Turin for some hours, and inspected the citadel, which

1 The First Consul saw Madame Grassini at a concert at Jlilan, and
was struck with her beauty. He was introduced to her, and at the expira-

tion of a few weeks, the Conqueror of Italy counted one conquest more.

]\Iadame Grassini proceeded to Paris, where she subsecjuently became one

of the singers of the Court concerts {Memoires de Constant).
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had been surrendered to us in pursuance of the capitu-

lation of Alessandria. In passing over Mont Cenis we
observed the carriage of Madame Kellerman, who was
"oinfT to meet her husband. Bonaparte, on recoonisini'

the lady, stopped his carriage and congratulated her on

the callant conduct of her husband at the battle of

Marengo.

On our arrival at Lyons we alighted at the Hotel des

Cdlestins, and the loud acclamations of a numerous mul-

titude assembled round the hotel obliged Bonaparte to

show himself on the balcony. Xext day he proceeded

to the Square of Bellecour, where, amidst the plaudits

of the people, he laid the first stone of some new build-

inss destined to efface one of the disasters of the

Kevolution.

"We left Lyons that evening, and continued our journey

by way of Dijon. On our arrival in that town the joy

of the inhabitants was very great. I never saw a more

graceful and captivating sight than that which w^as pre-

sented by a group of beautiful young females,^ crowned

with flowers, who accompanied Bonaparte's carriage, and

which at that period, when the Eevolution had renewed

all the republican recollections of Greece and Eome,
looked like the chorus of females dancing around the

victor at the Olympic games.

But all our journey was not so agreeable. Some acci-

dents awaited us. The First Consul's carriage broke

down between Villeneuve-le-Roi and Sens. He sent a

courier to inform my mother that he would stop at her

house till his carriage w^as repaired. He dined there, and

we started again at seven in the evening.

1 Savarv (tome i. p. 287), remarking on the extreme joy shown by the

ladies of Dijon, remarks, " One of the most beautiful became, later, one

of the ornaments of the Court as the Duchess of Bassano," i. e. Aladame
Maret.
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r>ut we had otlier disasters to encounter. One of our

off-wheels came off, and as we were driving at a very

rapid pace, the carriage was overturned on the bridge at

a sliort distance from Montreau-Faut-Yonne, The First

Consul, who sat on my left, fell upon me, and sustained

no injury. My head was slightly hurt by striking against

some things which were in the pocket of the carriage ; but

this accident was not worth stopping for, and we arrived

at Paris on the same night, the 2d of July. Duroc, who
was the third in the carriage, was not hurt.

I have already mentioned that Bonaparte was rather

talkative when travelling ; and as we were passing through

Burgundy, on our return to Paris from Marengo, he said

exultingly, "Well, a few more events like this campaign,

and I may go down to posterity." — "I think," replied I,

" that you have already done enough to secure great and

lasting fame." — " Yes," resumed he, " I have done enough,

it is true. In less than two years I have won Cairo,

Paris, and Milan ; but for all that, my dear fellow, were I

to die to-morrow I should not at the end of ten centuries

occupy half a page of general history !

"

On the very day when Desaix fell on the field of

Marenso, Kleber was assassinated bv a fanatical Mussul-

man, named Soleiman Haleby,^ who stabbed him with a

dagger, and l»y that blow decided the fate of Egypt. Thus

was France, on the same day, and almost at the same

1 " This fellah ^vas, at mof-t, ei'f^hteen or twenty years of a<^e ; he was a

native of Damascus, and declared that he had quitted his native city by

command of the ffrand vizier, who had intrusted him with the commission

of repairing to Egypt and killing the grand snltaii of tlie French [Bona-

parte lieing probably intended]. That for this purpose alone he had left

his family, and performed tlie whole journey on foot, and had received

from the grand vizier no other money than what was absolutely requisite

for the exigencies of the journey. On arriving at Cairo he had gone forth-

with to perform his devotions in the great mosque, and it was onlv on the

eve of executing his project that he confided it to one of the scherifs of the

mosque" (Due de liovigo's Memoirs, tome i. p. 367).
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hour, deprived of two of her most distinguished generals.

Menou, as senior in command, succeeded Klel)er, and the

First Consul confirmed the appointment. From thnt

moment the loss of Egypt was inevitable.

I have a few details to give respecting the tragical

death of Kldber. The house of Elfy Bey, which Bona-

parte occupied at Cairo, and in which Kleber lived after

his departure, had a terrace leading from a salo)i to an old

ruined cistern, from which, down a few steps, there was
an entrance into the garden. The terrace commanded a

view of the grand square of El Beguyeh, which was to the

right on coming out of the salon, while the garden was on

the left. This terrace was Bonaparte's favourite prome-

nade, especially in the evenings, when he used to walk up
and down and converse with the persons about him. I

often advised him to fill up the reservoir, and to make it

level with the terrace. I even showed him, by concealing

myself in it, and coming suddenly behind him, how easy

it would be for any person to attempt his life and then

escape, either by jumping into the square, or passing

through the garden. He told me I was a coward, and was

always in fear of death ; and he determined not to make
the alteration I suggested, which, however, he acknowl-

edged to be advisable. Kl^ber's assassin availed liimself

of the facility which I so often apprehended might be fatal

to Bonaparte.

I shall not stop to refute all the infamous rumours
which were circulated respecting Kleber's death. When
the First Consul received the unexpected intelligence, he

could scarcely believe it. He was deeply affected ; and
on reading the particulars of the assassination he instantly

called to mind how often he had been in the same situa-

tion as that in which Kldber was killed, and all I had
said respecting the danger of the reservoir, — a danger

from which it is inconceivable he should have escaped,
VOL. II. — 3
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especially after liis Syrian expedition had excited the fury

of the natives. Bonaparte's knowledge of Kl^ljer's talents,

the fact of his having confided to him the command of

the army, and the aid which he constantly endeavoured

to transmit to him, repel at once the horrible suspicion of

his having had the least participation in the crime, and

the thought that he was gratified to hear of it.

It is very certain that Bonaparte's dislike of Kldber was
as decided as the friendship he cherished for Desaix.

Kldber's fame annoyed him, for he was weak enough to

be annoyed at it. He knew the manner in which Kleber

spoke of him, which was certainly not the most respectful.

During the long and sanguinary siege of St. Jean d'Acre,

Kleber said to me, ' That little scoundrel Bonaparte, who
is no higher than my boot, will enslave France. See

what a villainous expedition he has succeeded in involv-

ing us in." Kleber often made the same remark to others

as well as to me. I am not certain that it was ever

reported to Bonaparte ; but there is reason to believe that

those who found it their interest to accuse others did not

spare Kleber.

Kleber, who was a sincere Republican, saw and dreaded

for his country's sake the secret views and inordinate

ambition of Bonaparte. He was a grumbler by nature

;

yet he never evinced discontent in the discharge of his

duties as a soldier. He swore and stormed, but marched

bravely to the cannon's mouth : he was indeed courage

personified. One day when he was in the trench at St.

Jean d'Acre, standing up, and by his tall stature exposed

to every shot, Bonaparte called to him, " Stoop down,

Kleber, stoop down !
"— " Why," replied he, " your con-

founded trench does not reach to my knees," He never

regarded the Egyptian expedition with a favourable eye.

He thought it too expensive, and utterly useless to France.

He was convinced that in the situation in which we stood,
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without a navy or a powerful government, it would have

been better to have confined our attention to Europe than

to have wasted French blood and money on the banks of

the Nile, and among the ruined cities of Syria. Kldber,

who was a cool, reflecting man, judged Bonaparte without

enthusiasm, a thing somewhat rare at that time, and he

was not blind to any of his faults.^

Bonaparte alleged that Ivldber said to him, " General,

you are as great as the world 1 " Such a remark is in

direct opposition to Kldber's character. He was too sin-

cere to say anything against his conviction. Bonaparte,

always anxious to keep Egypt, of which the preservation

alone could justify the conquest, allowed KMber to siJeah

because he acted at the same time. He knew that Kld-

ber's sense of military duty would always triumph over

any opposition he might cherish to his views and plans.

Thus the death of his lieutenant, far from causing Bona-

parte any feeling of satisfaction, afflicted him the more,

because it almost totally deprived him of the hope of

preserving a conquest which had cost France so dear,

and which was his work.

The news of the death of Kldber arrived shortly after

our return to Paris. Bonaparte was anxiously expecting

accounts from Egypt, none having been received for a con-

siderable time. The arrival of the courier who broufjht

the fatal intelligence gave rise to a scene which I may
relate here. It was two o'clock in the morning when the

courier arrived at the Tuileries. In his hurry the First

Consul could not wait to rouse any one to call me up. I

had informed him some days before that if he should want

1 "Erreurs" (tome i. p. 6) sugf^ests that Morenn should he substituted

here for K/eber, as tlie letters of Kleber show that Kleher did not and
that Morean did dislike the expedition. Thiers {Cimsidat, tome ii. p. 4)

describes Kleber as at first " ardently " wisliing to take part in tlie expedi-

tion, and when in Egypt wishing to return. Kle'ber was a man disliking

command, and not liking to obey.
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me during the night he should send for me to the cor-

ridor, as I had changed my bedchamber on account of my
wife's accouchement. He came up himself, and instead

of knocking at my door knocked at that of my secretary.

The latter immediately rose, and opening the door to his

surprise saw the First Consul with a candle in Ids hand, a

Madras handkerchief on his head, and having on his gray

greatcoat. Bonaparte, not knowing of the little step down
into the room, slipped and nearly fell. "Where is Bour-

rienne ?
" asked he. The surprise of my secretary at the

apparition of the First Consul can be imagined. " What,

General, is it you ? "— " Where is Bourrienne ? " Then

my secretary, in his shirt, showed the First Consul my
door. After having told him that he was sorry at having

called him up. Napoleon came to me.^ I dressed in a

hurry, and we went downstairs to my usual room. We
rang several times before they opened the door for us.

The guard were not asleep, but, having heard so much
running to and fro, feared we were thieves. At last they

opened the door, and the First Consul threw on the table

the immense packet of despatches which he had just

received. They had been fumigated and steeped in vine-

gar. When he read the announcement of the death of

Kl(^ber, the expression of his countenance sufficiently

denoted the painful feelings which arose in his mind.

I read in his face, Egypt is lost

!

I After such a circumstantial account it is odd that Miot de Jlelito

(tome i. p. 290) places the reception of this news at Morfontaine, where

lie himself apparently was. He says that .Joseph did not conceal that his

hrother looked on this as a fresh favour of fortune. Kle'ber, says Miot,

was the personal enemy of Bonaparte, who did not pardon him for aban-

doninpj him in Eijypt ; and as Kle'ber had a great reputation in the army,

if he had returneil to France he would h.ave been a redouhtable obstacle

to the designs of the First Consul. Savary (tome i. p. .368) describes Napo-
leon as having already forgotten his grievances against Klcher, and as

showing much regret at losing him in such an unfortunate manner.
A similar respect for the slumbers of others will lie found iu the

experience of Me'neval (tome i. p. 135 and tome iii. p. 124).



CHAPTER III.

1800-1801.

The happy events of the campaign of Italy had been

crowned by the armistice, concluded on the 5th of July.

This armistice was broken on the 1st of September, and

renewed after the battle of Hohenlinden. On his return

from Marengo Bonaparte was received with more enthu-

siasm than ever. The rapidity with which, in a campaign

of less than two months, he had restored the triumph of

the French standard, excited universal astonishment. He
then actively endeavoured to open negotiations with Eng-

land and Austria ; but difficulties opposed him in every

direction. He frequently visited the theatre, where his

presence attracted prodigious throngs of persons, all eager

to see and applaud him.

The immense number of letters which were at this

time addressed to the First Consul is scarcely conceiv-

able. They contained requests for places, protestations

of fidelity, and, in short, they were those petitionary cir-

culars that are addressed to all persons in power. These

letters were often exceedingly curious, and I have pre-

served many of them ; among the rest was one from

Durosel Beaumanoir, an emigrant who had lied to Jersey.

This letter contains some interesting particulars relative

to Bonaparte's family. It is dated Jersey, 12th July,

1800, and the following are the most remarkable passages

it contains :
—

I trust, General, that I may, without indiscretion, intrude

upon your notice, to remind you of what, I flatter myself, you
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have not totally forgotten, after liaving lived eigliteen or nine-

teen years at Ajaccio. But you will, perhaps, be surprised that

so trifling an affair should be the subject of the letter which I

have the honour to address to you. You cannot have forgot-

ten, General, that when your late father was obliged to take

your brothers from the college of Autun, from whence he went

to see you at Brienne, he was unprovided with money, and he

asked me for twenty-five louis, which 1 lent him with pleasure.

After his return he had no opportunity of paying me, and when

I left Ajaccio your mother offered to dispose of some plate in

order to pay the debt. To this I objected, and told her that I

would wait until she could pay me at her convenience, and pre-

vious to the breaking out of the Revolution I believe it was not

in her power to fulfil her wish of discharging the debt.

I am sorry, General, to be obliged to trouble you about such

a trifle. But such is my unfortunate situation that even this

trifle is of some importance to me. Driven from my country,

and obliged to take refuge in this island, where everything is

exceedingly expensive, the little sum I have mentioned, which

was formerly a matter of indiflCerence, would now be of great

service to me.

You will understand. General, that at the age of eighty-six,

after having served my country well for sixty years, without the

least interruption, not counting the time of emigration, chased

from every place, I have been obliged to take refuge here, to

subsist on the scanty succour given by the English (government

to the French emigrant. I say emigrant because I have been

forced to be one. I had no intention of being one, but a horde

of brigands, who came from Caen to my house to assassinate me,

considered I had committed a great crime in being the senior

general of the canton and in having the Grand Cross of St.

Louis : this was too much for them ; if it had not been for the

cries of my neighbours, my door woidd have been broken open,

and I should have been assassinated ; and I had but time to fly

by a door at the back, only caiTying away what I had on me.

At first I retired to Paris, but there they told me that I could

do nothing but go into a foreign country, so great was the hate
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entertained for me by my fellow-citizens, although I lived in

retirement, never having any discussion with any one. Thus,

General, I have abandoned all I possessed, money and goods,

leaving them at the mercy of what they call the nation, which

has prolited a good deal by this, as I have nothing left in the

world, not even a spot to put my foot on. If even a house had

been reserved for me, General, I could ask for what depends on

you, for I have heard it said that some emigrants have been

allowed to return home. I do not even ask this favour, not

having a place to rest my foot. And, besides, I have with me

here an exiled brother, older than I am, very ill and in perfect

second childhood, whom I could not abandon. I am resigned

to my own unhappy fate ; but my sole and great grief is that

not only I myself have been ill-treated, but that my fate has,

contrary to the law, injured relations whom I love and respect.

I have a mother-in-law, eighty years old, who has been refused

the dower I had given her from my property, and this will

make me die a bankrupt if nothing is changed, which makes

me miserable.

I acknowledge. General, that I know little of the new style

but, according to the old form, I am your humble servant,

DuROSEL Beaumanoir,

T read this letter to the First Consul, v^^ho immediately

said, " Bourrienne, this is sacred ! Do not lose a minute.

Send the old man ten times the sum. Write to General

Durosel that he shall be immediately erased from the list

of emigrants. What mischief those brigands of the Con-

vention have done ! I can never repair it all." Bona-

parte uttered these words with a degree of emotion which

I rarely saw him evince. In the evening he asked me
whether I had executed his orders, which I had done

without losing a moment. The death of M. Frottd had

given me a lesson as to the value of time

!

Availing myself of the privilege I have already fre-

quently taken of making abrupt transitions from one sub-
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ject to another, according as the recollection of past cir-

cumstances occurs to my mind, I shall here note down
a few details, which may not improperly be called do-

mestic, and afterwards describe a conspiracy which was
protected by the very man against whom it was

hatched.

At the Tuileries, where the First Consul always resided

during the winter and sometimes a part of the summer,

the grand mlon was situated between his cabinet and the

room in which he received the persons with whom he had

appointed audiences. "When in this audience-chamber,

if he wanted anything or had occasion to speak to any-

body, he pulled a bell which was answered by a confi-

dential servant named Landoire, who was the messenger

of the First Consul's cabinet. When Bonaparte's bell

rung, it was usually for the purpose of making some in-

quiry of me respecting a paper, a name, a date, or some

matter of that sort ; and then Landoire had to pass

through the cabinet and salon to answer the bell and

afterwards to return and to tell me I was wanted. Im-

patient at the delay occasioned by this running about,

Bonaparte, without saying anything to me, ordered the

bell to be altered so that it should ring within the

cabinet, and exactly above my table. Next morning

when I entered the cabinet, I saw a man mounted upon

a ladder. " AVhat are you doing here ? " said I. " I am
han<Tin" a bell, sir." I called Landoire and asked him

who had given the order. " The First Consul," he re-

plied. I immediately ordered the man to come down and

remove the ladder, which he accordingly did. When I

went, according to custom, to awaken the First Consul

and read the newspapers to him, I said, " General, I found

a man this morning hanging a bell in your cabinet. I

was told it was by your orders
; but being convinced

there must be some mistake, I sent him away. Surely
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the bell was not intended for you, and I cannot imagine

it was intended for me : who then could it be for ? " —
"What a stupid fellow that Landoire is !" said Bonaparte.

"Yesterday, when Cambacdrfes was with me, I wanted

you. Landoire did not come when I touched the bell. I

thought it was broken, and ordered him to get it repaired.

I suppose the bell-hanger was doing it when you saw

him, for you know the wire passes through the cabinet."

I was satisfied with this explanation, though I was not

deceived by it. For the sake of appearance he reproved

Landoire, who, however, had doue nothing more than ex-

ecute the order he had received. How could he imagine

I would submit to such treatment, considering that we
had been friends since our boyhood, and that I was now
living on full terms of confidence and familiarity with

him?
Before I speak of the conspiracy of Cdracchi, Ardna,

Topino-Lebrun, and others, I must notice a remark made
by Napoleon at St. Helena. He said, or is alleged to have

said, " The two attempts which placed me in the greatest

danger were those of the sculptor Cdracchi and of the

fanatic of Schonbruim." I was not at Schonbrunn at the

time; but I am convinced that Bonaparte was in the

most imminent danger. I have been informed on un-

questionable authority that Staps set out from Erfurt

with the intention of assassinating the Empei'or ; but he

wanted the necessary courage for executing the design.

He was armed with a large dagger, and was twice

sufficiently near Napoleon to have struck him. I heard

this from Eapp, who seized Staps, and felt the hilt of

the dagger under his coat. On that occasion Bonaparte

owed his life only to the irresolution of the young illmni-

nato who wished to sacrifice him to his fanatical fury.

It is equally oertain that on another occasion, respecting

which the author of the St. Helena narrative observes
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complete silence, another fanatic more dangerous than

Staps attempted the life of Napoleon.i

The following is a correct statement of the facts rela-

tive to Ceracchi's conspiracy. The plot itself was a

mere shadow ; but it was deemed advisable to give it sub-

stance, to exaggerate, at least in appearance, the danger

to which the First Consul had been exposed :
—

There was at that time in Paris an idle fellow called

Harrel; he had been a chef de hataillon, but he had been

dismissed the service, and was consequently dissatisfied.

He became connected with Ceracchi, Ardna, Topino-Le-

brun, and Demerville. From different motives all these

individuals were violently hostile to the First Consiil, who,

on his part, was no friend to Ceracchi and Arena, but

scarcely knew the two others. These four individuals

formed, in conjunction with Harrel, the design of assassi-

nating the First Consul ; and the time fixed for the per-

petration of the deed was one evening when Bonaparte

intended to visit the opera.

On the 20th of September, 1800, Harrel came to me at

the Tuileries. He revealed to me the plot in which he

was engaged, and promised that his accomplices should be

apprehended in the very act if I would supply him with

money to bring the plot to maturity. I knew not how to

act upon this disclosure, which I, however, could not re-

ject without incurring too great a responsibility. I imme-
diately communicated the business to the First Consul,

who ordered me to supply Harrel with money ; but not

to mention the affair to Fouch^, to whom he wished to

prove that he knew better how to manage the police

than he did.

i At the time of this second attempt I was not with NapoleDU ; but he

directed me to see the madman who had formed the design of assassinat-

ing him. It will be seen in tlie course of these Memoirs what were his

plans and what was the result of tliem.— Bournenne.
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Harrel came nearly every evening at eleven o'clock to

inform me of the progress of the conspiracy, which I im-

mediately communicated to the First Consul, who was
not sorry to find Ardna and Ct^racchi deeply committed.

But the time passed on, and nothing was done. The
First Consul began to grow impatient. At length Harrel

came to say that they had no money to purchase arms.

Money was given him. He, however, returned next day

to say that the gunsmith refused to sell them arms with-

out authority. It was now found necessary to communi-
cate the business to Fouchd, in order that he might grant

the necessary permission to the gunsmith, which I was

not empowered to do.

On the 10th of October the Consuls, after the breaking

up of the Council, assembled in the cabinet of their col-

league. Bonaparte asked them in my presence whether

they thought he ought to go to the opera. They observed

that as every precaution was taken no danger could be

apprehended, and that it was desirable to show the

futility of attempts against the First Consul's life. After

dinner Bonaparte put on a greatcoat over his green uni-

form, and got into his carriage accompanied by me and
Duroc. He seated himself in front of his box, which at

that time was on the left of the theatre between the two
columns which separated the front and side boxes. When
we had been in the theatre aV)out half an hour, the First

Consul directed me to go and see what w^as doing in the

corridor. Scarcely had I left the box than I heard a

great uproar, and soon discovered that a number of per-

sons, whose names I could not learn, had been arrested.

I informed tlie First Consul of what I had heard, and we
immediately returned to the Tuileries.

It is certain that the object of the conspiracy was to

take the First Consul's life, and that the conspirators neg-

lected nothing which could further the accomplishment
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of their atrocious design. The plot, however, was known
through the disclosures of Harrel ; and it would have been

easy to avert instead of conjuring up the storm. Such was,

and such still is, my opinion. Harrel's name was again

restored to the array list, and he was appointed comman-
dant of Vincennes. This post he held at the time of the

Due d'Enghien's assassination. I was afterwards told

that his wife was foster-sister to the unfortunate prince,

and that she recognised him when he entered the prison

which in a few short hours was to prove his grave.

Carbonneau, one of the individuals condemned, candidly

confessed the part he had taken in the j^lot, which he said

was brought to maturity solely by the agents of the police,

who were always eager to prove their zeal to their em-

ployers by some new discovery.

Although three months intervened between the machi-

nations of Cdracchi and Ar^na and the horrible attempt of

the 3d Xivose, I shall relate these two events in immediate

succession ; for if they had no other points of resemblance,

they were at least alike in their object. The conspirators

in the first affair were of the revolutionary faction. They
souglit Bonaparte's life as if with the view of rendering

his resemblance to Ctesar so complete that not even a

Brutus should be wanting. The latter, it must with regret

be confessed, were of the Eoyalist party, and in their wish

to destroy tlie First Consul they were not deterred by the

fear of sacrificing a great number of citizens.

The police knew nothing of the plot of the 3d NivOse

for two reasons : first, because they were no parties to it

;

and secondly, because two conspirators do not betray and

sell each other when they are resolute in their purpose.

In such cases the giving of information can arise only from

two causes,— the one excusable, the other infamous,—
viz., the dread of punishment, and the hope of reward. But

neither of these causes influenced the conspirators of the
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3d Nivose, the inventors and constructors of that machine

which has so justly been denominated infernal

!

On the 3d NivOse (24th December, 1800) the first per-

formance of Haydn's magnificent oratorio of the " Crea-

tion " took place at the opera, and the First Consul had

expressed his intention of being present. I did not dine

with him that day ; but as he left me, he said, " Bour-

rienne, you know I am going to the opera to-night, and you

may go too ; but I cannot take you in the carriage, as

Lannes, Berthier, and Lauriston are going with me." I

was very glad of this, for I much wished to hear one of

the masterpieces of the German school of composition. I

got to the opera before Bonaparte, who on his entrance

seated himself, according to custom, in front of the box.

The eyes of all present were fixed upon him, and he ap-

peared to be perfectly calm and self-possessed. Lauriston,

as soon as he saw me, came to my box, and told me that

the First Consul, on his way to the opera, had narrowly

escaped being assassinated in the Eue St. Nicaise by the

explosion of a barrel of gunpowder, the concussion of

which had shattered the windows of his carriage. "Within
ten seconds after our escape," added Lauriston, " the coach-

man, having turned the corner of the Eue St. Honord,

stopped to take the First Consul's orders; and he coolly

said, ' To the opera.' " ^

1 Tlie following particulars respecting the affair of tlie infernal machine
are related by Kapp, who attended Madame Bonaparte to tlie opera. He
differs from Bourrienne as to the total ignorance of the police ;

—
" The affair of the infernal maciiine has never been properly understood

by the public. The police had intimated to Napoleon that an attempt

would be made against his life, and cautioned him not to go out. Madame
Bonaparte, Mademoiselle Beauharnais, Madame Murat, Lannes, Bessieres,

the aide-de-camp on duty, Lieutenant Lebrun, now Duke of I'iacenza, M'ere

all assembled in the salon, while the First Consul was writing in his cabi-

net. Haydn's oratorio was to be performed that evening ; the ladies were
anxious to hear the music, and we also expressed a wish to that effect.

Tlie escort piquet was ordered out ; and Lauues requested that Napoleon
would join tlie party. He consented ; his carriage was ready, and he took
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On lieariiif,' this I left the theatre and returned to the

palace, under the expectation that I should speedily be

wanted. Bonaparte soon returned home ; and as intelli-

gence of the affair had spread through Paris, the grand
salon on the ground-floor was filled with a crowd of func-

tionaries, eager to read in the eye of their master what
they were to think and say on the occasion. He did

not keep them long in suspense. " This," exclaimed he,

vehemently, " is the work of the Jacobins : they have
attempted my life ! . . . There are neither nobles, priests,

nor Chouans in this affair ! ... I know what I am about,

and they need not think to impose on me. These are the

Septeml:)risers who have been in open revolt and conspir-

acy, and arrayed against every succeeding government.

along witli him Bessieres and the aide-de-camp on duty. I was directed to

attend t!ie hidie.s. Josephine had received a magnificent shawl from Con-
stantinople, and slie that evening wore it for the first time. ' Permit me to

observe,' said I, ' that your shawl is not thrown on with your usual elegance.'

She good-humouredly begged that I would fold it after the fashion of the

Egyptian ladies. While I was engaged in this operation, we heard Napo-
leon depart. ' Come, sister,' said Madame Murat, who was impatient to

get to the theatre ;
' Bonaparte is going.' We stepped into the carriage :

the First Consul's equipage had already reached the middle of the I'lace

du Carrousel. We drove after it, but we had scarcely entered the place

when the machine exploded. Napoleon escaped by a singular cliance.

St. Regent, or Ids servant Francois, had stationed himself in the middle of

the Rue Nicaise. A grenadier of the escort, supposing he was really what
he appeared to be, a water-carrier, gave him a few blows witli the flat of

his sabre and drove him off. The cart was turned round, and the machine
exploded, between the carriages of Napoleon and Josepliine. The ladies

shrieked on hearing the report ; the carriage windows were broken, and
Mademoiselle Beauharnais received a slight hurt on her hand. I alighted

and crossed the Rue Nicaise, which was strewed with the bodies of those

who had been thrown down, and the fragments of the walls that had been
shattered by the explosion. Neither the Consul nor any individual of his

suite sustained any serious injury. WlienI entered the theatre, Napoleon
was seated in his box, calm and composed, and looking at the audience

through his opera-glass. Fouche was beside him. ' Josephine ?
' said he,

as soon as he observed me. She entered at that moment, and he did not

finish his question. ' The rascals,' said he very coolly, ' wanted to blow
me up. Bring me a book of the oratorio'" {Memoirs of General Count

Happ, p. 19).
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It is scarce three months since my life was attempted by
Cdracchi, Ar^na, Topino-Lebrun, and Demerville. They

all belong to one gang ! The cut-throats of September,

the assassins of Versailles, the brigands of the 31st of

May, the conspirators of Prairial are the authors of all the

crimes committed against established governments ! If

they cannot be checked, they must be crushed ! France

must be purged of these rufhans
!

" It is impossible to

form any idea of the bitterness with which Bonaparte pro-

nounced these words. In vam did some of the Councillors

of State, and Fouchd in particular, endeavour to point out

to him that there was no evidence against any one, and

that before he pronounced people to be guilty it would be

right to ascertain the fact. Bonaparte repeated with in-

creased violence what he had before said of the Jacobins

;

thus adding, not without some ground of suspicion, one

crime more to the long catalogue for which they had
already to answer.

Fouche had many enemies, and I was not, therefore,

surprised to find some of the Ministers endeavouring to

take advantage of the difference between his opinion and
that of the First Consul ; and it must be owned that the

utter ignorance of the police respecting this event was a

circumstance not very favourable to Fouchd. He, how-
ever, was like the reed in the fable,— he bent with the

wind, but was soon erect again. The most skilful actor

could scarcely imitate the inflexible calmness he main-

tained during Bonaparte's paroxysm of rage, and the

patience with which he allowed himself to be accused.

Fouch^, when afterwards conversing; with me, gave me
clearly to understand that he did not think the Jacobins

guilty. I mentioned this to the First Consul, but nothing

could make him retract his opinion. "Fouchd," said he,

"has good reason for his silence. He is serving his own
party. It is very natural that he should seek to screen a
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set of men who are polluted with blood and crimes ! He
was one of their leaders. Do not I know what he did

at Lyons and the Loire? That explains Fouch^'s conduct

now !

"

This is the exact truth ; and now let me contradict one

of the thousand fictions about this event. It has been
said and printed that " the dignitaries and the Ministers

were assembled at the Tuileries. ' Well,' said the First

Consul, advancing angrily towards Fouchd, ' will you still

say that this is the Royalist party ?
' Fouchd, better in-

formed than was believed, answered coolly, ' Yes, certainly,

I shall say so; and, what is more, I shall prove it.' This

speech caused general astonishment, but was afterwards

fully borne out." This is pure invention. The First

Consul only said to Fouche, "I do not trust to your

police ; I guard myself, and I watch till two in the morn-
ing." This, however, was very rarely the case.

On the day after the explosion of the infernal machine a

considerable concourse assembled at the Tuileries. There

was absolutely a torrent of congratulations. The prefect

of the Seine convoked the twelve mayors of Paris, and

came at their head to wait on the First Consul. In his

reply to their address, Bonaparte said, " As long as this

gang of assassins confined their attacks to me personally,

I left the law to take its course ; but since, by an un-

paralleled crime, they have endangered the lives of a por-

tion of the population of Paris, their punishment must be

as prompt as exemplary. A hundred of these wretches

who have libelled liberty by perpetrating crimes in her

name must be effectually prevented from renewing their

atrocities." He then conversed with the Ministers, the

Councillors of State, etc., on the event of the preceding

day ; and as all knew the First Consul's opinion of the

authors of the crime, each was eager to confirm it. The
Council was several times assembled when the Senate
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was consulted, and the adroit Fouche, whose conscience

yiehled to the delicacy of his situation, addressed to the

First Consul a report worthy of a Mazarin. At the same

time the journals were filled with recollections of the

Eevolution, raked up for the purpose of connecting with

past crimes the individuals on whom it was now wished

to cast odium. It was decreed that a hundred persons

should be banished ; and the Senate established its char-

acter for complaisance by passing a Senatus-consulte con-

formable to the wishes of the First Consul.

A list was drawn up of the persons styled Jacobins,

who were condemned to transportation. I was fortunate

enough to obtain the erasure of the names of several

whose opinions had perhaps been violent, but whose edu-

cation and private character presented claims to recom-

mendation. Some of my readers may probably recollect

them without my naming them, and I shall only men-

tion M. Tissot, for the purpose of recording, not the

service I rendered him, but an instance of grateful

acknowledgment.

When in 1815 Napoleon was on the point of entering

Paris, M. Tissot came to the prefecture of police, where I

then was, and offered me his house as a safe asylum,

assuring me I should there run no risk of being dis-

covered. Though I did not accept the off'er, yet I gladly

seize on this opportunity of making it known. It is

gratifying to find that difference of political opinion does

not always exclude sentiments of generosity and honour

!

I shall never forget the way in which the author of the

essays on Virgil uttered the words Domus mea.

But to return to the fatal list. Even while I write

this, I shudder to think of the way in which men utterly

innocent were accused of a revolting crime without even

the shadow of a proof. The name of an individual, his

opinions, perhaps only assumed, were sufficient grounds
VOL. II. — 4
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for his banishment. A decree of the Consuls, dated 4th

of January, 1801, confirmed by a Senatus-consulte on the

next day, banished from the territory of the Eepublic,

and placed under special inspectors, 130 individuals,

nine of whom were merely designated in the report as

Septembrisers.

The exiles, who in the reports and in the public acts

were so unjustly accused of being the authors of the

infernal machine, were received at Nantes, with so much
indignation that the military were compelled to interfere

to save them from being massacred.

In the discussions which preceded the decree of the

Consuls, few persons had the courage to express a doubt

respecting the guilt of the accused. Truguet was the

first to mount the breach. He observed that without

denying the Government the extraordinary means for

getting rid of its enemies he could not but acknowledge

that the emigrants threatened the purchasers of national

domains, that the public mind w^as corrupted by pamph-
lets, and that Here the First Consul, interrupting

him, exclaimed, " To what pamphlets do you allude ?
" —

"To pamphlets which are publicly circulated."
— "Name

them ! "— " You know them as well as I do." ^

After a long and angry ebullition the First Consul

abruptly dismissed the Council. He observed that he

would not be duped ; that the villains were known ; that

they were Septembrisers, the hatchers of every mischief.

He had said, at a sitting three days before, " If proof

should fail, we must take advantage of the public excite-

ment. The event is to me merely the opportunity. They
shall be banished for the 2d September, for the 31st May,
for Baboeuf's conspiracy — or anything else."

On leaving one of the sittings of the Council, at which

^ The " Parallel between Cassar, Cromwell, and Bonaparte," of which I

sball speak a little farther on, is here alluded to. — Bourrienne.
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the question of a special tribunal had been discussed, he

told me that he had been a little ruffled ; that he had

said a violent blow must be struck ; that blood must be

spilt ; and that as many of the guilty should be shot as

there had been victims of the explosion (from fifteen to

twenty) ; that 200 should be banished, and the Republic

purged of these scoundrels.

The arbitrariness and illegality of the proceeding were

so evident that the Senatus-consulte contained no men-

tion of the transactions of the 3d Nivose, which was

very remarkable. It was, however, declared that the

measure of the previons day had been adopted with a

view to the preservation of the Constitution. This was

promising.

The First Consul manifested the most violent hatred

of the Jacobins ; for this he could not have been blamed

if under the title of Jacobins he had not comprised

every devoted advocate of public liberty. Their opposi-

tion annoyed him, and he could never pardon them for

having presumed to condemn his tyrannical acts, and to

resist the destruction of the freedom which he had him-

self sworn to defend, but which he was incessantly

labouring to overturn. These were the true motives of

his conduct; and, conscious of his own faults, he regarded

with dislike those who saw and disapproved of them.

For this reason he was more afraid of those whom he

called Jacobins than of the Eoyalists.

I am here recording the faults of Bonaparte, but I

excuse him ; situated as he was, any other person would
have acted in the same way. Truth now reached him
with difficulty, and when it was not Rgreeable he had no

disposition to hear it. He w^as surrounded by flatterers;

and the greater number of those who approached him, far

from telling liim what they really thought, only repeated

what he had himself been thinking. Hence he admired
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the wisdom of his counsellors. Thus Foucb(5, to main-

tain himself in favour, was obliged to deliver up to his

master 130 names chosen from among his own most
intimate friends as objects of proscription.

Meanwhile Fouch^, still believing that he was not

deceived as to the real authors of the attempt of the

3d Nivose, set in motion with his usual dexterity all the

springs of the police. His eftbrts, however, were for

some time unsuccessful ; but at length on Saturday, the

31st January, 1801, about two hours after our arrival

at Malmaison, Fouchd presented himself and produced

authentic proofs of the accuracy of liis conjectures.

There was no longer any doubt on the subject ; and

Bonaparte saw clearly that the attempt of the 3d Nivose

was the result of a plot hatched by the partisans of

royalty. But as the act of proscription against those

who were jumbled together under the title of the Jacobins

had been executed, it was not to be revoked.

Thus the consequence of the 3d Nivose was that both

the innocent and guilty were punished ; with this dif-

ference, however, that the guilty at least had the benefit

of a trial. When the Jacobins, as they were called, were

accused with such precipitation, Fouchd had no positive

proofs of their innocence ; and therefore their illegal con-

demnation ought not to be attributed to him. Sufficient

odium is attached to his memory without his being

charged with a crime he never committed. Still, I must

say that had he boldly opposed the opinion of Bonaparte

in the first burst of his fury he might have averted the

blow. Every time he came to the Tuileries, even before

he had acquired any traces of the truth, Fouchd always

declared to me his conviction of the innocence of the per-

sons first accused. But he was afraid to make the same

observation to Bonaparte. I often mentioned to him
the opinion of the Minister of Police ; but as proof was
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wanting, he replied to me with a triumphant air, " Bah !

bah ! This is always the way with FoucIk^. Besides, it

is of little consequence. At any rate, I shall get rid

of them. Should the guilty be discovered among the

Eoyalists, they also shall be punished."

The real criminals being at length discovered through

the researches of Fouchd, St. E^gent and Carbon expiated

their crimes by the forfeit of their heads. Thus the First

Consul gained his point, and justice gained hers.^

I have often had occasion to notice the multifarious

means employed by Bonaparte to arrive at the possession

of supreme power, and to prepare men's minds for so great

a change. Those who have observed his life must have

also remarked how entirely he was convinced of the truth

that public opinion wastes itself on the rumour of a project,

and possesses no energy at the moment of its execution.

In order, therefore, to direct public attention to the ques-

tion of hereditary power, a pamphlet was circulated about

Paris, and the following is the history of it :
—

In the month of December, 1800, while Fouch^ was

searching after the real authors of the attempt of the

3d Nivuse, a small pamphlet, entitled " Parallel between

Caesar, Cromwell, and Bonaparte," was sent to the First

Consul. He was absent when it came. I read it, and

perceived that it openly advocated hereditary monarchy.

I then knew nothing about the origin of this pamphlet,

but I soon learned that it issued from the office of the

Minister of the Interior [Lucien Bonaparte], and that it

had been largely circulated. After reading it I laid it on

1 It was St. Regent, or St. Rejeaiit, who fired the infernal machine. The
violence of the shock ilung him against a post, and part of his breast-bone

was driven in. He was obliged to resort to a surgeon, and it would seem

tliat this man denounced him (Memoirs of Miot de Melito, tome i. p. 354).

The discussions which took place in the Council of State on this affair

are remarkable, both for the violence of Napoleon and for the resistance

made in the Council, to a great extent successfully, to his views as to the

plot being one of the Jacobin party.



54 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPAHTE. 1800-

the table. In a few minutes Bonaparte entered, and

taking up the pamphlet pretended to look through it

;

" Have you read this ? " said he. — " Yes, General."—
" Well ! what is your opinion of it ? " — "I think it is

calculated to produce an unfavourable effect on the public

mind : it is ill-timed, for it prematurely reveals your

views." The First Consul took the pamphlet and threw

it on the ground, as he did all the stupid publications of

the day after having slightly glanced over them. I was
not singular in my opinion of the pamphlet, for next day

the prdfets in the immediate neighbourhood of Paris sent

a copy of it to the First Consul, complaining of its mis-

chievous effect ; and I recollect that in one of their letters

it was stated that such a work was calculated to direct

against him the poniards of new assassins. After reading

this correspondence he said to me, " Bourrienne, send for

Fouchd ; he must come directly, and give an account of

this matter." In half an hour Fouchd was in the First

Consul's cabinet. No sooner had he entered than the

following dialogue took place, in which the impetuous

warmth of the one party was strangely contrasted with

the phlegmatic and rather sardonic composure of the other.

'• What pamphlet is this ? What is said about it in

Paris ? "— " General, there is but one opinion of its dan-

gerous tendency." — " Well, then, why did you allow it

to appear?" — "General, I was obliged to show some

consideration for tlie author!"— "Consideration for the

author ! What do you mean ? You should have sent

him to the Temple." — " But, General, your brother

Lucien patronises this pamphlet. It has been printed

and published by his order. In short, it comes from the

office of the Minister of the Interior." — " No matter for

that ! Your duty as Minister of Police was to have

arrested Lucien, and sent him to the Temple. The fool

does nothing but contrive how he can commit me !

"
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With these words the First Consul left the cabinet,

shutting the door violently behind him. Bemg now
alone with Fouch^, I was eager to get an explanation of

the suppressed smile which had more than once curled

his lips during Bonaparte's angry expostulation. I easily

perceived that there was something in reserve. " Send the

author to the Temple !
" said Fouchd ;

" that would be no

easy matter ! Alarmed at the effect which this parallel

between Csesar, Cromwell, and Bonaparte was likely to

produce, I went to Lucien to point out to him his impru-

dence. He made me no answer, but went and got a

manuscript, which he showed me, and which contained

corrections and annotations in the First Consul's hand-

writing."

When Lucien heard how Bonaparte had expressed his

displeasure at the pamphlet, he also came to the Tuileries

to reproach his brother with having thrust him forward

and then abandoned him. " 'T is your own fault," said

the First Consul. " You have allowed yourself to be

caught ! So much the worse for you ! Fouchd is too

cunning for you ! You are a mere fool compared with

him ! " Lucien tendered his resignation, which was ac-

cepted ; and he departed for Spain. This diplomatic

mission turned to his advantage. It was necessary that

time should veil the Machiavelian invention of the " Par-

allel." ^ Lucien, among other instructions, was directed

1 The " Parallel " has been attributed to different writers ; some phrases

seemed the work of Lucien, but, says Thiers (tome ii. p. 210), its rare

elegance of language and its classical knowledge of history should attril)-

ute it to its real author, Fontanes. Joseph Bonaparte [Erreurs, tome i.

p. 270) says that Fontanes wrote it, and Lucien Bonaparte corrected it.

See Me'neval, tome iii. p. 105. Whoever wrote it, Xapoleon certainly

planned its issue. "It was," said he to Roederer, "a work of which he

liimself had given the idea, but the last pages were by a fool " (Miot, tome

i. p. 318). See also Lanfrey, tome ii. p. 208; and compare the^tory

in lung's " Lucien," tome ii. p. 490. Miot, then in the confidence of

Joseph, says that Lucieu's removal from office was the result of an angry
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to use all his endeavours to induce Spain to declare

against Portugal in order to compel that power to separate

herself from England.

The First Consul had always regarded Portugal as an

English colony, and he conceived that to attack it was

to assail England. He wished that Portugal should no

longer favour England in her commercial relations, but

that, like Spain, she should become dependent on him.

Lucien was therefore sent as ambassador to Madrid, to

second the Ministers of Charles IV. in prevailing on the

King to invade Portugal. The King declared war, but it

was not of long duration, and terminated almost without

a blow being struck, by the taking of Olivenza. On the

6th of June, 1801, Portugal signed the treaty of Badajoz,

by which she promised to cede Olivenza, Almeida, and

some other fortresses to Spain, and to close her ports

against England. The First Consul, who was dissatisHed

with the treaty, at first refused to ratify it. He still

kept his army in Spain, and this proceeding determined

Portugal to accede to some slight alterations in the first

treaty. This business proved very advantageous to Lucien

and Godoy.

The cabinet of the Tuileries was not the only place in

which the question of hereditary succession was discussed.

It was the constant subject of conversation in the salons

of Paris, where a new dynasty was already spoken of.

This was by no means displeasing to the First Consul

;

but he saw clearly that he had committed a mistake in

agitating the question prematurely ; for this reason he

waffeci war against the " Parallel," as he would not be sus-

pected of having had any share in a design that had failed.

quarrel between liiin and Fouche' in the presence of Napoleon, when
Fouche' attacked Lucien, not only for tlie pamphlet, but also for the dis-

order of his public and his private life; but Miot (tome i. p. .319) fixes

the date of this as the 3d November, while Bourrieune dates the dis-

approval of the pamphlet as in December.
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One day he said to me, " I believe I have been a little too

precipitate. The pear is not quite ripe
!

" The Consulate

for life was accordingly postponed till 1802, and the he-

reditary empire till 1804.

After the failure of the artful publication of the pam-
phlet Fouchd invited me to dine with him. As the First

Consul wished me to dine out as seldom as possible, T in-

formed him of the invitation I had received. He was,

however, aware of it before, and he very readily gave me
leave to go. At dinner Joseph was placed on the right

of Foucln^, and I next to Joseph, who talked of nothing

but his brother, his designs, the pamphlet, and the bad

effect produced by it. In all that fell from him there was
a tone of blame and disapproval. 1 told him my opinion,

bnt with greater reserve than I had used towards his

brother. He seemed to approve of what I said ; his

confidence encouraged me, and I saw with pleasure that

he entertained sentiments entirely similar to my own.

His unreserved manner so imposed upon me that, notwith-

standing the experience I had acquired, I was far from

suspecting myself to be in the company of a spy. Next
day the First Consul said to me very coldly, " Leave my
letters in the basket, I will open them myself." This un-

expected direction surprised me exceedingly, and I deter-

mined to play him a trick in revenge for his unfounded

distrust. For three mornings I laid at the bottom of the

basket all the letters which I knew came from the Minis-

ters, and all the reports which were addressed to me for the

First Consul. I then covered them over with those which,

judging from their envelopes and seals, appeared to be

of that trifling kind with which the First Consul was daily

overwhelmed : these usually consisted of requests that he

would name the number of a lottery ticket, so that the

writer might have the benefit of his good luck— solicita-

tions that he would stand godfather to a child— petitions
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for places— announcements of marriages and births —
absurd eulogies, etc. Unaccustomed to open the letters,

he became impatient at their number, and he opened very

few. Often on the same day, but always on the morrow,
came a fresh letter from a Minister, who asked for an

answer to his former one, and who complained of not

having received one. The First Consul unsealed some
twenty letters and left the rest.

The opening of all these letters, which he was not at

other times in the habit of looking at, annoyed him ex-

tremely ; but as I neither wished to carry the joke too

far, nor to remain in the disagreeable position in which
Joseph's treachery had placed me, I determined to bring

the matter to a conclusion. After the third day, when the

business of the night, which had been interrupted by lit-

tle fits of ill-humour, was concluded, Bonaparte retired

to bed. Half an hour after I went to his chamber,

to which I was admitted at all hours. I had a candle in

my hand, and, taking a chair, I sat down on the right

side of the bed, and placed the candle on the table. Both
he and Josephine awoke. " What is the matter ? " he

asked with surprise. " General, I have come to tell you
that I can no longer remain here, since I have lost your

confidence. You know how sincerely I am devoted to

you; if you have, then, anything to reproach me with, let

me at least know it, for my situation during the last three

days has been very painful." — " What has Bourrienne

done ? " inquired Josephine earnestly. " That does not

concern you," he replied. Then turning to me he said,

" 'T is true, 1 have cause to complain of you. I have been

informed that you have spoken of important affairs in a

very indiscreet manner."— " I can assure you that I spoke

to none but your brotlier. It was he who led me into the

conversation, and he was too well versed in the business

for me to tell him any secret. He may have reported to
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you what lie pleased, but could not I do the same by him ?

I could accuse and betray him as he has accused and be-

trayed me. When I spoke in conlidence to your brother,

could I regard him as an inquisitor ? "— "I must confess,"

replied Bonaparte, " that after what I heard from Joseph

I thought it right to put my confidence in quarantine."—
" The quarantine has lasted three days. General ; surely

that is long enough." — " Well, Bourrienne, let us say no
more about it. Open my letters as usual

;
you will find

the answers a good deal in arrear, which has much vexed
me ; and besides I was always stumbling on some stupid

nonsense or other !

"

I fancy I still see and hear the amiable Josephine sit-

ting up in bed and saying, in her gentle way, " What

!

Bonaparte, is it possible you could suspect Bourrienne,

who is so attached to you, and who is your only friend ?

How could you suffer such a snare to be laid for him ?

What ! a dinner got up on purpose ! How I hate these

odious police manoeuvres !
"— " Go to sleep," said Bona-

parte ;
" let women mind their gewgaws, and not interfere

with politics." It was near two in the morning before

I retired.

When, after a few hours' sleep, I again saw the First

Consul, he was more kind to me than ever, and I per-

ceived that for the present every cloud had dispersed.^

1 Joseph Bonaparte {Erreurs, tome i. p. 273) says what he reported to

his brother was Bourrieiiiie's conversation to him in the First Consul's

cal)inet during Napoleon's absence. It is curious that at the only time
when Napoleon became dissatisfied witli Meneval (Bourrienne's successor),

and ordered him not to open tlie letters, he used tlie same expression when
returning to the usual order of business, which in this case was in a few
iiours. " My dear Meneval," said lie, " there are circumstances in which
I am forced to put my confidence in quarantine" [Meneral, tome i. p. 123).

For any one who has had to manage an office it is pleasant to find that

even Napoleon was much dependent on a good secretary. In an illness of

his second secretary he said, showing the encumbrance of his desic, " With
Meneval I should soon clear off all that" (Meneval, tome i. p. 151).



CHAPTER IV.

1800-1801.

The armistice concluded after the battle of Marengo,

which had been first broken and then resumed, continued

to be observed for some time between the armies of the

Ehine and Italy and the Imperial armies. But Austria,

bribed by a subsidy of 2,000,000 sterling, would not treat

for peace without the participation of England. She did

not despair of recommencing the war successfully.

M. de St. Julien had signed preliminaries at Paris ; but

the Court of Vienna disavowed them, and Duroc, whom
Bonaparte sent to convey the preliminaries to Vienna for

the Imperial ratification, was not permitted to pass the

Austrian advance posts. This unexpected proceeding,

the result of the all-powerful influence of England, justly

incensed the First Consul, who had given decided proofs

of moderation and a wish for peace. " I want peace,"

said he to me, " to enable me to organise the interior
;

the people also want it. You see the conditions I offer.

Austria, though beaten, obtains all she got at Canipo-

Formio. What can she want more ? I could make fur-

ther exactions ; but, without fearing the reverses of 1799,

I must think of the futiire. Besides, I want tranquillity,

to enable me to settle the affairs of the interior, and to

send aid to Malta and Egypt. But I will not be trifled

with. I will force an immediate decision I

"

In his irritation the First Consul despatched orders to

Moreau, directing him to break the armistice and resume

hostilities unless he regained possession of the bridges of
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the Ehine and the Danube by the surrender of Philips-

burg, Ulm, and Ingolstadt. The Austrians then offered

to treat with France on new bases. England wished to

take part in the Congress, but to this the First Consul

would not consent until she should sign a separate armis-

tice and cease to make common cause with Austria.

The First Consul received intelligence of the occupation

of the three garrisons on the 23d of September, the day

he had fixed in his ultimatum to England for the renewal

of hostilities. But for the mean while he was satisfied

with the concessions of Austria : that power, in the ex-

pectation of being supported by England, asked her on

what terms she was to treat.

During these communications with Austria M. Otto

was in London negotiating for the exchange of prisoners.

England would not hear of an armistice by sea like that

which France had concluded with Austria by land. She

alleged that, in case of a rupture, France would derive

from that armistice greater advantage than Austria would
gain by that already concluded. The difficulty and delay

attending the necessary communications rendered these

reasons plausible. The First Consul consented to accept

other propositions from England, and to allow her to take

part in the discussions of Luneville, but on condition that

she should sign a treaty with him without the interven-

tion of Austria. This England refused to do. Weary of

this uncertainty, and the tergiversation of Austria, which

was still under the influence of England, and feeling that

the prolongation of such a state of things could only turn

to his disadvantage, Bonaparte broke the armistice. He
had already consented to sacrifices which his successes in

Italy did not justify. The hope of an immediate peace

had alone made him lose sight of the immense advantages

which victory had given him.

Far from appearing sensible to the many proofs of
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moderation which the First Consul evinced, the combined

insolence of England and Austria seemed only to increase.

Orders were immediately given for resuming the offensive

in Germany and Italy, and hostilities then recommenced.

The chances of fortune were long doubtful. After a re-

verse Austria made promises, and after an advantage she

evaded them ; but finally, fortune proved favouraljle to

France. The Frencli armies in Italy and Germany crossed

the ]\Iincio and the Danube, and the celebrated battle of

Hohenlinden brought the French advanced posts within

ten leagues of Vienna. This victory secured peace ; for,

profiting by past experience, the First Consul would not

hear of any suspension of arms until Austria should con-

sent to a separate treaty. Driven into her last intrench-

ments, Austria was obliged to yield. She abandoned

England ; and the English Cabinet, in spite of the subsidy

of 2,000,000 sterling, consented to the separation. Great

Britain was forced to come to this arrangement in con-

sequence of the situation to which the successes of the

army of Moreau had reduced Austria, which it was certain

would be ruined by longer resistance.

England wished to enter into negotiations at Luneville.

To this the First Consul acceded ; but as he saw that

England was seeking to deceive him, he required that

she should suspend hostilities with France, as Austria had

done. Bonaparte very reasonably alleged that an indefi-

nite armistice on the Continent would be more to the dis-

advantage of France than a long armistice by sea would

be unfavourable to England. All this adjourned the pre-

liminaries to 1801 and the peace to 1802.

The impatience and indignation of the First Consul had

been highly excited by the evasions of Austria and the

plots of England, for he knew all the intrigues that were

carrying on for the restoration of the Bourbons. His joy

may be therefore conceived when the battle of Hohenlinden
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balanced the scale of fortune in his favour. On the 3d of

December, 1800, IMoreau gained that memoral)le victory

which at length put an end to tlie hesitations of the Calji-

net of Vienna.^

On the 6th of December the First Consul received in-

telligence of the battle of Hohenlinden. It was on a

Saturday, and he had just returned from the theatre when
I delivered the despatches to him. He literally danced
for joy. I must say that he did not expect so important
a result from the movements of the army of the Rhine.
This victory gave a new face to his negotiations for peace,

and determined the opening of the Congress of Luneville,

which took place on the 1st of January following.

On receiving information of the battle of Hohenlinden,
Madame Moreau came to the Tuileries to call on the First

Consul and Madame Bonaparte. She did not see them,
and repeated her calls several times with no better suc-

cess. The last time she came she was accompanied by her
mother, Madame Hulot. She waited for a considerable

time in vain, and when she was going away her mother,
who could no longer restrain her feelings, said aloud, be-

fore me and several persons of the household, that " it ill

became the wife of the conqueror of Hohenlinden to dance
attendance in this way." This remark reached the ears of

those to whom it was directed. Madame Moreau shortly

after rejoined her husband in Germany ; and some time
after her departure Madame Hulot came to Malmaison to

solicit promotion for her eldest son, who was in the navy.

Josephine received INIadame Hulot very kindly, and re-

1 On the eve of the battle of Hohenlinden Moreau was at supper with
his aides-de-camp and several general officers, when a despatch was de-

livered to him. After he had read it he said to his guests, though he was
far from heing in the habit of boasting :

" I am here made acquainted with
Baron Kray's movements They are all I could wish. To-morrow we will

take from him 10,000 prisoners." Moreau took 40,000, besides a great
many flags. — Bourrienne.
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quested her to stay to dinner. She accepted the invita-

tion. The First Consul, who did not see her until the

hour of dinner, treated her very coolly : he said little to

her, and retired as soon as dinner was over. His rudeness

was so marked and offensive that Josephine, who was al-

ways kind and amiahle, thought it necessary to apologise,

by observing that his mind was disturbed by the non-

arrival of a courier whom he expected,

Bonaparte entertained no dislike of Moreau, because he

did not fear him ; and after the battle of Hohenlinden he

spoke of him in the highest terms, and frankly acknowl-

edged the services he had rendered on that important

occasion ; but he could not endure his wife's family, who,

he said, were a set of intriguers.^

Luneville having been fixed upon for the Congress, the

First Consul sent his brother Joseph to treat with Count

Louis de Cobentzel. On his way Joseph met M. de

Co1)entzel, who had passed Luneville, and was coming to

Paris to sound the sentiments of the French Government.

Joseph returned to Paris with him. After some conversa-

tion with the First Consul they set out next day for Lune-

ville, of which place Bonaparte appointed General Clarke

governor. This appeared to satisfy Clarke, who was very

anxious to be something, and had long been importuning

Bonaparte for an appointment.

A day or two after the news of the battle of Hohen-
linden M. Maret came to present for Bonaparte's signature

some decrees made in Council. While affixing the sig-

1 Napoleon had good reason for his opinion. " Moreau had a mother-in-

law and a wife lively and given to intrigue. Bonaparte could not bear in-

triguing women. Besides, on one occasion Madame Moreau's mother,

when at Malmaison, had indulged in sharp remarks on a suspected scan-

dalous intimacy between Bonaparte and his young sister Caroline, then

just married. The Consul had not forgiven such conversation " (Remusat,

tome i. p. 192). See also Meneval, tome iii. p. .57, as to the mischief done

by Madame Hulot.
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natures, and without looking up, the First Consul said

to M. Maret, who was a favourite with him, and who was

standing at his right hand, " Are you rich, Maret ? " —

•

" No, General."— " So much the worse : a man should be

independent."— " General, I will never be dependent on

any one but you." The First Consul then raised his eyes

to Maret and said, " Hem ! that is not bad !
" and when the

secretary-general was gone, he said to me, " Maret is not

deficient in cleverness : he made me a very good answer."

On the 9th of February, 1801, six weeks after the

opening of the Congress of Luneville, peace was signed

between Austria and France. This peace— the fruit of

Marengo and Hohenlinden— restored France to that hon-

ourable position which had been put in jeopardy by the

feeble and incapable government of the pentarchy and the

reverses of 1799. This peace, which in the treaty, accord-

ing to custom, was called perpetual, lasted four years.

Joseph Bonaparte, while treating for France at Lune-

ville, was speculating on the rise of the funds which he

thought the peace would produce. Persons more wise,

who were like him in the secret, sold out their stock at

the moment when the certainty of the peace became
known. But Joseph purchased to a great extent, in the

hope of selling to advantage on the signature of peace.

However, the news had been discounted, and a fall

took place. Joseph's loss was considerable, and he could

not satisfy the engagements in which his greedy and
silly speculations had involved him. He applied to

his brother, who neither wished nor was able to advance

him the necessary sum. Bonaparte was, however, ex-

ceedingly sorry to see his elder brother in this embarrass-

ment. He asked me what was to be done. I told him
I did not know ; but I advised him to consult M. de

Talleyrand, from whom he had often received good advice.

He did so ; and M. de Talleyrand replied, with that air of
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coolness which is so peculiar to him, " Wliat ! is that all ?

Oh ! that is nothing. It is easily settled. You have only

to raise the price of the funds." — " But the money?" —
" Oh, the money may be easily obtained. Make some

deposits in the Mont-de-Pi^t^, or the sinking fund. That

will give you the necessary money to raise the funds ; and

then Joseph may sell out, and recover his losses." M. de

Talleyrand's advice was adopted, and all succeeded as he

had foretold. None but those who have heard M. de

Talleyrand converse can form an accurate idea of his easy

manner of expressing himself, his imperturbable coolness,

the fixed, unvarying expression of his countenance, and

his vast fund of vvit.^

During the sitting of the Congress the First Consul

learnt that the Government couriers conveyed to favoured

individuals in Paris various things, but especially the

delicacies of the table ; and he ordered that this practice

should be discontinued. On the very evening on which

this order was issued, Cambacer^s entered the salon, where

I was alone with the First Consul, who had already been

laughing at the mortification which he knew this regula-

tion would occasion to his colleague :
" Well, Cambac^rfes,

what brings you here at this time of night ? " — "I come

to solicit an exception to the order which you have just

given to the Director of the Posts. How do you think a

man can make friends unless he keeps a good table ?

You know very well how much good dinners assist the

business of Grovernment." The First Consul laughed,

called him a gourmand, and, patting him on the shoulder,

said, " Do not distress yourself, my dear Cambac^rfes : the

1 Talleyrand had a large experience in all sorts of speculation. When
old, he gave this counsel to one of his proteges :

" Do not speculate. I have

always speculate 1 on assured information, and that has cost me so many
millions ; " and he named his losses. We may believe that in this reckon-

ing he rather forgot the amount of his gains ( Sainte-Beuve. Talleyrand,
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couriers shall continue to bring you your clindes aux,

tmffes, your Strasburg jpcitea, your Mayence hams, and

your other titbits."

Tliose who recollect the mngniticent dinners given by

Cambacdrfes and others, which were a general topic of

conversation at the time, and who knew the ingenious

calculation which was observed in the invitation of the

guests, must be convinced of the vast influence of a good

dinner in political affairs. As to Cambacdr^s, he did not

believe that a good government could exist without good

dinners; and his glory (for every man has his own par-

ticular glory) was to know that the luxuries of his table

were the subject of eulogy throughout Paris, and even

Europe. A banquet which commanded general suffrage

was to him a Marengo or a Fried)an d.^

1 Bourrienue does not exaggerate tliis excellent quality of the worthy
CanibacL-res. When Eeugnot was sent to administer tlie (Jrand Duchv of

Berg, Cambaceres said to him, " My dear Beugnot, the Emperor arranges

crowns as he chooses ; here is the Grand Duke of Berg (^Nlurat) going to

Naples ; he is welcome, I have no objection, but every year the Grand
Duke sent me a couple of dozen hams from his Grand Duchy, and I warn
you I do not intend to lose tliem, so you must make your preparations.

... I never once omitted to acquit myself of tlie obligation, . . . and
if there were any delay, . . . his Higliness never failed to cause one of

his secretaries to write a good scolding to my liouse steward ; but when
the hams arrived exactly, his Highness never failed to write to my wife

himself to thank her. . . . This was not all; tlie hams were to come
carriage free. This petty jobbery occasioned discontent, . . . and it

would not have cost me more to pay the carriage. The Prince would
not allow it. There was an agreement between him and Lavalette (the

head of the Posts). . . . And my Lord appeared to lay as much stress on
the performance of this treaty as on the procuring of the hams " {Beiifjrwt,

tome i. p. 262).

Cambaceres never suffered the cares of Government to distract his at-

tention from the great object of life. On one occasion, for example, being

detained in consultation with Napoleon beyond the appointed hour of

dinner— it is said that the fate of tiie Due d'Enghien was the topic under
discussion— he was observed, when the hour became very late, to show
great symjitoms of impatience and restlessness. He at last wrote a note

which he called a gentleman usher in waiting to carry. Napoleon, sus-

pecting the contents, nodded to an aide-de-camp to intercept the despatch.
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At the commencement of 1801 Fulton presented to

Bonaparte his memorial on steamboats. I urged a seri-

ous examination of the subject. " Bah !
" said he, " these

projectors are all either intriguers or visionaries. Don't

trouble me about the business." I observed that the

man whom he called an intriguer was only reviving an
invention already known, and that it was wrong to reject

the scheme without examination. He would not listen to

me ; and thus was adjourned for some time the practical

application of a discovery which has given such an im-

portant impulse to trade and navigation.

Paul I. fell by the hands of assassins on the night of

the 24th of March, 1801. The First Consul was much
shocked on receiving the intelligence. In the excitement

caused by this unexpected event, which had so important

an influence on his policy, he directed me to send the fol-

lowing note to the " Moniteur :
"—

"Paul J. died on the night of the 24th of March, and the

English squadron passed the Sound on the 30th. History will

reveal the connection which probably exists between these two

events."

Thus were announced the crime of the 24th of March
and the not ill-founded suspicions of its authors.^

As he took it into his hands, Cambaccres begged earnestly that he would

not read a trifling note upon domestic matters. Napoleon persisted, and

found it to be a note to the cook containing only the following words,
" Gardez les entremets, — les rotis sont perdus." When Napoleon was in

good humour at the result of a diplomatic conference, he was accustomed

to take leave of the plenipotentiaries with, " Go and dine with Cam-
baceres." His table was in fact an important state engine, as appears

from the anecdote of the trout sent to him by the municipality of Geneva,

and charged 300 francs in tlieir accounts. The Imperial " Cour des

Comptes" having disallowed the item, was interdicted from meddling

with similar municipal affairs in fntnre (ITayward's Art of Dining, p. 20).

1 We do not attempt to rescue the fair fame of our country. This is

one among many instances in which Bourrienne was misled.— Editor of
1836 edition.
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The amicable relations of Paul and Bonaparte had been

daily strengthened. "In concert with the Czar," said

Bonaparte, " I was sure of striking a mortal blow at the

English power in India. A palace revolution has over-

thrown all my projects." This revolution, and the ad-

miration of the Autocrat of Eussia for the head of the

French Eepublic, may certainly be numbered among the

causes of Paul's death. The individuals generally accused

at the time were those who were violently and persever-

ingly threatened, and who had the strongest interest in

the succession of a new Emperor. I have seen a letter

from a northern sovereign which in my mind leaves no

doubt on this subject, and which specified the reward of

the crime, and the part to be performed by each actor.

But it must also be confessed that the conduct and char-

acter of Paul I., his tyrannical acts, liis violent caprices,

and his frequent excesses of despotism, had rendered him
the object of accumulated hatred, for patience has its limit.

Tliese circumstances did not, probably, create the conspir-

acy, but they considerably facilitated the execution of the

plot which deprived the Czar of liis throne and his life.

As soon as Alexander ascended the throne, the ideas of

the First Consul respecting the dismemberment of Po-

land were revived, and almost wholly engrossed his mind.

During his first campaign in Italy, and several times when
in Egypt, he told Sulkowsky that it was his ardent wish

to re-establish Poland, to avenge the iniquity of her dis-

memberment, and by that grand reparatory act to restore

the former equilibrium of Europe. He often dictated to

me for the " Moniteur " articles tending to prove, by various

arguments, that Europe would never enjoy repose until

those great spoliations were avenged and repaired; but

he frequently destroyed these articles instead of sending

them to press. His system of policy towards Eussia

changed shortly after the death of Paul. The thought of

a war against that empire unceasingly occupied his mind.
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and gave birth to the idea of that fatal campaign wliich

took place eleven years afterwards, and which had other

causes than the re-establishment of Poland. That object

was merely set forward as a pretext.

Duroc was sent to St. Petersburg to congratulate the

Emperor Alexa'nder on his accession to the throne. He ar-

rived in the Eussian capital on the 24th of May. Duroc,

who was at this time very young, was a great favourite of

the First Consul. He never importuned Bonaparte by his

solicitations, and was never troublesome in recommending
any one or busying himself as an agent for favour

;
yet he

warmly advocated the cause of those whom he thought

injured, and honestly repelled accusations which he knew
to be false. These moral qualities, joined to an agreeable

person and elegant manners, rendered him a very superior

man.

The year 1801 was, moreover, marked by the fatal crea-

tion of special tribunals, which were in no way justified

by the urgency of circumstances. This year also saw tlie

re-establishment of the African Company, the treaty of

Luneville (which augmented the advantages France had

obtained by the treaty of Campo-Formio), and the peace

concluded between Spain and Portugal by means of

Lucien. On the subject of this peace I may mention

that Portugal, to obtain the cession of Olivenza, secretly

offered Bonaparte, through me, 8,000,000 of francs if he

would contriljute his influence towards the acquisition

of that town by Portugal He rejected this offer in-

dignantly, declaring that he would never sell honour

for money. He has been accused of having listened to

a similar proposition at Passeriano, though in fact no such

proposition was ever made to him. Those who bring for-

ward such accusations little know the inflexibility of his

principles on this point.

One evening in April, ISOl, an English paper— the

" London Gazette " — arrived at Malmaison. It an-
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nounced the landing in Egypt of the army commanded
by Abercromby, the battle given by the English, and the

death of their General. I immediately translated the

article, and i)resented it to the First Consul, with the con-

viction that the news would be very painful to him. He
doubted its truth, or at least pretended to do so. Several

officers and aides-de-camp who were in the salon coincided

in his opinion, especially Lannes, Bessiferes, and Duroc.

They thought by so doing to please the First Consul, who
then said to me, in a jeering tone, " Bah ! you do not
understand English. This is the way with you : you are

always inclined to believe bad news rather than good !

"

These words, and the approving smiles of the gentlemen
present, ruffled me, and I said with some warmth, " How,
General, can you believe that the English Government
would publish officially so important an event if it were
not true ? Do you think that a Government that has
any self-respect would, in the face of Europe, state a

falsehood respecting an affair the truth of which cannot
long remain unknown ? Did you ever know an instance

of so important an announcement proving untrue after it

had been published in the " London Gazette "
? I believe

it to be true, and the smiles of these gentlemen will not

alter my opinion." On these observations the First Con-
sul rose and said, " Come, Bourrienne, I want you in the

library." After we had left the salon he added, " This

is always the way with you. Why are you vexed at

such trifles ? I assure you I believe the news but too

confidently, and I feared it before it came. But they
think they please me by thus appearing to doubt it.

Never mind them." — "I ask your pardon," said I, " but

I conceive the best way of proving my attachment to you
is to tell you what I believe to be true. You desire me
not to delay a moment in announcing bad news to you.

It would be far worse to disguise than to conceal it."



CHAPTEE V.

1801-1802.

Before he placed two crowns on liis own head, Bona-

parte thought it would promote the interests of his

policy to place one on the head of a prince, and even

a prince of the House of Bourbon. He wished to accus-

tom the French to the sight of a king. It will hereafter

be seen that he gave sceptres, like his confidence, con-

ditionally, and that he was always ready to undo his

own work when it became an obstacle to his ambitious

designs.

In May, 1801, the Infanta of Spain, Maria Louisa, third

daughter of Charles IV., visited Paris. The Infante

Louis de Bourbon, eldest son of the Duke of Parma, had

gone to Madrid in 1798 to contract a marriage with

Maria Amelia, the sister of Maria Louisa ; but he fell in

love with the latter. Godoy favoured the attachment,

and employed all his influence to brhig about the mar-

riage. The son, who six years later was born of this

union, was named Charles Louis, after the King of Spain.

France occupied the Duchy of Parma, which, in fulfil-

ment of the conventions signed by Lucien Bonaparte, was

to belong to her after the death of the reigning Duke.

On the other hand, France was to cede tlie Grand Duchy

of Tuscany to the son of the Duke of Parma ; and Spain

paid to France, according to stipulation, a considerable

sum of money. Soon after the treaty was communicated

to Don Louis and his wife, they left Madrid and travelled
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through France. The Prince took the title of Count
of Leghorn. All accounts are unanimous as to the

attentions which the Prince and Princess received on

their journey. Among iho, fetes m honour of the illus-

trious couple, that given by M. de Talleyrand at Neuilly

was remarkable for magnihcence.^

When the Count of Leghorn was coming to pay his

tirst visit to Malmaison, Bonaparte went into the drawing-

room to see that everything was suitably prepared for his

reception. In a few minutes he returned to his cabinet

and said to me, somewhat out of humour, " Bourrienne,

only think of their stupidity ; they had not taken down
the picture representing me on the summit of the Alps
pointing to Lombardy and commanding the conquest of

it. I have ordered its removal. How mortifying it would
have been if the Prince had seen it !

"

Another picture in the drawing-room at Malmaison
represented the First Consul sleeping on the snow on the

summit of the Alps before the battle of Marengo.

The Count of Leghorn's visit to Paris imparted brilliancy

to the first years of the reign of Bonaparte, of whom it

was at that time said, " He made kings, but would not be

one
!

"

At the representation of " CEdipus," the following

expression of Philoctetes was received with transport :
—

" J'ai fait des Soiiverains, et n'ai pas voulu I'etre."

" Monarchs I 've made, but one I would uot be."

The First Consul, on leaving the theatre, did not con-

ceal his satisfaction. He judged, from the applause with

which that verse had been received, that his pamphlet
was forgotten. The manner, moreover, in which a king,

^ A full account of these fetes appears iu the " jNIemoirs of Madame
Juuot, Duchesse d'Abrautes," vol. ii. p. 220.
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crowned by his hands, had been received by the public

was no inditi'erent matter to him, as he expected that the

people would thus again become familiar with what had

been so long proscribed.

This King, who, though well received and well enter-

tained, was in all respects a very ordinary man, departed

for Italy. I say very ordinary, not that I had an oppor-

tunity of judging of his character myself, but the I'irst

Consul told me that his capabilities were extremely

limited ; that he even felt repugnance to take a pen in

his hand ; that he never cast a thought on anything but

his pleasures : in a word, that he was a fool.

One day, after the First Consul had spent several

hours in company with him and his consort, he said to

me, " I am quite tired. He is a mere automaton. I put

a number of questions to him, but he can answer none.

He is obliged to consult his wife, who makes him under-

stand, as well as she is able, what he ought to say." The
First Consul added, " The poor Prince will set off to-mor-

row, without knowing what he is going to do." 1 observed

that it was a pity to see the happiness of the people

of Tuscany intrusted to such a prince. Bonaparte re-

plied, " Policy requires it. Besides, the young man is not

w^orse than the usual run of kings." The Prince fully

justified in Tuscany the opinion which the First Consul

formed of him.^

1 This unfortunate Prince was very ill calculated to recommend, by his

personal character, the institutions to which the nubility clung with so much
fondness. Nature had endowed him with an excellent heart, but with very

limited talents ; .and his mind had imbibed the false impress consetjuent

upon his monastic education. He resided at Malmaison nearly the whole

time of his visit to Paris. Madame Bonaparte used to lead the Queeu to

her own apartments ; and as the First Consul never left his closet except

to sit down to meals, the aides-de-camp were under the necessity of keep-

ing the King' company, and of endeavouring to entertain him, so wholly

was he devoid of intellectual resources. It required, indeed, a great share

of patience to listen to the frivolities which engrossed his attention. His
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In order to show still further attention to the Kino- of

Etruria, after liis three weeks' visit to Paris, the First

Consul directed him to be escorted to Italy by a French

guard, and selected his brother-in-law Murat for that

purpose.

The new King ^ of a new kingdom entered Florence on

the 12th of April, 1801 ; but the reception given him by
the Tuscans was not at all similar to what he had expe-

rienced at Paris. The people received the royal pair as

sovereigns imposed on them by France. The ephemeral

turu of mind being thus laid open to view, care was taken to supply him
with the playtliings usually placed in the hands of children ; lie was,

therefore, never at a loss for occupation. His nonentity was a source

of regret to us : we lamented to see a tall, handsome youth, destined to

rule over his fellow-men, trembling at the sight of a horse, and wasting his

time iu the game of hide-aud-seek, or at leap-frog, and wliose wliule infor-

mation consisted in knowing his prayers, and in saying grace before and
after meals. Such, nevertlieless, was the man to whom the destinies of a
nation were about to be committed ! Wlien he left France to repair to

his kingdom, " Rome need uot be uneasy," saidtlie First Consul to us after

the farewell audience, " tliere is no danger of hts crossing the Rubicon "

{^Mbinoirs of tlie Duke qf'Rovigo, vol. i. p. 36.3).

I once heard the First Consul, iu a conversation with his colleague,

Cambacercs, treat his royal /)ro<fc(7e', the King of Etruria, very severely. Of
course his Majesty was not present. " This good King," said he, " evinces

no great concern for his dear and well-beloved subjects. He spends his

time in gossiping with old women, to whom lie is very lavish of his praise

to me, though in secret he murmurs bitterly at the thought of owin"- liis

elevation to tlie hateful French Republic."— "It is alleged," observed M.
Cambaceres, " that you wished to disgust the French people with kings
by showing them tiiis fine specimen of royalty, as the Spartans used to

disgust their chiklren with intoxication by showing them a drunken slave."

— " Not at all, not at all," resumed the First Consul ;
" I have no wish to

excite a distaste for royalty
; but the presence of his Majesty, the King of

Etruria, will vex a good many wortliy folks who are striving hard to

revive a taste for the Bourbons" {Mimoires cle Constant).

1 Louis de Bourbon (1773-180.3), Prince of Parma, son of Ferdinand,
Duke of Parma. Given Tuscany in 1801 as kingdom of Etruria in return
for Parma taken from his fatlier. Died 1803. His wife, Maria Louisa
(1782-1824), daughter of Charles IV. of Spain, governed as Regent in the

name of her son, Charles Louis, till 1807, wlien Etruria was annexed to

France. In 1815 she was given the Duchy of Lucca.
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kingdom of Etruria lasted scarcely six years. The King
died ill 1803, in the flower of his age ; and in 1S07 the

Queen was expelled from her throne by him who had

constructed it for her.

At this period a powerful party urged Bonaparte to

break with the Pope, and to establish a Gallican Church,

the head of which should reside in France. They thought

to flatter his ambition by indicating to him a new source

of power which might establish a point of comparison

between him and the first Eoman emperors. But his

ideas did not coincide with theirs on this subject. " I am
convinced," said he, " that a part of France would become
Protestant, especially if I were to favour that disposition.

I am also certain that the much greater portion would

remain Catholic, and would oppose, with the greatest

zeal and fervour, the schism of a part of their fellow-citi-

zens. I dread the religious quarrels, the family dissen-

sions, and the public distractions which such a state of

things would inevitably occasion. In reviving a religion

which has always prevailed in the country, and which still

prevails in the hearts of the people, and in giving the

liberty of exercising their worship to the minority, I shall

satisfy every one."

The First Consul, taking a superior view of the state

of France, considered that the re-establishment of reli-

gious worship would prove a powerful support to his Gov-

ernment : and he had been occupied ever since the com-

mencement of 1801 in preparing a Concordat with the

Pope. It was signed in the month of July in the same

year. It required some time to enable the parties to come

to an understanding on the subject.

Cardinal Consalvi arrived, in the month of June, 1801,

at Paris, to arrange matters on the part of the Pope.

Cardinal Caprara and M. de Spina also formed part of the

embassy sent by the Holy Father. There were, besides,
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several able theologians, among whom Doctor C ^ was

distinguished. He was a member of the Pope's chancery;

his knowledge gave liim so much influence over his col-

leagues that affairs advanced only as much as he pleased.

However, he was gained over by honours conferred on

him, and promises of money. Business then went on a

little quicker. The Concordat was signed on the 15th of

July, 1801, and made a law of the State in the following

April. The plenipotentiaries on the part of Bonaparte

were Joseph Bonaparte, Cretet, and the Abbd Bernier,

afterwards Bishop of Versailles.

A solemn Te Dcum was chanted at the cathedral of

Notre Dame on Sunday, the 11th of April. The crowd

was immense, and the greater part of those present stood

during the ceremony, whicli was splendid in the extreme

;

but who would presume to say that the general feeling

was in harmony with all this pomp ? Was, then, the time

for this innovation not yet arrived ? Was it too abrupt a

transition from the habits of the twelve preceding years ?

It is unquestionably true that a great number of the per-

sons present at the ceremony expressed, in their counte-

1 The " Doctor C " was CaselU, later Archbishop of Parma. Bernier

was given tlie Bishopric of Orlenns, not Versailles ; see " Erreurs," tome i.

p. 275. The details of the surprise attempted at the last moment by putting

before Cardinal Cousalvi for his sis^nature an altered copy of the Concordat

should be read in his " Memoirs " (tome i. p. 355), or in Laufrey (tome ii.

p. 357). As for Napoleon's belief that part of the nation might become

Protestant, Narboune probably put the matter truly when he said there

was not religion enough in Prance to stand a division. It should be

noted that the Concordat did not so much restore the Catholic Cliiu'ch as

destroy the old Gallican Church, with all its liberties, which might annoy

either Pope or Emperor. But on tliis point see " The Gallican Church

and the Revolution," by Jervis : Loudon, Kegan Paul, Trench and Co.,

1882. The clergy may, it is true, have sliowu wisdom in acceding to any

terms of restoration. Re'uan (Sonveuirs, p. 212), sjoeaking of M. Emery
of St. Sulpice, and obviously thinking of the resistance of the French

clergy of the present day, says that Emery would have been astonished

if told that a request for authority to re-open the great seminary of St.

Sulpice was a base concession to the civil power, and a sort of impiety.
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nances and gestures, rather a feeling of impatience and

displeasure than of satisfaction or of reverence for the

place in which they were. Here and there murmurs arose

expressive of discontent. The whispering, which I might

more properly call open conversation, often interrupted

the divine service, and sometimes observations were made
which were far from being moderate. Some would turn

their heads aside on purpose to take a bit of chocolate-

cake, and biscuits were openly eaten by many who seemed

to pay no attention to what was passing.

The Consular Court was in general extremely irreli-

gious ; nor could it be expected to be otherwise, being com-

posed chiefly of those who had assisted in the annihilation

of all religious worship in France, and of men who, hav-

ing passed their lives in camps, had oftener entered a

church in Italy to carry off a painting than to liear the

Mass. Those who, without being imbued with any reli-

gious ideas, possessed that good sense which induces men
to pay respect to the belief of others, though it be one in

which they do not participate, did not blame the First

Consul for his conduct, and conducted themselves with

some regard to decency. But on the road from the Tui-

leries to Notre Dame, Lannes and Augereau wanted to

alight from the carriage as soon as they saw that they

were being driven to Mass, and it required an order from

the First Consul to prevent their doing so. They went
therefore to Notre Dame, and the next day Bonaparte

asked Augereau what he thought of the ceremony. " Oh !

it was all very fine," replied the General ;
" there was

nothing wanting, except the million of men who have

perished in the pulling down of what you are setting up." ^

Bonaparte was much displeased at this remark.^

1 This remark has l)een attributed elsewliere to General Delmas.
2 According to a gentleman who played a part in this empty pageantry,

Lanues at one moment did get out of the carriage, and Augereau kept
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During the negotiations with the Holy Fatlier, Bona-

parte one day said to me, " In every country religion is

useful to the Government, and those who govern ought

to avail themselves of it to influence mankind. I was a

Mahometan in Egypt ; 1 am a Catholic in France. With
relation to the police of the religion of a state, it should

be entirely in the hands of tlie sovereign. Many persons

have urged me to found a Galilean Church, and make my-
self its head ; hut they do not know France. If they did,

they would know that the majority of the people would not

like a rupture with Eome. Before I can resolve on such

a measure the Pope must push matters to an extremity

;

but I believe he will not do so."— "You are right,

General, and you recall to my memory what Cardinal

Consalvi said: 'The Pope will do all the First Consul

desires.'"— "That is the best course for him. Let him
not suppose that he has to do with an idiot. What do

you think is the point his negotiations put most forward ?

The salvation of my soul ! But with me immortality is

the recollection one leaves in the memory of man. That
idea prompts to great actions. It would be better for a

man never to have lived than to leave behind him no

traces of his existence."

Many endeavours were made to persuade the First Con-

sul to perform in public the duties imposed by the Cath-

olic religion. An influential example, it was urged, was
required. He told me once that he had put an end to that

request by the following declaration :
" Enough of this.

Ask me no more. You will not obtain your object. You
shall never make a hypocrite of me. Let us remain

where we are."

swearing in no low whisper during the whole of the chanted Mass. Most
of the military chiefs who sprung out of tlie Revolution Imd no religion

at all ; but there were some who were Protestants, and who were irritated

by the restoration of Catholicism as the national faith.— Editor of 1836

edition.
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I have read in a work remarkable on many accounts

tliat it was on the occasion of the Concordat of the loth

July, 1801, that the First Consul abolished the republican

calendar and re-established the Gregorian. This is an

error. He did not make the calendar a religious affair.

The Scnatus-consulte, which restored the use of the Gre-

gorian calandar, to commence in the French Empire from

tlie 11th Nivose, year XIV. (1st January, 1806), was
adopted on the 22d Fructidor, year XIII. (9th September,

1805), more than four years after the Concordat. The re-

establisliment of the ancient calendar had no other object

than to bring us into harmony with the rest of Europe on

a point so closely connected with daily transactions, which
were much embarrassed by the decadary calendar.

^

Bonaparte at length, however, consented to hear Mass,

and St. Cloud was the place where this ancient usage was
first re-established. He directed the ceremony to com-

mence sooner than the hour announced, in order tliat those

who would only make a scoff at it might not arrive until

the service was ended.

Whenever the First Consul determined to hear Mass
publicly on Sundays in the chapel of the palace, a small

altar was prepared in a room near his cabinet of business.

This room had been Anne of Austria's oratory. A small

portable altar, placed on a platform one step high, restored

it to its original destination. During the rest of the week
this cliapel was used as a bathing-room. On Sunday the

door of communication was opened, and we heard Mass
sitting in our cabinet of business. The number of persons

there never exceeded three or four, and the First Consul

seldom failed to transact some business during the cere-

mony, which never lasted longer than twelve minutes.

Next day all the papers had the news that the First Con-

^ See the end of the second volume.
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sul had heard Mass in his apartments. In the same way-

Louis XYIII. has often heard it in his

!

On the 19th of July, 1801, a papal bull absolved Talley-

rand from his vows. He immediately married Madame
Grandt, and the affair obtained little notice at the time.

This statement sufficiently proves how report has per-

verted the fact. It has been said that Bonaparte on

becoming Emperor wished to restore that decorum which
the Revolution had destroyed, and therefore resolved to

put an end to the improper intimacy which subsisted

between Talleyrand and ]\ladame Grandt. It is alleged

that the Minister at first refused to marry the lady, but

that he at last found it necessary to obey the peremptory

order of his master. This pretended resurrection of mo-
rality by Bonaparte is excessively ridiculous. The bull

was not registered in the Council of State until the 19th

of August, ^1802.1

^ The First Consul had on several occasions urged M. de Talleyrand to

return to holy orders. He pointed out to him that that course would be

most becoming iiis age and high birth, and promised that he should be

made a cardinal, thus raising him to a par with Richelieu, and giving

additional lustre to his administration (Memoirs of the Duke of liovigo,

vol. i. p. 426).

Jn a recently published work, entitled " Echoes from Old Calcutta," the

author, Dr. Busteed, gives an account of Madame Grandt which is obtained

entirely from original sources. Married to a gentleman in tlie Civil Ser-

vice before she was fifteen years of age, Madame Grandt was, within

eighteen months of her marriage, the heroine of a crim. con. case against

Sir Philip Francis, in which her husband laid the damages at 1,500,000

sicca rupees. The facts relating to this remarkable action are republished

by Dr. Busteed from the notes of one of the judges wlio presided at the trial,

— Mr. Justice Hyde. Eventually judgment was pronounced for tlie plain-

tiff by the majority of the judges, with damages at .50,000 sicca rupees.

After living for a short time under the protection of Francis, ]\Iadame

Grandt went to Europe, and ultimately emerged from obscurity as tlie wife

of Talleyrand. Her extraordinary beauty — which lasted till late in life

— has been perpetuated by a painting by Gerard, which hangs between the

portraits of Madame Rc'camier and Prince de Talleyrand in the Mnsc'e at

Versailles. The following is the description given of her by Francis to his

second wife :
—

VOL. II. — 6
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I will end this chapter by a story somewhat foreign to

the preceding transactions, but which personally con-

cerns myself. On the 20th of July, 1801, the First

Consul, ex proprio motu, named me a Councillor of State

extraordinary. Madame Bonaparte kindly condescended

to have an elegant but somewhat ideal costume made for

me. It pleased the First Consul, however, and he had a

similar one made for himself. He wore it a short time

and then left it off. Never had Bonaparte since his eleva-

tion shown himself so amiable as on this occasion.

" She was tall, most elegantly formed, witli the stature of a nymph, a

complexion of iine(iuaUed delicacy, and aul)uru hair of the most luxuriant

profusion ; fine Vdue eyes with black eyelashes and brows gave her coun-

tenance a most piquant singularity."

And so Madame de Remusat writes of her in later life in her recently

published " Memoirs," vol. ii. p. 183:—
" She was tall, and her figure had all the suppleness and grace so com-

mon to women born in the East. Her complexion was dazzling, her eyes

of the brightest blue, and her slightly turned-up nose gave her, singularly

enough, a look of Talleyrand himself. Her fine golden hair was of pro-

verbial beaut)'."

Another French writer says that she possessed "la plus belle chevelure

blonde qui ait peut-etre jamais existe." Like many other reigning beauties,

however, she was credited with dulness. The Robinson Crusoe incident

(when Sir George Robinson was asked about " his man Friday ") — " Vous
avez du etre bien content le jour oix vous avez trouve Vendredi," — which

is usually cited in evidence of the prevailing belief, did not actually

happen. " It was guessed at," said 'Falleyrand, " and that was enough

;

the blunder was ascribed to her without compunction " The real hero of

the incident is supposed to have been a French abbe. But it matters not

who it was, for the fact is undeniable that the lady's understanding was

not equal to her beauty; and as the story is an excellent one, it will doubt-

less always be associated with the name of the Princesse de Talleyrand,

nee Catherine Xoel Worlee, some time Madame Grandt
(
The Acadeim/).

But M. do Talleyrand vindicated his choice, saying, " A clever wife

often compromises her husband ; a stupid one only compromises herself
'

{Historical Characters, p. 122, Bulwer, Lord Dalling).



CHAPTEE VI.

1802.

FoK the last time in these Memoirs I shall return to

the affairs of Egypt,— to that episode which embraces so

short a space of time and holds so high a place in the life

of Bonaparte. Of all his conquests he set the highest

value on Egypt, because it spread the glory of his name
throughout the East. Accordingly he left nothing un-

attempted for the preservation of that colony. In a letter

to General Kl^ber he said :
" You are as able as I am to

understand how important is the possession of Egypt to

France. The Turkish Empire, in which the symptoms of

decay are everywhere discernible, is at present falling to

pieces, and the evil of the evacuation of Egypt by France

would now be the greater, as we should soon see that fine

province pass into the possession of some other European

power." The selection of G-antheaume, however, to carry

assistance to Kldber was not judicious. Gantheaume had
brought the First Consul back from Egypt, and though the

success of the passage could only be attributed to Bona-

parte's own plan, his determined character, and superior

judgment, yet he preserved towards Gantheaume that

favourable disposition which is naturally felt for one who
has shared a great danger with us, and upon whom the

responsibility may be said to have been imposed.

This confidence in mediocrity, dictated by an honourable

feeling, did not obtain a suitable return. Gantheaume, by

his indecision and creeping about in the Mediterranean,

had already failed to execute a commission intrusted to
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liiin. The First Consul, upon finding he did not leave

Brest after he had been ordered to the Mediterranean,

repeatedly said to me, " What the devil is Gantheaume
about ?

" With one of the daily reports sent to the First

Consul he received the following quatrain, which made
him laugh heartily :

—
" Vaisseaux lestes, tete sans lest,

Ainsi part rAmiral Gantheaume
;

II s'eu va de Brest a Bertheannie,

Et revient de Bertheaume a Brest !

"

" With ballast on board, but none in his brain,

Away went our gallant Gantheaume,

On a voyage from Brest to Bertheaume,

And then from Bertheaume — to Brest Ijack again !

"

Gantheaume's hesitation, his frequent tergiversations,

his arrival at Toulon, his tardy departure, and his return

to that port on the 19th of February, 1801, only ten days

prior to Admiral Keith's appearance with Sir Ealph

Abercromby off Alexandria, completely foiled all the

plans which Bonaparte had conceived of conveying

succour and reinforcements to a colony on the brink of

destruction.

Bonaparte was then dreaming that many French fami-

lies would carry back civilisation, science, and art to that

country which was their cradle. But it could not be

concealed that his departure from Egypt, in 1799, had

prepared the way for the loss of that country, which was

hastened by Kl^ber's death and the choice of Menou as

his successor.

A sure way of paying court to the First Consul and

gaining his favour was to eulogise his views about Egypt,

and to appear zealous for maintaining the possession of

that country. By these means it was that Menou gained

his confidence. In the first year of the occupation of that
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country he laid before him his dreams respecting Africa.

He spoke of the negroes of Senegal, Mozauibique, Mehedie,

Marabout, and other barbarous countries which were all

at once to assume a new aspect, and become civilised,

in consequence of the Trench possession of Egypt. To

Menou's adulation is to be attributed the favourable re-

ception given him by the First Consul even after his

return from Egypt, of which his foolish conduct had

allowed the English to get possession. The First Consul

appointed him Governor of Piedmont, and at my request

gave my elder brother the situation of Commissary-General

of Police in that country ; but I am in candour obliged to

confess that the First Consul w^as obliged to retract this

mark of his favour in consequence of my brother's making

an abuse of it.

It was also by flattering the First Consul on the question

of the East that Davoust, on his return from Egypt in

1800, in consequence of the Convention of El-Arish,

insinuated himself into Bonaparte's good graces and, if he

did not deserve, obtained his favour.^ At that time

Davoust certainly had no title whatever to the good

fortune which he suddenly experienced. He obtained,

without first serving in a subordinate rank, the command-
in-chief of the Grenadiers of the Consular Guard ; and

from that time commenced the deadly hatred which

Davoust bore towards me. Astonished at the great length

of time that Bonaparte had been one day conversing with

him, I said, as soon as he was gone, " How could you talk

so long with a man whom you have always called a stupid

fellow ? '' — " Ah ! but I did not know him well enough

before. He is a better man, I assure you, than he is

thought ; and you will come over to my opinion."— "I
hope so." The First Consul, who was often extremely

^ It is difficult to imagiue a man of Davoust's determined character

playing the role of a sycophant. Allowance must be made for M. de

Bourrieuue's evident bias.
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indiscreet, told Davoust my opinion of him, and his

hostility against me ceased but with his life.

The First Consul could not forget his cherished con-

quest in the East. It was constantly the object of his

thoughts. He endeavoured to send reinforcements to his

army from Brest and Toulon, but without success. He
soon had cause to I'epent having intrusted to the hands

of Menou the comniand-in-chief, to which he became en-

titled only by seniority, after the assassination of Kldber

by Soleiman Heleby. But Bonaparte's indignation was
excited when he became acquainted with Menou's neglect

and mismanagement, when he saw him giving reins to his

passion for reform, altering and destroying everything,

creating nothing good in its stead, and dreaming about

forming a land communication with the Hottentots and

Congo instead of studying how to preserve the country.

His pitiful plans of defence, which were useless from

their want of combination, appealed to the First Consul

the height of ignorance. Forgetful of all the principles

of strategy, of which Bonaparte's conduct afforded so

many examples, he opposed to the landing of Abercromby

a few isolated corps, which were unable to withstand the

enemy's attack, while the English army might have been

entirely annihilated had all the disposable troops been

sent against it.

The great admiration which Menou expressed at the ex-

pedition to Egypt ; his excessive fondness for that coun-

try, the religion of which he had ridiculously enough

embraced under the name of Abdallah ; the efforts he

made, in his sphere, to preserve the colony ; his enthu-

siasm and blind attachment to Bonaparte ; the flattering

and encouraging accounts he gave of the situation of the

army, at first had the effect of entirely covering Menou's

incapacity.^ This alone can account for the First Con-

1 For a ludicrous description of Meuou, see the "Memoirs of Mar-

mout". " Clever and gay, he was an agreeable talker, but a great liar.
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sul's preference of him. But I am far from concurring in

what has been asserted by many persons, that France

lost Egypt at the very moment when it seemed most easy

of preservation. Egypt was conquered by a genius of

vast intelligence, great capacity, and profound military

science. Fatuity, stupidity, and incapacity lost it. What
was the result of that memorable expedition ? The de-

struction of one of our finest armies ; the loss of some of

our best generals ; the annihilation of our navy ; the sur-

render of Malta ; and the sovereignty of England in the

Mediterranean. What is the result at present ? A scien-

tific work. The gossiping stories and mystifications of

Herodotus, and the reveries of the good Eollin, are worth

as much, and have not cost so dear.

The First Consul had long been apprehensive that the

evacuation of Egypt was unavoidable. The last news he

had received from that country was not very encour-

aging, and created a presentiment of the approach of the

dreaded catastrophe. He, however, published the con-

trary ; but it was then of great importance that an ac-

count of the evacuation should not reach England until

the preliminaries of peace were signed, for which purpose

M. Otto was exerting all his industry and talent. We
made a great merit of abandoning our conquests in

Egypt ; but the sacrifice would not have been considered

great if the events which took place at the end of August

He was not destitute of some education. His character, one of the oddest

in the world, came very near to hinacy. Constantly writing, always in

motion in his room, riding for exercise every day, he was never able to

start on any necessary or useful journey. . . . When, later. Bonaparte,

then First Consul, g.ave him by special favour the administration of Pied-

mont, he put off his departure from day to day for six months; and then

he only did start because his friend Maret himself put hira into his car-

riage, with post-horses already harnessed to it. . . . When he left this post,

they found in his cabinet 900 letters which he had not opened. He was

an eccentric lunatic, amusing enough sometimes, but a curse to everything

which depended on him " {Memoirs of the Due de Ragnse, tome i. p. 410).
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had been known in London before the signing of the pre-

liminaries on the 1st of October. The First Consul him-

self answered M. Otto's last despatch, containing a copy

of the preliminaries ready to be adopted by the English

Ministry. Neither this despatch nor the answer was
communicated to M. de Talleyrand, then Minister for

Foreign Affairs. The First Consul, who highly appreci-

ated the great talents and knowledge of that Minister,

never closed any diplomatic arrangement without first

consulting him ; and he was right in so doing. On this

occasion, however, I told him that as M. de Talley-

rand was, for his health, taking the waters of Bourbon-

I'Archambault, four days must elapse before his reply

could be received, and that the delay might cause the

face of affairs to change. I reminded him that Egypt was
on the point of yielding. He took my advice, and it was
well for him that he did, for the news of the compulsory

evacuation of Egypt arrived in London the day after the

signing of the preliminaries. M. Otto informed the First

Consul by letter that Lord Hawkesbury, in communicat-

ing to him the news of the evacuation, told him he was
very glad everything was settled, for it would have been

impossible for him to have treated on the same basis

after the arrival of such news. In reality we consented

at Paris to the voluntary evacuation of Egypt, and tliat

was something for England, while Egypt was at that

very time evacuated by a convention made on the spot.

The definitive evacuation of Egypt took place on the 30th

of August, 1801 ; and tlius the conquest of that country,

which had cost so dear, was rendered useless, or rather

injurious.^

1 " Erreurs " (tome i. p. 94) attacks the correctness of this paragraph,

but it appears to be right. See Thiers, tome iii. p. 184. The French
had consented to evacuate Egypt, but neither side knew of the surrender

of Alexandria when the preliminaries were signed.



CHAPTER VII.

1802.

The epoch of the peace of Amiens must be considered

as the most glorious in the history of France, not except-

ing the splendid period of Louis XIV. 's victories and the

more brilliant era of the Empire. The Consular glory

was then pure, and the opening prospect was full of

flattering hope ; whereas those who were but little accus-

tomed to look closely into things could discern mighty

disasters lurking under the laurels of the Empire.

The proposals which the First Consul made in order to

obtain peace sufficiently prove his sincere desire for it.

He felt that if in the commencement of his administra-

tion he could couple his name with so hoped-for an act,

he should ever experience the affection and gratitude of

the French. I want no other proof of his sentiments

than the offer he made to give up Egypt to the Grand
Seignior, and to restore all the ports of the Gulf of Venice

and of the Mediterranean to the States to which they had

previously belonged ; to surrender Malta to the order of

the Knights of St. John, and even to raze its fortifications

if England should think such a measure necessary for her

interests. In the Indies, Ceylon was to be left to him,^

and he required the surrender of the Cape of Good Hope
and all the places taken by the English in the West
Indies.

1 Ceylon belonged to Holland, but was retained by England under tlie

treaty of Amiens.
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England had firmly resolved to keep Malta, the Gibral-

tar of the Mediterranean , and the Cape of Good Hope, the

caravanserai of the Indies. She was therefore unwilling

to close with the proposition respecting Malta ; and she

said that an arrangement might be made by which it

would be rendered independent both of Great Britain and

France. We clearly saw that this was only a lure, and

that, whatever arrangements might be entered into, England

would keep Malta, because it was not to be expected that

the maritime power would willingly surrender an island

which commands the Mediterranean. I do not notice the

discussions respecting the American islands, for they were,

in my opinion, of little consequence to us.-^ They cost

1 It is strans^e that Boiirrienne does not allude to one of the first arbi-

trary acts of Napoleon, the discussions on whic-li formed part of those con-

versations between Napoleon and his brother Lucien of which Bourrienne

complained to Josephine he knew nothing. In 1763 France had ceded

to England the part of Louisiana on tlie east of the Mississippi, and the

part on the west of that river, with New ( )rleans, to Spain. By the treaty

negotiated with Spain by Lucien Bonaparte in 1800, her share was given

back to France. On the 30th April, 1803, Xaj)oleon sold the whole to the

United States for 80,000,000 francs (.£3,250,000), to tlie intense anger of

his brothers Joseph and Lucieii. Lucien was especially proud of having

obtained the cession for which Napoleon was. at that time, very anxious

;

but both brothers were horrified when Napoleon disclosed how little he

cared for constitutional forms by telling them that if the Legislature, as

his brothers threatened, would not ratify the treaty, he would do without

the ratification; see lung's " Lucien," tome ii. p. 126.

Napoleon's most obvious motives were want of money and the cer-

tainty of tlie seizure of the province by England, as the rupture with her

was now certain. But there was perhaps another cause. The States had

already been on the pouit of seizing the province from Spain, which had

interfered witli their trade (Hinton's United States, p. 435, and Thiers,

tome iv. p. 320).

Of the sum to be paid, 20,000,000 were to go to the States, to cover the

illegal seizures of American ships by the French navy, a matter which

was not settled for many years later. The remaining 60,000,000 were

employed in the preparations for the invasion of England ; see Thiers,

tome iv. pp. 320 and 325, and Lanfrey, tome iii. p. 48. The transaction is

a remarkable one, as forming the final withdrawal of France from North
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more than they produce ; and they will escape from us,

some time or other, as all colonies ultimately do from the

parent country. Our whole colonial system is absurd

;

it forces us to pay for colonial produce at a rate nearly

double that for which it may be purchased from our

neiuhbours.

When Lord Hawkesbury consented to evacuate Malta,

on condition that it should be independent of France and
Great Britain, he must have been aware that such a con-

dition would never be fulfilled. He cared little for the

order of St. John, and he should have put, by way of post-

script, at the bottom of his note, " We will keep Malta in

spite of you." I always told the First Consul that if he

were in the situation of the English he would act the

same part ; and it did not require much sagacity to fore-

tell that Malta would be the principal cause of the rup-

ture of peace. He was of my opinion ; but at that

moment he thought everything depended on concluding

the negotiations, and I entirely agreed with him. It hap-

pened, as was foreseen, that Malta caused the renewal of

war. The English, on being called upon to surrender the

island, eluded the demand, shifted about, and at last ended

by demanding that Malta should be placed under the pro-

tection of the King of Naples, — that is to say, under the

protection of a power entirely at their command, and to

which they might dictate what they pleased. This was
really too cool a piece of irony !

I will here notice the quarrel between the First Consul
and the English newspapers, and give a new proof of his

America (with the exception of some islands on the Xewfoumlland coast),

where she had once held such a proud position. It also eventually made
an addition to the number of slave States.

There seems to have heen some difficulty about handing over the coun-

try ; see Martens, tome ix. p. 302, where the States, on 27th October, 1810,

announce their intention of annexing certain lands to the eastwards and
southwards of the Spanish portion, which they had not received.
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views concerning the freedom of the press. However,

liberty of the press did onc& contribute to give him infi-

nite gratification, namely, when all the London journals

mentioned the transports of joy manifested in London on

the arrival of Genei'al Lauriston, the bearer of the ratifi-

cation of the preliminaries of peace.

The First Consul was at all times the declared enemy
of the liberty of the press, and therefore he ruled the

journals with a hand of iron.^ I have often heard him say,

" Were I to slacken the reins, I should not continue three

months in power." He unfortunately held the same opin-

ion respecting every other prerogative of public freedom.

The silence he had imposed in France he wished, if he

could, to impose in England. He was irritated by the

calumnies and libels so liberally cast upon him by the

English journals, and especially by one written in French,

called " L Ambigu," conducted by Peltier, who had been

the editor of the " Actes des Apotres " in Paris. The " Am-

1 An incident, illustrative of the great irritation which Bonaparte felt at

the plain speaking of the English press, also shows the important character

of Coleridge's writings in the " Morning Post." In the course of a debate

in the House of Commons Fox asserted that the rupture of tlie truce of

Amiens had its origin in certain essajs which had appeared in the " Morn-

ing Post," and which were known to have proceeded from the pen of

Coleridge. But Fox added an ungenerous and malicious hint that the

writer was at Rome, within the reach of Bonaparte. The information

reached the ears for which it was uttered, and an order was sent from Paris

to compass the arrest of Coleridge. It was in the year 1806, when the

poet was making a tour in Italy. The news i-eached him at Naples,

through a brother of the illustrious Hnmlioldt, as Mr Gillman says,

—

or in a friendly warning from Prince Jerrnne Bonaparte, as we have it

on the authority of Mr. Cottle, — and the Pope appears to liave been

reluctant to have a hand in tlie business, and. in fact, to have furnished him
with a passport, if not with a carriage for flight. Coleridge eventually

got to Leghorn, where he got a passage by an American ship bound

for England ; but his escape coming to the ears of Bonaparte, a look-

out was kept for the ship, and she was chased by a French cruiser, which
threw the cajjtain into such .a state of terror that he made Coleridge throw

all his journals and papers overboard (Andrews' Histonj of Journalism, vol.

ii. p. 28).
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bigu " was constantly teeming with the most violent attacks

on the First Consul and the French nation. Bonaparte

could never, like the English, bring himself to despise

newspaper libels, and he revenged himself by violent arti-

cles which he caused to be inserted in the " Moniteur." He
directed M. Otto to remonstrate, in an official note, against

a system of calumny which he believed to be authorised

by the English Government. Besides this official pro-

ceeding he applied personally to Mr. Addington, the

Chancellor of the Exchequer, requesting him to procure

the adoption of legislative measures against the licentious

writings complained of ; and, to take the earliest oppor-

tunity of satisfying his hatred against the liberty of the

press, the First Consul seized the moment of signing the

preliminaries to make this request.

Mr. Addington wrote a long answer to the First Consul,

which I translated for him. The English Minister refuted,

with great force, all the arguments which Bonaparte had

employed against the press. He also informed the First

Consul that, though a foreigner, it was competent in him

to institute a complaint in the courts of law ; but that in

such case he must be content to see all the scandalous

statements of which he complained republished in the re-

port of the trial. He advised him to treat the libels with

profound contempt, and do as he and others did, who
attached not the slightest importance to them. I con-

gratulate myself on having in some degree prevented a

trial taking place at that time.

Things remained in this state for the moment ; but after

the peace of Amiens the First Consul prosecuted Peltier,

whose journal was always full of violence and bitterness

against him. Peltier was defended by the celebrated

Mackintosh, who, according to the accounts of the time,

displayed great eloquence on this occasion, yet, in spite of

the ability of his counsel, he was convicted. The verdict.
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which public opinion considered in the light of a triumph

for the defendant, was not followed up by any judgment,

in consequence of the rupture of the peace occurring soon

after. It is melancholy to reflect that this nervous sus-

ceptibility to the libels of the English papers contributed

certainly as much as, and perhaps more than, the consider-

ation of great political interests to the renewal of hostili-

ties. The public would ba astonished at a great many
things if they could only look under the cards.

I have anticipated the rupture of the treaty of Amiens
that I might not interrupt what I had to mention respect-

ing Bonaparte's hatred of the liberty of the press. 1 now
return to the end of the year 1801, the period of the ex-

pedition against St. Domingo.

The First Consul, after dictating to me during nearly

the whole of one night instructions for that expedition,

sent for General Leclerc, and said to him in my presence,

" Here, take your instructions
;
you have a fine oppor-

tunity for filling your purse. Go, and no longer tease me
with your eternal requests for money." The friendship

which Bonaparte felt for his sister Pauline had a good

deal of influence in inducing him to take this liberal way
of enriching her husband.

The expedition left the ports of France on the 14th of

December, 1801, and arrived off Cape St. Domingo on the

1st of February, 1802. The fatal result of the enterprise

is well known, but we are never to be cured of the folly

of such absurd expeditions. In the instructions given to

Leclerc everything was foreseen ; but it was painful to

know that the choice of one of the youngest and least

capable of all the generals of the army left no hope of a

successful result.^

^ This attack on Leclerc is met by "Erreurs" (tome ii. p. 247), which

details the previous distinguished services of that General, and points out

that the First Consul could have easily fouud quicker means of enriching
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The expedition to St. Domingo was one of Bonaparte's

great errors. Almost every person whom he consulted

endeavoured to dissuade him from it. He attempted a

justification tlirough the medium of his historians of St.

Helena ; but does he succeed when he says, " that he was
obliged to yield to the advice of his Council of State "

?

He, truly, was a likely man to submit a question of war to

the discussion of the Council of State, or to be guided in

such an affair by any Council ! We must believe that no

other motive influenced the First Consul but the wish, by

giving him the means of enriching himself, to get rid of a

brother-in-law who had the gift of specially annoying him.

The First Consul, who did not really much like this ex-

pedition, should have perhaps reflected longer on the dif-

ficulties of attempting to subdue the colony by force.

He was shaken by this argument, which I often repeated

to him, and he agreed with it, but the inconceivable in-

fluence which the members of his family exercised on him
always overcame him.

Bonaparte dictated to me a letter for Toussaint, full of

sounding words and fine promises, informing him that his

two children, who had been educated in Paris, were sent

back to him, offering him the title of vice-governor, and
stating that he ought readily to assist in an arrangement

which would contribute to reconnect the colony with the

mother-country. Toussaint, who had at first shown a

disposition to close with the bargain, yet feeling afraid of

Leclerc than by sending him and Pauline to St. Domingo; see also Tung's
" Lucien," tome ii. p. 160, where both Napoleon and Lucien seem to agree

as to the expedition. As for Madame Leclerc, Madame Junot says that

Napoleon strongly urged her going out, which he would hardly have
done unless he had believed in tlie success of the expedition. " I believe,"

says the Duchesse d'Abrantes (tome ii. p. 2.34), " General Leclerc would
willingly have dispensed with this addition to his baggage, for it was a pcjsi-

tive calamity, after tlie finst quarter of an hour's interview had exhausted
the pleasure of surveying her reall}' beautiful person, to have the burden
of amusing, occupying, and taking care of Madame Leclerc."
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being deceived by the French, and probal^ly induced by

ambitious motives, resolved on war. He displayed a great

deal of talent ; but, being attacked before the climate had

thinned the French ranks, he was unable to oppose a fresh

army, numerous and inured to war. He capitulated, and

retired to a plantation, which he was not to leave without

Leclerc's permission. A feigned conspiracy on the part

of the blacks formed a pretence for accusing Toussaint,

and he was seized and sent to France.

Toussaint was brought to Paris in the beginning of

August. He was sent, in the first instance, to the Temple,

whence he was removed to the Chateau de Joux. His im-

prisonment was rigorous ; few comforts were allowed him.

This treatment, his recollection of the past, his separation

from the world, and the effects of a strange climate, acceler-

ated his death, which took place a few months after his

arrival in France. The reports which spread concerning

his death, the assertion that it was not a natural one, and

that it had been caused by poison, obtained no credit. I

should add that Toussaint wrote a letter to Bonaparte

;

but I never saw in it the expression attributed to him,—
" The first man of the blacks to the first man of the

whites ! " Bonaparte acknowledged that the black leader

possessed energy, courage, and great skill. I am sure that

he would have rejoiced if the result of his relations with

St. Domingo had been something else than the kidnapping

and transportation of Toussaint.

Leclerc, after fruitless efforts to conquer the colony,

was himself carried off by the yellow fever. Eochambeau

succeeded him by right of seniority, and was as unsuccess-

ful as Menou had been in Egypt. The submission of the

blacks, which could only have been obtained by concilia-

tion, he endeavoured to compel by violence. At last, in

December, 1803, he surrendered to an English squadron,

and abandoned the island to Dessalines.
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Bonapaite often experienced severe bodily pain, and I

have now little doubt, from the nature of his sufferings,

that they were occasioned by the commencement of that

malady which terminated his life at St. Helena. These

pains, of which he frequently complained, affected him
most acutely on the night when he dictated to me the

instructions for General Leclerc. It was very late when I

conducted him to his apartment. We had just been tak-

ing a cup of chocolate, a beverage of which we always

partook wlien our business lasted longer than one o'clock

in the morning. He never took a light with lum when
he went up to his bedroom. I gave him my arm, and we
had scarcely got beyond the little staircase which leads

to the corridor, when he was rudely run against by a man
who was endeavouring to escape as quickly as possible by

the staircase. The First Consul did not fall because I

supported him. We soon gained his chamber, where we
found Josephine, who, having heard the noise, awoke
greatly alarmed. From the investigations which were

immediately made it appeared that the uproar was occa-

sioned by a fellow who had been keeping an assignation

and had exceeded the usual hour for his departure.^

On the 7th of January, 1802, Mademoiselle Hortense

was married to Louis Bonaparte. As the custom was not

yet resumed of adding the religious ceremony to the civil

contract, the nuptial benediction was on this occasion

1 lu speaking of an accident, when Napoleon had a dangerous fall at

St. Cloud, Iiaving been thrown out of a carriage on to a great block of

stone, narrowly escaping severe injury to his stomach, Metternich says,

" I could almost imagine that this accident may have assisted to develop

the germ of the malady to whicli Napoleon succumbed at St. Helena, ami

I am surprised that this has not been already remarked. It is true, how-

ever, that he has often told me that this malady was hereditary in his

family " {Mfttemiclt, tome i. p. 278). His father and several other members
of the family died of the same disease. This accident appears to have

Iiappeaed in an unsuccessful attempt to drive himself in 1802; see luug's

"Lucien," tome ii. p. 259.

VOL. II. — 7



98 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1802.

privately given by a priest at the house, Rue de la Victoire.

Bonaparte also caused the marriage of his sister Caroline,^

which had taken place two years earlier before a mayor,

to be conseciated in the same manner; but he and his

wife did not follow the example. Had he already, then,

an idea of separating from Josephine, and therefore an

unwillingness to render a divorce more difficult by giving

his marriage a religious sanction ? I am rather inclined

to think, from what he said to me, that his neglecting

to take a part in the religious ceremony arose from

indifference.

Bonaparte said at St. Helena, speaking of Louis and

Hortense, that "they loved each other w^hen they married :

they desired to be united. The marriage was also the

result of Josephine's intrigues, who found her account in

it." I will state the real facts. Louis and Hortense did

not love one another at all. That is certain. The First

Consul knew it, just as he w^ell knew that Hortense had

a great inclination for Duroc, who did not fully return it.

The First Consul agreed to their union, but Josephine

was troubled by such a marriage, and did all she could to

prevent it. She often sjjoke to me about it, but rather

late in the day. She told me that her brothers-in-law

were her declared enemies, that I well knew their in-

trigues, and that I well knew there was no end to the

annoyances they made her undergo. In fact, I did know
all this perfectly. She kept on repeating to me that with

this projected marriage she would not have any support

;

that Duroc was nothing except by the favour of Bonaparte;

that he had neither fortune, fame, nor reputation, and that

he could be no help to her against the well-known ill-will

of the brothers of Bonaparte. She wanted some assurance

for the future. She added that her husband was very

fond of Louis, and that if she had the good fortune to

1 The wifo of Murat, and the cleverest of Bonaparte's sisters.
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unite liim to her daughter this would be a counterpoise

to the calumnies and persecutions of lier other brothers-

in-law. I answered her that she had concealed her inten-

tions too long from me, and that I had promised my
services to the young people, and the more willingly as I

knew the favourable opinion of the First Consul, who had

often said to me, " My wife has done well ; they suit one

another, they shall marry one another. I like Duroc;

he is of good family. I have rightly given Caroline to

Murat, and Pauline to Leclerc, and I can well give

Hortense to Duroc, who is a fine fellow. He is worth

more than the others. He is now general of a division

;

there is nothing against this marriage. Besides, I have

other plans for Louis." In speaking to Madame Bonaparte,

I added that her daughter burst into tears when spoken

to about her marriage with Louis.

The First Consul had sent a brevet of general of division

to Duroc by a special courier, who went to Holland,

through which the newly made General had to pass on

his return from St. Petersburg, where, as I have already

said, he had been sent to compliment the Emperor Alex-

ander on his accession to the throne. The First Consul

probably paid this compliment to Duroc in the belief

that the marriage would take place.

During Duroc's absence the correspondence of the

lovers passed, by their consent, through my hands. Every
night I used to make one in a party at billiards, at which
Hortense played very well. When I told her, in a whis-

per, that I had got a letter for her, she would immediately

leave off playing and run to her chamber, where I followed

and gave her Duroc's epistle. When she opened it, her

eyes would fill with tears, and it was some time before

she could return to the salon. All was useless for her.

Josephine required a support in the family against the

family. Seeing her firm resolution, I promised to no
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longer oppose her wishes, which I could not disapprove,

but I tohl her I could only maintain silence and neu-

trality in these little debates, and she seemed satisfied.

When we were at jVIalmaison, those intrigues continued.

At the Tuileries the same conduct was pursued, but then

the probability of success was on Duroc's side ; I even

congratulated him on his prospects, but he received my
compliments in a very cold manner. In a few days after

Josephine succeeded in changing the whole face of affairs.

Her heart was entirely set on the marriage of Louis with

her daughter ; and prayers, entreaties, caresses, and all

those little arts which she so well knew how to use, were

employed to win the First Consul to her purpose.

On the 4th of January, the First Consul, after dinner,

entered our cabinet where I was employed. " Where is

Duroc ?
" he inquired. — " He has gone to to the opera, I

believe." — " Tell him, as soon as he returns, that I have

promised Hortense to him, and he shall have her. But

I wish the marriage to take place in two days at the latest.

I will "ive him 500,000 francs, and name him comman-

dant of the eighth military division ; but he must set out

the day after his marriage with his wife for Toulon. We
must live apart ; I want no son-in-law at home. As
I wish to come to some conclusion, let me know to-night

whether this plan will satisfy him." — "I think it will

not."— " Very well ! then slie shall marry Louis." —
" Will she like that ?

" — " She must like it." Bonaparte

gave me these directions in a very abrupt manner, which

made me think that some little domestic warfare had

been raging, and that to put an end to it he had come

to propose his ultimatum. At half-past ten in the even-

ing Duroc returned ; I reported to him, word for word,

the proposition of the First Consul. " Since it has come

to that, my good friend," said he, " tell him he may keep

his daucjhter for me. I am going to see the ," and,
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with an indifference for which I cannot account, he took

his hat and went off.^ The First Consul, Lefore going

to bed, was informed of Duroc's reply, and Josephine

received from him the promise that Louis and Hortense

should be married. The marriage took place a few days

after, to the great regret of Hortense, and probably to the

satisfaction of Duroc. Louis submitted to have forced

on him as a wife a woman who had hitherto avoided him
as much as possible. She always manifested as much
indifference for him as he displayed repugnance for her,

and those sentiments have not been effaced.^

Napoleon said at St. Helena that he wished to unite

Louis with a niece of Talleyrand. I can only say that I

never heard a word of this niece, either from himself, his

wife, or his daughter ; and I rather think that at that time

the First Consul was looking after a royal alliance for

Louis. He often expressed regret at the precipitate

marriages of his sisters. It should be recollected that we
were now in the year which saw the Consulship for life

established, and which, consequently, gave presage of the

Empire. Napoleon said truly to the companions of his

exile that " Louis' marriage was the result of Josephine's

intrigues," but I cannot understand how he never men-
tioned the intention he once had of uniting Hortense to

1 Duroc eventually married a Mademoiselle Hervas d'Almenara, the

daughter of a Spanish banker, who was later Minister of .Joseph, and was
created Marquis of Abrueuara. The lady was neitlier handsome nor cami-

able, but she possessed a vast fortune, and Bonaparte himself solicited her

hand for his aide-de-camp. After the death of Duroc his widow married

a M. Fabvier, and Napoleon gave his Duchy of Frioul to his daughter.
- The marriage of Louis Bonaparte took place ou the 7th January.

The bride and bridegroom were exceedingly dull, and Mademoiselle

Hortense wept during the whole of the ceremony. Josephine, knowing
that this union, whicli commenced so inauspiciously, was her own work,

anxiously endeavoured to establish a more cordial feeling between her

daughter and son-in-law. But all her efforts were vain, and the mar-

riage proved a very unhappy one (Memo/res de Constant).

Napoleon III. was the sou of the Queeu of Holland (Hortense Beau-

haruais).
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Duroc. It has been erroneously stated that the First

Consul believed that he reconciled the happiness of his

daughter with his policy. Hortense did not love Louis,

and dreaded this marriage. There was no hope of happi-

ness for her, and the event has proved this. As for the

j)olicy of the First Consul, it is not easy to see how it was

concerned with the marriage of Louis to Hortense, and

in any case the grand policy which professed so loudly to

be free from all feminine influences would have been

powerless against the intrigues of Josephine, for at this

time at the Tuileries the boudoir was often stronger than

the cabinet. Here I am happy to have it in my power to

contradict most formally and most positively certain

infamous insinuations which have prevailed respecting

Bonaparte and Hortense. Those wlio have asserted that

Bonaparte ever entertained towards Hortense any other

sentiments than those of a father-in-law for a daughter-

in-law have, as the ancient knights used to say, " lied in

their throats." We shall see farther on what he said to

me on this subject, but it is never too soon to destroy such

a base calumny. Authors unworthy of belief have stated,

without any proof, that not only was there this criminal

liaison, but they have gone so far as to say that Bonaparte

was the father of the eldest son of Hortense. It is a lie,

a vile lie. And yet the rumour has spread through all

France and all Europe. Alas ! has calumny such power-

ful charms that, once they are submitted to, their yoke

cannot be broken ?
^

1 Bourrienue's account of this marriage, and his denial of the vile

calumny about Napoleon, is corroborated by ^ladame Remusat. After

saying that Hortense had refused to marry the sou of Kewbell and also

the Conite de Mun, she goes on : "A short time afterwards Duroc, then

aide-de-camp to the Consul, and already noted by him, fell in love with

Hortense. She returned tlie feeling, and believed she had found that other

half of herself which slie sought. Bonaparte looked favourably on their

union, but Madame Bonaparte in her turn was inflexible. ' My daughter,'

said she, ' must marry a gentleman or a Bonaparte.' Louis was then
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thouslit of. He had no fancy for Hortense ; detested the Beauharnais

family, and had a supreme contempt for his sister-in law. But as he

was silent, he was helieved to be gentle ; and as he was severe by char-

acter, he was believed to be upright. Madame Louis told me afterwards

that at the news of this arrangement she experienced violent grief. Not
only was she forbidden to think of the nnin she loved, but slie was about

to be given to another of whom she had a secret distrust " (Reinusaf, tome
i. p. 156). For the cruel treatment of Hortense by Louis, see the succeed-

ing pages of Ee'musat. As for the vile scandal about Hortense and Napo-

leon, there is little doubt that it was spread by the Bonapartist family for

interested motives. " Madame Louis became enceinte soon after her mar-

riage. The Bonapartists, and especially JNIadame Murat (Caroline), had
disliked this marriage because, Joseph having only daughters, it was
foreseen that the first son of Louis and the grandson of Madame Bona-

parte would be the ol>ject of great interest. 'Ihey therefore spread the

revolting story that this was the result of a connection of the First Consul

with his daugliter-in-law, encouraged by the mother herself. ' The public

willingly believed this suspicion.' Madame Murat told Louis," etc.

{Remusat, tome i. p. 159). This last sentence is corroborated by Miot de

Melito (tome ii, p. 170), who, speaking of the later proposal of Napoleon

to adopt this child, says that Louis " remembered the damaging stories

which ill-will had tried to spread among the public concerning Hortense

Beauharnais before he married her, and although a comparison of the date

of his marriage with that of the birth of his son must have shown him
that these tales were unfounded, he felt that they would be revived by the

adoption of this child by the First Consul." Thus this wretched story did

harm in every way. The conduct of Josephine mu.st be judged with

leniency, engaged as she was in a desperate struggle to maintain her own
marriage, — a struggle she kept up with great skill ; see Metternich,

tome ii. p. 295. " She baffled all the calculatioiis, all the manceuvres of

her adversaries." But she was foolish enough to talk in her anger as if

she believed some of the disgraceful rumours of Napoleon. " Had he not

seduced his sisters, one after the other ?
" (Bemusat, tome, i. p. 204). As

to how far this scandal was really l)elieved by the brothers of Napoleon,

see lung's " Lucien " (tome ii. pp. 268-269), where Lucien describes Louis

as coming three times to him for advice as to his marriage with Hortense,

both brothers referring to this rumour. The third time Louis announces

he is in love with Hortense. " You are in love? Why the devil, then,

do you come to me for advice? If so, forget what has been rumoured, and

what I have advised you. Marry, and may God bless you."

Thiers (tome iii. p. 308) follows Bourrienne's account. Josephine,

alluding to Louis Bonaparte, said, " His familij have maliciously informed

him of the disgraceful stories which have been spread on the coiidtict of

my daughter and on tlie birth of her son. Hate assigns tliis child to

Napoleon" {Remusat, tome i. p. 205). The child in question was Napo-

ie'on Charles (1802-1807).



CHAPTER VIII.

1802-1803.

BoNAPAKTE was anxious to place the Cisalpine Eepublic

on a footing of harmony with the Government of France.

It was necessary to select a President who should per-

fectly agree with Bonaparte's views ; and in this respect

no one could be so suitable as Bonaparte himself. The
two Presidencies united would serve as a transition to

the throne. Not wishing to Ije long absent from Paris,

and anxious to avoid the trouble of the journey to Milan,

he arranged to meet the deputation half-way, at Lyons.

Before our departure I said to him, " Is it possible that

you do not wish to revisit Italy, the first scene of your

glory, and the beautiful capital of Lombardy, where you
were the object of so much homage ? " — "I certainly

should," replied the First Consul, " but the journey to

Milan would occupy too much precious time. I prefer

that the meeting should take place in France. My in-

fluence over the deputies will be more prompt and certain

at Lyons than at Milan ; and then I should be glad to see

the noble wreck of the array of Egypt, which is collected

at Lyons."

On the 8th of January, 1802, we set out. Bonaparte,

who was now ready to ascend the throne of France,

wished to prepare the Italians for one day crowning him
King of Italy, in imitation of Charlemagne, of whom in

anticipation he considered himself the successor. He
saw that the title of President of the Cisalpine Republic

was a great advance towards the sovereignty of Lom-
bardy, as he afterwards found that the Consulate for life
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was a decisive step towards the throne of France. He
obtained the title of President without much difficulty on

the 26th of January, 1802. The journey to Lyons and

the conferences were only matters of form; but high-

sounding words and solemn proceedings were required

for the public mind.^

The attempts which had been made on the life of the

First Consul gave rise to a report that he took extraordi-

nary precautions for his safety during this journey to

Lyons. I never saw those precautions, and Bonaparte

was at all times averse to adopt any. He often repeated

"That whoever would risk his own life might take his."

It is not true that guards preceded his carriage and

watched the roads. The Consul travelled like a private

person, and very rarely had arms in his carriage.^

At this time, when the ambition of Bonaparte every

day took a farther flight, General Clarke took it into his

1 Ugo Foscolo, the author of the " Ultinie Lettere di Jacopo Ortis," a

work which enjoys great and merited reputation in Italy, was at Lyons at

the time of tlie meeting of the Cisalpine Senate.— Bourrienue.
'^ Bonaparte may have l)een careless of his own .safety, but that he took

great pains in regard to his brother's may be inferred from the following

letter, written a few years later :
—

"Take care that yonr valets de ckambre, your cooks, the guards that

sleep in your apartments, and those who come during the night to awaken
you with despatche-^, are all Frenchmen. No one should cuter your room
during the night except your aide-de camp, who sliould sleep in the cham-
ber tliat precedes your bedroom. Your dour should be fastened inside,

and you ought not to open it, even to your aide de-camp, until you have

recognised liis voice ; he himself should not knock at your door until he

has locked that of the room which he is in, to make sure of being alone,

and of being followed by no one. These precautions are important ; they

give no trouble, and they inspire confidence, — besides, they may really

save your life. You should establi.sh these habits immediately and per-

manently; you ought not to be ol)liged to have recourse to them on some
emergency, which would hurt the feelings of those around you. Do not

trust only to your own experience. The Neapolitan character has been

notorious in every age, and you have to do with a woman [Queen of

Naples] who is the impersonation of crime " {Napoleon to Joseph, May 31,

1806. — Du Cusse, tome ii. p. 260).
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head to go into the box of the First Consul at the " Fran-

cais," and to place himself in the front seat. By chance

tlie First Consul came to the theatre ; but Clarke, hardly-

rising, did not give up his place. The First Consul only

stayed a short time, and when he came back he showed
great discontent at this affectation of pride and of vanity.

Wisldng to get rid of a man whom he looked on as a

blundering flatterer and a clumsy critic, he sent him
away as charge d'affaires to the young extemporised King
of Etruria, where Clarke expiated his folly in a sort of

exile. This is all the " great disfavour " which has been

so much spoken about. In the end General Clarke

returned to favour. Berlin knows and regrets it.

On the 25th of March of the same year England

signed, at Amiens, a suspension of arms for fourteen

months, which was called a treaty of peace. The clauses

of this treaty were not calculated to inspire the hope of

a very long peace. It was evident, as I have already

said, that England would not evacuate Malta ; and that

island ultimately proved the chief cause of the rupture

of the treaty of Amiens. But England, heretofore so

haughty in her bearing to the First Consul, had at length

treated with him as the Head of the French Govern-

ment. This, as Bonaparte was aware, boded well for

the consolidation of his power.

At that time, when he saw his glory and power aug-

menting, he said to me in one of our walks at Malmai-

son, in a moment of hilarity, and clapping me on the

shoulder, " Well, Bourrienne, you also will be immortal !

"

— " Why, General ? "— " Are you not my secretary ?
"

— " Tell me the name of Alexander's," ^ said I. Bona-

1 Bonaparte did not know the name of Alexander's secretary, and I

forgot at the moment to tell him it was Callisthenes. He wrote Alexan-

der's Memoirs, as I am writing Bonaparte's ; but, notwithstanding this

coincidence, I neither expect uor desire the immortality of my name. —
Bourrienne.
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parte then turned to me and, laughing, said, " Hem I that

is not bad." There was, to he sure, a little flattery con-

veyed in my question, but that never displeased him,

and I certainly did not in that instance deserve the cen-

sure he often bestowed on me for not being enough of a

courtier and flatterer.

Madame Murat gave a grand fete in honour of Bona-

parte at her residence at Neuilly. At dinner Bonaparte

sat opposite Madame Murat at the principal table, which
was appropriated to tlie ladies. He ate fast, and talked

but little. However, when the dessert was served, he put a

question to each lady. This question was to inquire their

respective ages. When Madame Bourrienne's turn came,

he said to her, " Oh ! I know yours." This was a great

deal for his gallantry, and the other ladies were far from

being pleased at it.

Next day, while walking with me in his favourite alley

at Malmaison, he received one of those stupid reports of

the police which were so frequently addressed to him.

It mentioned the observations which had Ijeen made in

Paris about a green livery he had lately adopted. Some
said that green had been chosen because it was the colour

of the House of Artois. On reading that a slight sneer

was observable in his countenance, and he said, " What
are these idiots dreaming of? They must be joking,

surely. Am I no better than M. d'Artois ? They shall

soon see the difference."

Until the middle of the year 1801, the erasures from the

emigrant list had always been proposed by the Minister

of Police. The First Consul, having been informed that

intrigue and even briliery had been employed to obtain

them, determined that in future erasures should be part

of the business of his cabinet. But other affairs took up
his attention, and a dozen or fifteen erasures a week were

the most that were made. After Te Demn had been
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clianted at Malmaison for the Concordat and the peace, I

took advantage of that moment of general joy to propose

to Bonaparte the return of the whole body of emigrants.

" You have," said I, in a half-joking way, " reconciled

Frenchmen to God, — now reconcile them to each other.

There have never been any real emigrants, only absentees
;

and the proof of this is, that erasures from the list have

always been, and will always be, made daily." He imme-

diately seized the idea. " We shall see," said he ;
" but I

must except a thousand persons belonging to high families,

especially those who are or have been connected with

royalty or the Court."

1 said in the Chamber of Deputies, and I feel pleasure

in repeating here, that the plan of the Senatus-consulte,

which Bonaparte dictated to me, excepted from restitution

only such mansions as were used for public establishments.

These he would neither surrender nor pay rent for. With
those exceptions he was willing to restore almost all that

was possessed by the State and had not been sold.

The First Consul, as soon as he had finished tliis plan

of a decree, convoked a Grand Council to submit it to

their consideration. I was in an adjoining room to that

in which they met, and as the deliberations were carried

on with great warmth, the members talking very loudly,

sometimes even vociferating, I heard all that passed.

The revolutionary party rejected all propositions of restitu-

tion. They were willing to call back their victims, but

they would not part with the spoil.

When the First Consul returned to his cabinet, dis-

satisfied with the ill success of his project, T took the

liberty of saying to him, "You cannot but perceive,

General, that your object has been defeated, and your

project unsuccessful. The refusal to restore to the emi-

grants all that the State possesses takes from the recall

all its generosity and dignity of character. I wonder how
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you could yield to such an unreasonable and selfish

opposition."
— "The revolutionary party," replied he, "had

the majority in the Council. What could I do ? Am I

strong enough to overcome all those obstacles?"— "Gen-
eral, you can revive the question again, and oppose the

party you speak of.'— " That would be difficult," he said;

" they still have a high hand in these matters. Time is re-

quired. However, nothing is definitively arranged. We
shall see what can be done." The Senatus-consulte, pub-

lished on the 6th Flordal, year X. (26th of April, 1802), a

fortnight after the above conversation took place, is well

known. Bonaparte was then obliged to yield to the

revolutionary party, or he would have adhered to his first

proposition.^

Napoleon referred to this matter at St. Helena. He
himself says that he " would have been able " (he should

have said that he wished) to grant everything, that for a

moment he thought of doing so, and that it was a mistake

not to do so. " This limitation on my part," he adds,

" destroyed all the good effect of the return of the emi-

grants. Tlie mistake was the greater since I thought of

doing it, but I was alone, surrounded by oppositions and

by spies : all were against your party. You cannot easily

picture the matter to yourself, but important affairs

hurried me, time pressed, and I was obliged to act differ-

ently." Afterwards he speaks of a syndicate he wished

to form, but I have never heard a word of that. I have

said how things really happened, and what has been just

read confirms this.^

1 The Senatus-consulte retained the woods and forests of the emigrants,

and made their recall an " nmnestij." In the end this retention of tlie for-

ests was used by Napoleon with great dexterity as a means of recalling the

emigrant nobility and placing them under personal obligations to him for

restoring this species of property. See Thiers, tome iii. p. 458, livre xiv.

'^ This was liy no means the only time that Napoleon's wishes were

opposed successfully in his Council of State. On such occasions he used

to describe himself as " repulsed with loss." See the interesting work of

St. Hilaire, " NapoMon au Conseil d'lltat."
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The Royalists, dissatisfied with the state of political

affairs, weie not better pleased with the illiberal con-

ditions of the recall of the emigrants. The friends of

public liberty, on the other hand, were far from being

satisfied with the other acts of the First Consul, or with

the conduct of the different pviblic authorities, who were

always ready to make concessions to him. Thus all parties

were dissatisfied.

Bonaparte was much pleased with General Sebastiani's

conduct when he was sent to Constantinople, after the

peace of Amiens, to induce the Grand Seignior to renew

amicable relations with France.^

At the period here alluded to, namely, before the news
of the evacuation of Egypt, that country greatly occupied

Bonaparte's attention. He thought that to send a man
like Sebastiani travelling through Northern Africa, Egypt,

and Syria might inspire the sovereigns of those countries

with a more favourable idea of France than they now
entertained, and might remove the ill impressions which

England was endeavouring to produce. On this mission

Sebastiani was accordingly despatched. He visited all the

Barbary States, Egypt, Palestine, and the Ionian Isles.

Everywhere he drew a highly coloured picture of the

power of Bonaparte, and depreciated the glory of England.^

He strengthened old connections, and contracted new ones

with the chiefs of each country. He declared to the au-

thorities of the Ionian Isles that they might rely on the

powerful protection of France. Bonaparte, in my opinion,

expected too much from the labours of a single individual

1 There appears to be some confusion of dates here. The preliminaries

of peace between Turkey and France were signed on 9th Octulier, 1801,

and the definitive treaty 25tli June, 1802. Sebastiani only left Toulon for

Tunis on 16th September, 1802, and did not arrive at Alexandria till 16th

October, 1802. See " Erreurs," tome i. p. 14; Thiers, tome iv. pp. 212

and 291 ; Alison, chap, xxxvi. paragraph 97.

- This General, or Count, Sebastiani was afterwards ambassador for

Louis Philippe at our Court.
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furnished with but vague instructions. Still Sebastiani

did all that could be done. The interesting details of

his proceedings were published in the "Monitenr." The
secret information respecting the means of successfully

attacking the English establishments in India was very

curious, though not affording the hope of speedy success.

The published abstract of General Sebastiani's report

was full of expressions hostile to England. Among other

things it was stated that Egypt might be conquered with

6,000 men, and that the Ionian Isles were disposed to

throw off the yoke. There can be little doubt that this

publication hastened the rupture of the treaty of Amiens.

England suspended all discussions respecting Malta, and
declared that she would not resume them till the King of

Great Britain should receive satisfaction for what was
called an act of hostility. This was always put forward

as a justification, good or bad, for breaking the treaty of

Amiens, which England had never shown herself very

ready to execute.

Bonaparte, waiving the usual forms of etiquette, ex-

pressed his wish to have a private conference with Lord

"Whitworth, the ambassador from London to Paris, and
who had been the English ambassador at St. Petersburg

previous to the rupture which preceded the death of

Paul I. Bonaparte counted much on the effect he might

produce by that captivating manner which he so well

knew how to assume in conversation ; but all was in vain.

In signing the treaty of Amiens the British Minister was
well aware that he would be the first to break it.

About the commencement of the year 1802 Napoleon

began to feel acute pains in his right side. I have often

seen him at Malmaison, when sitting up at night, lean

against the right arm of his chair, and, unbuttoning

his coat and waistcoat, exclaim, " What pain I feel
!

" I

would then accompany him to his bedchamber, and have
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often been obliged to support him on the little staircase

which led from his cabinet to the corridor. He frequently

used to say at this time, " I fear that when I am forty I

shall become a great eater ; I have a foreboding that I

shall grow very corpulent." This fear of obesity, tliough

it annoyed him very much, did not appear to have the

least foundation, judging from his habitual temperance

and spare haV)it of body. He asked me who was my phy-

sician. T told him M. Corvisart, whom his brother Louis

had recommended to me. A few days after he called

in Corvisart, who three years later was appointed first

physician to the Emperor. He appeared to derive much
benefit from the prescriptions of Corvisart, whose open

and good-humoured countenance at once made a favour-

able impression on him.

The pain which the First Consul felt at this time in-

creased his irritability. Perhaps many of the acts of this

epoch of his life should be attributed to this illness. At
the time in question his ideas were not the same in the

evening as they had been in the morning ; and often in

the morning he would tear up, even without the least re-

mark, notes he had dictated to me at night and which he

had considered excellent. At other times I took on my-
self not to send to the " Moniteur " as he wished me to do,

notes which, dictated by annoyance and irascibility, might

have produced a bad effect in Europe. When the next

day he did not see the article, I attributed this to the note

being too late, or to the late arrival of the courier. But I

told him it was no loss, for it would be inserted the next

day. He did not answer at once, but a quarter of an

hour afterwards he said to me, " Do not send my note to

the " Moniteur," without showing it to me." He took it and

reread it. Sometimes he was astonished at what he had

dictated to me, and amused himself by saying that 1 had

not understood him properly. " That is not much good,
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is it ?
" — " Ton my word, I don't quite know. "— " Oh,

no, it is worthless ; what say you ?" Then he howed his

head a little, and tore up the paper. Once when we were

at the Tuileries he sent me at two o'clock in the morning

a small note in his own writing, in which was, " To Bour-

rienne. Write to Maret to make hira erase from the note

which Fleurieu has read to the Tribunate the phrase (spelt

frase) concerning Costaz, and to soften as much as possible

what concerns the reporter of the Tribunate."

This change, after time for reflection, arose, as often

happened with him, from observations I had made to him,

and which he had at first angrily repulsed.

After the peace of Amiens, the First Consul, wishing

to send an ambassador to England, cast his eyes— for

what reason I know not— on General Andr^ossi. I took

the liberty of making some observation on a choice which

did not appear to me to correspond with the importance

of the mission. Bonaparte replied, " I have not determined

on it ; I will talk to Talleyrand on the subject." When
we were at Malmaison, in the evening M. de Talleyrand

came to transact business with the First Consul. The
proposed appointment of an ambassador to England was

mentioned. After several persons had been named, the

First Consul said, " I believe I must send Andr^ossi." M.
de Talleyrand, who was not much pleased with the choice,

observed in a dry sarcastic tone, " You must send Andr^

aussi ! Pray, who is this Andr^ ? "— "I did not mention

any Andrd ; I said Andreossi. You know Andrdossi, the

general of artillery?"—"Ah! true; Andrdossi : I did not

think of him : I was thinking only of the diplomatic men,

and did not recollect any of that name. Yes, yes ;
Andri^-

ossi is in the artillery ! " The General was appointed am-

bassador, and went to London after the treaty of Amiens

;

but he returned again in a few months. He had nothing

of consequence to do, which was very lucky for him.
VOL. II.— 8
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In 1802 Jerome was at Brest in the rank of enseigne de

vaisseau} He launched into expenses far beyond what
his fortune or his pay could maintain. He often drew
upon me for sums of money which the First Consul paid

with much unwillingness. One of his letters in particu-

lar excited Napoleon's anger. The epistle was filled with

accounts of the entertainments Jerome was giving and
receiving, and ended by stating that he should draw on

me for 17,000 francs. To this Bonaparte wrote the fol-

lowing reply :
—

" I have read your letter, Monsieur I'Enseigiie de Vaisseau
;

and I aui waiting to hear that you are studying on board your

corvette a profession which you ought to consider as your road

to glory. Die young, and I shall have some consolatory reflec-

tion ; but if you live to sixty without having served your coun-

try, and without leaving behind you any honourable recollections,

you had better not have lived at all."

Jerome never fulfilled the wishes of his brother, who
always called him a little profligate. From his earliest

years his conduct was often a source of vexation to his

brother and his family. Westphalia will not soon forget

that lie was her King ; and his subjects did not without

reason surname him " Heliogabalus in miniature."

The First Consul was harassed by the continual de-

mands for money made on him by his brothers. To get

rid of Joseph, who expended large sums at Mortfontaine, as

Lucien did at Neuilly, he gave M. Collot the contract for

victualling the navy, on the condition of his paying Joseph

1,500,000 francs a year out of his profits. I believe this

arrangement answered Joseph's purpose very well ; but

it was anything but advantageous to M. Collot. I think

a whole year elapsed without his pocketing a single far-

1 A rank in the navy equivalent to that of our lieutenant.
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thins. He obtained an audience of the First Consul, to

whom he stated his grievances. His outlays he showed
were enormous, and he could get no payment from the

navy office. Upon which the Consul angrily interrupted

him, saying, "Do you think I am a mere capuchin?

Decr^s must have 100,000 crowns, Duroc 100,000, Bour-

rienne 100,000
;
you must make the payments, and don't

come here troubling me with your long stories. It is the

business of my Ministers to give me accounts of such

matters ; I will hear Decr^s, and that 's enough. Let

me be teased no longer with these complaints ; I cannot

attend to them." Bonaparte then very unceremoniously

dismissed M. Collot. I learned afterwards that he did

not get a settlement of the business until after a great

deal of trouble. M. Collot once said to me, " If he had
asked me for as much money as would have built a frigate,

he should have had it. All I want now is to be paid, and
to get rid of the business." M. Collot had reason and
honour on his side ; but there was nothing but shuffling

on the other.



CHAPTER IX.

1802.

The historian of these times ought to put no faith in

the bulletins, despatches, notes, and proclamations which

have emanated from Bonaparte, or passed through his

hands. For my part, I believe that the proverb, "As
great a liar as a bulletin," has as much truth in it as the

axiom, Two and two make four.

The bulletins always announced what Bonaparte wished

to be believed true ; but to form a proper judgment on

any fact, counter-bulletins must be sought for and con-

sulted. It is well known, too, that Bonaparte attached

great importance to the place whence he dated his bulle-

tins ; thus, he dated his decrees respecting the theatres

and Hamburg beef at Moscow.^

The official documents were almost always incorrect.

There was falsity in the exaggerated descriptions of his

victories, and falsity again in the suppression or palliation

of his reverses and losses. A writer, if he took his ma-

terials from the bulletins and the official correspondence

of the time, would compose a romance rather than a true

1 This has been a common text for attacks on Napoleon, but " Erreurs"

(tome i. p. 12) fairly remarks that with his centralised form of govern-

ment the decrees daily required had to be daily signed, no matter where
the Emperor was. The same with his Ministers. Daru, in a paper not

meant for publicity, sends from near Moscow a long criticism on a plan for

provisioning the great towns of France. See Sainte-Beuve, " Causeries,"

tome ix. p. 45.5.
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history. Of this many proofs have been given in the

present work.

Anotlier tiling vs^hich always appeared to me very

remarkable was, that Bonaparte, notwithstanding his

incontestable superiority, studied to depreciate the repu-

tations of his military commanders, and to throw on their

shoulders faults which he had committed himself. It is

notorious that compkints and remonstrances, as energetic

as they were well founded, were frequently addressed to

General Bonaparte on the subject of his unjust and partial

bulletins, which often attributed the success of a day to

some one who had very little to do with it, and made no

mention of the officer who actually had the command.
The complaints made by the officers and soldiers stationed

at Damietta compelled General Lanusse, the commander,
to remonstrate against the alteration of a bulletin, by
which an engagement with a body of Arabs was repre-

sented as an insignificant affair, and the loss trifling,

though the General had stated the action to be one of

importance, and the loss considerable. The misstatement,

in consequence of his spirited and energetic remonstrances,

was corrected.

Bonaparte took Malta, as is well known, in forty-eight

hours. The empire of the Mediterranean, secured to the

English by the battle of Aboukir, and their numerous
cruising vessels, gave them the means of starving the

garrison, and of thus forcing General Yaubois, the com-
mandant of Malta, who was cut oft' from all communi-
cation with France, to capitulate. Accordingly on the

4th of September, 1800, he yielded up the Gibraltar of the

Mediterranean, after a noble defence of two years. These
facts require to be stated in order the better to understand

what follows.

On 22d February, 1802, a person of the name of Doublet,

who was the commissary of the French Government at
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Malta when we possessed that island, called upon me at

the Tuileries. He complained bitterly that the letter

which he had written from Malta to the First Consul on

the 2d Ventose, year VIII. (9th February, 1800), had been

altered in the " Moniteur." " I congratulated hiui," said

M. Doublet, " on the 18th Brumaire, and informed Inm of

the state of Malta, which was very alarming. Quite the

contrary was printed in the ' Moniteur, ' and that is what

I complain of. It placed me in a very disagreeable sit-

uation at Malta, where I was accused of having concealed

the real situation of the island, in which I was discharg-

ing a public function that gave weight to my words." I

observed to him that as I was not the editor of the
" Moniteur," it was of no use to apply to nie ; but I told

him to give me a copy of the letter, and I would mention

the subject to the First Consul, and communicate the an-

swer to him. Doublet searched his pocket for the letter,

but could not find it. He said he would send a copy, and

begged me to discover how the error originated. On the

same day he sent me the copy of the letter, in which,

after congratulating Bonaparte on his return, the follow-

ing passage occurs :
" Hasten to save Malta with men

and provisions : no time is to be lost." For this passage

these words were svibstituted in the " Moniteur "
:

" His

name inspires the brave defenders of Malta with fresh

courage ; we have men and provisions."

Ignorant of the motives of so strange a perversion, I

showed this letter to the First Consul. He shrugged up

his shoulders and said, laughing, " Take no notice of him,

he is a fool
;
give yourself no further trouble about it."

It was clear there was nothing more to be done. It

was, however, in despite of me that M. Doublet was

played this ill turn. I represented to the First Consul

the inconveniences which M. Doublet might experience

from this affair. But I very rarely saw letters or reports
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published as they were received. I can easily understand

how particular motives might be alleged in order to

justify such falsifications ; for, when the path of candour

and good faith is departed from, any pretext is put for-

ward to excuse bad conduct. What sort of a history

would he write who should consult only the pages of the
" Moniteur "

?

After the vote for adding a second ten years to the

duration of Bonaparte's Consulship, he created, on the

19th of May, the order of the Legion of Honour. This

institution was soon followed by that of the new nobility.

Thus, in a short space of time, the Concordat to tranquil-

lise consciences and re-establish harmony in the Church
;

the decree to recall the emigrants ; the continuance of the

Consular power for ten years, by way of preparation for

the Consulship for life, and the possession of the Empire

;

and the creation, in a country which had abolished all

distinctions, of an order which was to engender prodigies,

followed closely on the heels of each other. The Bour-

bons, in reviving the abolished orders, were wise enough

to preserve along with them the Legion of Honour.

It has already been seen how, in certain circumstances,

the First Consul always escaped from the consequences

of his own precipitation, and got rid of his blunders by

throwing the blame on others,— as, for example, in the

affair of the parallel between Caesar, Cromwell, and Bona-

parte. He was indeed so precipitate that one might say,

had he been a gardener, he would have wished to see the

fruits ripen before the blossoms had fallen off. This

inconsiderate haste nearly proved fatal to the creation of

the Legion of Honour, a project which ripened in his

mind as soon as he beheld the orders glittering at the

button-holes of the Foreign Ministers. He would fre-

quently exclaim, "This is well! These are the things

for the people !

"
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I was, I must confess, a decided partisan of the founda-

tion in France of a new chivalric order, because I think,

in every well-conducted State, the chief of the Govern-

ment ought to do all in his power to stimulate the honour

of the citizens, and to render them more sensible to

honorary distinctions than to pecuniary advantages. I

tried, however, at the same time to warn the First Con-

sul of his precipitancy. He heard me not ; but I must
with equal frankness confess that on this occasion I was

soon freed from all apprehension with respect to the

consequences of the difficulties he had to encounter in the

Council and in the other constituted orders of the State.

On the 4th of May, 1801, he brought forward, for the

first time officially, in the Council of State the question

of the estaldishment of the Legion of Honour,^ which on

the 19th May, 1802, was proclaimed a law of the State.

The opposition to this measure was very great, and all

the power of the First Consul, the force of his arguments,

and the immense influence of his position, could procure

him no more than 14 votes out of 24. The same feeling

was displayed at the Tribunate, where the measure .only

passed by a vote of 56 to 38. The balance was about the

same in the Legislative Body, where the votes were 166

to 110. It follows, then, that out of the 394 voters in

those three separate bodies a majority only of 78 was

obtained. Surprised at so feeble a majority, the First

Consul said in the evening, " Ah ! T see very clearly the

prejudices are still too strong. You were right ; I should

have waited. It was not a thing of such urgency. But
then, it must be owned, the speakers for the measure

defended it badly. The strong minority has not judged

1 For details of the debates on the establishment of the Legion of

Honour, see ]Mathieu Dumas (tome iii. p. 226), who was one of the com-

mission for the preparation of the scheme, and one of the orators charged

with its defence before the Corps Le'gislatif.
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me fairly."— "Be calm," rejoined I: "without doubt it

would have been better to wait ; but the thing is done,

and you will soon find that the taste for these distinctions

is not near gone by. It is a taste which belongs to the

nature of man. You may expect some extraordinary cir-

cumstances froin this creation,— you will soon see them."

In April, 180:^, the First Consul left no stone unturned

to get himself declared Consul for life. It is perhaps at

this epoch of his career that he most brought into play

those principles of duplicity and dissimulation which are

commonly called Machiavellian. Never were trickery,

falsehood, cunning, and afi'ected moderation put into play

with more talent or success.

In the month of Alarch hereditary succession and a

dynasty were in everybody's mouths. Lucien was the

most violent propagator of these ideas, and he pursued

his vocation of apostle with constancy and address. It

has already been mentioned that, by his brother's confes-

sion, he published in 1800 a pamphlet enforcing the same

ideas ; which work Bonaparte afterwards condemned as a

premature development of his projects. M. de Talley-

rand, whose ideas could not be otherwise than favourable

to the monarchical form of government, was ready to

enter into explanations with the Cabinets of Europe on

the subject. The words which now constantly resounded

in every ear were " stability and order," under cloak of

which the downfall of the people's right was to be con-

cealed. At the same time Bonaparte, with the view

of disparaging the real friends of constitutional liberty,

always called them ideologues} or terrorists. Madame
Bonaparte opposed with fortitude the influence of coun-

sels which she believed fatal to her husband. He indeed

1 I have classed all these people under the denomination of ideologues,

which, besides, is what specially and literally fits them,— searchers after

ideas (ideas generally empty). They have been made more ridiculous than
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spoke rarely, and seldom confidentially, with her on

politics or public affairs. " Mind your distaff or your

needle," was with him a common phrase. The individu-

als who applied themselves with most perseverance in

support of the hereditary question were Lucien, Eoederer,

Eeguault de St. Jean d'Angely, and Fontanes. Their

efforts were aided by the conclusion of peace with Eng-

land, which, by re-establishing general tranquillity for a

time, afforded the First Consul an opportunity of for-

warding any jjlan.

While tlie First Consul aspired to the throne of France,

his brothers, especially Lucien, affected a ridiculous pride

and pretension. Take an almost incredible example of

which I was witness. On Sunday, the 9th of May,
Lucien came to see Madame Bonaparte, who said to him,
" Why did you not come to dinner last Monday ?

"

— " Because there was no place marked for me : the

brothers of Napoleon ought to have the first place after

him." -— '-What am I to understand by that ?" answered

Madame Bonaparte. " If you are the brother of Bona-

parte, recollect what you were. At my house all places

are the same. Eugene would never have committed such

a folly."!

even I expected by this application, a correct one, of the term ideologic to

them. The phrase has been successful, I believe, because it was mine

(Napoleon in lung's Lucien, tome ii. p. 243). Napoleon welcomed every

attack on this description of sage. Much pleased with a discourse by

Rover Collard, he said to Talleyrand, " Do you know, Monsieur le Grand
Electeur, tliat a new and serious philosophy is rising in my university,

which may do us great honour and disembarrass us completely of the

/t/e'o/o^Hcs, slaying them on the spot by reasoning?" (Merlet, Z//7?/ra/»?-e

Fran^aise, tome i. p. 138). It is witli something of the same satisfaction

that Renan, writing of 1848, says that the finer dreams had been disas-

trous when Jirouglit into the domain of facts, and that human concerns

only began to improve when the ideologues ceased to meddle with them
(Souvenirs, p. 122).

1 On such points there was constant trouble with the Bona])artist

family, as will be seen in Madame de Re'musat's " Memoirs." For an
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At this period, when the Consulate for life was only in

embryo, flattering counsels poured in from all quarters,

and tended to encourage the First Consul in his design

of grasping at absolute power.

Liberty rejected an unlimited power, and set bounds to

the means he wished and had to employ in order to

gratify his excessive love of war and conquest. "The
present state of things, this Consulate of ten years," said

he to me, " does not satisfy me ; I consider it calculated

to excite unceasing troubles." On the 7th of July, 1801,

he observed, " The question whether France will be a

Republic is still doubtful : it will be decided in five or

six years." It was clear that he thought this too long a

term. Whether he regarded France as his property, or

considered himself as the people's delegate and the de-

fender of their rights, I am convinced the First Consul

wished tbe welfare of France ; but then that welfare was
in his mind inseparable from absolute power. It was
with pain I saw him following this course. The friends

of liberty, those who sincerely wished to maintain a

Government constitutionally free, allowed themselves to

be prevailed upon to consent to an extension of ten years

instance, in 1 802, where Joseph insisted on his mother taking precedence

of Josephine at a dinner in his house, when Napoleon settled the matter
by seizing Josephine's arm and leading her in first, to the consternation

of the party ; see Re'musat, tome i. p. 234. Bnt Napoleon, right in this

case, had his own ideas on such points. " The place of the Princess Elisa,

the eldest of his sisters, had been put below that of Caroline, Queen of

Naples. Elisa was then only Princess of Lucca. The Emperor suddenly
rose, and by a shift to the right placed the Princess I'"]isa above the

Qiieen. ' Now,' said he,' do not forget that in the imperial family I am the

only King' (lung's Lucien, tome ii. p. 251), This rule he seems to have
adhered to ; for when he and his brothers went in the same carriage to the

Champ de Mai in 1815, Jerome, titular King of Westphalia, had to take

the front seat, while his elder brother, Lucien, only bearing the Roman
title of Prince de Canino, sat on one of the seats of honour alongside

Napoleon. Jerome was disgusted, and grumbled at a Kin(] having to give

way to a mere Roman Prince. See lung's "Lucien," tome ii. p. 190.
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of power beyond the ten years originally granted by

the constitution. They made this sacrifice to glory and

to that power which was its consequence ; and they

were far from thinking they were lending their support

to shameless intrigues. They were firm, but for the

moment only, and the nomination for life was rejected

by the Senate, who voted only ten years' more power to

Bonaparte, who saw the vision of his ambition again

adjourned.

The First Consul dissembled his displeasure with that

profound art which, when he could not do otherwise, he

exercised to an extreme degree. To a message of the

Senate on the subject of that nomination he returned a

calm but evasive and equivocating answer, in which,

nourishing his favourite hope of obtaining more from the

people than from the Senate, he declared with hypocritical

humility, " That he would submit to this new sacrifice if

the wish of the people demanded what the Senate author-

ised." Such was the homage he paid to the sovereignty

of the people, which was soon to be trampled under his

feet!

An extraordinary convocation of the Council of State

took place on Monday, the 10th of May. A communica-

tion was made to them, not merely of the Senate's con-

sultation, but also of the First Consul's adroit and

insidious reply. The Council regarded the first merely

as a notification, and proceeded to consider on what ques-

tion the people should be consulted. Not satisfied with

granting to the First Consul ten years of prerogative, the

Council thought it best to strike the iron while it was

hot, and not to stop short in the middle of so pleasing a

work. In fine, they decided that the following question

should be put to the people :
" Shall the First Consul be

appointed for life, and shall he have the power of nom-

inating his successor ? " The reports of the police had
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besides much influence on the result of this discussion,

for they one and all declared that the whole of Paris

demanded a Consul for life, with the right of naming a

successor. The decisions on these two questions were

carried as it were by storm. The appointment for life

passed unanimously, and the right of naming the succes-

sor by a majority. The First Consul, however, formally

declared that he condemned this second measure, which
had not originated with himself. On receiving the de-

cision of the Council of State, the First Consul, to mask
his plan for attaining absolute power, thought it advisable

to appear to reject a part of what was offered him. He
therefore cancelled that clause which proposed to give

him the power of appointing a successor, and which had

been carried by a small majority.



CHAPTER X.

1802.

Having arrived at nearly the middle of the career which

I have undertaken to trace, before I advance farther I must
go back for a few moments, as I have already frequently

done, in order to introduce some circumstances which

escaped my recollection, or which I purposely reserved,

that I might place them amongst facts analogous to them.

Thus, for instance, I have only referred in passing to a

man who, since become a monarch, has not ceased to

honour me with his friendship, as will be seen in the

course of my Memoirs, since the part we have seen him
play in the events of the 18th Brumaire. This man,

whom the inexplicable combination of events has raised

to a throne for the happiness of the people he is called

to govern, is Bernadotte.

It was evident that Bernadotte must necessarily fall into

a kind of disgrace for not having supported Bonaparte's

projects at the period of the overthrow of the Directory.

The First Consul, however, did not dare to avenge himself

openly ; but he watched for every opportunity to remove
Bernadotte from his presence, to place him in difficult

situations, and to intrust him with missions for which no

precise instrvictions were given, in the hope that Berna-

dotte would commit faults for which the First Consul

might make him wholly responsible.

At the commencement of the Consulate the deplorable

war in La Vendue raged in all its intensity. The organi-
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sation of the Chouans was complete, and this civil war

caused Bonaparte much more uneasiness than that which

he was obliged to conduct on the Rhine and in Italy

;

because from the success of the Vend^ans might arise a

question respecting internal government, the solution of

which was likely to be contrary to Bonaparte's views.

The slightest success of the Venddans spread alarm

amongst the holders of national property ; and, besides,

there was no hope of reconciliation between France and
England, her eternal and implacable enemy, as long as

the tianie of insurrection remained unextinguished.

The task of terminating this unhappy struggle was
obviously a difficult one. Bonaparte therefore resolved

to impose it on Bernadotte; but this General's concilia-

tory disposition, his chivalrous manners, his tendency

to indulgence, and a happy mixture of prudence and
firmness, made him succeed where others would have

failed. He finally established good order and submission

to the laws.

Some time after the pacification of La Vendue a re-

bellious disposition manifested itself at Tours amongst
the soldiers of a regiment stationed there. The men re-

fused to march until they received their arrears of pay.

Bernadotte as commander-in-chief of the army of the

West, without being alarmed at the disturbance, ordered

the fifty-second demi-brigade— the one in question— to

be drawn up in the square of Tours, where, at the very

head of the corps, tlie leaders of the mutiny were by his

orders arrested without any resistance being offered.

Carnot, who was then Minister of War, made a report

to the First Consul on this affair, which, but for the firm-

ness of Bernadotte, might have been attended with dis-

agreeable results. Carnot's report contained a plain

statement of the facts and of General Bernadotte's

conduct. Bonaparte was, however, desirous to find in
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it some pretext for blaming him, and made me write

these words on the margin of the report :
" General Ber-

nadotte did not act discreetly in adopting such severe

measures against the fifty-second demi-brigade, he not

having the means, if he had been unsuccessful, of re-

establishing order in a town the garrison of which was
not strong enough to subdue the mutineers."

A few days after, the First Consul having learned that the

result of this affair was quite different from that which he

affected to dread, and being convinced that by Bernadotte's

firmness alone order had been restored, he found himself

in some measure constrained to write to the General, and

he dictated the following letter to me :
—

Paris, 11th Vendemiaire, year XI.

Citizen-General, — I have read witli interest the account of

what you did to re-establish order in the tifty-second demi-bri-

gade, and also the report of General Liebert, dated the 5th Ven-

demiaire. Tell that officer that the Government is satisfied with

his conduct. His promotion from the rank of Colonel to that

of General of brigade is confirmed. I wish tliat brave officer to

come to Paris. He has afforded an example of firmness and

energy which does honour to a soldier.

(Signed) Bonaparte.

Thus in the same affair Bonaparte, in a few days, from

the spontaneous expression of blame dictated by hate,

was reduced to the necessity of declaring his approbation,

which he did, as may be seen, with studied coldness, and

even taking pains to make his praises apply to Colonel

Liebert, and not to the general-in-chief.

Time only served to augment Bonaparte's dislike of

Bernadotte. It might be said that the farther he advanced

in his rapid march towards absolute power the more ani-

mosity he cherished against the individual who had re-

fused to aid his first steps in his adventurous career.
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At tlie same time the persons about Bonaparte who prac-

tised the art of flattering failed not to multiply reports

and insinuations against Bernadotte. I recollect one day,

when there was to be a grand public levee, seeing Bona-

parte so mucli out of temper that I asked him the cause

of it. " I can bear it no longer," he replied impetuously.
" I have resolved to have a scene with Bernadotte to-day.

He will probably be here. I will open the Are, let what
will come of it. He may do what he pleases. We shall

se3 ! It is time there should be an end of this."

I had never before observed the First Consul so vio-

lently irritated. He was in a terrible passion, and I

dreaded the moment when the levee was to open. When
he left me to go down to the salon, I availed myself of

the opportunity to get there before him, which I could

easily do, as the salon was not twenty steps from the calii-

net. By good luck Bernadotte was the first person I saw.

He was standing in the recess of a window which looked

on the square of the Carrousel. To cross the salon and
reach the General was the work of a moment. "General!"

said I, " trust me and retire ! — I have good reasons for

advising it
!

" Bernadotte, seeing my extreme anxiety,

and aware of the sincere sentiments of esteem and friend-

ship which I entertained for him, consented to retire, and

I regarded this as a triumph; for, knowing Bernadotte's

frankness of character and his nice sense of honour, I was

quite certain that he would not submit to the harsh ob-

servations which Bonaparte intended to address to him.

My stratagem had all the success I could desire. The
First Consul suspected nothmg, and remarked only one

thing, which was that his victim was absent. When the

levee was over, he said to me, " What do you think of it,

Bourrienne ?— Bernadotte did not come."— "So much
the better for him, General," was my reply. Nothing

further happened. The First Consul on returning from
VOL. II.— 9
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Josephine found me in the cabinet, and consequently

couki suspect nothing, and my communication with Ber-

nadotte did not occupy five minutes. Bernadotte always

expressed himself much gratified with the proof of friend-

ship I gave him at this delicate conjuncture. The fact is,

that from a disposition of my mind^ which I could not

myself account for, the more Bonaparte's unjust hatred of

Bernadotte increased, the more sympathy and admiration

I felt for the noble character of the latter.^

The event in question occurred in the spring of 1802.

It was at this period that Bonaparte first occupied St.

Cloud, which he was much pleased with, because he found

himself more at liberty there than at the Tuileries ; which
palace is really only a prison for royalty, as there a sov-

ereign cannot even take the air at a window without im-

mediately being the object of the curiosity of the public,

who collect in large crowds. At St. Cloud, on the con-

trary, Bonaparte could walk out from his cabinet and pro-

long his promenade without being annoyed by petitioners.

One of his first steps was to repair the cross road leading

from St. Cloud to Malmaison, between which places Bona-

1 All this part about Bernadotte is attacked in " Erreurs," and it is evi-

dent that Bourrienne is influenced by his connection with that General.

Bernadotte applied for the command in La Vendee which Bourrienne

represents as forced on him. As for Napoleon not daring to attack Berna-

dotte openly, his treatment of Moreau, Pichegru, etc , show.s that he told

the truth when he, later, wrote to Joseph about Masse'na :
" I do not fear

the generals, and I have no managements with them " (Mint de Melito,

tome ii. p. 281). Bernadotte was not the important personage these Me-

moirs represent him to have been ; see " Erreurs," tome i. p. 202, and

tome ii. p. 11.3, etc. Indeed, Napoleon had little "management" for him.

In 1800 or 1801 he tells Joseph, Bernadotte's great friend, " Understand

that if this wrong-headed Soiitherner continues to jeer at tlie acts of my
Government, instead of giving him the command he asks for, I will have

him shot on the Place du Carrousel" (lung's Lucifn, tome ii. p 107).

Later on, too, the Emperor's order of the day after Wagram will be borne

in mind, though of course the relative positions of the two men had then

much altered.
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parte rode in a quarter of an liour. This proximity to

the country, which he liked, made staying at St. Cloud

yet pleasanter to him. It was at St. Cloud that the First

Consul made, if I may so express it, his first rehearsals of

the grand drama of the Empire. It was there he began

to introdvice, in external forms, the habits and etiquette

which brought to mind the ceremonies of sovereignty.

He soon perceived the influence which pomp of cere-

mony, brilliancy of appearance, and richness of costume

exercised over the mass of mankind. " Men," he remarked

to me at this period, " well deserve the contempt I feel

for them. I have only to put some gold lace on the coats

of my virtuous republicans and they immediately become

just what I wish them."

I remember one day, after one of his frequent sallies of

contempt for human kind, I observed to him that although

baubles might excite vulgar admiration, there were some
distinguished men who did not permit themselves to be

fascinated by their allurements ; and I mentioned the

celebrated Fox by way of example, who, previous to the

conclusion of the peace of Amiens, visited Paris, where

he was remarked for his extreme simplicity. The First

Consul said, "Ah ! you are right with respect to him. Mr.

Fox is a truly great man, and pleases me much."

In fact, Bonaparte always received Mr. Fox's visits with

the greatest satisfaction; and after every conversation

they had together he never failed to express to me the

pleasure which he experienced in discoursing with a man
every way worthy of the great celebrity he had attained.

He considered him a very superior man, and wished he

might have to treat with him in his future negotiations

with England. It may be supposed that Mr. Fox, on his

part, never forgot the terms of intimacy, I may say of

confidence, on wiiich he had been with the First Consul.

In fact, he on several occasions informed him in time of
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war of the plots formed against liis life.^ Less could not be

expected from a man of so noble a cliaracter. I can like-

wise affirm, having more than once been in possession of

proofs of the fact, that the English Government con-

stantly rejected with indignation all sncb projects. I do

not mean those which had for their object the overthrow

of the Consular or Imperial Government, but all plans of

assassination and secret attacks on the person of Bona-

1 Bonaparte's friendship for Mr. Fox was perfectly sincere. It was a

subject on which he often dwelt in his captivity at St. Helena:—
'

' Fox,' said he, ' was sincere and honest in his intentions ; had he lived,

there would have been a peace, and England would now be contented and
happy. Fox knew the true interests of your country. He was received

with a sort of triumph in every city in France through which he passed.

Fetes, and every honour the inhabitants could confer, were spontaneously

offered wherever he was known. It must have been a mo.st gratifying sen-

sation to him to be received in such a manner by a country which had been

so long hostile to his own, particularly when he saw that they were the gen-

uine sentiments of tlie people. Pitt probably would have been murdered.

I liked Fox, and loved to converse with him. A circumstance occurred

which, although accidental, must have been very flattering to liim. As I

paid him every attention, I gave orders tliat lie should have free admission

everywhere. One day he went with his family to see St. Cloud, in which

there was a private cabinet of mine tliat had not been opened for some

time and was never shown to .strangers. By some accident Fox and his

wife opened the door and entered. There he saw the statues of a number of

great men, chiefly patriots, such as Sidney, Hampden, Washington, Cicero,

etc., Lord Chatham, and amongst the rest his own, which was first recognised

by his wife, who said, " My dear, this is yours." Tin's little incident,

although trifling and accidental, gained him great iionour, and spread

directly through Paris. The fact was that a consideralile time before, I

had determined upon forming a collection of statues of the greatest men,

and tlie mo.st distinguished for their virtues, of all nations. I did not ad-

mire tliem tlie less because they were enemies, and had actually procured

busts of some of the greate.st enemies of France, amongst others tliat of

Nelson. I was afterwards diverted from tliis intention by occurrences

which did not allow me time to attend to the collecting of statues.'

" Napoleon tlien recounted the noble manner in which Fox had made
known to him the proposal that had been made to assassinate him, which

generous act he did not fail to compare with the treatment he now received,

and with the attempts made upon his life by wretches paid by ... in

1803, and landed in France in British men-of-war" (Napoleon in Exile).
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parte, whether First Consul or Emperor. I will here re-

quest the indulgence of the reader whilst I relate a cir-

cumstance which occurred a year before Mr. Fox's journey

to Paris ; but as it refers to Moreau, I believe that the

transposition will be pardoned more easily than the

omission.

During the summer of 1801 the First Consul took a

fancy to give a grand military dmner at a restaurateur's.

The restaurateur be favoured with his company was Veri,

whose establishment was situated on the terrace of the

Feuillans with an entrance into the garden of the Tuile-

ries. Bonaparte did not send an invitation to Moreau,

whom I met by chance that day in the following man-
ner : The ceremony of the dinner at Ydri's leaving me at

liberty to dispose of my time, I availed myself of it to go

and dine at a restaurateur's named Kose, who then en-

joyed great celebrity amongst the distinguished gastro-

nomes. I dined in company with M. Carbonnet, a friend of

Moreau's family, and two or three other persons. Whilst

we were at table in the rotunda we were informed by
the waiter who attended on us that General Moreau and
his wife, with Lacuee and two other military men, were

in an adjoining apartment. Suchet, who had dined at

V(5ri's, where he said everything was prodigiously dull, on

rising from the table joined ]\Ioreau's party. These de-

tails we learned from M. Carbonnet, who left us for a few

moments to see the General and Madame Moreau.

Bonaparte's affectation in not inviting Moreau at the

moment when the latter had returned a conqueror from

the army of the Rhine, and at the same time the affecta-

tion of Moreau in going publicly the same day to dine at

another restaurateur's, afforded ground for the supposition

that the coolness which existed between them would soon

be converted into enmity. The people of Paris naturally

thought that the conqueror of Marengo might, without
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any degradation, have given the conqueror of Hohenlinden

a seat at his table.

By the commencement of the year 1802 the Kepublic

had ceased to be anything else than a fiction or an his-

torical recollection. All that remained of it was a decep-

tive inscription on the gates of the palace. Even at the

time of his installation at the Tuileries Bonaparte had
caused the two trees of liberty which were planted in the

court to be cut down ; thus removing the outward em-
blems before he destroyed the reality. But the moment
the Senatorial decisions of the 2d and 4th of August were

published it was evident to the dullest perceptions that

the power of the First Consul wanted nothing but a

name.

After these Consultes Bonaparte readily accustomed

himself to regard the principal authorities of the State

merely as necessary instruments for the exercise of his

power. Interested advisers then crowded round him.

It was seriously proposed that he should restore the

ancient titles, as being more in harmony with the new
power which the people had confided to him than tlie

republican forms. He was still of opinion, however,

according to his phrase, that " the pear was not yet ripe,"

and would not hear this project spoken of for a moment.
" All this," he said to me one day, " will come in good

time ; but you must see, Bourrienne, that it is necessary

I should, in the first place, assume a title, from which the

others that I will give to everybody will naturally take

their origin. The greatest difficulty is surmounted.

There is no longer any person to deceive. Everybody

sees as clear as day that it is only one step which sepa-

rates the throne from the Consulate for life. However,

we must be cautious. There are some troublesome

fellows in the Tribunate, but I will take care of them."

Whilst these serious questions agitated men's minds.
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the greater part of the residents at Malraaison took a trip

to Plombiferes. Josephine, Bonaparte's mother, Madame
Beauharnais-Lavallette, Hortense, and General Kapp
were of this party. It pleased the fancy of the jocund

company to address to me a bulletin of the pleasant and
unpleasant occurrences of the journey. I insert this

letter merely as a proof of the intimacy which existed

between the writers and myself. It follows, precisely as

I have preserved it, with the exception of the blots, for

which it will be seen they apologised.

An Account of the Journey to PlombiIires.

j?'o the Inhabitants of Malmaison.

The whole party left Malmaison in tears, which brought on

such dreadful headaches that all the amiable persons were quite

overcome by the idea of the journey, Madame Bonaparte, mere,

supported the fatigues of this memorable day with the greatest

courage ; but Madame Bonaparte, Considesse, did not show any.

The two young ladies who sat in the dormeuse, Mademoiselle

Hortense and Madame Lavallette, were rival candidates for

a bottle of Eau de Cologne ; and every now and then the ami-

able M. Rapp made the carriage stop for the comfort of his poor

little sick heart, which overflowed with bile : in fine, he was
obliged to take to bed on arriving at Epernay, while the rest of

the amiable party tried to drown their sorrows in champagne.

The second day was more fortunate on the score of liealth and

spirits, but provisions were wanting, and great were the suffer-

ings of the stomach. The travellers lived on the hope of

a good supper at Toul ; but despair was at its height when, on

arriving there, they found only a wretched inn, and nothing in

it. We saw some odddooking folks there, which indemnified

us a little for spinach dressed in lamp oil, and red asparagus

fried with curdled milk. Who would not have been amused

to see the Malmaison gourmands seated at a table so shockingly

served

!
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In no record of history is there to be found a day passed in

distress so dreadful as tliat on which we arrived at Ploiubieres.

On departing from Toul we intended to breakfast at Nancy,

for every stomach had been empty for two days ; but the civil

and military authorities came out to meet us, and prevented us

from executing our plan. We continued our route, wasting

away, so that you might see us growing thinner every moment.

To complete our misfortune, the dormeuse, which seemed to have

taken a fancy to embark on the Moselle for Metz, barely es-

caped an overturn. But at Plombieres we have been well com-

pensated for this unlucky journey, for on our arrival we were

received with all kinds of rejoicings. The town was illumi-

nated, tlie cannon fired, and the faces of handsome women at

all the windows give us reason to hope that we shall bear our

absence from Malmaison with tlie less regret.

With the exception of some anecdotes, which we reserve for

chit-chat on our return, you have here a correct account of our

journey, which we, the undersigned, hereby certify.

Josephine Bonaparte.

Beauharnais-Lavallette.

HORTENSE BeAUHARNAIS.

Eapp.

Bonaparte, mere.

The company ask pardoii for the blots.

21st Messidor.

It is requested that the person who receives this journal will

show it to all who take an interest in the fair travellers.

This journey to Plombieres was preceded by a scene

which I should abstain from describing if I had not

undertaken to relate the truth respecting the family of

the First Consul. Two or three days before her depar-

ture Madame Bonaparte sent for me. I obeyed the sum-

mons, and found her in tears. " What a man — what

a man is that Lucien !" she exclaimed in accents of grief.

" If you knew, my friend, the shameful proposals he has
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dared to make to rae !
' You are going to the waters,'

said he ;
' you must get a child by some other person

since you cannot have one by him,' Imagine the indig-

nation with which I received such advice. — ' Well,' he

continued, 'if you do not wish it, or cannot help it,

Bonaparte must get a child by another woman, and you

must adopt it, for it is necessary to. secure an hereditary

successor. It is for your interest : you must know that.'

— ' What, sir !
' I replied, ' do you imagine the nation will

suffer a bastard to govern it ? Lucien ! Lucien ! you

would ruin your brother ! . This is dreadful ! Wretched

should I be, were any one to suppose me capable of listen-

ing, without horror, to your infamous proposal ! Your
ideas are poisonous

;
your language horrible !

'

—
' Well,

Madame,' retorted he, ' all I can say to that is, that I am
really sorry for you !

'

"

The amiable Josephine was sobbing whilst she de-

scribed this scene to me, and I was not insensible to the

indignation which she felt. The truth is, that at that

period Lucien, though constantly aflecting to despise

power for himself, was incessantly labouring to concen-

trate it in the hands of his brother ; and he considered

three things necessary to the success of his views,—
namely, hereditary succession, divorce, and the Imperial

Government.^

1 Tliis account of Lucien's conduct seems doubtful. Lucien had been

one of the persons proposed to replace Napoleon in case of any disaster

occurring at Marengo. And in suggesting tlie appearance of such a child

he would have been acting against his own interests, and against the ambi-

tion which all his family felt ; see also " Erreurs," tome ii. p. 117. He him-

self, speaking of the time when the Consul was elected for a term of ten

years only, says, " The eventual choice of a successor to Napoleon had, for

my misfortune, drawn on me the attention of certain political circles ; and

it was that v.iiich alienated from me my lirother's heart " (lung's Lucien,

tome ii. p. 292). The position of the brothers of Napoleon at this time

may be understood by a later speech of Joseph's to Miot, " He (\aj)oleon)

shall no longer deceive me. 1 am sick of his tyranny, and of his vain
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Lucien had a delightful house near Neuilly. Some
days before the deplorable scene which I have related he

invited Bonaparte and all the inmates at Malmaison to

witness a threatrical representation. " Alzire " was the

piece performed. Elisa played Alzire, and Lucien, Zamore.

The warmth of their declarations, the energetic expres-

sion of their gestures, the too faithful nudity of costume,

disgusted most of the spectators, and Bonaparte more

than any other. When the play was over, he was quite

indignant. " It is a scandal," he said to me in an angry

tone; "I ought not to suffer such indecencies, — I will

give Lucien to understand that I will have no more of it."

When his brother had resumed his own dress, and came
into the salon, he addressed him publicly, and gave him
to understand that he must for the future desist from

such representations. When we returned to Malmaison,

he again spoke of what had passed with dissatisfaction.

" What !
" said he, " when I am endeavouring to restore

purity of manners, my brother and sister must needs

exhibit themselves upon the boards almost in a state

of nudity ! It is an insult !
" ^

promises, so often repeated and never fulfilled. I want all or nothing.

Let him leave me a private individual, or else offer me a post which

assures me of power after him " (Miof cle Mellto, tome ii. p. 107). Lucien

represents himself as rather the victim than the enemy of Josephine. " I

might have regretted having as enemy the citizeness Beauharnais, become
my sister-in-law, for it is on account of this iiatred for me that she had not

the strength, or the wisdom, or the will to repress the antipathy of her

husband for me " (lung's Lucien, tome ii. p. 21.3). His wife, the Princess

de Cauino, represents Hortense saying to a third person that lier mother,

the ex-Empress Josephine, had not ceased to regret the fatality which had
separated her from her brother-in-law Lucien, and that she acknowledged
she had made a mistake in her policy (lung, tome ii. p. 21,5).

1 Lucien appears to have really acted well. See, for details, himself in

lung's " Lucien," tome ii. p. 256. There is probably some little jealousy

in this account of Lucien's rival troupe. Madame Junot (tome ii. p. 105)

says, " Lucien acquitted himself admirably, and declaimed to perfection.

. . . Not so with Madame Bacciochi " (Elisa). " Her acting was irresist-

ibly laughable. The First Consul found it so, and far from flying into a
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Liicien had a strong predilection for theatrical exliihi-

tions, to which he attached great importance. The fact

is, he declaimed in a superior style, and might have com-
peted with the best professional actors. It was said that

the turban of Orosmane, the costume of America, the

Roman toga, or the robe of the high-priest of Jerusalem,

all became him equally well ; and I believe that this was
the exact truth. Theatrical representations were not con-

fined to Neuilly. We had our theatre and our company
of actors at Malmaison ; but there everything was con-

ducted with the greatest decorum ; and now that I have

got behind the scenes, I will not quit them until I have

let the reader into the secrets of our drama.

By the direction of the First Consul a very pretty little

theatre was built at Malmaison. Our usual actors were

Eugfene Beauharnais, Hortense, Madame Murat, Lauris-

ton, M. Didelot, one of the prefects of the palace, some
other individuals belonging to the First Consul's house-

hold, and myself. Freed from the cares of government,

which we confined as much as possible to the Tuileries,

we were a very happy colony at Malmaison ; and, besides,

we were young, and what is there to which youth does

not add charms ? The pieces which the First Consul

most liked to see us perform were " Le Barbier de Seville"

and " Defiance et Malice." In " Le Barbier " Lauriston

played the part of Count Almaviva ; Hortense, Rosina

;

EugL-ne, Basil ; Didelot, Figaro ; I, Bartholo ; and Isabey,

I'Eveillt^. Our other stocR pieces were " Projets de ]\Ia-

rage, as M. de Bourrieniie represents, he did nothing hut laugh during tlie

whole play whenever his sister appeared on the stage, and when we returned

to the drawing-room, he exclaimed, ' I think we have seen Alzire beauti-

fully parodied.' " Joseph Bonaparte, in meeting this attack, seems more
concerned for the credit of the acting than for its decency. " The dresses

were those of the Theatre Francais. They were no more indecent than

those which the elite of France and of Europe delighted in seeing for

many years at this national spectacle " (Erreurs, tome ii p. 118).
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riage," " La Gtigeure," the "D^pit Amoureux," in which I

played the i)art of the valet ; and " L'Improniptu de Cam-

pagne," m which I enacted the Baron, having for my
Baroness the young and handsome Caroline Murat.

Hortense's acting was perfection, Caroline was mid-

dling, Eugfene played very well, Lauriston was rather

heavy, Didelot passable, and I may venture to assert, with-

out vanity, that I was not quite the worst of the company.

If we were not good actors, it was not for want of good in-

struction and good advice. Talma and Michot came to

direct us, and made us rehearse before them, sometimes

all together and sometimes separately. How many lessons

have I received from Michot whilst walking in the beauti-

ful park of Malmaison ! And may I be excused for say-

ing that I now experience pleasure in looking back upon

these trifles, which are matters of importance when one is

young, and which contrasted so singularly with the great

theatre on which we did not represent fictitious charac-

ters ? We had, to adopt theatrical language, a good sup-

ply of property. Bonaparte presented each of us with a

collection of dramas very well bound ; and, as the patron

of the company, he provided us with rich and elegant

dresses. 1

1 While Boiirrienne, belonging to the Malmaison company, considered

that the acting at Neuilly was indecent, Lucien, who refused to act at

Malmaison, naturally tiiought the Malmaison troupe was dull. " Hortense

and Caroline filled the principal parts. They were very commonplace. In

this they followed the unfortunate Marie Antoinette and her companions.

Louis XVI., not naturally polite, when 'seeing them act, had said that it

was royally badly acted " (see Madame Campan's Life of Marie Antoinette,

tome i. p. 249). " The First Consul said of his troupe that it was sover-

eignly badly acted. . . . Murat, Lannes, and even Caroline ranted. Elisa,

who, having been educated at St. Cyr, .«poke purely and witliout accent,

refused to act. Junot acted well the drunken parts, and even the others he

undertook. The rest were decidedh- had, worse than l)ad— ridiculous
"

(lung's Lucien, tome ii. p. 256). Rival actors are not fair critics. Let us

hear Madame .Tunot (tome ii. p. 103). "The cleverest of our company was

M. de Bourrienne. He played the more dignified characters in real per-
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Bonaparte took great pleasure in our performances. He
liked to see plays acted by persons with whom he was fa-

miliar. Sometimes he complimented us on our exertions.

Although I was as much amused with the thing as others,

I was more than once obliged to remind him tliat my oc-

cupations left me but little time to learn my parts. Then

he would assume his coaxing manner and say, " Come, do

not vex me ! You have such a memory ! You know that

it amuses me. You see thnt these performances render

Malmaison gay and animated ; Josephine takes much
pleasure in them. Rise earlier in the morning. — In fact,

I sleep too much ; is not that the case ?— Come, Bour-

rienne, do oblige me. You make me laugh so heartily

!

Do not deprive me of this pleasure. I have not over-

much amusement, as you well know." — " Ah, truly ! I

would not deprive you of any pleasure. I am delighted

to be able to contribute to your amusement." After

a conversation of this sort I could not do less than set

about studying my part.

At this period, during summer, I had half the Sunday

to myself. I was, however, obliged to devote a portion

of this precious leisure to pleasing Bonaparte by study-

ing a new part as a surprise for him. Occasionally, how-

ever, I passed the time at Ruel. I recollect that one day,

when I had hurried there from Malmaison, I lost a beau-

tiful watch made by Breguet. It was four o'clock in

the afternoon, and the road was that day thronged with

people. I made my loss publicly known by means of the

crier of Ruel. An hour after, as I was sitting down to

fection, and his talent was the more pleasing as it was not the result of

study, but of a jjerfect comprehension of his part." And she goes on to

say that even tlie best professional actors might have learnt from him in

some parts. The audience was not a pleasant (jue to face. It was the

First Consul's habit to invite forty persons to dinner, and a hundred and

fifty for the evening, and consequently to hear, criticise, and banter us

without mercy " {Memoirs of Duchesse d'Abranles, tome ii. p. 10(3).



142 MEMOIRS OF NArOLEON BONAPARTE. 1802.

table, a young lael belonging to the village brought me my
watch. He had found it on the high-road in a wheel-rut.

I was pleased with the probity of this young man, and re-

warded both him and his father, who accompanied him.

I related the circumstance the same evening to the First

Consul, who was so struck with this instance of honesty

that he directed me to procure information respecting the

young man and his family. I learned that they were

lionest peasants. Bonaparte gave employment to three

brothers of this family ; and, what was most difficult to

persuade him to, he exempted the young man who brought

me the watch from the conscription.

When a fact of this nature reached Bonaparte's ear,

it was seldom that he did not give the principal actor

in it some proof of his satisfaction. Two qualities pre-

dominated in his character,— kindness and impatience.

Impatience, when he was under its influence, got the

better of him ; it was then impossible for him to con-

trol himself. I had a remarkable proof of it about this

very period.

Canova having arrived in Paris came to St. Cloud to

model the figure of the First Consul, of whom he was

about to make a colossal statue. This great artist came

often, in the hope of getting his model to stand in the

proper attitude; but Bonaparte was so tired, disgusted,

and fretted by the process, that he very seldom put him-

self in the required attitude, and then only for a short

time. Bonaparte notwithstanding had the highest regard

for Canova. Whenever he was announced, the First Con-

sul sent me to keep him company until he was at leisure

to give him a sitting ; but he would shrug up his shoul-

ders and say, " More modelling ! Good Heavens, how
vexatious

!

" Canova expressed great displeasure at not

being able to study his model as he wished to do, and

the little anxiety of Bonaparte on the subject damped the
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ardour of his imagination. Everybody agrees in saying

that lie has not succeeded in the work, and I have ex-

plained the reason. The Duke of Wellington afterguards

possessed this colossal statue, which was about twice his

own height.
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It is a principle particularly applicable to absolute gov-

ernments that a prince should change his ministers as

seldom as possible, and never except upon serious grounds.

Bonaparte acted on this principle when First Consul, and

also when he became Emperor. He often allowed unjust

causes to influence him, but he never dismissed a Minister

without cause ; indeed, he more than once, without any
reason, retained Ministers longer than he ought to have

done in the situations in which he had placed them.

Bonaparte's tenacity in this respect, in some instances,

produced very opposite results. For instance, it afforded

M. Gaudin ^ time to establish a degree of order in the

administration of Finance which before his time had never

existed ; and on the other hand, it enabled M. Decres to

reduce the Ministry of Marine to an unparalleled state of

confusion.

Bonaparte saw nothing in men but helps and obstacles.

On the 18th Brumaire Fouchd was a help. The First

Consul, feared that he would become an obstacle ; it was

necessary, therefore, to think of dismissing him. Bona-

parte's most sincere friends had from the beginning been

opposed to Fouch^'s having any share in the Government.

But their disinterested advice produced no other result

than their own disgrace, so influential a person had

Fouch^ become. How could it be otherwise ? Fouche

1 Afterwards Duke of Gaeta.
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was identified with the Eepublic by the death of the King,

for which he had voted ; with the Eeign of Terror by his

sanguinary missions to Lyons and Nevers ; with the Con-

sulate by his real though perhaps exaggerated services

;

with Bonaparte by the charm with which he might be

said to have fascinated him ; with Josephine by the en-

mity of the First Consul's brothers. Who would believe

it ? Fouch^ ranked the enemies of the Eevolution amongst

his warmest partisans. They overwhelmed him with

eulogy, to the disparagement even of tlie Head of the

State, because the cunning Minister, practising an inter-

ested indulgence, set himself up as the protector of indi-

yiduals belonging to classes which, when he was proconsul,

he had attacked in the mass. Director of public opinion,

and having in his hands the means at his pleasure of in-

spiring fear or of entangling by inducements, it was all in

his favour that he had already directed this opinion. The
machinery he set m motion was so calculated that the

police was rather the police of Fouchd than that of the

Minister of the General Police. Throughout Paris, and
indeed throughout all France, Fouch^ obtained credit for

extraordinary ability ; and the popular opinion was correct

in this respect, namely, that no man ever displayed such

ability in making it be supposed that he really possessed

talent. Fouche's secret in this particular is the whole

secret of the greater part of those persons who are called

statesmen.

Be this as it may, the First Consul did not behold with

pleasure the factitious influence of which Fouchd had
possessed himself. For some time past, to the rej)ugnance

which at bottom he had felt towards Fouch^, were added

other causes of discontent. In consequence of having

been deceived by secret reports and correspondence, Bona-

parte began to shrug up his shoulders with an expression

of regret when he received them, and said, " Would
VOL. II.— 10
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you believe, Bourrieni)e, that I have been imposed on

by these things ? All such denunciations are useless, —
scandalous. All the reports from prefects and the police,

all the intercepted letters, are a tissue of absurdities and

lies. I desire to have no more of them." He said so, but

he still received them. However, Fouch^'s dismissal was
resolved upon. But though Bonaparte wished to get

rid of him, still, under the influence of the charm, he

dared not proceed against him without the greatest cau-

tion. He first resolved upon the suppression of the office

of Minister of Police, in order to disguise the motive for

the removal of the Minister. The First Consul told

Fouch^ that this suppression, which he spoke of as

being yet remote, was calculated more than anything

else to give strength to the Government, since it would
afford a proof of the security and internal tranquillity

of France. Overpowered by the arguments with which

Bonaparte supported his proposition, Fouchd could urge

no good reasons in opposition to it, but contented him-

self with recommending that the execution of the design,

which was good in intention, should, however, be postponed

for two years. Bonaparte appeared to listen favourably

toFouche's recommendation, who, as avaricious for money
as Bonaparte of glory, consoled himself by thinking that

for these two years the administration of the gaming-

tables would still be for him a Pactolus flowing wdth gold.

For Fouchd, already the possessor of an immense fortune,

always dreamed of increasing it, though he himself did

not know how to enjoy it. With him the ami lition of en-

larging the bounds of his estate of Pont-Carrd was not less

felt than with the First Consul the ambition of extending

the frontier of France.

Not only did the First Consul not like Fouchd, but it

is perfectly true that at this time the police wearied and

annoved him. Several times he told me he looked on it
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as dangerous, especially for the possessor of power. In

a Government without the liberty of the press he was
quite right. The very services which the police had ren-

dered to the First Consul were of a nature to alarm him,

for whoever had conspired against the Directory in favour

of the Consulate might also conspire against the Consulate

in favour of any other Government. It is needless to say

that I only allude to the political police, and not to the

municipal police, which is indispensable for large towns,

and which has the honourable mission of watching over

the health and safety of the citizens.

Fouch^, as has been stated, had been Minister of Police

since the 18th Brumaire. Everybody who was acquainted

with the First Consul's character was unable to explain

the ascendency which he had suffered Fouch^ to acquire

over him, and of which Bonaparte himself was really im-

patient. He saw in Fouchd a centre around which all

the interests of the Eevolution concentrated themselves,

and at this he felt indignant ; but, subject to a species of

magnetism, he could not break the charm which en-

thralled him. When he spoke of Fouchd in his absence,

his language was warm, bitter, and hostile. When
Fouchd was present, Bonaparte's tone was softened,

unless some public scene was to be acted like that which
occurred after the attempt of the 3d Nivose.

The suppression of the Ministry of Police being deter-

mined on, Bonaparte did not choose to delay the execution

of his design, as he had pretended to think necessary.

On the evening of the 12th of September we went to

Mortfontaine. We passed the next day, which was Mon-
day, at that place, and it was there, far removed from

Fouchd, and urged by the combined persuasions of Joseph

and Lucien, that the First Consul signed the decree of

suppression. The next morning we returned to Paris.

Fouchd came to Malmaison, where we were, in the regu-
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lar execution of his duties. The First Consul transacted

business with him as usual, without daring to tell him of

his dismissal, and afterwards sent Cambac(^rfes to inform

him of it. After this act, respecting which he had hesi-

tated so long, Bonaparte still endeavoured to modify his

rigour. Having appointed Touchd a Senator, he said in

the letter which he wrote to the Senate to notify the

appointment :
—

" Fouchd, as Minister of Police, in times of difficulty,

has by his talent, his activity, and his attachment to the

Government done all that circumstances required of him.

Placed in the bosom of the Senate, if events should again

call for a Minister of Police the Government cannot find

one more worthy of its confidence."

From this moment the departments of Justice and Po-

lice united were confided to the hands of Eegnier.^ Bo-

naparte's aversion for Fouch^ strangely blinded him with

respect to tbe capabilities of his successor. Besides, how
could the administration of justice, which rests on fixed,

rigid, and unchangeable bases, proceed hand in hand
with another administration placed on the quicksand of

instantaneous decisions, and surrounded by stratagems

and deceptions ? Justice should never have anything to

do with secret police, unless it be to condemn it.^ What

1 Regnier, Clande Antoine (1746-1814), Grand Judge and Minister of

Justice from 1802 to November, 1813 ; tlie Ministry of Police was adjoined

from 1802 to 1804, when it was again separated; Due de Massa, 1809;

President of the Corps Le'gislatif, 1813 to 1814. At this period the

Senators were unable to hold any active office, so that on appointment a

Senator was said to be " absorbed."
2 M. Abrial, JMinister of Justice, was called to the Senate at the same

time as Fouche. Understanding that the assimilation of the two men
was more a disgrace to Abrial than the mere loss of the Ministry, the

First Consul said to M. Abrial :
" In uniting the Ministry of Police to

that of Justice I could not retain you in the Ministry
;
you are too upright

a man to manage the police." Not a flattering speech for Regnier. —
Bourrienne.
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could be expected from' Eegnier, charged as he was with

incoinpatible functions ? What, under such circumstances,

could have been expected even from a man gifted with

great talents ? Such was the exact history of Fouch^'s

disgrace. No person was more afflicted at it than Ma-
dame Bonaparte, who only learned the news when it was
announced to the public. Josephine, on all occasions,

defended Fouchd against her husband's sallies. She be-

lieved that he was the only one of his Ministers who told

him the truth. She had such a high opinion of the way
in wliich Fouche managed the police that the first time I

was alone with her after our return from Mortfontaine she

said to me, " My dear Bourrienne, speak openly to me

;

will Napoleon know all about the plots from the police

of Moucey, Duroc, Junot, and of Davoust ? You know
better than I do that these are only wretched spies. Has
not Savary also eventually got his police ? How all this

alarms me. They take away all my supports, and sur-

round me only with enemies."— "To justify your regrets,

we should be sure that Fouchd has never been in agree-

ment with Lucien in favour of the divorce."— "Oh, I do

not believe that. Bonaparte does not like him, and he

would have been certain to tell me of it when I spoke

favourably to him of Fouche. You will see that his

brothers will end by bringing him into their plan."

I have already spoken of Josephine's troubles, and of

the bad conduct of Joseph, but more particularly of

Lucien, towards her ; I will therefore describe here, as

connected with the disgrace of Fouchd, whom Madame
Bonaparte regretted as a support, some scenes which oc-

curred about this period at Malmaison. Having been the

confidant of both parties, and an involuntary actor in

those scenes, now that twenty-seven years have passed

since they occurred, what motive can induce me to dis-

guise the truth in any respect ?
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Madame Louis Bonaparte was enceinte. Josephine, al-

though she tenderly loved her children, did not seem to

behold the approaching event which the situation of her

dauohter indicated with the interest natural to the heart

of a mother. She had long been aware of the calumnious

reports circulated respecting the supposed connection be-

tween Hortense and the First Consul, and that base accu-

sation cost her many tears. Poor Josephine paid dearly

for the splendour of her station ! As I knew how devoid

of foundation these atrocious reports were, I endeavoured

to console her by telling her what was true, that I was
exerting all my efforts to demonstrate their infamy and

falsehood. Bonaparte, however, dazzled by the affection

which was manifeste'd towards him from all quarters, ag-

gravated the sorrow of his wife by a silly vanity. He
endeavoured to persuade her that these reports had their

origin only in the wish of the public that he should have

a child, so that these seeming consolations offered by self-

love to Josephine's grief gave force to existing conjugal

alarms, and the fear of divorce returned with all its

horrors. Under the foolish illusion of his vanity Bona-

parte imagined that France was desirous of being gov-

erned even by a bastard if supposed to be a child of his,

— a singular mode truly of founding a new legitimacy !

Josephine, whose susceptibility appears to me even

now excusable, well knew my sentiments on the subject

of Bonaparte's founding a dynasty, and she had not for-

gotten my conduct when two years before the question

had been agitated on the occasion of Louis XVIII.'s let-

ters to the First Consul. I remember that one day, after

the publication of the parallel of Ctesar, Cromwell, and

Bonaparte, Josephine having entered our cabinet w'ithout

being announced, which she sometimes did when from

the good humour exhibited at breakfast she reckoned

upon its continuance, approached Bonaparte softly, seated
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herself on his knee, passed her hand gently through his

hair and over his face, and, thinking the moment favour-

able, said to him in a burst of tenderness, " I entreat of

you, Bonaparte, do not make yourself a King ! It is that

wretch Lucien who urges you to it. Do not listen to

him ! " Bonaparte replied, without anger, and even smil-

ing as he pronounced the last words, " You are mad, my
poor Josephine. It is your old dowagers of the Faubourg
St. Germain, your Eochefoucaulds, who tell you all these

fables ! . . . Come now, you interrupt me— leave me
alone." What Bonaparte said that day good-naturedly

to his wife, I have often heard him declare seriously. I

have been present at five or six altercations on the sub-

ject. That there existed, too, an enmity^ connected with
this question between the family of Beauharnais and the

family of Bonaparte cannot be denied.

Fouch^, as I have stated, was in the interest of Joseph-

ine, and Lucien was the most bitter of her enemies. One
day Eoederer inveighed with so much violence against

Fouch^ in the presence of Madame Bonaparte that she

replied with extreme warmth, " The real enemies of

Bonaparte are those who feed him with notions of hered-

itary descent, of a dynasty, of divorce, and of marriage !

"

Josephine could not check this exclamation, as she knew
that Ecederer encouraged those ideas, which he spread

abroad by Lucien's direction. I recolle'ct one day when
she had been to see us at our little house at.Paiel: as I

walked with her along the high-road to her carriage,

which she had sent forward, I acknowledged too unre-

servedly my fears on account of the ambition of Bona-
parte, and of the perfidious advice of his brothers.

"Madame," said I, "if we cannot succeed in dissuading

the General from making himself a King, I dread the

future for his sake. If ever he re-establishes royalty, he

will in all probability labour for the Bourbons, and en-
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able them one day to reascend the tlirone which he shall

erect. No one, doubtless, without passing for a fool, can

pretend to say with certainty what series of chances and

events such a proceeding will produce ; but common
sense alone is sufficient to convince any one that un-

favourable chances must long be dreaded. The ancient

system being re-established, the occupation of the throne

will then be only a family question, and not a question

of government between liberty and despotic power.

Why should not France, if it ceases to be free, prefer

the race of her ancient kings ? You surely know it.

You had not been married two years when, on returning

from Italy, your husband told me that he aspired to roy-

alty. Now he is Consul for life. Would he but resolve

to stop there ! He already possesses everything but an

empty title. No sovereign in Europe has so much power

as he has. I am sorry for it, Madame, but I really be-

lieve that, in spite of yourself, you will be made Queen

or Empress."

Madame Bonaparte had allowed me to speak without

interruption, but when I pronounced the words Queen

and Empress, she exclaimed, " My God ! Bourrienne,

such ambition is far from my thoughts. That I may
always continue the wife of the First Consul is all I

desire. Say to him all that you have said to me.

Try and prevent him from making himself King."—
" Madame," I replied, " times are greatly altered. The

wisest men, the strongest minds, have resolutely and

courageously opposed his tendency to the hereditary

system. But advice is now useless. He would not lis-

ten to me. In all discussions on the subject he adheres

inflexibly to the view he has taken. If he be seriously

opposed, his anger knows no bounds ; his language is

harsh and abrupt, his tone imperious, and his authority

bears down all before him." — " Yet, Bourrienne, he has



1802. ALARM OF JOSEPHINE. 153

SO much confidence in you that if you should try once

more " — " Madame, I assure you he will not listen

to me. Besides, what could I add to the remarks I made
upon his receiving the letters of Louis XVIIL, when I

fearlessly represented to him that being without children

he would have no one to whom to bequeath the throne,

— that, doubtless, from the opinion which he entertained

of his brothers, he could not desire to erect it for them ?

"

Here Josephine again interrupted me by exclaiming, " My
kind friend, when you spoke of children did he say any-

thing to you ? Did he talk of a divorce ? "— " I^ot

a word, Madame, I assure you."— " If they do not urge

him to it, I do not believe he will resolve to do such

a thing. You know how he Ikes Eugene, and Eugfene

behaves so well to him. How different is Lucien ! It is

that wretch Lucien, to whom Bonaparte listens too much,
and of whom, however, he always speaks ill to me."

—

" I do not know, Madame, what Lucien says to his brother

except when he chooses to tell me, because Lucien always

avoids having a witness of his interviews with your hus-

band ; but I can assure you that for two years I have not

heard the word ' divorce ' from the General's mouth."—
" I always reckon on you, my dear Bourrienne, to turn

him away from it, as you did at that time."— "I do not

believe he is thinking of it, but if it recurs to him,

consider, Madame, that it will be now from very different

motives. He is now entirely given up to the interests of

his policy and his ambition, which dominate every other

feeling in him. There will not now be any question of

scandal, or of a trial before a court, but of an act of

authority which complaisant laws will justify and which
the Church perhaps will sanction."— "That 's true. You
are right. Good God ! how unhappy I am." ^

1 Wheu Bonrrienne complains of not knowing what passed between
Lut'ien and Napoleon, we can turn to Lucieu's account of Bourrienne,
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Such was tlie nature of one of the conversationG I had

with Madame Bonaparte on a subject to which she often

recurred. It may not perhaps be uninteresting to en-

deavour to compare with this what Napoleon said at St.

Helena, speaking of his first wife. According to the

" Memorial," Napoleon there stated that when Josephine

was at last constrained to renounce all hope of having

a child, she often let fall allusions to a great political

fraud, and at length openly proposed it to him. I make
no doubt Bonaparte made use of words to this effect, but

I do not believe the assertion. I recollect one day that

Bonaparte, on entering our cabinet, where I was already

seated, exclaimed in a transport of joy impossible for me
to describe, " Well, Bourrienne, my wife is at last

enceinte!" I sincerely congratulated him, more, I own,

out of courtesy than from any hope of seeing him made
a father by Josephine, for I well remembered that Corvi-

sart, who had given medicines to Madame Bonaparte, had

nevertheless assured me that he expected no result from

them. Medicine was really the only iMitical fraud to

which Josephine had recourse ; and in her situation what
other woman would not have done as much ? Here, then,

the husband and the wife are in contradiction, which is

nothing uncommon. But on which side is truth ? I

have no hesitation in referring it to Josephine. There

is indeed an immense difference between the statements

of a woman intrusting her fears and her hopes to the

apparently about this very time. " After a stormy interview with Napo-

leon," says Lufien, " I at once went into the cabinet wliere Bourrienne

was working, and found that unbearable liu-iybody of a secretary whose

star had already paled more than once, which made him more prying than

ever, quite upset by tlie time the First Consul liad taken to come out of

his bath. He must, or at least might, have lieard some noise, for enough
had been made. Seeing that he wanted to know the cause from me, I

took up a newspaper to avoid being bored by his conversation " (lung's

Lucien, tome ii. p. 156).
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sole confidant of her family secrets, and the tardy decla-

ration of a man who, after seeing the vast edifice of his

ambition levelled with the dust, is only anxious, in his

compulsory retreat, to preserve intact and spotless the

other great edifice of his glory. Bonaparte should have
recollected that Caesar did not like the idea of his wife

being even suspected.



CHAPTEE XII.

1802.

Citizen Fesch, who, when we were forced to stop at

Ajaccio on our return from Egypt, discounted at rather

a high rate the General-in-Chiefs Egyptian sequins,

became again the Abbd Fesch, as soon as Bonaparte by

his Consular authority re-erected the altars which the

Eevolution had overthrown. On the 15th of August,

1802, he was consecrated Bishop, and the following

year received the Cardinal's hat. Thus Bonaparte took

advantage of one of the members of his family being in

orders to elevate him to the highest dignities of the

Church. He afterwards gave Cardinal Fesch the Arch-

bishopric of Lyons, of which place he was long the

titular.^

^ Like Cambaceres, the Cardinal was a bit of a gourmet, and on one

occasion had invited a large party of clerical magnates to dinner. " By a

coincidence two turbots of singnlar beauty arrived as presents to his

Eminence on the very morning of tlie feast. To serve both would have

appeared ridiculous, but the Cardinal was most anxious to have the

credit of both. He imparted his embarrassment to his chef. ' Be of

good faith, your Eminence,' was the reply; 'both shall appear and

enjoy the reception so justly their due.' The dinner was served : one of

the turbots relieved the soup. Deliglit was on every face, — it was the

moment of the eprouvette positive. The ma'tre d'hotel advances; two

attendants raise the turliot and carry him off to cut him up ; but one

of them loses his equilibrium ; the attendants and the turbot roll to-

gether on the floor. At this sad siglit the assembled Cardinals became as

pale as death, and a solemn silence reigned in the conclave, — it was the

moment of the eprouvette neijative ; but the ma'tre d'hotel suddenly turns
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The First Consul prided himself a good deal on liis

triumph, at least in appearance, over the scruples which
the persons who surrounded him had manifested against

the re-establishment of worship. He read with much
self-satisfaction the reports made to him, in which it was
stated that the churches were well frequented. Indeed,

throughout the year 1802, all his attention was directed

to the reformation of manners, which had become more
dissolute under the Directory than even during the Eeign
of Terror.

In his march of usurpation the First Consul let slip no
opportunity of endeavouring to obtain at the same time

the admiration of the multitude and the approbation of

judicious men. He was very fond of the arts, and was
sensible that the promotion of industry ought to be the

peculiar care of the head of the Government. It must,

however, at the same time be owned that he rendered

the influence of his protection null and void by the con-

tinual violations he committed on that liberty which is

the animating principle of all improvement.

During the supplementary days of the year X., that is

to say, about the beginning of the autumn of 1802, there

was held at the Louvre an exhibition of the products of

industry. The First Consul visited the exhibition ; and
as even at that period he had begun to attribute every

good result to himself, he seemed proud of the high

degree of perfection the manufacturing arts had attained

in France. He was, above all, delighted with the ad-

miration this exhibition excited among the numerous
foreigners who resorted to Paris during the peace.^

to one of the attendants. 'Bring another turbot/ said he, with the most
perfect coohiess. The second appeared, and the eprouvette positive was
gloriously renewed" (Hayward's Art of Dinincj, p. 6.5).

1 See in Chaptal his account of his conducting Fox and Lord Corn-

wallis over this exhibition. Fox remarked on tlie absence of articles of

common use, as compared with what he would have seen in England.
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In fact, throughout the year 1802 the capital presented

an interesting and animating spectacle. The appetite for

luxury and pleasure liad insinuated itself into manners

which were no longer republican, and the vast number of

Russians and English who drove about everywhere with

brilliant equipages contributed not a little to this meta-

morphosis. All Paris flocked to the Carrousel on review

days, and regarded with eyes of delight the unusual

sight of rich foreign liveries and emblazoned carriages.

The parties at the Tuileries were brilliant and numerous,

and nothing was wanting but the name of levees. Count

Markoff', who succeeded M. de Kalitscheff as Eussian

ambassador; the Marquis de Lucchesini, the Prussian

ambassador; and Lord Whitworth, the Minister from

England, made numerous presentations of their country-

men to the First Consul, who was well pleased that the

Court he was forming should have examples set by
foreign courtiers. Never since the meeting of the States-

General had the theatres been so frequented, ox fetes so

magnificent ; and never since that period had Paris pre-

sented so cheering an aspect. The First Consul, on his

part, spared no exertion to render the capital more and

more worthy the admiration of foreigners. The statue of

the Venus de Medicis, which had been robbed from the

gallery of the Grand Duke of Tuscany, now decorated

the gallery of the Louvre, and near it was placed that of

the Velletrian Pallas, a more legitimate acquisition, since

it was the result of the researches of some French en-

gineers at Velletri. Everywhere an air of prosperity was

perceptible, and P)0naparte proudly put in his claim to be

Chaptal was struck with the remark, but, he says, eventually got a cutler

and a watchmaker to produce, from the back of their stalls, goods which

Fox bought, and, surprised at their low price and good quality, acknowl-

edged that he had a very different opinion of French industries from

what he had expressed before (Chaptal, De VIndustrie Fran^uise, Paris,

Kenouard, 1819, tome ii. p. 92).
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regarded as the author of it all. With what heartfelt

satisfaction did he likewise cast his eye upon what he
called the grand thermometer of opinion, the price of the

Funds ! For if he saw them doubled in value in con-

sequence of the revolution of the 18th Brumaire, risino^

as they did at that period from seven to sixteen francs,

this value was even more than tripled after the vote of

Consulship for life and the ScnaUis-consulte of the 4th of

August, when they rose to fifty-two francs.

While Paris presented so satisfactory an aspect the

departments were in a state of perfect tranquillity, and
foreign affairs had every appearance of security. The
Court of the Vatican, which since the Concordat may be
said to have become devoted to the First Consul, gave,

under all circumstances, examples of submission to the

wishes of France. The Vatican was the first Court
which recognised the erection of Tuscany into the King-
dom of Etruria, and the formation of the Helvetic, Cis-

alpine, and Batavian Eepublics. Prussia soon followed

the example of the Pope, which was successively imitated

by the other powers of Europe.

The whole of these new states, realms, or republics

were under the immediate influence of France. The Isle

of Elba, which Xapoleon's first abdication afterwards

rendered so famous, and Piedmont, divided into six de-

partments, were also united to France, still called a Ee-
public. Everything now seemed to concur in securing

his accession to absolute power. We were now at peace

with all the world, and every circumstance tended to

place in the hands of the First Consul that absolute

power w^hich indeed was the only kind of government he

was capable of forming any conception of. Indeed, one

of the characteristic signs of Napoleon's government,

even under the Consular system, left no doubt as to his

real intentions. Had he wished to found a free Govern-



160 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1802.

ment, it is evident that lie would have made the Minis-

ters responsible to the country, whereas he took care that

there should be no responsibility but to himself. He
viewed them, in fact, in the light of instruments which

he might break as he pleased. I found this single index

sufficient to disclose all his future designs. In order to

make the irresponsibility of his Ministers to the public

perfectly clear, he had all the acts of his Government

signed merely by M. Maret, Secretary of State. Thus

the Consulship for life was nothing but an Empire in

disguise, the usufruct of which could not long satisfy the

First Consul's ambition. His brothers influenced him,

and it was resolved to found a new dynasty.

It was not in the interior of France that difficulties

were likely first to arise on Bonaparte's carrying his

designs into effect, but there was some reason to appre-

hend that foreign powers, after recognising and treating

with the Consular Government, might display a different

feeling, and entertain scruples with regard to a Govern-

ment which had resumed its monarchical form. The

question regarding the Bourbons was in some measure

kept in the background as long as France remained a

Republic, but the re-establishment of the throne natu-

rally called to recollection the family which had occupied

it for so many ages. Bonaparte fully felt the delicacy of

his position, but he knew how to face obstacles, and had

been accustomed to overcome them. He, however, always

proceeded cautiously, as when obstacles induced him to

defer the period of the Consulship for life.

Bonaparte laboured to establish in France not only an

absolute government, but, what is still worse, a military

one.^ He considered a decree signed by his hand pos-

1 This mnst not he taken too literally. " Except in the very rare cases

of revolt, there was no instance under the Imperial Government in which

the military chiefs commanded any but soldiers. . . . The new adminis-



1802. PLOT AGAINST LANNES. 161

sessed of a magic virtue capable of transforming his

generals into able diplomatists ; and so he sent them on

embassies, as if to show the Sovereigns to whom they

were accredited that he soon meant to take their thrones

by assault. The appointment of Lannes to the Court of

Lisbon originated from causes which probably will be

read with some interest, since they serve to place Bona-

parte's character in its true light, and to point out, at the

same time, the means he disdained not to resort to, if he

wished to banish his most faithful friends when their

presence was no longer agreeable to him.

Bonaparte had ceased to address Lannes in the second

person singular ; but that General continued the famil-

iarity of thee and thou in speaking to Napoleon. It is

hardly possible to conceive how much this annoyed the

First Consul. Aware of the unceremonious candour of his

old comrade, whose daring spirit he knew would prompt

him to go as great lengths in civil affairs as on the field

of battle, Bonaparte, on the great occasion of the 18th

Brumaire, fearing his reproaches, had given him the com-

mand of Paris in order to insure his absence from St.

Cloud. After that time, notwithstanding the continu-

ally growing greatness of the First Consul, which, as it

increased, daily exacted more and more deference, Lannes

still preserved his freedom of speech, and was the only

one who dared to treat Bonaparte as a comrade, and tell

trative organisation had taken away from the governors of towns and
of provinces the higher police, with which the}' were invested under the

onrien regime. Napoleon, when he re-established the general officers in

tlieir honorary rights, did not restore this power to them. Wliere a /)re'-

fet arbitrarily decided on the interests, and even on the lilierty of tlie

most prominent citizens, tlie general, although covered with marks of the

sovereign's approval, could not have iiad the humblest culprit arrested.

In conflicts, frequent enough, between the military and the civil authority,

decision was almost always given in favour of the last" (Foy, Hist,

de la Pe'iunsule, tome i. p. 81). See, however, Puymaigre, p. 136, for the

atteutiou paid to military rank in the ballrooms.

VOL. II.— 11
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him the truth without ceremony. This was enough to

determine Napoleon to rid liimself of the presence of

Lannes. But under what pretext was the absence of the

conqueror of Montebello to be procured ? It was neces-

sary to conjure up an excuse ; and m the truly diabolical

machination resorted to for that purpose, Bonaparte

brought into play that crafty disposition for which he

was so remarkable.

Lannes, who never looked forward to the morrow, was

as careless of his money as of his blood. Poor officers and

soldiers partook largely of his liberality. Thus he had

no fortune, but plenty of debts. When he wanted money,

and this was not seldom, he used to come, as if it were a

mere matter of course, to ask it of the First Consul, who,

I must confess, never refused him. Bonaparte, though

he well knew the G-eneral's circumstances, said to him one

day, " My friend, you should attend a little more to

appearances. You must have your establishment suit-

able to your rank. There is the Hotel de Noailles,

—

why don't you take it, and furnish it in proper style ?

"

Lannes, wliose own candour prevented him from suspect-

inof the artful designs of others, followed the advice of the

First Consul. The Hotel de Noailles was taken and

superbly fitted up. Odiot supplied a service of plate

valued at 200,000 francs.

General Lannes, having thus conformed to the wishes

of Bonaparte, came to him and requested 400,000 francs,

the amount of the expense incurred, as it were, by his

order. " But," said the First Consul, " I have no money."— " You have no money ! What the devil am I to do,

then ? " — " But is there none in the Guards' chest ?

Take what you require, and we will settle it hereafter."

Mistrusting nothing, Lannes went to the treasurer of

the Guards, who made some objections at first to the ad-

vance required, but who soon yielded on learning that the

demand was made with the consent of the First Consul.
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Within twenty- four hours after Lannes had obtained

the 400,000 francs, the treasurer received from the head

counnissary an order to balance his accounts. The receipt

for the 400,000 francs advanced to Lannes w^as not ac-

knowledcjed as a voucher. In vain the treasurer alleged

the authority of the First Consul for the transaction.

Napoleon's memory had suddenly failed him ; he had
entirely forgotten all about it. In a word, it w^s incum-

bent on Lannes to refund the 400,000 francs to the

Guards' cliest; and, as I have already said, he had no

property on earth, but debts in abundance. He repaired

to General Lefebvre, who loved him as his son, and to

him he related all that had passed. " Simpleton," said

Lefebvre, " why did you not come to me ? Why did you
go and get into debt with that ? Well, here are the

400,000 francs, take them to him, and let him go to the

devil
!

"

Lannes hastened to the First Consul. "What!" he

exclaimed, " is it possible you can be guilty of such base-

ness as this ? To treat me in such a manner ! To lay

such a foul snare for me after all that I have done for you
;

after all the blood I have shed to promote your ambition

!

Is this the recompense you had in store for me ? You for-

get the 13th Vendemiaire, to the success o'i which I con-

tributed more than you ! You forget Millesimo : I was
colonel before you! For whom did I fight at Bassano?

You were witness of what I did at Lodi and at Governolo,

where I was wounded ; and yet you play me such a trick

as this I But for me, Paris would have revolted on the

18th Brumaire. But for me, you would have lost the

battle of Marengo. I alone, yes, I alone, passed the Po,

at Montebello, with my whole division. You gave the

credit of that to Berthier, who was not there; and this is

my reward,— humiliation. This cannot, this shall not be.

I will " Bonaparte, pale with anger, listened with-
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out stirring, and Lannes was on the point of challenging

him when Junot, who heard the uproar, hastily entered.

The unexpected presence of this General somewhat reas-

sured the First Consul, and at the same time calmed, in

some degree, the fury of Lannes. " Well," said Bonaparte,

"go to Lisbon. You will get money there ; and when you
return you will not want any one to pay your debts for

you." Til us was Bonaparte's object gained. Lannes set

out for Lisbon, and never afterwards annoyed the First

Consul by his familiarities, for on his return he ceased to

address him with thee and tliou}

1 Joseph Boiiap.arte asserts that Lannes never did address Napoleon in

this familiar style, but says nothing in contradiction of tlie extraordinary-

story here related. We have heard Bourrienne's statements confirmed

by several unprejudiced contemporaries, and everyl)ody knows that poor

Lannes was sent as a sort of exile to Lisbon. — Editor of the 1836 edition.

This explanati(m of Lannes being sent to Lisbon seeins very far-fetched.

Napoleon had readier and easier means of dealing with a presumptuous

general. Me'neval, allowing the wish to get rid of the familiarity of

Lannes, gives a more likely story,— tiiat Lannes, believing Napoleon to

have promised to pay for tlie furniture of his liouse, tried to enforce pay-

ment bv taking money from the cliest of the Guards. Napoleon was the

most unlikely man in the world to advise any tampering with cash. See

his extraordinary and almost pedantic insistence on adlierence to the regu-

lar form for the issue of cash, in Beugnot, tome i. p. 344: " When I sign

a payment order, I lend this key (of the treasury), and it may be legally

used ; but when I have not lent it, there is no otiier way of getting into

the treasury but by breaking open the doors." Compare Madame Junot,

tome ii. p. 184, where she denies the familiarity of Lannes; see also tome
iii. p. 21.5. alleging that Lannes took or was ready to take the treasure of

the cathedral of Saragossa. In the case in question she only says that

Lannes was not really so much to be blamed as was represented. In a pre-

vious note we have shown how Masse'na was dealt with when he had appro-

priated money in Italy, but we may allude again to the suliject for the sake

of introducing a letter of Napoleon's which ha-s an emphatic bearing as to

the strictness he maintained in money matters.

" Mv Brother,— I have received your letter of the 27th of March,

[1806]. I have an accurate statement of the sums which M(assena), S
,

tlie paymaster, and the other officers have received. I have dismissed

S , who was at the bottom of this disgraceful business. It is adding

absurdity to roguery to say that this money was a present from tlie new
government. Such an excuse is more revolting than the crime itself
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Having described Bonaparte's ill-treatment of Lannes, 1

may here subjoin a statement of the circumstances which

led to a rupture between the First Consul and me. So

many false stories have been circulated on the subject

that I am anxious to relate the facts as they really were.

Nine months had now passed since I had tendered my
resignation to the First Consul. The business of my office

had become too great for me, and my health was so much
endangered by over-application that my physician, M.
Corvisart, who had for a long time impressed upon me
the necessity of relaxation, now formally warned me that

I should not long hold out under the fatigue I underwent.

Corvisart had no doubt spoken to the same effect to the

First Consul, for the latter said to me one day, in a tone

which betrayed but little feeling, " Why, Corvisart says

you have not a year to live," This was certainly no very

welcome compliment in the mouth of an old college friend,

yet T must confess that the doctor risked little by the

prediction.

I had resolved, in fact, to follow the advice of Corvisart

;

my family were urgent in their entreaties that I would do

so, but I always put off the decisive step. I was loath to

give up a friendship which had subsisted so long, and

which had been only once disturbed,— on that occasion

when Joseph thought proper to play the spy upon me at

the table of Foucln^. I remembered also the reception

I had met with from the conqueror of Italy ; and I

experienced, moreover, no slight pain at the thought of

quitting one from whom I had received so many proofs of

Many bills are drawn upon nie from Naples. Recollect that I have enor-

mous expenses, and may be unable to meet them. I have directed the

2,900,000 francs, for which you told me a month ago that you had drawn
upon me. to be paid. But take care that all is regularly passed through

the Treasury. There are forms from ivhicli I myselfam not exempted. The
safety of the State depends upon them " {Letters of Napoleon to Joseph,

English edition, vol. i. p. 98).
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confidence, and to whom I had been attached from early

boyhood. These considerations constantly triumphed

over the disgust to which I was subjected by a number
of circumstances, and by the increasing vexations occa-

sioned by the conflict between my private sentiments and

the nature of the duties I had to perform. I was thus

kept in a state of perplexity, from which some unforeseen

circumstance alone could extricate me. Such a circum-

stance at length occurred, and the following is the history

of my first rupture with Napoleon :
—

On the 27th of February, 1802, at ten at night, Bona-

parte dictated to me a despatch of considerable importance

and urgency, for M. de Talleyrand, requesting the Minis-

ter for Foreign Affairs to come to theTuileries next morn-

ing at an appointed hour. According to custom, I put

the letter into the hands of the office messenger, that it

might be forwarded to its destination.

This was Saturday. The following day, Sunday, M. de

Talleyrand came as if for an audience about mid-day.

The First Consul immediately began to confer v^ith him
on the subject of the letter sent the previous evening and

was astonished to learn that the Minister had not re-

ceived it until the morning. He immediately rang for

the messenger, and ordered me to be sent for. Being in a

very bad humour, he pulled the bell with so much fury

that he struck his hand violently against the angle of the

chimney-piece. I hurried to his presence. "Why," he

said, addressing me hastily,— " why was not my letter

deliveied yesterday evening
?
"— "I do not know : I put it

at once into the hands of the person whose duty it was to

see that it was sent."— " Go and find the cause of the

delay, and come back quickly." Having rapidly made my
inquiries, I returned to the cabinet. " "Well ? " said the

First Consul, whose irritation seemed to have increased.

" Well, General, it is not the fault of anybody. M. de
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Talleyrand was not to be found, either at the office or at

his own residence, or at the houses of any of his friends

where he was thought likely to be." Not knowing with

whom to be angry, restrained by the coolness of M. de

Talleyrand, yet at the same time ready to burst with rage,

Bonaparte rose from his seat, and, proceeding to the hall,

called the messenger and questioned him sharply. The
man, disconcerted by the anger of the First Consul, hesi-

tated in his replies, and gave confused answers. Bona-

parte returned to his cabinet still more irritated than he

had left it.

I had followed him to the hall, and on my way back to

the cabinet I attempted to soothe him, and I begged him
not to be thus discomposed by a circumstance which,

after all, was of no great moment. I do not know whether

his anger was increased by the sight of the blood which
flowed from his hand, and which he was every moment
looking at; but however that might be, a transport of

furious passion, such as 1 had never before witnessed,

seized him ; and as I was about to enter the cabinet after

liim, he threw back the door with so much violence that,

had I been two or three inches nearer him, it must infal-

libly have struck me in the face. He accompanied this

action, which was almost convulsive, with an appellation

not to be borne ; he exclaimed before M. de Talleyrand,

"Leave me alone; you are a fool." At an insult so

atrocious I confess that the anger which had already mas-

tered the First Consul suddenly seized on me. I thrust

the door forward with as much impetuosity as he had used

in throwing it back, and, scarcely knowing what I said, ex-

claimed, " You are a hundredfold greater fool than I am !

"

I then Imnged the door and went upstairs to my apartment,

which was situated over the cabinet.

I was as far from expecting as from wishing such an

occasion of separating from the First Consul. But what
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was done could not be undone ; and therefore, without

taking time for reflection, and still under the influence of

the anger that had got the better of me, I penned the

following positive resignation :
—

General, — The state of my health no longer permits me to

continue in your service. I therefore beg you to accept my
resignation. Bourrienne.

Some moments after this note was written I saw
Bonaparte's saddle-horses brought up to the entrance of

the palace. It was Sunday morning, and, contrary to his

usual custom on that day, he was going to ride out.

Duroc accompanied him. He was no sooner gone than

I went down into his cabinet, and placed my letter on

his table. On returning at four o'clock with Duroc,

Bonaparte read my letter. "Ah! ah!" said he, before

opening it, " a letter from Bourrienne." And he almost

immediately added, for the note was speedily perused,

" He is in the sulks.— Accepted." I had left the Tuileries

at the moment he returned, but Duroc sent to me where

I was dining the following billet :
—

The First Consul desires me, my dear Bourrienne, to inform

you that he accepts your resignation, and to request that you

will give me the necessary information respecting your papers.

Yours, Duroc.

P. S. I will call on you presently.

Duroc came to me at eight o'clock the same evening.

The First Consul was in his cabinet when we entered it.

I immediately commenced giving my intended successor

the necessary explanations to enable him to enter upon
his new duties. Piqued at finding that I did not speak to

him, and at the coolness with which I instructed Duroc,

Bonaparte said to me in a harsh tone, " Come, I have had
enough of this ! Leave me." I stepped down from the



1802. PATCHING UP THE QUARREL. 169

ladder on which I had mounted for the purpose of point-

ing out to Duroc the places in which the various papers

were deposited, and hastily withdrew. I too had had

quite enough of it

!

I remained two more days at the Tuileries until I had

suited myself with lodgings. On Monday I went down
into the cabinet of the First Consul to take my leave of

him. We conversed together for a long time, and very

amicably. He told me he was very sorry I was going to

leave him, and that he would do all he could for me. I

pointed out several places to him ; at last I mentioned

the Tribunate. " That will not do for you," he said

;

" the members are a set of babblers and phrasemongers,

whom I mean to get rid of. All the troubles of States

proceed from such debatings. I am tired of them." He
continued to talk in a strain which left me in no doubt

as to his uneasiness about the Tribunate, which, in fact,

reckoned among its members many men of great talent

and excellent cliaracter.^

The following day, Tuesday, the First Consul asked me
to breakfast with him. After breakfast, while he was

conversing with some other person, Madame Bonaparte

and Hortense pressed me to make advances towards

obtaining a reinstalment in my office, appealing to me
on the score of the friendship and kindness they had always

shown me. They told me that I had been in the wrong,

and tliat I had forgotten myself. I answered that I

considered the evil beyond remedy ; and that, besides, I

had really need of repose. The First Consul then called

me to him, and conversed a considerable time with me,

renewing his protestations of goodwill towards me.

At five o'clock I was going downstairs to quit the

Tuileries for good when I was met by the office messenger,

1 In 1802 the First Consul made a reduction of fifty members of the

Tribunate, and subsequently the whole body was suppressed.— Bourrienne.
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who told me that the First Consul wished to see me.

Duroc, who was in the room leading to the cabinet,

stopped me as I passed, and said, "He wishes you to

remain. I beg of you not to refuse ; do me this favour.

I have assured him that I am incapable of filling your

office. It does not suit my habits ; and besides, to tell

you the truth, the business is too irksome for me." I

proceeded to the cabinet without replying to Duroc.

The First Consul came up to me smiling, and pulling me
hj the ear, as he did when he was in the best of humours,

said to me, "Are you still in the sulks?" and leading

me to my usual seat he added, " Come, sit down."

Only those who knew Bonaparte can judge of my
situation at that moment. He had at times, and when
he chose, a charm in his manners which it was quite

impossible to resist. I could offer no opposition, and I

resumed my usual office and my accustomed labours.

Five mhiutes afterwards it was announced that dinner

was on table. " You will dine with me ? " he said. " I

cannot ; I am expected at the_ place where I was going

when Duroc called me back. It is an engagement that

I cannot break."— "Well, I have nothing to say, then.

But give me your word that you will be here at eight

o'clock."— "I promise you." Thus I became again the

private secretary of the First Consul, and I believed in

the sincerity of our reconciliation.



CHAPTER XIII.

1802-1803.

It may truly be said that liistory affords no example
of an empire founded like that of France, created in all

its parts under the cloak of a republic. Without any
shock, and in the short space of four years, there arose

above the ruins of the short-lived Kepublic a Govern-

ment more absolute than ever was Louis XIV.'s. This

extraordinary change is to be assigned to many causes

;

and I had the opportunity of observing the influence

which the determined will of one man exercised over his

fellow-men.

The great object which Bonaparte had at heart was to

legitimate his usurpations by institutions. The Concordat
had reconciled him with the Court of Eome ; the numer-
ous erasures from the emigrant list gathered round him a

large body of the old nobility ; and the Legion of Honour,
though at first but badly received, soon became a general

object of ambition. Peace, too, had lent her aid in con-

solidating the First Consul's power by affording him
leisure to engage in measures of internal prosperity.

The Council of State, of which Bonaparte had made me
a member, but which my other occupations did not allow

me to attend, was the soul of the Consular Government.
Bonaparte felt much interest in the discussions of that

body, because it was composed of the most eminent men
in the different branches of administration ; and though
the majority evinced a ready compliance with his wishes,

yet that disposition was often far from being unanimous.
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In the Council of State the projects of the Government

were discussed from the first with freedom and sincerity,

and when once adopted they were transmitted to the

Tribunate, and to tlie Legislative Body. This latter body

might be considered as a supreme Legislative Tribunal,

before which the Tribunes pleaded as the advocates of

tlie people, and the Councillors of State, whose business

it was to support the law projects, as the advocates of

the Government. Tliis will at once explain the cause

of the First Consul's animosity towards the Tribunate,

and will show to what the Constitution was reduced

when that body was dissolved by a sudden and arbitrary

decision.

During the Consulate the Council of State was not only

a body politic collectively, Ijut each individual member
might be invested with special power ; as, for example,

when the First Consul sent Councillors of State on mis-

sions to each of the military divisions where there was a

Court of Appeal, tlie instructions given them by the First

Consul were extensive, and might be said to be unlim-

ited. They were directed to examine all the branches

of the administration, so that their reports collected and

compared together presented a perfect description of the

state of France. But this measure, though excellent in

itself, proved fatal to the State. The reports never con-

veyed the truth to the First Consul, or at least if they did,

it was in such a disguised form as to be scarcely recogni-

sable ; for the Councillors well knew that the best way to

pay their court to Bonaparte was not to describe public

feeling as it really was, but as he wished it to be. Thus
the reports of the Councillors of State only furnished

fresh arguments in favour of his ambition.

I must, however, observe that in the discussions of the

Council of State Bonaparte was not at all averse to the

free expression of opinion. He, indeed, often encouraged
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it ; for although fully resolved to do only what he pleased,

he wished to gain information ; indeed, it is scarcely con-

ceivable how, in the short space of two years, Bonaparte

adapted his mind so completely to civil and legislative

affairs. But he could not endure in the Tribunate the

liberty of opinion which he tolerated in the Council ; and

for this reason,— that the sittings of the Tribunate were

public, while those of the Council of State were secret,

and publicity was what he dreaded above all things. He
was very well pleased when he had to transmit to the

Legislative Body or to the Tribunate any proposed law

of trifling importance, and he used then to say that he

had thrown them a bone to gnaw.

Among the subjects submitted to the consideration of

the Council and the Tribunate was one which gave rise to

a singular discussion, the ground of which was a partic-

ular word, inserted in the third article of the treaty of

Russia with France. This word seemed to convey a

prophetic allusion to the future condition of the French

people, or rather an anticipated designation of what they

afterwards became. The treaty spoke of " the subjects of

the two Governments." This term applied to those who
still considered themselves citizens, and was highly offen-

sive to the Tribunate. Chdnier most loudly remonstrated

against the introduction of this word into the dictionary

of the new Government. He said that the armies of

France had shed their blood that the French people

might be citizens and not subjects. Ch^nier's arguments,

however, had no effect on the decision of the Tribunate,

and only served to irritate the First Consul, The treaty

was adopted almost unanimously, there being only four-

teen dissentient voices, and the proportion of black balls

in the Legislative Body was even less.

Though this discussion passed off almost unnoticed,

yet it greatly displeased the First Consul, who expressed
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his dissatisfaction in the evening. " What is it, " said he,

" these babblers want ? They wish to be citizens — why
did they not know how to continue so ? My government

must treat on an equal footing with Eussia. I should

appear a mere puppet in the eyes of foreign Courts were

I to yield to the stupid demands of the Tribunate. Those

fellows tease me so that I have a great mind to end mat-

ters at once with them." I endeavoured to soothe his

anger, and observed that one precipitate act might injure

him. " You are right, " he continued ;
" but stay a little,

they shall lose nothing by waiting."

The Tribunate pleased Bonaparte better in the great

question of the Consulate for life, because he had taken

the precaution of removing such members as were most

opposed to the encroachments of his ambition. The Tri-

bunate resolved that a marked proof of the national grati-

tude should be offered to the First Consul, and the reso-

lution was transmitted to the Senate. Not a single voice

was raised against this proposition, which emanated from

Chabot de 1'Allier, the President of the Tribunate. AVhen

the First Consul came back to his cabinet after receiving

the deputation of the Tribunate, he was very cheerful, and

said to me, " Bourrienne, it is a blank check that the

Tribunate has just offered me ; I shall know how to fill

it up. That is my business."

The Tribunate having adopted the indefinite proposi-

tion of offering to the First Consul a marked proof of the

national gratitude, it now only remained to determine

what that proof should be. Bonaparte knew well what

he wanted, but he did not like to name it in any positive

way. Though in his fits of impatience, caused by the

lingering proceedings of the Legislative Body and the

indecision of some of its members, he often talked of

mounting on horseback and drawing his sword, yet he so

far controlled himself as to confine violence to his conver-
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sations with his intimate friends. He wished it to he

thought that he himself was yielding to compulsion ; that

he was far from wishing to usurp permanent power con-

trary to the Constitution ; and that if he deprived France

of liherty, it was all for her good, and out of mere love

for her. Such deep-laid duplicity could never have been

conceived and maintained in any common mind ; but

Bonaparte's was not a mind of the ordinary cast. It

must have required extraordinary self-command to have

restrained so long as he did that daring spirit which was

so natural to him, and which was rather the result of his

temperament than his character. For my part, I confess

that I always admired him more for what he had the for-

titude not to do than for the boldest exploits he ever

performed.

In conformity with the usual form, the proposition of

the Tribunate was transmitted to the Senate. From that

time the Senators on whom Bonaparte most relied were fre-

quent in their visits to the Tuileries. In the preparatory

conferences which preceded the regular discussions in the

Senate, it has been ascertained that the majority was not

willing that the marked proof of gratitude should be the

Consulate for life ; it was therefore agreed that the re-

porter should limit his demand to a temporary prolon-

gation of the dignity of First Consul in favour of Bona-

parte. The reporter, M. de Lact^pfede, acted accordingly,

and limited the prolongation to ten years, commencing

from the expiration of the ten years granted by the Con-

stitution. I forget which of the Senators first proposed

the Consulate for life ; but I well recollect that Camba-

cdres used all his endeavours to induce those members of

the Senate whom he thought he could influence to agree

to that proposition. Whether from flattery or conviction

I know not, but the Second Consul held out to his col-

league, or rather his master, the hope of complete success.
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Bonaparte on hearing him shook his head with an air of

douht, but afterwards said to me, " They will perhaps

make some wry faces, but they must come to it at

last
!

"

It was proposed in the Senate that the proposition of

the Consulate for life should take the priority of that

of the decennial prolongation; but this was not agreed

to ; and, the latter proposition being adopted, the other,

of course, could not be discussed.

There was something very curious in the Senatus-con-

sulte published on the occasion. It spoke in the name of

the French people, and stated that, " in testimony of their

gratitude to the Consuls of the Eepu])lic," the Consular

reign was prolonged for ten years ; but that the prolonga-

tion was limited to the First Consul only.

Bonaparte, though much dissatisfied with the decision

of the Senate, disguised his displeasure in ambiguous lan-

guage. When Tronchet, then President of the Senate,

read to him, in a solemn audience, at the head of the

deputation, the Senatns-consulte determining the proroga-

tion, he said in reply that he could not be certain of the

confidence of the people unless his continuance in the

Consulship were sanctioned by their suffrages. " The

interests of my glory and happiness," added he, " would

seem to have marked the close of my public life at tlie

moment when the peace of the world is proclaimed.

But the glory and the happiness of the citizen must yield

to the interests of the State and wishes of the public.

You, Senators, conceive that I owe to the people another

sacrifice. I will make it if the voice of the people com-

mands what your suffrage authorises."

The true meaning of these words was not understood

by everybody, and was only manifest to those who were

initiated in the secret of Bonaparte's designs. He did

not accept the offer of the Senate, because he wished for
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something more. The question was to be renewed and
to be decided by the people only ; and since the people

had the right to refuse what the Senate offered, they

possessed, for the same reason, the right to give what the

Senate did not offer.

The moment now arrived for consulting the Council

of State as to the mode to be adopted for invoking and
collecting the suffrages of the people. For this purpose

an extraordinary meeting of the Council of State was
summoned on the 10th of May. Bonaparte wished to

keep himself aloof from all ostensible influence ; but his

two colleagues laboured for him more zealously than he

could have worked for himself, and they were warmly
supported by several members of the Council. A strong

majority were of opinion that Bonaparte should not only

be invested with the Consulship for life, but that he

should be empowered to nominate his successor. But he,

still faithful to his plan, affected to venerate the sover-

eignty of the people, which he held in horror, and he

promulgated the following decree, which was the first

explanation of his reply to the Senate :
—

" The Consuls of the Republic, considering that the resolution

of the First Consul is an homage rendered to the sovereignty

of the People, and that the People, when consulted on their

dearest interests, will not go beyond the limits of those interests,

decree as follows : First, that the French people shall be con-

sulted on the question whether Napoleon Bonaparte is to be

made Consul for life," etc.

The other articles merely regulated the mode of col-

lecting the votes.

This decree shows the policy of the First Consul in

a new point of view, and displays his art in its fullest

extent. He had just refused the less for the sake of get-

ting the greater ; and now he had contrived to get the

VOL. n. — 12
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offer of the greater to show off his moderation by accept-

ing only the less. The Council of State sanctioned the

proposition for conferring on the First Consul the right

of nominatuig his successor ; and, of his own accord, the

First Consul declined this. Accordingly the Second

Consul, when he, the next day, presented the decree to

the Council of State, did not fail to eulogise this extreme

moderation, which banished even the shadow of suspicion

of any ambitious after-thought. Thus the Senate found

itself out-manoeuvred, and the decree of the Consuls was

transmitted at once to the Legislative Body and to the

Tribunate.

In the Legislative Body, M. de Vaublanc was distin-

guished among all the deputies who applauded the con-

duct of the Government ; and it was he who delivered

the apologetic harangue of the deputation of the Legisla-

tive Body to the First Consul. After having addressed

the Government collectively, he ended by addressing the

First Consul individually, — a sort of compliment which

had not hitherto been put in practice, and which was far

from displeasing him who was its object. As M. de Vau-

blanc's speech had been communicated beforehand to the

First Consul, the latter prepared a reply to it which

sufficiently showed how much it had gratified him. Be-

sides the flattering distinction which separated him from

the Government, the plenitude of praise was not tem-

pered by anything like advice or comment. It was not

so with the address of the Tribunate. After the compli-

ments which the occasion demanded, a series of hopes

were expressed for the future, which formed a curious

contrast with the events which actually ensued. The

Tribunate, said the address, required no guarantee,

because Bonaparte's elevated and generous sentiments

would never permit him to depart from those principles

which brought about the Revolution and founded the



1803. HOPES AND PREDICTIONS THWARTED. 179

Republic ;— he loved real glory too well ever to stain

that which he had acquired by the abuse of power;—
the nation which he was called to govern was free and

generous : he would respect and consolidate her liberty

he would distinguish his real friends, who spoke truth to

him, from Hatterers who might seek to deceive him. In

short, Bonaparte would surround himself with the men
who, having made the Revolution, were interested in

supporting it.

To these and many other fine things the Consul replied :

" This testimony of the affection of the Tribunate is grati-

fying to the Government. The union of all bodies of the

State is a guarantee of the stability and happiness of the

nation. The efforts of the Government will be constantly

directed to the interests of the people, from whom all

power is derived, and whose welfare all good men have

at heart."

So much for the artifice of governments and the cre-

dulity of subjects ! It is certain that, from the moment
Bonaparte gained his point in submitting the question

of the Consulate for life to the decision of the people,

there was no longer a doubt of the result being in his

favour. This was evident, not only on account of the

influential means which a government always has at its

command, and of which its agents extend the ramifica-

tions from the centre to the extremities, but because the

proposition was in accordance with the wishes of the

majority. The Republicans were rather shy in avowing

principles with which people were now disenchanted

;

— the partisans of a monarchy without distinction of

family saw their hopes almost realised in the Consulate

for life ;— the recollection of the Bourbons still lived

in some hearts faithful to misfortune : but the great mass

were for the First Consul, and his external acts in the

new step he had taken towards the throne had been
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SO cautiously disguised as to induce a belief in his sin-

cerity. If I and a few others were witness to his

accomplished artifice and secret ambition, France beheld

only his glory, and gratefully enjoyed the blessings of

peace which he had obtained for her. The suffrages

of the people speedily realised the hopes of the First

Consul, and thus was founded the Consulate foe life.



CHAPTER XIV.

1802-1803.

When nothing was wanting to secure the Consulate

for life but the votes of the people, which there was no

doubt of obtaining, the First Consul set off to spend a

few days at Malmaison.

On the day of our arrival, as soon as dinner was ended,

Bonaparte said to me, " Bourrienne, let us go and take a

walk." It was the middle of May, so that the even-

ings were long. We went into the park : he was very

grave, and we walked for several minutes without his

uttering a syllable. Wishing to break silence in a way
that would be agreeable to him, I alluded to the facility

with which he had nullified the last Senatus-consulte.

He scarcely seemed to hear me, so completely was his

mind absorbed in the subject on which he was medi-

tating. At length, suddenly recovering from his ab-

straction, he said, "Bourrienne, do you think that the

pretender to the crown of France would renounce his

claims if I were to offer him a good indemnity, or even a

province in Italy ? " Surprised at this abrupt question

on a subject which I was far from thinking of, I replied

that I did not think the pretender would relinquish his

claims ; that it was very unlikely the Bourbons would
return to France as long as he, Bonaparte, should con-

tinue at the head of the Government, though they

would look forward to their ultimate return as prob-

able. " How so ? " inquired he. " For a very simple

reason. General. Do you not see every day that your



182 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1802-

agents conceal the truth from you, and flatter you in

your wishes, for the purpose of ingratiating themselves

in your favour ? Are you not angry when at length the

truth reaches your ear ?"— "And what then ?
"— " Why,

General, it must be just the same with the agents of

Louis XVIII. in France. It is in the course of things, in

the nature of man, that they should feed the Bourbons

with hopes of a possible return, were it only to induce a

belief in their own talent and utility." — " That is very

true ! You are quite right ; biit I am not afraid. How-
ever, something might perhaps be done — we shall see."

Here the subject dropped, and our conversation turned

on the Consulate for life, and Bonaparte spoke in unusu-

ally mild terms of the persons who had opposed the

proposition. I was a little surprised at this, and could

not help reminding him of the different way in which he

had spoken of those who opposed his accession to the

Consulate. " There is nothing extraordinary in that,"

said he. " Worthy men may be attached to the Eepublic

as I have made it. It is a mere question of form. I have

nothing to say against that ; but at the time of my acces-

sion to the Consulate it was very different. Then, none

but Jacobins, terrorists, and rogues resisted my endeav-

ours to rescue France from the infamy into which the

Directory had plunged her. But now I cherish no ill-will

against those who have opposed me."

During the intervals between the acts of the different

bodies of the State, and the collection of the votes,

Lucien renew^ed his intrigues, or rather prosecuted them

with renewed activity, for the purpose of getting the

question of hereditary succession included in the votes.

Many prefects transmitted to M. Chaptal anonymous
circulars which had been sent to them: all stated the

ill effect produced by these circulars, wliich had been

addressed to the principal individuals of their depart-
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ments. Lucien was the originator of all this, though I

cannot positively say whether his brother connived with

him, as in the case of the pamphlet to which I have

already alluded. I believe, however, that Bonaparte was
not entirely a stranger to the business ; for the circulars

were written by Eoederer at the instigation of Lucien,

and Eoederer was at that time in favour at the Tuile-

ries. I recollect Bonaparte speaking to me one day very

angrily about a pamphlet which had just been published

by Camille Jordan on the suljject of the national vote on

the Consulate for life. Camille Jordan did not withhold

his vote, but gave it in favour of the First Consul ; and
instead of requiring preliminary conditions, he contented

himself, like the Tribunate, with enumerating all the

guarantees which he expected the honour of the First

Consul would grant. Among these guarantees were the

cessation of arbitrary imprisonments, the responsibility

of the agents of Government, and the independence of

the judges. But all these demands were mere pecca-

dilloes in comparison with Camille Jordan's great crime

of demanding the liberty of the press.

Tlie First Consul had looked through the fatal pam-
phlet, and lavished invectives upon its author. " How !

"

exclaimed he, " am I never to have done with these fire-

brands,— these babblers, who think that politics may
be shown on a printed page like the world on a map ?

Truly, I know not what things will come to if I let this

go on. Camille Jordan, whom I received so well at

Lyons, to think that he should ask for the liberty of the

press ! Were I to accede to this, I might as well pack
up at once and go and live on a farm a hundred leagues

from Paris." Bonaparte's first act in favour of the liberty

of the press was to order the seizure of the pamphlet in

which Camille Jordan had extolled the advantages of

that measure. Publicity, either by words or writing,
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was Bonaparte's horror. Hence his aversion to pubhc
speakers and writers.

Camille Jordan was not the only person who made
unavailing efforts to arrest Bonaparte in the first steps

of his ambition. There were yet in France many men
who, though they had hailed with enthusiasm the dawn
of the French Eevolution, had subsequently been dis-

gusted by its crimes, and who still dreamed of the possi-

bility of founding a truly Constitutional Government in

France. Even in the Senate there were some men indig-

nant at the usual compliance of that body, and who
spoke of the necessity of subjecting tlie Constitution to a

revisal, in order to render it conformable to the Consulate

for life.

The project of revising the Constitution was by no

means unsatisfactory to Bonaparte. It afforded him an

opportunity of holding out fresh glimmerings of liberty

to those who were too short-sighted to see into the

future. He was pretty certain that there could be no

change but to his advantage. Had any one talked to

him of the wishes of the nation, he would have replied,

" 3,577,259 citizens have voted. Of these how many
were for me ? 3,368,185. Compare the difference ! There

is but one vote in forty-five against me. * I must obey the

will of the people ! " To this he would not have failed

to add, " Whose are the votes opposed to me ? Those of

ideologists, Jacobins, and peculators under the Directory."

To such arguments what could have been answered ?

It must not be supposed that I am putting these words

into Bonaparte's mouth. They fell from him oftener than

once.^

1 A propos of plebiscites, the following coincidence may be perhaps

somewhat irrelevantly noted here. The votes given for the election of

Napoleon '.s nephew in 1848 as President of the French Republic were

7,119,791, and those against were 1,119,000. If the figures are written
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As soon as the state of the votes was ascertained, the

Senate conceived itself under the necessity of repairing

the only fault it had committed in the eyes of the First

Consul, and solemnly presented him with a new Senatus-

consulte, and a decree couched in the following terms :

Article I. Tlie French people iiominute and the Senate pro-

claim Xapoleon Bonaparte Consul for life.

Article II. A statue representing Peace, holding in one

hand the laurel of victory, and in the other the decree of the

Senate, shall commemorate to posterity the gratitude of the

Nation.

Article III. The Senate will convey to the First Consul the

expression of the confidence, the love, and the admiration of the

French people.

Bonaparte replied to the deputation from the Senate, in

the presence of the Diplomatic Body, whose audience had

been appointed for that day in order that the ambassa-

dors might be enabled to make known to their respective

Courts that Europe reckoned one King more. In his re-

ply he did not fail to introduce the high-sounding words
" liberty and equality." He commenced thus :

" A citi-

zen's life belongs to his country. The French people

wish that mine should be entirely devoted to their ser-

vice. I obey."

On the day this ceremony took place, besides the audi-

ence of the Diplomatic Body there was an extraordinary

assemblage of general officers and public functionaries.

The principal apartments of the Tuileries presented the

appearance of a. fete. This gaiety formed a striking con-

trast with the melancholy of Josephine, who felt that

every step of the First Consul towards the throne re-

moved him farther from her.

upon a piece of paper 7119791/1119, and it is held backwards to the light,

the word " Empereur " will appear. [The figures themselves have not

been, however, verified by the annotator.]
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Slie had to receive a party that evening, and though

greatly depressed in spirits she did the honours with her

usual grace.

Let a Government be what it may, it can never satisfy

every one. At the establishment of the Consulate for

hfe, those who were averse to that change formed but

a feeble minority. But still they met, debated, corre-

sponded, and dreamed of the possibility of overthrow-

ing the Consular Government.

During the first six months of the year 1802 there

were meetings of the discontented, which Fouche, who was
then Minister of the Police, knew and would not con-

descend to notice ; but, on the contrary, all the inferior

agents of the police contended for a prey which was
easily seized, and, with the view of magnifying their

services, represented these secret meetings as the effect of

a vast plot against the Government. Bonaparte, when-
ever he spoke to me on the subject, expressed himself

weary of the efforts which were made to give importance

to trifles ; and yet he received the reports of the police

agents as if he thought them of consequence. This was

because he thought Fouch^ badly informed, and he was
glad to find him at fault ; but when he sent for the Min-

ister of Police, the latter told him that all the reports he

had received were not worth a moment's attention. He
told the First Consul all, and even a great deal more than

had been revealed to him, mentioning at the same time how
and from whom Bonaparte had received his information.

But these petty police details did not divert the First

Consul's attention from the great object he had in view.

Since March, 1802, he had attended the sittings of the

Council of State with remarkable regularity. Even while

we were at the Luxembourg he busied himself in draw-

ing up a new code of laws to supersede the incomplete

collection of revolutionary laws, and to substitute order
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for tlie sort of anarchy which prevailed in the legislation.

The men who were most distinguished for legal knowl-

edge had co-operated in this laborious task, the result of

which was the code first distinguished by the name of the

Civil Code, and afterwards called the Code Napoleon. The
labours of this important undertaking being completed, a

committee was appointed for the presentation of the code.

This committee, of which Cambacerfes was the president,

was composed of MM. Portalis, Merlin de Douai, and
Tronchet. During all the time the discussions were
pending, instead of assembling as usual three times a

week, the Council of State assembled every day, and the

sittings, which on ordinary occasions only lasted two or

three hours, were often prolonged to five or six. The
First Consul took such interest in these discussions that,

to have an opportunity of conversing upon them in the

evening, he frequently invited several members of the

Council to dine with him. It was during these conver-

sations that I most admired the inconceivable versatility

of Bonaparte's genius, or rather that superior instinct

which enabled him to comprehend at a glance, and in

their proper point of view, legislative questions to which
he might have been supposed a stranger. Possess-

ing as he did, in a supreme degree, the knowledge of

mankind, ideas important to the science of government
flashed upon his mind like sudden inspirations.

Some time after his nomination to the Consulate for

life, anxious to perform a sovereign act, he went for the

first time to preside at the Senate. Availing myself

that day of a few leisure moments I went out to see the

Consular procession. It was truly royal. The First Con-

sul had given orders that the military should be ranged in

the streets through which he had to pass. On his first

arrival at the Tuileries, Napoleon had the soldiers of the

Guard ranged in a single line in the interior of the court,
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but lie now ordered tliat the line should be doubled, and

should extend from the gate of the Tuileries to that of

the Luxembourg. Assuming a privilege which old eti-

quette had confined exclusively to the Kings of France,

Bonaparte now for the first time rode in a carriage drawn

by eight horses. A considerable number of carriages fol-

lowed that of the First Consul, which was surrounded by

generals and aides-de-camp on horseback. Louis XIV.
going to hold a bed of justice at the Parlement of Paris

never displayed greater pomp than did Bonaparte in this

visit to the Senate. He appeared in all the parade of

royalty, and ten Senators came to meet him at the foot of

the staircase of the Luxembourg.

The object of the First Consul's visit to the Senate was

the presentation of five plans of Senatus-consultes. The

other two Consuls were present at the ceremony, which

took place about the middle of August.

Bonaparte returned in the same style in which he

went, accompanied by M. Lebrun, Cambacdr^s remaining

at the Senate, of which he was President. The five Se-

natus-consultes were adopted, but a restriction was made in

that which concerned the forms of the Senate. It was

proposed that when the Consuls visited the Senate they

should be received by a deputation of ten members at the

foot of the staircase, as the First Consul had that day

been received ; but Bonaparte's brothers Joseph and Lu-

cien opposed this, and prevented the proposition from be-

ing adopted, observing that the Second and Third Con-

suls being members of the Senate could not be received

with such honours by their colleagues. This little scene

of political courtesy, which was got up beforehand, was

very well acted.

Bonaparte's visit to the Senate gave rise to a change of

rank in the hierarchy of the different authorities compos-

ins the Government. Hitherto the Council of State had
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ranked higher in public opinion ; but the Senate, on the

occasion of its late deputation to the Tuileries, had for the

first time received the honour of precedency. This had
greatly displeased some of the Councillors of State, but

Bonaparte did not care for that. He instinctively saw

that the Senate would do what he wished more readily

than the other constituted bodies, and he determined to

augment its rights and prerogatives even at the expense of

the rights of the Legislative Body. These encroachments

of one power upon another, authorised by the First

Consul, gave rise to reports of changes in ministerial

arrangements. It was rumoured in Paris that the num-
ber of the Ministers was to be reduced to three, and that

Lucien, Joseph, and M. de Talleyrand were to divide

among them the different portfolios. Lucien helped to

circulate these reports, and this increased the First Con-

sul's dissatisfaction at his conduct. The letters from

Madrid, which were filled with complaints against him,

together with some scandalous adventures, known in Paris,

such as his running away with the wife of a limonadier,

exceedingly annoyed Bonaparte, who found his own fam-

ily more difficult to govern than France.

France, indeed, yielded with admirable facility to the

yoke which the First Consul wished to impose on her.

How artfully did he undo all that the Revolution had

done, never neglecting any means of attaining his object!

He loved to compare the opinions of those whom he called

the Jacobins with the opinions of the men of 1789; and

even them he found too liberal. He felt the ridicule

which was attached to the mute character of the Legis-

lative Body, which he called his deaf and dumb assem-

bly. But as that ridicule was favourable to him, he took

care to preserve the assembly as it was, and to turn it

into ridicule whenever he spoke of it. In general, Bona-

parte's judgment must not be confounded with his actions.
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His accurate mind enabled him to appreciate all that

was good ; but the necessity of his situation enabled

him to judge with equal shrewdness what was useful

to himself.

What I have just said of the Senate affords me an oppor-

tunity of correcting an error which has frequently been

circulated in the chit-chat of Paris. It has erroneously

been said of some persons that they refused to become
members of the Senate, and among the number have been

mentioned M. Ducis, M. de La Fayette, and the Mardchal

de Rochanibeau. The truth is, that no such refusals were

ever made. The following fact, however, may have con-

tributed to raise these reports and give them credibility.

Bonaparte used frequently to say to persons in his salon

and in his cabinet, " You should be a Senator,— a man
like you should be a Senator." But these complimentary

words did not amount to a nomination. To enter the

Senate certain legal forms were to be observed. It was
necessary to be presented by the Senate, and after that

presentation no one ever refused to become a member of

the body, to which Bonaparte gave additional importance

by the creation of " Senatoreries." ^ This creation took

place in the beginning of 1803.

1 Districts presided over by a Senator.



CHAPTER XV.

1802.

Peehaps one of the happiest ideas that ever were ex-

pressed was that of the Athenian who said, " I appeal

from Philip drunk to Philij) sober." The drunkenness

here alluded to is not of that kind which degrades a man
to the level of a brute, but that intoxication which is

occasioned by success, and which produces in the heads

of the ambitious a sort of cerebral congestion. Ordinary-

men are not subject to this excitement, and can scarcely

form an idea of it. But it is nevertheless true that the

fumes of glory and ambition occasionally derange the

strongest heads ; and Bonaparte, in all the vigour of his

genius, was often subject to aberrations of judgment ; for

though his imagination never failed him, his judgment
was frequently at fault.

This fact may serve to explain, and perhaps even to

excuse the faults with which the First Consul has been

most seriously reproached. The activity of his mind sel-

dom admitted of an interval between the conception and
the execution of a design ; but when he reflected coolly

on the first impulses of his imperious will, his judgment
discarded what was erroneous. Thus the blind obedience

which, like an epidemic disease, infected almost all who
surrounded Bonaparte, was productive of the most fatal

effects. The best way to serve the First Consul was

never to listen to the suggestions of his first ideas, ex-
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cept on the field of battle, where his conceptions were

as happy as they were rapid.^ Thus, for example, MM,
Maret, de Champagny, and Savary evinced a ready

obedience to Bonaparte's wishes, which often proved very

unfortunate, though doubtless dictated by the best inten-

tions on their part. To this fatal zeal may be attributed

a great portion of the mischief which Bonaparte com-

mitted. When the mischief was done, and past remedy,

Bonaparte deeply regretted it. How often have I heard him
say that Maret was animated by an unlucky zeal! This

was the expression he made use of,

M. de Talleyrand was almost the only one among the

Ministers who did not flatter Bonaparte, and who really

served both the First Consul and the Emperor. When
Bonaparte said to M. de Talleyrand, " Write so and so. and

send it off by a special courier," that Minister was never

in a hurry to obey the order, because he knew the charac-

ter of the First Consul well enough to distinguish between

what his passion dictated and what his reason would ap-

prove: in short, he appealed from Philip drunk to Philip

sober. When it happened that M. de Talleyrand sus-

pended the execution of an order, Bonaparte never evinced

the least displeasure. When, the day after he had re-

ceived any hasty and angry order, M. de Talleyrand pre-

sented himself to the First Consul, the latter would say,

" Well, did you send off the courier ?
"— No," the Min-

ister would reply, "I took care not to do so before I

showed you my letter." Then the First Consul would

usually add, " Upon second thoughts I think it would be

best not to send it." This was the way to deal with Bo-

naparte. When M. de Talleyrand postponed sending off

despatches, or when I myself have delayed the execution

' I have already mentioned how he frequently destroyed in tlie morn-

ing articles which he had dictated to me for the " Moniteur " over

nifrht. — Bourrienne.
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of an order which I knew had been dictated by anger,

and had emanated neither from his heart nor his under-

standing, I have heard him say a hundred times, " It was
right, quite right. You understand me : Talleyrand

understands me also. This is the way to serve me : the

others do not leave me time for reflection ; they are too

preci])itate." Fouch^ also was one of those who did not

on all occasions blindly obey Bonaparte's commands.

His other ministers, on the other hand, when told to send

off a courier the next morning, would have more probably

sent him off the same evening. This was from zeal ; but

was not the First Consul right in saying that such zeal

was unfortunate ?

Of Talleyrand and Fouchd, in their connections with

the First Consul, it might be said that the one represented

the Constituent Assembly with a slight perfume of the

old regime, and the other the Convention in all its bru-

tality. Bonaparte regarded Fouchd as a complete per-

sonification of the Revolution. With him, therefore,

Fouche's influence was merely the influence of the Eevo-

lution. That great event was one of those which had
made the most forcible impression on Bonaparte's ardent

mind, and he imagined he still beheld it in a visible form

as long as Fouche continued at the head of his police. I

am now of opinion that Bonaparte was in some degree

misled as to the value of Fouche's services as a minister.

No doubt the circumstance of Fouch^ being in office con-

ciliated those of the Revolutionary party who were his

friends. But Fouch^ cherished an undue partiality for

them, because he knew that it was through them he held

his place. He was like one of the old Condottieri, who
were made friends of lest they should become enemies,

and who owed all their power to the soldiers enrolled

under their banners. Such was Fouche, and Bonaparte

perfectly understood his situation. He kept the chief in

VOL. II. — 13
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his service until he could find an opportunity of disband-

ing his undisciplined followers. But there was one cir-

cumstance which confirmed his reliance on Fouche. He
who had voted the death of the King of France, and had

influenced the minds of those who had voted with him,

offered Bonaparte the best guarantee against the attempts

of the Koyalists for raising up in favour of the Bourbons

the throne which the First Consul himself had determined

to ascend. Thus, for different reasons, Bonaparte and
Fouche had common interests against the House of Bour-

bon, and the master's ambition derived encouragement

from the supposed terror of the servant.

The First Consul was aware of the existence in Paris of

a Eoyalist committee, formed for the purpose of corre-

sponding with Louis XVIII. This committee consisted

of men who must not be confounded with those wretched

intriguers who were of no service to tlieir employers, and

were not unfrequently in the pay of both Bonaparte and

the Bourbons. The Eoyalist committee, properly so called,

was a very different thing. It consisted of men profess-

ing rational principles of liberty, such as the Marquis de

Clermont Gallerande, the Abbd de Montesquiou, M. Bec-

quet, and ]M. Royer Collard. This committee had been

of long standing ; the respectable individuals whose names
I have just quoted acted upon a system hostile to the

despotism of Bonaparte, and favourable to what they

conceived to be the interests of France. Knowing the su-

perior wisdom of Louis XVIIL, and the opinions which he

had avowed and maintained in the Assembly of the Nota-

bles, they wished to separate that Prince from the emi-

grants, and to point him out to the nation as a suitable

head of a reasonable Constitutional Government. Bona-

parte, whom I have often heard speak on the subject,

dreaded nothing so much as these ideas of liberty in

conjunction wdth a monarchy. He regarded them as
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reveries, called the members of the committee idle dream-

ers, but nevertheless feared the triumph of their ideas.

He confessed to me that it was to counteract the possible

influence of the Royalist committee that he showed him-

self so indulgent to those of the emigrants whose monar-

chical prejudices he knew were incompatible with liberal

opinions. By the presence of emigrants who acknowl-

edged nothing short of absolute power, he thought he

might paralyse the influence of the Eoyalists of the

interior; he therefore granted all such emigrants per-

mission to return.

About this time I recollect having read a document,

which had been signed, purporting to be a declaration of

the principles of Louis XVIII. It was signed by M.
d'Andre, who bore evidence to its authenticity. The
principles contained in the declaration were in almost

all points conformable to the principles which formed the

basis of the charter. Even so early as 1792, and conse-

quently previous to the fatal 21st of January, Louis XVI.,

who knew the opinions of M. de Clermont Gallerande,

sent him on a mission to Coblentz to inform the Princes

from him, and the Queen, that they would be ruined by
their emigration. I am accurately informed, and I state

this fact with the utmost confidence. I can also add

with equal certainty that the circumstance was mentioned

by M. de Clermont Gallerande in his Memoirs, and that

the passage relative to his mission to Coblentz was can-

celled before the manuscript was sent to press.

During the Consular Government the object of the

Royalist committee was to seduce rather than to conspire.

It was round Madame Bonaparte in particular tliat their

batteries were raised, and they did not prove ineffectual.

The female friends of Josephine filled her mind with ideas

of the splendour and distinction she would enjoy if the

powerful hand which had chained the Revolution should
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raise up the subverted throne. I must confess that I was
myself, unconsciously, an accomplice of the friends of the

throne ; for what they wished for the interest of the Bour-

bons I then ardently wished for the interest of Bonaparte.

While endeavours were thus made to gain over Madame
Bonaparte to the interest of the royal family, brilliant

offers were held out for the purpose of dazzling the First

Consul. It was wished to retemper for him the sword of

the constable Duguesclin ; and it was hoped that a statue

erected to his honour would at once attest to posterity

his spotless glory and the gratitude of the Bourbons. But
when these offers reached the ears of Bonaparte, he treated

them with indifference, and placed no faith in their sin-

cerity. Conversing on the subject one day with M. de La
Fayette, he said, " They offer me a statue, but I must look

to the pedestal. They may make it my prison. " I did not

hear Bonaparte utter these words ; but they were reported

to me from a source the authenticity of which may be

relied on.

About this time, when so much was said in the Eoyal-

ist circles and in the Faubourg St. Germain, of which the

Hotel de Luynes was the lieadquarters, about the possible

return of the Bourbons, the publication of a popular book

contributed not a little to direct the attention of the pu1>

lic to the most brilliant period of the reign of Louis XIV.
The book was the historical romance of " Madame de la

Valliere," by Madame de Genlis, who had recently re-

turned to France. Bonaparte read it, and I have since

understood that he was very well pleased with it, but he

said nothing to me about it. It was not until some time

after that he complained of the effect which was produced

in Paris by this publication, and especially by engravings

representing scenes in the life of Louis XIV., and which

were exhibited in the shop-windows. Tlie police received

orders to suppress these prints ; and the order was im-
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plicitly obeyed ; but it was not Fouchd's police. Fouchd
saw the absurdity of interfering with trifles. I recollect

that immediately after the creation of the Legion of Hon-
our, it being summer, the young men of Paris indulged in

the whim of wearing a carnation in a button-hole, which

at a distance had rather a deceptive effect. Bonaparte

took this very seriously. He sent for Fouchd, and desired

him to arrest those who presumed thus to turn the new
order into ridicule. Fouche merely replied that he would
wait till the autumn ; and the First Consul understood

that tritles were often rendered matters of importance

by being honoured with too much attention.

But though Bonaparte was piqued at the interest ex-

cited by the engravings of Madame de Genlis' romance,

he manifested no displeasure against that celebrated

woman, who had been recommended to him by MM. de

Fontanes and Fievde, and who addressed several letters to

him. As this sort of correspondence did not come- within

the routine of my business, I did not see the letters ; but

I heard from Madame Bonaparte that they contained a

prodigious number of proper names, and I have reason

to believe that they contributed not a little to magnify,

in the eyes of the First Consul, the importance of the

Faubourg St. Germain, which, in spite of all his courage,

was a scarecrow to him.

Bonaparte regarded the Faubourg St. Germain as repre-

senting the whole mass of Royalist opinion ; and he saw
clearly that the numerous erasures from the emigrant

list had necessarily increased dissatisfaction among the

Royalists, since the property of the emigrants had not

been restored to its old possessors, even in those cases in

which it had not been sold. It was the fashion in a cer-

tain class to ridicule the unpolished manners of the great

men of the Republic compared with the manners of the

nobility of the old Court The wives of certain gen-
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erals had several times committed themselves by their

awkwardness. In many circles there was an affectation

of treating with contempt what are called the parvenus

;

those people who, to use M. de Talleyrand's expression,

do not know how to walk upon a carpet. All this gave

rise to complaints against the Faubourg St. Germain

;

while, on the other hand, Bonaparte's brothers spared no

endeavours to irritate him against everything that was

calculated to revive the recollection of the Bourbons.

Such were Bonaparte's feelings, and such was the state

of society during the year 1802. The fear of the Bour-

bons must indeed have had a powerful influence on the

First Consul before lie could have been induced to take

a step which may justly be regarded as the most incon-

siderate of his whole life. After suffering seven months

to elapse without answering the first letter of Louis

XVIIL, after at length answering his second letter in

the tone of a King addressing a subject, he went so far

as to write to Louis, proposing that he should renounce

the throne of his ancestors in his, Bonaparte's, favour,

and offering him as a reward for this renunciation a prin-

cipality in Italy, or a considerable revenue for himself

and his family.^

1 Napoleon seems to have always known, as with Cromwell and the

Stuarts, that if his dynasty failed the Bourbons must succeed him. " I

remember," says Metternich, " Napoleon said to me, ' Do you know why
Louis XVIII. is not now sitting opposite to you 1 It is only because it is

I who am sitting here. No other person could maintain his position ; and

if ever I disappear in consequence of a catastrophe, no one but a Bourbon

could sit here'" (Metternich, tome i. p. 243). Further, he said to Metter-

nich, " The King overthrown, the Republic was master of the soil of

France. It is that which I have replaced. The old throne of France is

buried under its rubbish. I had to found a new one. The Bourbons

could not reign over this creation. My strength lies in my fortune. I

am new, like the Empire ; there is, therefore, a perfect homogeneity

between the Empire and myself." " However," says Metternich, " I have

often thought that Napoleon, by talking in this way, merely sought to

study the opinion of others, or to confuse it, and the direct advance which
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The reader will recollect the curious question which

the First Consul put to me on the subject of the Bour-

bons when we were walking in the park at Malmaison.

To the reply which I made to him on that occasion I

attribute the secrecy he observed towards me respecting

the letter just alluded to. I am indeed inclined to regard

that letter as the result of one of his private, conferences

he made to Louis XVIII. in 1804 seemed to confirm this suspicion.

Speaking to me one day of this advance, he said, ' Monsieur's reply was
grand ; it was full of fine traditions. There is something in legitimate

rights which appeals to more than the mere mind. If Monsieur had con-

sulted his mind only, he would have arranged with me, and I should have
made for him a magnificent future'" (Metternich, tome i. p. 276). Ac-
cording to lung's " Lucien" (tome ii. p. 421), the letter written and signed

by Napoleon, but never sent, another draft being substituted, is still in the

French archives. Metternich speaks of Napoleon making a direct advance

to Louis XVIII. in 1804. According to Colonel lung {Lucien Bonaparte,

tome ii. pp. 420-426) the attempt was made through the King of Prussia

in 1802, the final answer of Louis being made on the 28th February, 1803,

as given in the text, but with a postscript of his nephew in addition,—
" With the permission of the King, my uncle, I adhere with heart and

soul to the contents of this note.

"(Signed) Louis Antoine, Due d'Angouleme."

The reader will remark that there is no great interval between this

letter and the final break with the Bourbons by the death of the Due
d'Enghien. At this time, according to Savary (tome iii. p. 241), some of

the Bourbons were receiving French pensions. The Prince de Conti, the

Duchesse de Bourbon, and the Duchesse d'Orleans, when sent out of

France by the Directory, were given pensions of from 20,000 to 2.5,000

francs each. They lived in Catalonia. When the French troops entered

Spain in 1808, General Canclaux, a friend of tlie Prince de Conti, brought

to the notice of Napoleon that the tiresome formalities insisted on by the

pestilent clerks of all nations were observed towards these royal person-

ages. Gaudin, the Minister of Finance, apparently on his own initiative,

drew up a decree increasing the pensions to 60,000 francs, and doing away
with the formalities. " The Emperor signed at once, thanking the Min-

ister of Finance." The reader, remembering the position of the French

Princes then, should compare this action of Napoleon with the failure of

tlie Bourbons in 1814 to pay the sums promised to Napoleon, notwithstand-

ing the strong remonstrances made at Vienna to Talleyrand by Alexander

and Lord Castlereagh. See Talleyrand's " Correspondence with Louis

XVIII.," tome ii. pp. 27, 28; or French edition, pp. 285, 288.
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with Lucien ; but I know nothing positive on the sub-

ject, and merely mention this as a conjecture. However,

I had an opportunity of ascertaining the curious circum-

stances which took place at Mittau, when Bonaparte's

letter was delivered to Louis XVIIL
That Prince was already much irritated against Bona-

parte by his delay in answering his first letter, and also

by the tenor of his tardy reply ; but on reading the First

Consul's second letter the dethroned King immediately

sat down and traced a few lines forcibly expressing his

indignation at such a proposition. The note, hastily writ-

ten by Louis XVIIL in the first impulse of irritation,

bore little resemblance to the dignified and elegant letter

which Bonaparte received, and which I shall presently

lay before the reader. This latter epistle closed very

happily with the beautiful device of Francis I., "All is

lost but honour." But the first letter was stamped with

a more chivalrous tone of indignation. The indignant

sovereign wrote it with his hand supported on the hilt of

his sword ; but the Abbd Andrd, in whom Louis XVIIL
reposed great confidence, saw the note, and succeeded,

not without some difficulty, in soothing the anger of the

King, and prevailing on him to write the following

letter :
—

I do not confound M. Bonaparte with those Avho have pre-

ceded him. I esteem his courage and his military talents. I

am grateful for some acts of his governmeut ; for the benefits

which are conferred on my people will always be prized by

me.

But he errs in supposing that he can induce me to renounce

my rights ; so far from that, he would confirm them, if they

could possibly be doubtful, by the step he has now taken.

I am ignorant of the designs of Heaven respecting me and

my subjects ; but I know the obligations which God has im-

posed upon me. As a Christian, I will fulfil my duties to my
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last breath— as the son of St. Louis, I would, like him, respect

myself even in chains— as the successor of Francis I., I say

with him, Tout est perdu fors Uhouneur. Louis.

MiTTAU, 1802.

Louis XVIII.'s letter having reached Paris, the Royalist

committee assembled, and were not a little embarrassed

as to what should be done. The meeting took place at

Neuilly. After a long deliberation it was suggested that

the delivery of the letter should be intrusted to the

Third Consul, with whom the Abb^ de Montesquiou had

kept up acquaintance since the time of the Constituent

Assembly. This suggestion was adopted. The recollec-

tions of the commencement of his career, under Chan-

cellor Maupeou, had always caused M. Lebrun to be

ranked in a distinct class by the Eoyalists. For my part,

I always looked upon him as a very honest man, a warm
advocate of equality, and anxious that it should be pro-

tected even by despotism, which suited the views of the

First Consul very well. The Abbd de Montesquiou ac-

cordingly waited upon M. Lebrun, who undertook to

deliver the letter. Bonaparte received it with an air

of indifference ; but whether that indifference were real

or affected, I am to this day unable to determine. He
said very little to me about the ill success of. the nego-

tiation with Louis XVIII. On this subject he dreaded,

above all, the interference of his brothers, who created

around him a sort of commotion whicli he knew was not

without its influence, and whicli on several occasions had
excited his anger.

The letter of Louis XVII I. is certainly conceived in

a tone of dignity which cannot be too highly admired;

and it may be said that Bonaparte on this occasion ren-

dered a real service to Louis by affording him the o]3por-

tunity of presenting to the world one of the finest pages
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in the history of a dethroned King. This letter, the

contents of which were known in some circles of Paris,

was the object of general approbation to those who
preserved the recollection of the Bourbons, and, above

all, to the Koyalist committee. The members of that

committee, proud of the noble spirit evinced by the un-

fortunate monarch, whose return they were generously

labouring to effect, replied to him by a sort of manifesto,

to which time has imparted interest, since subsequent

events have fulfilled the predictions it contained.



CHAPTER XVI.

1802.

I SHALL now return to the circumstances which fol-

lowed my first disgrace, of which I have already spoken.

The day after that on which I had resumed my functions

I went as usual to awaken the First Consul at seven

in the morning. He treated me just the same as if noth-

ing had happened between us ; and on my part I behaved

to him just as usual, though I really regretted being

obliged to resume labours which I found too oppressive

for me. When Bonaparte came down into his cabinet, he

spoke to me of his plans with his usual confidence, and
I saw, from the number of letters lying in the basket,

that during the few days my functions had been sus-

pended Bonaparte had not overcome his disinclination to

peruse this kind of correspondence. At the period of this

first rupture and reconciliation the question of the Con-

sulate for life was yet unsettled. It was not decided

until the 2d of August, and the circumstances to which
I am about to refer happened at the end of February.

I was now restored to my former footing of intimacy

with the First Consul, at least for a time ; but I soon

perceived that, after the scene which M. de Talleyrand

had witnessed, my duties in the Tuileries were merely

provisional, and might be shortened or prolonged accord-

ing to circumstances. I saw at the very first moment
that Bonaparte had sacrificed his wounded pride to the

necessity (for such I may, without any vanity, call it) of

employing my services. The forced preference he granted
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to me arose from the fact of his being unable to find any

one able to supply my place ; for Duroc, as I have already

said, showed a disinclination to the business. I did not

remain long in the dark respecting the new situation in

which I stood. I was evidently still under quaran-

tine ; but the period of my quitting the port was

undetermined.

A short time after our reconciliation the First Consul

said to me, in a cajoling tone of which I was not the

dupe, " My dear Bourrienne, you cannot do everything.

Business increases, and will continue to increase. You
know what Corvisart says. You have a family ; therefore

it is right you should take care of your health. You
must not kill yourself with work ; therefore some one

must be got to assist you. Joseph tells me that he can

recommend a secretary, one of whom he speaks very

highly. He shall be under your direction ; he can make
out your copies, and do all that can consistently be re-

quired of him. Tliis, I think, will be a great relief to

you."— "I ask for nothing better," replied I, " than

to have the assistance of some one who, after becoming

acquainted with the business, may, some time or other,

succeed me." Joseph sent M. de M^neval, a young man
who, to a good education, added the recommendations

of industry and prudence. I had every reason to be

satisfied with him.

It was now that Napoleon employed all those devices

and caresses which always succeeded so well with him,

and which yet again gained the day, to put an end to the

inconvenience caused to him by my retirement, and to

retain me. Here I call every one who knew me as wit-

nesses that nothing could equal my grief and despair to

find myself obliged to again begin my troublesome work.

My health had suffered much from it. Corvisart was a

clever counsellor, but it was only during the night that I
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could cany out his advice. To resume luy duties was

to renounce all hope of rest, and even of health.^

I soon perceived the First Consul's anxiety to make M.

de Mdneval acquainted with the routine of business, and

accustomed to his manner. Bonaparte had never par-

doned me for having presumed to quit him after he had

attained so high a degree of power ; he was only waiting

for an opportunity to punish me, and he seized upon an

unfortunate circumstance as an excuse for that separation

which I had previously wished to bring about.

I will explain this circumstance, which ought to have

obtained for me the consolation and assistance of the

First Consul rather than the forfeiture of his favour.

My rupture with him has been the subject of various

misstatements, all of which I shall not take the trouble

to correct ; I will merely notice what I have read in the

Memoirs of the Due de Kovigo, in which it is stated

that I was accused of ijeculation. M. de Eovigo thus

expresses himself :
—

'* Ever since the First Consul was invested with the supreme

power, his hfe had been a continued scene of personal exertion.

He had for his private secretary M. de Bourrienne, a friend and

companion of his youth, whom he now made the sharer of all

his labours. He frequently sent for him in the dead of the

night, and particularly insisted upon his attending him every

morning at seven. Bourrienne was punctual in his attendance

with the public papers, which he had previously glanced over.

The First Consul almost invariably read their contents him-

self; he then despatclied some business, and sat down to table

just as the clock struck nine. His breakfast, which lasted six

minutes, was no sooner over than he returned to his cabinet,

only left it for dinner, and resumed his close occupation imme-

1 There is considerable truth in this statement about the effect on hia

health. His successor, Me'neval, witliout the same amount of work, broke

down and had to receive assistance [Menevul, tome i. p. 149).
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diately after, until ten at night, which was his usual hour for

retiring to rest.

" Bourrienue was gifted with a most wonderful memory ; he

could speak and write many languages, and would make his

pen follow as fast as words were uttered. He possessed many
other advantages ; he was well acquainted with the adminis-

trative departments, was versed in the law of nation.s, and

possessed a zeal and activity which rendered his services quite

indispensable to the First Consul. I have known the several

grounds upon which the unlimited confidence placed in him by

his chief rested, but am unable to speak with equal assurance of

the errors which occasioned his losing that confidence.

" Bourrienne had many enemies ; some were owing to his

personal character, a greater number to the situation which

he held. Others were jealous of the credit he enjoyed with the

Head of the Government ; others, again, discontented at his not

making that credit subservient to their personal advantage.

Some even imputed to him the want of success that had

attended their claims. It was impossible to bring any charge

against him on the score of deficiency of talent or of indiscreet

conduct ; his per-sonal habits were watched, — it was ascertained

that he engaged in financial speculations. An imputation could

easily be founded on this circumstance. Peculation was accord-

ingly laid to his charge,

" This was touching the most tender ground, for the First

Consul held nothing in greater abhorrence than unlawful gains.

A solitary voice, however, would have failed in an attempt to

defame tlie character of a man for whom he had so long felt

esteem and affection ; other voices, therefore, were brought to

bear against him. Whether the accusations were well founded

or otherwise, it is beyond a doubt that all means were resorted

to for bringing them to the knowledge of the First Consul.

"The most effectual course that suggested itself was the open-

ing a correspondence either with the accused party direct, or

with those with whom it was felt indispensable to bring him

into contact ; this correspondence was carried on in a mysterious

manner, and related to the financial operations that had formed
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the grounds of a charge against him. Thus it is that, on more

than one occasion, the very channels intended for conveying

truth to the knowledge of a sovereign have been made available

to the purpose of communicating false intelligence to him. To
give an instance.

" Under the reign of Louis XV., and even under the Eegency,

the Post-Office was organised into a system of minute inspec-

tion, which did not indeed extend to every letter, but was

exercised over all such as afforded grounds for suspicion. They

were opened, and, when it was not deemeni safe to suppress

them, copies were taken, and they were returned to their proper

channel without the least delay. Any individual denouncing

another may, by the help of such an establishment, give great

weight to his denunciation. It is sufficient for his purpose

that he should throw into the Post-Office any letter so worded

as to confirm the impression which it is his object to convey.

The worthiest man may thus be committed by a letter which he

has never read, or the purport of which is wholly unintelligible

to him.

" I am speaking from personal experience. It once happened

that a letter addressed to myself, relating to an alleged fact

which had never occurred, was opened. A copy of the letter so

opened was also forwarded to me, as it concerned the duties

which I had to perform at that time ; but I was already in

possession of the original, transmitted through the ordinary

channel. Summoned to reply to the questions to which such

productions had given rise, I took that opportunity of pointing

out the danger that would accrue from placing a blind reliance

upon intelligence derived from so hazardous a source. Accord-

ingly, little importance was afterwards attached to this means

of information ; but the system was in operation at the period

when M. de Bourrienne was disgraced ; his enemies took care to

avail themselves of it ; they blackened his character with M. de

Barbe Marbois, who added to their accusations all the weight

of his iinblemished character. The opinion entertained by this

rigid public functionary, and many other circumstances, induced

the First Consul to part with his secretary " (tome i. p. 418).
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Peculation is the crime of those who make a fraudu-

lent use of the public money. But as it was not in my
power to meddle with the public money, no part of which

passed through my hands, I am at loss to conceive how
I can be charged with peculation ! The Due de Eovigo

is not the author, but merely the echo, of this calumny

;

but the accusation to which his Memoirs gave currency,

afforded M. de Barbd Marbois an opportunity of adding

one more to the many proofs he has given of his love

of justice.

I had seen nothing of the Memoirs of the Due de Eo-

vigo except their announcement in the journals, when a

letter from M. de Barbd Marbois was transmitted to me
from my family. It was as follows :

—
Sir,— My attention has been called to the enclosed article in

a recent publication. The assertion it contains is not true, and

I conceive it to be a duty both to you and myself to declare that

I then was, and still am, ignorant of the causes of the separation

in question. — I am, etc. ,0- i\ -.r^ (Signed) Marbois.

I need say no more in my justification. This unsolicited

testimony of M. de Marbois is a sufficient contradiction to

the charge of peculation which has been raised against me
in the absence of correct information respecting the real

causes of my rupture with the First Consul.

M. le Due de Rovigo also observes that my enemies

were numerous. My concealed adversaries were indeed

all those who were interested that the sovereign should

not have about him, as his confidential companion, a man
devoted to his glory and not to his vanity. In expressing

his dissatisfaction with one of his ministers Bonaparte had

said, in the presence of several individuals, among whom
was M. Maret, " If I could find a second Bourrienne, I

would get rid of you all." This was sufficient to raise

against me the hatred of all who envied the confidence of

which I was in possession.
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The failure of a firm in Paris in which I had invested a

considerable sum of money afforded an opportunity for

envy and malignity to irritate the First Consul against

me. Bonaparte, who had not yet forgiven me for wishing

to leave him, at length determined to sacrifice my services

to a new fit of ill-humour.

A mercantile house, then one of the most respectable in

Paris, had among its speculations undertaken some army
contracts. With the knowledge of Berthier, with whom,
indeed, the house had treated, I had invested some money
in this business. Unfortunately the principals were, un-

known to me, engaged in dangerous speculations in the

Funds, which in a short time so involved them as to occa-

sion their failure for a heavy amount. This caused a ru-

mour that a slight fall of the Funds, which took place at

that period, was occasioned by the bankruptcy ; and the

First Consul, who never could understand the nature of

the Funds, gave credit to the report. He was made to

believe that the business of the Stock Exchange was

ruined. It was insinuated that I was accused of taking

advantage of my situation to produce variations in the

Funds, though I was so unfortunate as to lose not only

my investment in the bankrupt house, but also a sum of

money for which I had become bound, by way of surety,

to assist the house in increasing its business. I incurred

the violent displeasure of the First Consul, who declared

to me that he no longer required viy sm'vices. I might,

perhaps, liave cooled his irritation by reminding him that

he could not blame me for purckasinp an interest in a

contract, since he himself had stipulated for a gratiuty of

1,500,000 francs for his brother Joseph out of the contract

for victualling the navy.^ But I saw that for some time

1 Joseph Bonaparte contradicts this statement ; but the practice was

commou iu France, as it had ouce hieeii in Eughand.— Editor of 1836

edition.

VOL. II. 14
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past M. (le Mt^neval had begun to supersede me, and the

Fh'st Consul only wanted such an opportunity as this for

coming to a rupture with me.

Such is a true statement of the circumstances which led

to my separation from Bonaparte. I defy any one to ad-

duce a single fact in support of the charge of peculation,

or any transaction of the kind ; I fear no investigation of

my conduct. When in the service of Buonaparte I caused

many appointments to be made, and many names to be

erased from the emigrant list before the Senatus-consulte

of the 6th Flor^al, year X. ; but I never counted upon

gratitude, experience having taught me that it was an

empty word.

The Due de Eovigo attributed my disgrace to certain

intercepted letters which injured me in the eyes of the

Krst Consul. I did not know this at the time, and

though I was pretty well aware of the machinations of

Bonaparte's adulators, almost all of whom were my en-

emies, yet I did not contemplate such an act of baseness.

But a spontaneous letter from M. de Barbd Marbois at

length opened my eyes, and left little doubt on the sub-

ject. The following is the postscript to that noble peer's

letter

:

"I recollect that one Wednesday the First Consul, wliile pre-

siding at a Council of Ministers at St. Cloud, opened a note,

and, witliout informing us what it contained, liastily left the

Board, apparently much agitated. In a few minutes he returned,

and told us that your functions had ceased."

Whether the sudden displeasure of the First Consul

was excited by a false representation of my concern in

the transaction which proved so unfortunate to me, or

whether Bonaparte merely made that a pretence for

carrying into execution a resolution which I am con-

vinced had been previously adopted, I shall not stop to
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determine ; but, the Due de Eovigo having mentioned the

viohition of the secrecy of letters in my case, I shall take

the opportunity of stating some particulars on that subject.

Before I wrote these Memoirs the existence in the post-

office of the cabinet, which had obtained the epithet of

Hack, had been denounced in the chamber of deputies,

and the answer was, that it no longer existed, which of

course amounted to an admission that it had existed.

I may therefore, without indiscretion, state what I know
respecting it.

The " black cabinet " was established in the reign of

Louis XV., merely for the purpose of prying into the

scandalous gossip of the Court and the capital. The ex-

istence of this cabinet soon became generally known to

every one. The numerous postmasters who succeeded

each other, especially in latter times, the still more nu-

merous post-office clerks, and that portion of the public

who are ever on the watch for what is held up as scan-

dalous, soon banished all the secrecy of the affair, and none

but fools were taken in by it. All who did not wish to be

committed by their correspondence chose better channels

of communication than the post ; but those who wanted

to ruin an enemy or benefit a friend long continued to

avail themselves of the black cabinet, which, at first in-

tended meiely to amuse a monarch's idle hours, soon be-

came a medium of intrieue, dangerous from the abuse

that might be made of it.

Every morning, for three years, I used to peruse the

portfolio containing the bulletins of the black cabinet, and

I frankly confess that I never could discover any real cause

for the public indignation against it, except inasmuch as

it proved tlie channel of vile intrigue. Out of 30,000

letters, which daily left Paris to be distributed through

France and all parts of the world, ten or twelve, at most,

were copied, and often only a few lines of them.
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Bonaparte at first proposed to send complete copies of

intercepted letters to the Ministers whom their contents

might concern ; but a few observations from me induced

him to direct that only the important passages should be

extracted and sent. I made these extracts, and transmit-

ted them to their destinations, accompanied by the fol-

lowing words :
" The First Consul directs me to inform you

that he has just received the following information," etc.

Whence the information came was left to be guessed at.

The First Consul daily received through this channel

about a dozen pretended letters, the writers of which de-

scribed their enemies as opponents of the Government, or

their friends as models of obedience and fidelity to the

constituted authorities. But the secret purpose of this

vile correspondence was soon discovered, and Bonaparte

gave orders that no more of it should be copied. I, how-
ever, suffered from it at the time of my disgrace, and was
well-nigh falling a victim to it at a subsequent period.

The letter mentioned hj M. de Marbois, and which
was the occasion of this digression on the violation of

private correspondence, derived importance from the cir-

cumstance that Wednesday, the 20th of October, when
Bonaparte received it, was the day on which I left the

Consular palace.

I retired to a house which Bonaparte had advised me
to purchase at St. Cloud, and for the fitting up and fur-

nishing of which he had promised to pay. We shall see

how he kept this promise ! I immediately sent to direct

Landoire, the messenger of Bonaparte's cabinet, to place

all letters sent to me in the First Consul's portfolio,

because many intended for him came under cover for me.

In consequence of this message I received the following

letter from M. de Mdneval :
—

My dear Bourriexne, — I cannot believe that the First

Consul would wish that your letters should be presented to
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him. I presume you allude only to those whicli may concern
him, and which come addressed under cover to you. The First

Consul has written to citizens Lavallette and Mollien directing

them to address their packets to him. I cannot allow Landoire
to obey the order you sent.

The First Consul yesterday evening evinced great regret.

He repeatedly said, " How miserable I am ! I have known
that man since he was seven years old." I cannot but believe

that he will reconsider his unfortunate decision. I have inti-

mated to him tliat the burden of the business is too much for

me, and that he must be extremely at a loss for the services of

one to whom he was so much accustomed, and whose situation

I am confident nobody else can satisfactorily till. He went to

bed very low-spirited. I am, etc.

(Signed) M^neval.

19 Vendemiaire, an X. (21st October, 1802).

Next day I received another letter from M. M^neval as

follows :
—

" I send you your letters. The First Consul prefers that you
should break them open, and send here those which are intended

for him. I enclose some German papers, which he begs you to

translate.

'' Madame Bonaparte is much interested in your behalf; and I

can assure you that no one more heartily desires than the First

Consul himself to see you again at your old post, for which it

would be difficult to find a successor equal to you, either as

regards fidelity or fitness. I do not relinquish the hope of

seeing you here again."

A whole week passed away in conflicts between the

First Consul's friendship and pride. The least desire he

manifested to recall me was opposed by his flatterers.

On the fifth day of our separation he directed me to

come to him. He received me with the greatest kind-

ness, and after having good-humouredly told me that I

often expressed myself with too much freedom— a fault
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I was never solicitous to correct— he added :
" I regret

your absence much. You were very useful to nie. You
are neither too noble nor too plebeian, neither too aristo-

cratic nor too Jacobinical. You are discreet and laborious.

You understand me better than any one else ; and,

between ourselves be it said, we ought to consider this a

sort of Court. Look at Duroc, Bessi^res, Maret. How-
ever, I am very much inclined to take you back ; but by

so doing I should confirm the report that I cannot do

without you."

Madame Bonaparte informed me that she had heard

persons to whoin Bonaparte expressed a desire to recall

me observe, " What would you do ? People will say you

cannot do without him. You have got rid of him now

;

therefore think no more about him : and as for the

English newspapers, he gave them more importance than

they really deserved
;
you will no longer be trouljled with

them." This will bring to mind a scene which occurred

at Malmaison on the receipt of some intelligence in the

" London Gazette."

I am convinced that if Bonaparte had been left to him-

self he would have recalled me, and this conviction is

warranted by the interval which elapsed between his de-

termination to part with me and the formal announce-

ment of my dismissal. Our rupture took place on the

20th of October, and on the 8th of November following

the First Consul sent me the following letter:—
Citizen Bourribnne, Minister of State,— I am satisfied with

the services which you have rendered me during the time you

have been with me ; but henceforth they are no longer necessary.

I wish you to relinquish, from this time, the functions and title

of my private secretary. I shall seize an early opportunity of

providing for you in a way suited to your activity and talents,

and c(niducive to the public service.

(Signed) Bonaparte.
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If any proof of the First Consul's malignity were want-

ing, it would be furnished by the foHowiug fact : A few

days after the receipt of the letter which announced my
dismissal I received a note from Duroc ; but, to afford an

idea of the petty revenge of him who caused it to be

written, it will be necessary first to relate a few preced-

ing circumstances.

When, with the view of preserving a little freedom, I

declined the offer of apartments which Madame Bona-

parte had prepared at Malmaison for myself and my
family, I purchased a small house at Euel: the First

Consul had given orders for the furnishing of this house,

as well as one which I possessed in Paris. From the

manner in which the orders were given I had not the

slightest doubt but that Bonaparte intended to make me
a present of the furniture. However, when I left his

service he applied to have it returned. As at first I paid

no attention to his demand, as far as it concerned the

furniture at Euel, he directed Duroc to write the follow-

ing letter to me :
—

The First Consul, my dear Bourrienne, has just ordered me to

send him this evening the keys of your residence in Paris, from

which the furniture is not to be removed.

He also directs me to put into a wai'ehonse whatever furniture

you may have at Euel or elsewhere which you have obtained

from Government.

I beg of you to send me an answer, so as to assist me in the

execution of these orders. You promised me to have everything

settled before the First Consul's return. I must excuse myself

in the best way I can. (Signed) Duroc.

24 Brumaire, an X. (15th November, 1802).

Believing myself to be master of my own actions, I had

formed the design of visiting England, whither I was

called by some private business. However, I was fully
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aware of the peculiarity of my situation, and I was re-

solved to take no step that should in any way justify a

reproach.

On the 11th of January I therefore wrote to Duroc

:

" My affairs require my presence in England for some time. I

beg of you, my dear Duroc, to mention my intended journey to

the First Consul, as I do not wish to do anything inconsistent

with his views. I would rather sacrifice my own interest than

displease him. I rely on your friendship for an early answer to

this, f(n" uncertainty would be fatal to me in many respects."

The answer, which speedily arrived, was as follows

:

My dear BoUBRiENNE,— I have presented to the First Consul

the letter I just received from you. He read it, and said, " No !

"

That is the only answer I can give you. (Signed) Duroc.

This monosyllable was expressive. It proved to me
that Bonaparte was conscious how ill he had treated me

;

and, suspecting that I was actuated by the desire of ven-

geance, he was afraid of my going to England, lest I

should there take advantage of that liberty of the press

which he had so effectually put down in France. He
probably imagined that my object was to publish state-

ments which would more effectually have enlightened the

public respecting his government and designs than all the

scandalous anecdotes, atrocious calumnies, and ridiculous

fabrications of Pelletier,^ the editor of the "Ambigu."

But Bonaparte was much deceived in this supposition

;

and if there can remain any doubt on that subject, it will

be removed on referring to the date of these Memoirs, and

observing the time at which I consented to publish them.

I was not deceived as to the reasons of Bonaparte's

unceremonious refusal of my application ; and as I well

knew his inquisitorial character, I thought it prudent to

1 Sometimes spelled as Peltier.
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conceal my notes. I acted differently from Camoens. He
contended with the sea to preserve his manuscrijjts ; I

made the earth the depository of mine. I carefully en-

closed my most valuable notes and papers in a tin box,

which I buried under ground.^ A yellow tinge, the

commencement of decay, has in some places almost

obliterated the writing.

It will be seen in the sequel that my precaution was not

useless, and that I was right in anticipating the persecu-

tion of Bonaparte, provoked by the malice of my enemies.

On the 20tli of April Duroc sent me the following note

:

I beg, my dear Bourrienne, that you will come to St. Cloud

this morning. I have something to tell you on the part of the

First Consul. (Signed) Duroc.

This note caused me much anxiety. I could not doubt

but that my enemies had invented some new calumny

;

but I must say that I did not expect such baseness as I

experienced.

As soon as Duroc had made me acquainted with the

business which the First Consul had directed him to com-

municate, I wrote on the spot the subjoined letter to

Bonaparte :
—

"At General Duroc's desire I have this moment waited upon
him, and he informs me that you have received notice that a

1 This passage should be remarked by the reader. If Bourrieune was
not carrying away documents to which he had no right, or if he had only

been engaged in tlie ordinary correspondence of a private secretary, there

was no possible reason for thus hiding documents. It will be noticed that

he constantly quotes documents received by Napoleon when he was still sec-

retary, and whicli he says were still in his possession. " Erreurs " (tome i.

p. 261) naturally asks by what right he retained them. When Fouche' left

office in 1810, there was an amusing contest between him and Napoleon for

tlie possession of certain correspondence, which Fouche' declared he had
destroyed, sticking to his assertion with great and almost daring perti-

nacity till he came to terms and produced them ; but the comparison is

not flattering for Bourrienne.
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deficit of 100,000 francs lias been discovered in the Treasury of

tlie Navy, wliich you require me to refund this day at noon.

" Citizen First Consul, I know not what this means ! I am
utterly ignorant of the matter. I solemnly declare to you that

this charge is a most infamous calumny. It is one more to be

added to the number of those malicious charges which have been

invented for the purpose of destroying any influence I might

possess with you.

" I am in General Duroc's apartment, Avhere I await your

orders."

Duroc carried my note to the First Consul as soon as it

was written. He speedily returned. " All 's right !

"

said he. "He has directed me to say it was entirely a

mistake !— that he is now convinced he was deceived !
—

that he is sorry for the business, and hopes no more will

be said about it."

The base flatterers who surrounded Bonaparte wished

him to renew his Egyptian extortions upon me ; but they

should liave recollected that the fusillade employed in

Egypt for the purpose of raising money was no longer

the fashion in France, and that the days were gone by
when it was the custom to grease the wheels of the revo-

lutionary car}

1 Bourrienne has defended himself with great success against a charge

of misusing public money, — a charge which was not made against him.

He has made no defence against the charge of using the information

gained by him in his official capacity for private speculations ; he does not

even seem to understand the gravity of such an accusation, for, in speak-

ing of one of Ouvrard's projects for a speculation in Mexico, at a time

when Bourrienne was still secretary, he says th.at he was to have had a
share in the business. (See under 1805.) It never seems to strike him
that a person in liis confidential position ought not to have taken a share

in an affair of the sort, especially in one distrusted by Napoleon. We
maj' therefore take for granted that he did so use his position. That he
was partly unsuccessful was a misfortune which he shared with Talley-

rand ; and his ill-success is no argument for his innocence. The story of

his disgrace is told by Me'neval thus: "The First Consul had made M.
de Bourrienne Councillor of State on special service, and granted to him
rights and privileges which made him an important personage. lie corre-
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sponrled dii'ectly witli the Ministers on some of the details of their work.
Napoleon treated M. de Bourrienne familiarly, and often went out with

him on foot or in a Boghei ^ to have a turn in the park of St. Cloud. M.
de Bourrienne was very nearly independent, and did not eat or lodge in

the palace. He had just bought a charming house at St. Cloud. He fur-

nished it richly, and gave dinners, to which ministers, especially Fouche',

senators, and councillors of state, etc., were invited. His expenses and
his jnirchases were not in accordance with his fortune as known to the

First Consul. Although their mutual relations seemed not to have al-

tered, still the annoyance that the Fir.st Consul did not reveal to M. de
Bourrienne was sometimes betrayed by reflections dropped before me. It

seemed to me that the First Consul had special complaints against him
which he had not sufficiently investigated.

" The unfortunate affair of the house of the brothers Coulon put an end
to his irresolutions. It was the last drop in the cup. One Wednesday "

(the 20th Ortohei; 1802, the. date given bij Bourrienne, was a Wednesdaij)
" I was at work in the cabinet of the First Consul when I saw him enter

hurriedly. He asked me if M. de Bourrienne was at his desk, and on my
saying he was, he called him from the thresliold of tlie door. M. de Bour-

rienne came, a little upset by the animated air of the First Consul, who
said to him in a severe tone, ' Give up to Me'neval the papers and the keys

which you have of mine and withdraw. Let me not find you here again.'

After these few words he returned to the Council, slamming the door be-

hind him. M. de Bourrienne, who had been overwhelmed by this sudden
outburst, gave himself up to the greatest despair. I did all I could to

calm him. I tried to make him accept consolations and hopes on which I

hardly trusted, for a decision given in such a laconic and harsh manner
left little hope. We exchanged some letters during the two or three days

which followed this fatal scene, after which all connection between us

ceased, by order of the First Consul.

"This explosion had been occasioned by the following occurrences:

About the time when I was called to tlie cabinet of the First Consul (2d

April, 1802), M. de Bourrienne, by his credit with the Minister of War, had
obtained the contract for furnishing military equipments and harness. As
his name could not appear, the contract was given to the brothers Coulon.
M. de Bourrienne supplied the funds for starting the enterprise. A bank
advanced 800,000 francs on a mortgage given by the brothers Coulon, but
it required that M. de Bourrienne should guarantee it. The brothers
Coulon failing soon afterwards, the bank enforced its claim on M. de
Bourrienne, who disclaimed his liability with the Coulons. As the
guarantee was created by private signed documents, secret contracts, and
memoranda of accounts, all signed by Bourrienne, a suit ensued, which he
lost at first, then gained on appeal, and finally lost in the Cour de Cassa-
tion. This business with which M. de Bourrienne had associated himself
had much vexed the First Consul, who had an unconquerable repulsion

1 A vehicle from which the Indian " buggy " takes its name ?
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for what is called fahe des affaires. He was shocked at the cause and at

the scandal of the suit. He never pardoned M. de Bourrienue. He often

sj)oke to me of it at p;reat length with real sorrow, which always degen-

erated into bitter complaint. He ended by taking his resolution ; he even

congratulated himself on having broken the yoke. Without intending

any comparison, he did what Louis XIV. did on the death of Mazarin.

One day he said to me, ' I have abolished the title of private secretary.

The name has too many inconveniences, I am obliged tti recognise them.

I desire that you will not take any other title than that of attache to the

First Consul'" {Me'neval, tome i. p. 86).

This account of Meneval's will be found to be in fair agreement with

the accounts of Bourrienue and of others (see Savurij, tome i. p. 418, and

Erreum, tome ii. p. 11). And the account is to be the more accepted as

Bourrienue acknowledges that he had nothing to complain of in tlie con-

duct of Meneval. We shall see that similar accusations were made
against Bourrienue when he was at Hamburg. But while Meneval im-

peaches the moral character of Bourrienne, he corroborates his account of

the important position held by the secretary; indeed, he almost increases

our estimate of it when he speaks of Napoleon's satisfaction at having
" broken the yoke."
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1803.

The First Consul never anticipated a long peace with

England. He wished for peace merely because, knowing

it to be ardently desired by the people, after ten years

of war, he thought it would increase his popularity and

afford him the opportunity of laying the foundation of

his government. Peace was as necessary to enable him

to conquer the throne of France as war was essential to

secure it, and to enlarge its base at the expense of the

other thrones of Europe. This was the secret of the

peace of Amiens, and of the rupture which so suddenly

followed, though that rupture certainly took place sooner

than the First Consul wished. On the great questions of

peace and war Bonaparte entertained elevated ideas ; but

in discussions on the subject he always declared himself

in favour of war.^ When told of the necessities of the

people, of the advantages of peace, its influence on trade,

the arts, national industry, and every branch of public

prosperity, he did not attempt to deny the argument

;

iudeed, he concurred in it ; but he remarked that all

those advantages were only conditional, so long as Eng-

land was able to throw tlie weight of her navy into the

scale of the world, and to exercise the influence of her gold

in all the Cabinets of Europe. Peace must be broken
;

1 Compare Metternich (tome ii. p. 249), where, speaking of the efforts

made in 1808 by many French agents and officers to urge Napoleon to

war with Austria, he says, " Tliey too often end by carrying witii them

the strongest wills ; and the Emperor's will is never strong when it is a

question of opposing war."
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since it was evident that England was determined to

break it. Why not anticipate her ? Why allow her to

have all the advantages of the first step ? We must
astonish Europe ! We must thwart the policy of the

Continent ! We must strike a great and unexpected

blow. Thus reasoned the First Consul, and every one

may judge whether his actions agreed with his senti-

ments.

The conduct of England too well justified the fore-

sight of Bonaparte's policy ; or rather England, by neg-

lecting to execute her treaties, played into Bonaparte's

hand, favoured his love for war, and justified the prompt
declaration of hostilities in the eyes of the French nation,

whom he wished to persuade that if peace were broken

it would be against his wishes. England was already at

work with the powerful machinery of her subsidies, and
the veil beneath which she attempted to conceal her

negotiations was still sufficiently transparent for the lynx

eye of the First Consul. It was in the midst of peace

that all those plots were hatched, while millions who had
no knowledge of their existence were securely looking

forward to uninterrupted repose.

Since the Revolution Paris had never presented such

a spectacle as during the winter of 1802-3. At that

time the concourse of foreigners in the French capital

was immense. Everything wore the appearance of satis-

faction, and the external signs of public prosperity. The
visible regeneration in French society exceedingly an-

noyed the British Ministry. The English who fiocked to

the Continent discovered France to be very different from

what she was described to be by the English papers.

This caused serious alarm on the other side of the Chan-

nel, and the English Government endeavoured by unjust

complaints to divert attention from just dissatisfaction,

which its own secret intrigues excited. The King of
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England sent a message to Parliament, in wliicli he spoke

of armaments preparing in the ports of France, and of

the necessity of adopting precautions against meditated

aggressions. This instance of bad faith highly irritated

the First Consul, who one day, in a fit of displeasure,

thus addressed Lord Whitworth in the salon, where all

the foreign Ambassadors were assembled :
—

" What is the meaning of this ? Are you -then tired

of peace ? Must Europe again be deluged with blood ?

Preparations for war indeed ! Do you think to over-

awe us by this ? You shall see that France may be

conquered, perhaps destroyed, but never intimidated, —
never !

" ^

The English Ambassador was astounded at this unex-

pected sally, to which he made no reply. He contented

himself with writing to his Government an account of

an interview in which the First Consul had so far for-

gotten himself,— whether purposely or not I do not

pretend to say.^

1 The tone of voice, the fjjesticulation, and the whole manner of Bona-

parte were so violent on this occasion that our Ambassador, fancvinj^ tlie

First Consul was going to strike him, put his hand to the hilt of his

sword. Lord Whitworth was a high-spirited man. Some time after,

when Mr. Canning asked him what he would have done had Bonaparte

struck him, he replied, " I would have run him through the body in the

midst of his Court!"— Editor of \836 edition.

2 The following is Savary's description of this extraordinary scene :

" One of the receptions of the Consular Court was the occasion on

which Bonaparte vented his displeasure on the conduct of England. He
had just been reading the despatches of his Ambassador at the Court of

London, who sent him a copy of the King's message to Parliament

respecting alleged armaments in the ))orts of France.
" His mind being wholly biassed by the reflections to which the perusal

of the despatches had given rise, he omitted going that day into the

second salon, but went straiglit up to the Ambassadors. I was only at

the distance of a few paces from him wiien, stopping short liefore the

English Ambassador, he put the following hurried questions to him in a

tone of anger :
' What does your Cabinet mean ? What is tiie motive

for raising these rumours of armaments in our harbours ] How ! Is it
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That England wished for war there could be no doubt.

She occupied Malta, it is true, but she had promised to

give it up, though she never had any intention of doing

so. She was to have evacuated Egypt, yet there she still

remained ; the Cape of Good Hope was to have been sur-

rendered, but she still retained possession of it. England

had signed, at Amiens, a peace which she had no inten-

tion of maintaining. She knew the hatred of the Cabi-

nets of Europe towards France, and she was sure, by

possible to impose in this manner upon the credulity of nations, or to

be so ignorant of our real intentions ? If the actual state of things be

known, it must be evident to all that there are only two transports fitting

out for St. Domingo ; that tliat island engrosses all our attention, all our

disposable means. Why then these complaints 1 Can peace be already

considered as a burden to be shaken off ? Is Europe to be again deluged

in blood 1 Preparations making for war 1 To pretend to overawe us !

France may be conquered, perhaps destroyed, but never intimidated !

'

" The Ambassador made a respectful bow, and gave no reply. The
First Consul left that part of the salon; but whether he had been a little

heated by this explosion of ill-humour, or from some other cause, he

ceased his round, and witlidrew to his own apartments. INIadame Bona-

parte followed. In an instant the snion was cleared of company. The
Ambassadors of Russia and England had retired to the embrasure of a

window, and were still conversing together after the apartments had been

cleared of visitors. ' Indeed,' said one to the other, ' you could hardly

expect such an attack ; how tlien could you be prepared to reply to it 1

All vou have to do is to give an account of it to your government ; in the

mean time let what has taken place suggest to you the conduct you oughb

to pursue.'
" He took the advice. The communications became cold and reserved.

England had already formed her determination. A spirit of acrimony

soon sprung up between the two Governments.
" An interchange of notes took place : categorical explanations were

required ; the demand for passports soon followed. The latter were im-

mediately granted by the First Consul. I was in his closet of St. Cloud

when M. Maret was introduced, who brought with him the corrected

draft of the reply which was to accompany the passports. He had it read

out to him, and expressed himself in the kindest terms respecting the

personal character of Lord Whitworth, for whom he felt great regard.

He was quite satisfied that on this occasion the Ambassador had not at

all influenced the conduct of his government" {Memoirs oj the Due de

Rovigo, tome i. p. 456).
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her intrigues and subsidies, of arming them on her side

whenever her plans reached maturity. She saw France

powerful and influential in Europe, and she knew the

ambitious views of the First Consul, who, indeed, had

taken little pains to conceal them.

The First Consul, who had reckoned on a longer dura-

tion of the peace of Amiens, found himself at the rup-

ture of the treaty in an embarrassing situation. The

numerous grants of furloughs, the deplorable condition

of the cavalry, and the temporary absence of artillery,

in consequence of a project for refounding all the field-

pieces, caused much anxiety to Bonaparte. He had

recourse to the conscription to fill up the deficiencies

of the army ; and the project of refounding the artil-

lery was abandoned. Supplies of money were obtained

from the large towns ; and Hanover, which was soon

after occupied, furnished abundance of good horses for

mounting the cavalry.^

War had now become inevitable ; and as soon as it

was declared the First Consul set out to visit Belgium

and the seaboard departments to ascertain the best means
of resisting the anticipated attacks of the English, In

passing through Compifegne he received a visit from

Father Berton, formerly principal of the military school

of Brienne. He was then rector of the school of arts at

Compi^gne, a situation in which lie had been placed by

Bonaparte. I learned the particulars of this visit through

1 Here Bourrienne appears to follow Savary, who (tome i. p. 407)

draws au amusing picture of the irritation of Napoleon at finding tliat

Marmont, as Inspector of Artillery, and Berthier, as War Minister, had

so begun the conversion of the field artillery as to almost deprive him of

guns at the very time war was declared with England. But tiiis incredi-

ble story is totally denied by Marmont (tome ii. p. 208), who asks, " Was
the First Consul a likely man to let one of liis generals, and liis Minister

of War, change, modify, destroy, and reconstruct the artillery equipment

without his order and without his approval ? He knew day by day the

progress of my work."

VOL. II. 15
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Josephine. Father Bsrton, whose primitive simplicity of

maimer was unchanged since the time when he held ns

under the authority of his ferule, came to invite Bona-

parte and Josephine to breakfast with him, which invita-

tion was accepted. Father Berton had at that time

living with him one of our old comrades of Brienne,

named Bouquet ; but he expressly forbade him to show
himself to Bonaparte or any one of his suite, because

Bouquet, who had been a commissary at headquarters

in Italy, was in disgrace with the First Consul.^ Bouquet
promised to observe Father Berton's injunctions, but was
far from keeping his promise. As soon as he saw Bona-

parte's carriage drive up, he ran to the door and gallantly

handed out Josephine. Josephine, as she took his hand,

said, " Bouquet, you have ruined yourself !
" Bonaparte,

indignant at what he considered an unwarrantable fa-

miliarity, gave way to one of his uncontrollable fits of

passion, and as soon as he entered the room where the

breakfast was laid, he seated himself, and then said to his

wife in an imperious tone, " Josephine, sit there
!

" He
then commenced breakfast, without telling Father Berton

to sit down, although a third plate had been laid for him.

Father Berton stood behind his old pupil's chair appar-

1 Bouquet had incurred Bonaparte's displeasure by the following dis-

honest transaction : When the French had a second time taken Verona,

Bouquet and a colonel of the army named Andrieux went to the Monte-

di-Pietas in that city, and by representing tliat they had orders from their

general to make an inventory of the property, induced the keeper to allow

them to examine the place. The property in the Monte-di-Pietas amounted
to 12,000,000, which the keeper never set eyes on after Bouquet's visit.

The colonel absconded, but I5ouquet was apprehended and about to be

tried. The transaction, however, was found to involve so many persons,

that the captain appointed to conduct the trial thought riglit to ask the

opinion of General Augereau as to the propriety of proceeding. What
directions he gave I do not know, but I know very well that Bouquet in

the mean time escaped from prison. Bonaparte was highly indignant

at his conduct, and declared that had he been found guilty he would have

allowed the sentence to be executed.
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ently confounded at his violence. The scene produced

such an effect on the old man that he became incapable

of discharging his duties at Compiegne. He retired to

Itheinis, and his intellect soon after became deranged. I

do not pretend to say whether this alienation of mind
was caused by the occurrence T have just related, and the

account of which I received from Josephine. She was

deeply afflicted at what had passed. Father Berton died

insane. What I heard from Josephine was afterwards

confirmed by the brother of Father Berton. The fact is

that in proportion as Bonaparte acquired power he was
the more annoyed at the familiarity of old companions

;

and, indeed, I must confess that their familiarity often

appeared very ridiculous.

The First Consul's visit to the northern coast took

place towards the end of the year 1803, at which time

the English attacked the Dutch settlements of Surinam,

Demerara, and Essequibo, and a convention of neutrality

was concluded between France, Spain, and Portugal.

Kapp accompanied the First Consul, who attentively

inspected the preparations making for a descent on Eng-

land, which it was never his intention to effect, as will be

shortly shown.^

On the First Consul's return I learned from Eapp that

I had been spoken of during the journey, and in the

following way : Bona[)arte, being at Boulogne, wanted
some information which no one there could give him.

Vexed at receiving no satisfactory answer to his in-

quiries, he called Eapp, and said, " Do you know, Rapp,

1 See iVIadame de Remusat on the extraordinary enthusiasm with
which Napoleon was received on these jonrneys. " The joy of the inhab-

itants of Amiens, . . . the crowd which pressed to see him, the blessings

too universal to have been ordered, all this struck me so much that I

could not restrain my tears. Madame Bonaparte herself burst into tears,

and I saw the eyes of Bonaparte redden for an instant " {liemusat, tome L

p. 239).
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where Bourrienne is ? "— " General, he is in Paris." —
" Write to him to come here immediately, and send off

one of my couriers with the letter." The rumour of the

First Consul's sudden recollection of me spread like

lightning, and the time required to write the letter and

despatch the courier was more than sufficient for the

efforts of those whom my return was calculated to alarm.

Artful representations soon checked these spontaneous

symptoms of a return to former feelings and habits.

When Rapp carried to the First Consul the letter he had

been directed to write, the order was countermanded.

However, Rapp advised me not to leave Paris, or, if I did,

to mention the place where I might be found, so that

Duroc might have it in his power to seize on any favour-

able circumstance without delay. I was well aware of

the friendship of both Rapp and Duroc, and they could

as confidently rely on mine.



CHAPTEK XVIII.

1803.

At the time of the rupture with England, Bonaparte

was, as I have mentioned, quite unprepared in most

branches of the service
;
yet everything was created as if

by magic, and he seemed to impart to others a share

of his own incredible activity. It is inconceivable how
many things had been undertaken and executed since the

rupture of the peace. The north coast of France pre-

sented the appearance of one vast arsenal ; for Bona-

parte on this occasion employed his troops like Eoman
soldiers, and made the tools of the artisan succeed to the

arms of the warrior.

On his frequent journeys to the coast Bonaparte

usually set off at night, and on the following morning

arrived at the post-office of Chantilly, where he break-

fasted. Rapp, whom I often saw when he was in Paris,

talked incessantly of these journeys, for he almost always

accompanied the First Consul, and it would have been

well had he always been surrounded by such men. In

the evening the First Consul supped at Abbeville, and

arrived early next day at the bridge of Brique. " It

would require constitutions of iron to go through what

we do," said Rapp. "We no sooner alight from the

carriage than we mount on horseback, and sometimes

remain in our saddles for ten or twelve hours succes-

sively. The First Consul inspects and examines every-

thing, often talks with the soldiers. How he is beloved

by them ! When shall we pay a visit to London with

those brave fellows ?
"
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Notwithstanding these continual journeys the First

Consul never neglected any of the business of govern-

ment, and was frequently present at the deliberations of

the Council. I was still with him when the question

as to the manner in which the treaties of peace should be

concluded carne under the consideration of the Council.

Some members, among whom Truguet was conspicuous,

were of opinion that, conformably with an article of the

Constitution, the treaties should be proposed by the Head
of the Government, submitted to tbe Legislative Body,

and after being agreed to promulgated as part of the laws.

Bonaparte thought differently. I was entirely of his opin-

ion, and he said to me, " It is for the mere pleasure of

opposition that they appeal to the Constitution, for if the

Constitution says so it is absurd. There are some things

which cannot become the subject of discussion in a public

assembly ; for instance, if I treat with Austria, and my
Ambassador agrees to certain conditions, can those condi-

tions be rejected by the Legislative Body ? It is a mon-
strous absurdity ! Things would be brought to a fine pass

in this way ! Lucchesini and Markow would give dinners

every day like Cambac^rfes ;^ scatter their money about,

buy men who are to be sold, and thus cause our propo-

sitions to be rejected. This would be a fine way to man-
age matters !

"

When Bonaparte, according to his custom, talked to me
in the evening of what had passed in the Council, his lan-

guage was always composed of a singular mixture of quo-

1 Camhaccres had kept up liis dinners in the worst times of the Revolu-

tion, and the very crumlis from his table seem to have been good. Thus
the unfortunate grandchildren of the Marechal de Levis, almost starved

after the execution of tlieir mothers, Mesdames de Vintimille and de Be-

ranger, "retained in tlieir remembrances of their mournful childhood the

memory of the feasts to -which they were invited by the porter of Camba-
ceres, when they had the remains of the grand dinners" {lSinif;res, par For-

uerou, tome i. p. 181 J.
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tations from antiquity, historical references, and his own
ideas. He talked about the Romans, and T remember
when Mr. Fox was at Paris that he tried to distinguish

himself before that Foreign Minister, whom he greatly

esteemed. In his enlarged way of viewing the world,

Ijonaparte divided it into two large states, the East and

the West. " What matters," he would often say, " that

two countries are separated by rivers or mountains, that

tliey speak different languages ? With very slight shades

of variety, France, Spain, England, Italy, and Germany
have the same manners and customs, the same religion,

and the same dress. In them a man can only marry one

wife ; slavery is not allowed ; and these are the great

distinctions which divide the civilised inhabitants of the

globe. With the exception of Turkey, Europe is merely

a province of the world, and our warfare is but civil strife.

There is also another way of dividing nations, namely, by
land and water." Then he would touch on all the Euro-

pean interests, speak of Russia, whose alliance he wished

for, and of England, the mistress of the seas. He usually

ended by alluding to what was then his favourite scheme,

— an expedition to India.

When from these general topics Bonaparte descended

to the particular interests of France, he still spoke like a

sovereign ; and I may truly say that he showed himself

more jealous than any sovereign ever was of the dignity

of France, of which he already considered himself the sole

representative. Having learned that a captain of the Eng-

lish navy had visited the dockyard of Brest, passing him-

self off as a merchant, whose passport he had borrowed,

he ,flew into a rage because no one had ventured to arrest

him.^ Nothing was lost on Bonaparte, and he made use

of this fact to prove to the Council of State the necessity

1 See James' " Naval History " for an account of Sir Sidney Smitii's

daring exploit.
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of increasin«i; the number of commissary-generals of po-

lice. At a meeting of the Council he said, "If there had

been a commissary of police at Brest, he would have ar-

rested the English captain and sent him at once to Paris.

As he was acting the part of a spy, I would have had him
shot as such. No Englishman, not even a nobleman, or

the English Ambassador, should be admitted into our

dockyards. I will soon regulate all this." He afterwards

said to me, " There are plenty of wretches who are selling

me every day to the English without my being subjected

to English spying." ^

He had on one occasion said before an assemblage of

generals, senators, and high officers of State, who were at

an audience of the Diplomatic Body, " The English think

that I am afraid of war, but I am not." And here the

truth escaped him, in spite of himself. " My power will

lose nothing by war. In a very short time I can have

2,000,000 of men at my disposal. What has been the re-

sult of the first war ? The union of Belgium and Pied-

mont to France. This is greatly to our advantage ; it will

consolidate our system. France shall not be restrained

by foreign fetters. England has manifestly violated the

treaties! It would be better to render homage to the

King of England and crown him King of France at Paris,

than to submit to the insolent caprices of the English

Government. If, for the sake of preserving peace, at most

for only two months longer, I should yield on a single

point, the English would become the more treacherous

and insolent, and would exact the more in proportion as

we yield. But they little know me ! Were we to yield to

1 During the short and hollow peace of Amiens Bonaparte sent over to

England, as consuls and vice-consuls, a number of engineers and military

men, who were instructed to mnl-e plans of all the harbours mid coasts of the

United Kiiiffdoin. They worked in secrecy, yet not so secretly but that

they were soon suspected ; the facts were proved, and they were sent out

of the country without ceremony.— Editor of 1836 edition.
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England now, she would next proliiljit our navigation in

certain parts of the world. She would insist on the sur-

render of our ships. I know not what she would not de-

mand; but I am not the man to brook such indignities.

Since England wishes for war, she shall have it, and that

speedily
!

"

On the same day Bonaparte said a great deal more about

the treachery of England. The gross calumnies to which

he was exposed in the London newspapers powerfully

contributed to increase his natural hatred of the liberty

of the press; and he was much astonished that such at-

tacks could be made upon him by English subjects when
he was at peace with the English Government.

I had one day a singular proof of the importance which
Bonaparte attached to the opinion of the English people

respecting any misconduct that was attributed to him.

What I am about to state will afford another example of

Bonaparte's disposition to employ petty and roundabout

means to gain his ends. He gave a ball at Malmaison

when Hortense was in the seventh month of her preg-

nancy.^ I have already mentioned that he disliked to see

women in that situation, and above all could not endure

to see them dance. Yet, in spite of this antipathy, he

himself asked Hortense to dance at the ball at Malmai-

son. She at first declined ; but Bonaparte was exceedingly

importunate, and said to her in a tone of good-humoured

persuasion, " Do, I beg of you ; I particularly wish to see

you dance. Come, stand up, to oblige me." Hortense at

last consented. The motive for this extraordinary request

I will now explain.

On the day after the ball one of the newspapers con-

tained some verses on Hortense's dancing. She was ex-

1 This refers to the first son of Louis and of Hortense, Napole'on Charles,

the intended successor of Napoleon, who was born 1802, died 1807, elder

brother of Napoleon III.
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ceedingly annoyed at this, and when the paper arrived at

Malmaison she expressed displeasure at it. Even allow-

ing for all the facility of our newspaper wits, she was
nevertheless at a loss to understand how the lines could

have been written and printed respecting a circumstance

which only occurred the night before. Bonaparte smiled,

and gave her no distinct answer. When Hortense knew
that I was alone in the cabinet, she came in and asked me
to explain the matter; and seeing no reason to conceal

the truth, I told her that the lines had been written by

Bonaparte's direction before the ball took place. T added,

what indeed was the fact, that the ball had been prepared

for the verses, and that it was only for the appropriate-

ness of their application that the First Consul had pressed

her to dance. He adopted this strange contrivance for

contradicting an article which appeared in an English

journal announcing that Hortense was delivered. Bona-

parte was highly indignant at that premature announce-

ment, which he clearly saw was made for the sole purpose

of giving credit to the scandalous rumours of his imputed

connection with Hortense. Such were the petty machina-

tions which not unfrequently found their place in a mind
in which the grandest schemes were revolving.



CHAPTER XIX.

1803.

One of the circumstances which foretold the brief

duration of the peace of Amiens was, that Mr. Pitt was

out of office at the time of its conclusion. I mentioned

this to Bonaparte, and I immediately perceived by his

hasty " What do you say ? " that my observation had been

heard but not liked. It did not, however, require any

extraordinary shrewdness to see the true motive of Mr.

Pitt's retirement. That distinguished statesman con-

ceived that a truce under the name of a peace was indis-

pensable for England ; but, intending to resume the war
with France more fiercely than ever, he for a while retired

from office, and left to others the task of arranging the

peace ; but his intention was to mark his return to the

ministry by the renewal of the implacable hatred he had
vowed against France. Still I have always thought that

the conclusion of peace, however necessary to England,

was an error of the Cabinet of London. England alone

had never before acknowledged any of the governments

which had risen up in France since the Revolution ; and

as the past could not be blotted out, a future war, how-

ever successful to England, could not take from Bona-

parte's Government the immense weight it had acquired

by an interval of peace. Besides, by the mere fact of the

conclusion of the treaty, England proved to all Europe

that the restoration of the Bourbons was merely a pretext,

and she defaced that page of her history which might

have shown that she was actuated by nobler and more
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generous sentiments than mere hatred of France. It is

very certain that the condescension of EngLand in treating

with the First Consul had the effect of rallying round

him a great many partisans of the Bourbons, whose hopes

entirely depended on the continuance of war between

Great Britain and France. This ojiened the eyes of the

greater number, namely, those who could not see below

the surface, and were not previously aware that the

demonstrations of friendship so liberally made to the

Bourbons by the European Cabinets, and especially by

England, were merely false pretences, assumed for the

purpose of disguising, beneath the semblance of honour-

able motives, their wish to injure France, and to oppose

her rapidly increasing power.

When the misunderstanding took place, France and

England might have mutually rejjroached each other, but

justice was apparently on the side of France. It was

evident that England, by refusing to evacuate Malta, was

guilty of a palpable infraction of the treaty of Amiens,

while England could only institute against France what

in the French law language is called a suit or process of

tendency. But it must be confessed that this tendency

on the part of France to augment her territory was very

evident, for the Consular decrees made conquests more

promptly than the sword. The union of Piedmont with

France had changed the state of Europe. This union, it

is true, was effected previously to the treaty of Amiens ;
^

but it was not so with the States of Parma and Piacenza,

Bonaparte having by his sole authority constituted him-

self the heir of the Grand Duke, recently deceased. It

may therefore be easily imagined how great was England's

uneasiness at the internal prosperity of France and the

^ This is incorrect. The Senatns-consuJte incorporating Piedmont with

France was dated 11th September, 1802, six months after the peace of

Amiens.
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insatiable ambition of her ruler ; but it is no less certain

that, with respect to Malta, England acted with decidedly

bad faith ; and this bad faith appeared in its worst light

from the following circumstance : It had been stipu-

lated that England should withdraw her troops from

Malta three months after the signing of the treaty, yet

more than a year had elapsed, and the troops were still

there. The order of Malta was to be restored as it

formerly was ; that is to say, it was to be a sovereign and

independent order, under the protection of the Holy See.

The three Cabinets of Vienna, Berlin, and St. Petersburg

were to guarantee the execution of the treaty of Amiens.

The English Ambassador, to excuse the evasions of his

Government, pretended that the Eussian Cabinet con-

curred with England in the delayed fulfilment of the

conditions of the treaty ; but at the very moment he was
making that excuse a courier arrived from the Cabinet of

St. Petersburg bearing despatches completely at variance

with the assertion of Lord Whitworth. His Lordship

left Paris on the night of the 12th May, 1803, and the

English Government, unsolicited, sent passports to the

French embassy in London. The news of this sudden

rupture made the English consols fall four per cent, but

did not immediately produce such a retrograde effect on

the French Funds, which were then quoted at fifty-five

francs,— a very high point, when it is recollected that

they were at seven or eight francs on the eve of the 18th

Brumaire.

In this state of things France proposed to the English

Government to admit of the mediation of Russia; but as

England had declared war in order to repair the error she

committed in concluding peace, the proposition was of

course rejected. Thus the public gave the First Consul

credit for great moderation and a sincere wish for peace.

Thus arose between England and France a contest resem-
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uling those furious wars which marked the reigns of King

John and Charles VII. Our hcaux esjjrits drew splendid

comparisons between the existing state of things and the

ancient rivalry of Carthage and Eome, and sapiently

concluded that, as Carthage fell. England must do so

likewise.

Bonaparte was at St. Cloud when Lord Whitworth left

Paris. A fortnight was spent in useless attempts to re-

new negotiations. War, therefore, was the only alterna-

tive. Before he made his final preparations the Fii'st

Consul addressed a message to the Senate, the Legislative

Body, and the Tribunate. In this message he mentioned

the recall of the English Ambassador, the breaking out

of hostilities, the unexpected message of the King of

England to his Parliament, and the armaments which

immediately ensued in the British ports. "In vain," he

said, " had France tried every means to induce England

to abide by the treaty. She had repelled every overture,

and increased the insolence of her demands. France,"

he added, " will not submit to menaces, but will combat

for the faith of treaties, and the honour of the French

name, confidently trusting that the result of the contest

will be such as she has a right to expect from the justice

of her cause and the courage of her people."

This message was dignified, and free from that vein of

boasting in which Bonaparte so frequently indulged.

The reply of the Senate was accompanied by a vote of a

ship of the line, to be paid for out of the Senatorial salaries.

With his usual address Bonaparte, in acting for himself,

spoke in the name of the people, just as he did in the

question of the Consulate for life. But what he then did

for his own interests turned to the future interests of the

Bourbons. The very treaty which had just been broken

off gave rise to a curious observation. Bonaparte, though

not yet a sovereign, peremptorily required the King of
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England to renounce the empty title of King of France,

which was kept up as if to imply that old pretensions

were not yet renounced. The proposition was acceded to,

and to this circumstance was owing the disappearance of

the title of King of France from among the titles of the

King of England, when the treaty of Paris was concluded

on the return of the Bourbons.

The first grievance complained of by England was the

prohibition of English merchandise, which had been more

rigid since the peace than during the war. The avowal

of Great Britain on this point might well have enabled

her to dispense with any other subject of complaint ; for

the truth is, she was alarmed at the aspect of our internal

prosperity, and at the impulse given to our manufactures.

The English Government had hoped to obtain from the

First Consul such a commercial treaty as would have

proved a death-blow to our rising trade ; but Bonaparte

opposed this, and from the very circumstance of his re-

fusal he might easily have foreseen the rupture at which

he affected to be surprised. What I state I felt at the

time, when I read with great interest all the documents

relative to this great dispute between the two rival

nations, which eleven years afterwards was decided be-

fore the walls of Paris.

It was evidently disappointment in regard to a commer-

cial treaty which created the animosity of the English

Government, as that circumstance was alluded to, by way
of reproach, in the King of England's" declaration. In

that document it was complained that France had sent a

number of persons into the ports of Great Britain and

Ireland in the character of commercial agents, which char-

acter, and the privileges belonging to it, they could only

have acquired by a commercial treaty. Such was, in my
opinion, the real cause of the complaints of England; l)ut

as it would have seemed too absurd to make it the ground
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of a declaration of war, she enumerated other grievances,

viz., the union of Piedmont and of the States of Parma
and Piacenza with France, and the continuance of the

French troops in Holland. A great deal was said about

the views and projects of France with respect to Turkey,

and this complaint originated in General Sebastiani's mis-

sion to Egypt. On that point I can take upon me to

say that the English Government was not misinformed.

Bonaparte too frequently spoke to me of his ideas respect-

ing the East, and his project of attacking the English

power in India, to leave any doubt of his ever having re-

nounced them. The result of all the reproaches which

the two Governments addressed to each other was, that

neither acted with good faith.

The First Consul, in a communication to the Legisla-

tive Body on the state of France and on her foreign re-

lations, had said, " England, single-handed, cannot cope

with France." This sufficed to irritate the susceptibility

of English pride, and the British Cabinet affected to

regard it as a threat. However, it was no such tiling.

When Bonaparte threatened, his words were infinitely

more energetic. The passage above cited was merely an

assurance to France ; and if we only look at the vast

efforts and sacrifices made by England to stir up enemies

to France on the Continent, we may be justified in sup-

posing that her anger at Bonaparte's declaration arose

from a conviction of its truth. Singly opposed to France,

England could doubtless have done her much harm, es-

pecially by assailing the scattered remnants of her navy

;

but she could have done nothing against France on the

Continent. The two powers, unaided by allies, might

have continued long at war without any considerable

acts of hostility.

The first effect of the declaration of war by England

was the invasion of Hanover by the French troops under
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General Mortier. Tlie telegraphic despatch l)y whicli

this news was communicated to Paris was as laconic as

correct, and contained, in a few words, the complete his-

tory of the expedition. It ran as follows :
" The French

are masters of the Electorate of Hanover, and the enemy's

army are made prisoners of war." A day or tw^o after,

the shop-windows of the print-sellers were filled with

caricatures on the English, and particularly on the Duke
of Cambridge. I recollect seeing one in which the Duke
was represented reviewing his troops mounted on a crab.

I mention these trifles because, as I was then living en-

tirely at leisure, in the Rue Hauteville, T used frequently

to take a stroll on the Boulevards, where I w^as sometimes

much amused with these prints; and I could not help

remarking that in large cities such trifles have more
influence on the public mind than is usually supposed.

The First Consul thought the taking of the prisoners

in Hanover a good opportunity to exchange them for

those taken from us by the English navy. A proposition

to this effect was accordingly made ; but the English

Cabinet was of opinion that, though the King of England

was also Elector of Hanover, yet there was no identity

between the tw^o Governments, of both which George III.

was the head. In consecLuence of this subtle distinction

the proposition for the exchange of prisoners fell to the

ground. At this period nothing could exceed the ani-

mosity of the two Governments towards each other ; and

Bonaparte, on the declaration of war, marked his indig-

nation by an act which no consideration can justify : I

allude to the order for the arrest of all the English in

France,— a truly barbarous measure ; for can anything

be more cruel and unjust than to visit mdividuals witli

the vengeance due to the Government whose subjects

they may happen to be ? But Bonaparte, when under

the influence of anger, was never troubled by scruples.

VOL. II. — 16
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I must here notice the fulfilment of a remark Bona-

parte often made use of to me during the Consulate.

" You shall see, Bourrienne," he would say, " what use I

will make of the priests."

War being declared, the First Consul, in imitation of

the most Christian kings of olden times, recommended

the success of his arms to the prayers of the faithful

through the medium of the clergy. To this end he ad-

dressed a circular letter, written in royal style, to the

Cardinals, Archljishops, and Bishops of France.

It was as follows :
—

Mo>!SiEUR, — The motives of the present Avar are known

throughout Europe. The bad faith of the King of England, who

lias violated his treaties by refusing to restore Malta to the order

of St. John of Jerusalem, and attacked our merchant vessels

without a previous declaration of war, together with the necessity

of a just defence, forced us to have recourse to arras. I there-

fore wish you to order prayers to be offered up, in order to oh-

tain the benediction of Heaven on our enterprises. The proofs

I have received of your zeal for the puhlic service give me an

assurance of your readiness to conform with my wishes.

Given at St. Cloud, 18 Prairial, an XI. (7th June, 1803).

(Signed) Bonaparte.

This letter was remarkable in more than one respect.

It astonished most of his old brothers-in-arms, who turned

it into ridicule ; observing that Bonaparte needed no

praying to enable him to conquer Italy twice over. The
First Consul, however, let them laugh on, and steadily

followed the line he had traced out. His letter was ad-

mirably calculated to please the Court of Rome, which

he wished should consider him in the light of another

elder son of the Church. The letter was, moreover,

remarkable for the use of the word " Monsieur," which

the First Consul now employed for the first time in an

act destined for publicity. This circumstance would seem
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to indicate that lie considered Republican designations

incompatible with the forms due to the clergy : the clergy

were especially interested in the restoration of monarchy.

It may, perhaps, be thought that I dwell too much on

trifles ; but I lived long enough in Bonaparte's confidence

to know the importance he attached to trifles. The First

Consul restored the old names of the days of the week,

while he allowed the names of the months, as set down
in the Republican calendar, to remain. He commenced
by ordering the " Moniteur " to be dated " Saturday," such a

day of " Messidor." " See," said he one day, " was there

ever such an inconsistency ? We shall be laughed at

!

But I will do away with the Messidor. I will efface all

the inventions of the Jacobins." ^

The clergy did not disappoint the expectations of the

First Consul. They owed him much already, and hoped

for still more from him. The letter to the Bishops, etc.,

was the signal for a number of circulars full of eulogies

on Bonaparte.

These compliments were far from displeasing to the

First Consul, who had no objection tO flattery, though he

despised those who meanly made themselves the medium
of conveying it to him. Duroc once told me that they

had all great difficulty in preserving their gravity when
the cure of a parish in Abbeville addressed Bonaparte

one day while he was on his journey to the coast. " Re-

ligion," said the worthy cure with pompous solemnity,

" owes to you all that it is, we owe to you all that we
are ; and I, too, owe to you all that I am."^

1 See the Kepublican Calendar at the end of the second volume.
2 Not so fulsome as some of the terms used a year later, when Napoleon

was made Emperor. " I am what I am," was placed over a seat prepared

for the Emperor. One phrase, " God made Napoleon and then rested,"

drew from Narbonne the sneer that it would have been better if the

Deity had rested sooner. " Bonaparte," says Joseph de Maistre, " has

had himself described in his papers as the ' Messenger of God.' Nothing

more true. Bonaparte comes straight from heaven, like a thunderbolt

"

(Saiute-Beuve, Causeries, tome iv. p. 203).



CHAPTER XX.

1803.

In the month of April, 1803, Prince Borghbse, who was

destined one day to become Bonaparte's brother-in-law

by marrying the widow of Leclerc, was introduced to

the First Consul by Cardinal Caprara.

About the end of June Bonaparte proceeded, with

Josephine, on his journey to Belgium and the seaboard

departments. Many curious circumstances were con-

nected with this journey, of which I was informed by

Duroc after the First Consul's return, Bonaparte left

Paris on the 24th of June, and although it was not for

upwards of a year afterwards that his brow was encircled

with the imperial diadem, everything connected with the

journey had an imperial air. It was formerly the

custom, when the Kings of France entered the ancient

capital of Picardy, for the town of Amiens to offer them
in homage some beautiful swans. Care was taken to

revive this custom, which pleased Bonaparte greatly,

because it was treating him like a King. The swans

were accepted, and sent to Paris to be placed in the

basin of the Tuileries, in order to show the Parisians

the royal homage which the First Consul received when
absent from the capital.

It was also during this journey that Bonaparte began

to date his decrees from the places through which he

passed. He had hitherto left a great number of signa-

tures in Paris, in order that he might be present, as it

were, even during his absence, by the acts of his Govern-
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ment. Hitherto public acts had been signed in the name
of the Consuls of the Kepublic. Instead of this formula,

he substituted the name of the Government of the

Eepublic. By means of this variation, unimportant as

it might appear, the Government was always in the place

where the First Consul happened to be. The two other

Consuls were now mere nullities, even in. appearance.

The decrees of the Government, which Cambacer^s signed

during the campaign of Marengo, were now issued from

all the towns of France and Belgium which the First

Consul visited during his six weeks' journey. Having
thus centred the sole authority of the Eepublic in him-

self, the performers of the theatre of the Republic became,

by a natural consequence, his ; and it was quite natural

that they should travel in his suite, to entertain the

inhabitants of the towns in which he stopped by their

performances. But this was not all. He encouraged

the renewal of a host of ancient customs. He sanctioned

the revival of the festival of Joan of Arc at Orleans, and
he divided the Institute into four classes, with the inten-

tion of recalling the recollection of the old academies,

the names of which, however, he rejected, in spite of

the wishes and intrigues of Suard and the Abbd Morellet,

who had gained over Lucien upon this point.

However, the First Consul did not give to the classes

of the Institute the rank which they formerly possessed

as academies. He placed the class of sciences in the

first rank, and the old French Academy in the second

rank. It must be acknowledged that, considering the

state of literature and science at that period, the First

Consul did not make a wrong estimate of their

importance.

Although the literature of France could boast of many
men of great talent, such as La Harpe, who died during

the Consulate, Ducis, Bernardin de Saint-Pierre, Chdnier,



246 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1803.

and Lemercier, yet they could not be compared with

Lagrange, Laplace, Monge, Fourcroy, Berthollet, and

Cuvier, whose labours have so prodigiously extended the

limits of human knowledge. No one, therefore, could

murmur at seeing the class of sciences in the Institute

take precedence of its elder sister. Besides, the First

Consul was not sorry to show, by this arrangement, the

slight estimation in which he held literary men. When
he spoke to me respecting them, he called them mere

manufacturers of phrases. He could not pardon them for

excelling him in a pursuit in which he had no claim to

distinction. I never knew a man more insensible than

Bonaparte to the beauties of poetry or prose.^ A certain

degree of vagueness, which was combined with liis energy

of mind, led him to admire the dreams of Ossian, and his

decided character found itself, as it were, represented in

the elevated thoughts of Corneille. Hence his almost

exclusive predilection for these two autliors. With this

exception, the finest works in our literature were in his

opinion merely arrangements of sonorous words, void of

sense, and calculated only for the ear.

Bonaparte's contempt, or, more properly speaking, his

dislike of literature, displayed itself particularly in the

feeling he cherished towards some men of distinguished

^ It is not true tliat Bonaparte was insensible to tlie beauties of poetry

and prose. In his youth he was an enthusiastic admirer of J. J. Rousseau,

whose finest works were familiar to him. In 1789, while still a youth,

he wrote a com))endium of the revolutions of Corsica, which was much
esteemed by the Abbe Raynal. The Abbe' sent the work to Mirabeau,

who, in reply, re(iuested him to advise tlie young author to undertake

a journey to Paris. Napoleon knew by heart, and often repeated, the

finest passages in the tragedies of Corneille, Racine, and Voltaire. It cannot

with strict justice be said that Napoleon hated Chenier. He was at first

extremely partial to him. He had, however, subsequently reason to com-

plain of him, though in the end he granted him a pension. Napoleon's

connection witli Arnault, Talma, David, Paesiello, Monti, and many other

celebrated men of letters, musicians, and artists, is well known (Joseph

Bonaparte's Notes on Bourrieuue in Erreurs, vol. ii. p. 133).
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literary talent. He hated Chdnier, and Duels still more.

He could not forgive Chdnier for the Ee])ublican princi-

ples which pervaded his tragedies ; and Ducis excited in

him, as if instinctively, an involuntary hatred. Ducis,

on his part, was not backward in returning the Consul's

animosity, and I remember his writing some verses which
were inexcusably violent, and overstepped all the bounds

of truth. Bonaparte was so singular a composition of

good and bad that to describe him as he was under one

or other of these aspects would serve for panegyric or

satire without any departure from truth. Bonaparte was
very fond of Bernardin Saint-Pierre's romance of " Paul

and Virginia," which he had read in his boyhood. I

remember that he one day tried to read " Les Etudes de la

Nature," but at the expiration of a quarter of an hour he

threw down the book, exclaiming, " How can any one

read such silly stuff ? It is insipid and vapid ; there

is nothing in it. These are the dreams of a visionary !

What is nature ? The thing is vague and unmeaning.

Men and passions are the subjects to write about,— there

is something there for study. These fellows are good for

nothing under any government. I will, however, give

them pensions, because I ought to do so, as Head of

the State. They occupy and amuse the idle. I will

make Lagrange a Senator, — he has a head." ^

1 Saiiite-Beuve says :
" The persons who best knew Napoleon have

remarked that in the rapid literary education he had to improvise for

himself when he had taken possession of power, he began by much
preferring Corneille : it was only later that he got so far as to enjoy

Racine, but he did reach that point. He began as every one begins

;

he ended as cultivated and well-infomned intellects like to end"
(Causeries, tome i. p. 287). In another place Sainte-Beuve says, "Napo-
leon wrote to his l)rother Joseph, then King of Naples, who was fond of

literary men, ' You live too much with literary and with scientific men.

They are like coquettes, with whom one should keep up an intercourse of

gallantry, but of whom one should never dream of making a wife or

a minister.' This," says Sainte-Beuve, and other men of letters need not

be more touchy than he was, — " this is true of many literary men, and



248 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1803.

Although Bonaparte spoke so disdainfully of liteyary

men, it must not be taken for granted that he treated

them ill. On the contrary, all those who visited at Mal-

maison were the objects of his attention, and even flattery.

M. Lemercier was one of those who came most frequently,

and whom Bonaparte received with the greatest pleasure.

Bonaparte treated M. Lemercier with great kindness ; but

he did not like him. His character as a literary man and

poet, joined to a polished frankness, and a mild but in-

flexible spirit of republicanism, amply sufficed to explain

Bonaparte's dislike. He feared M. Lemercier and his pen
;

and, as happened more than once, he played the part of a

parasite by flattering the writer. M. Lemercier was the

only man I knew who refused the cross of the Legion of

Honour.

Bonaparte's general dislike of Hterary men was less the

result of prejudice than circumstances. In order to ap-

preciate or even to read literary works, time is requisite,

and time was so precious to him that he would have

even of some of them whom in our time we have seen as ministers, but it is

not true of M. Guizot, nor of M. Tliiers " (Causeries, tome i. p. 314 ). Again,
" Napoleon, who, like his brothers, had been from the first a great admirer of

the romance of ' Paul and Virginia,' said once to Bernardin de Saint-Pierre

when he saw him, ' Monsieur Bernardin, when will you give us another
" Paul and Virginia," or a " Chaumiere Indienne "

? You should give us

one every six months '"
( Causeries, tome vi. p. 446). Many essays in the

" Causeries "—that, for instance, on Ducis (tome vi. ) — should lie consulted

to see that Bourrienne exaggerates a good deal here. " It was the period

when Bonaparte (who had liked Ducis, and who had made many advances

towards him during his stay in Paris after the first campaigns of Italy,

going so far as to wish to take him with the expedition to Egypt) founded

a new government, and sought to attach to it every one of distinction or of

glory. How he failed with Ducis, who refused everything,— Senate,

Legion of Honour, — lias been often told "
( C<7»/ser)es, tome vi. p. 467).

See also " Tableau de la Litterature Francaise," 1800-1815, by Merlet,

Paris, Hachette, 1884, tome i. p. 224, and Meneval, tome iii. p. 48, to

the same effect. The literary men were difficult to deal with. One,

pensioned by Napoleon, loudly complained of l)eing dingracfd. The
Restoration cut off half his pension, and his fellow-writers congratulated

him on losing lialf his disgrace {Mineval, tome iii. p. 158).
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wished, as one may say, to shorten a straight line. He
liked only those writers who directed tlieir attention to

positive and precise things, which excluded all thoughts

of government and censures on administration. He looked

with a jealous eye on political economists and lawyers ; in

short, on all persons who in any way whatever meddled

with legislation and moral improvements. His hatred of

discussions on those subjects was strongly displayed on

the occasion of the classification of the Institute. Whilst

he permitted the reassembling of a literary class, to the

number of forty, as formerly, he suppressed the class of

moral and political science. Such was his predilection

for things of immediate and certain utility that even in

the sciences he favoured only such as applied to terrestrial

objects. He never treated Lalande with so much distinc-

tion as Monge and Lagrange. Astronomical discoveries

could not add directly to his own greatness; and, besides,

he could never forgive Lalande for having wished to in-

clude liim in a dictionary of atheists precisely at the

moment when he was opening negotiations with the

Court of Eome.
Bonaparte wished to be the sole centre of a world which

he believed he was called to govern. With this view he
never relaxed in his constant endeavour to concentrate

the whole powers of the State in the hands of its Chief.

His conduct upon the subject of the revival of public in-

struction affords evidence of this fact. He wished to

establish 6,000 bursaries, to be paid by Government, and
to be exclusively at his disposal, so that thus possessing

the monopoly of education, he could have parcelled it out

only to the children of those who were blindly devoted to

him. This was what the First Consul called the revival

of public instruction. During the period of my closest

intimacy with him he often spoke to me on this subject,

and listened patiently to my observations. I remember
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that one of his chief arguments was this: "What is it that

distinguishes men ? Education— is it not ? Well, if the

children of nobles be admitted into the academies, they

will be as well educated as the children of the revolution,

who compose the strength of my government. Ultimately

they will enter into my regiments as officers, and will nat-

urally come in competition with those whom they regard

as the plunderers of their families. I do not wish that
!

"

My recollections have caused me to wander from the

journey of the First Consul and Madame Bonaparte to

the seaboard departments and Belgium. I have, however,

little to add to what I have already stated on the subject.

I merely remember that Bonaparte's military suite, and
Lauriston and Eapp in particular, when speaking to me
about the journey, could not conceal some marks of dis-

content on account of the great respect which Bonaparte

had shown the clergy, and particularly to M. de Eoque-

laure, the Archbishop of Malines (or Mechlin). That

prelate, who was a shrewd man, and had the reputation

of having been in his youth more addicted to the habits

of the world than to those of the cloister, had become an

ecclesiastical courtier. He went to Antwerp to pay his

homage to the First Consul, upon whom he heaped the

most extravagant praises. Afterwards, addressing Ma-
dame Bonaparte, he told her that she was united to the

First Consul by the sacred bonds of a holi/ alliance. In

this harangue, in which unction was singularly blended

with gallantry, surely it was a departure from ecclesias-

tical propriety to speak of sacred bonds and cc lioly alliance

when every one knew that those bonds and tliat alliance

existed only by a civil contract. Perhaps M. de Eoque-

laure merely had recourse to what casuists call a pious

fraud, in order to engage the married couple to do that

which he congratulated them on having already done.

Be this as it may, it is certain that this honeyed language
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gained M. de Roquelaure the Consul's favour, and in a

short time after he was appointed to the second class of

the Institute.^

1 M. (ie Eoquelaure (1721-1818) had been Bishop of Seiilis aud Au-

mouier du Koi. lu 1802 he became Archbishop of Mechlin. In 1808 he

resigned, and was rephiced by the better-known Abbe Pradt. He died in

1818. In his okl age, retaining liis sti-ength, his memory stopped at the

time when he was still Bishop of Senlis and almoner to the King. The
lievolutiou he entirely forgot {Meneval, tome iii. p. 80).



CHAPTER XXL

1804.

The time was passed when Bonaparte, just raised to the

Consulate, only proceeded to the Temple to release the

victims of the " Loi des suspects " by his sole and imme-
diate authority. This state-prison was now to be filled

by the orders of his police. All the intrigues of Europe
were in motion. Emissaries came daily from England,

who, if they could not penetrate into the interior of

France, remained in the towns near the frontiers, where

they established correspondence, and published pamphlets,

which they sent to Paris by post, in the form of letters.

The First Consul, on the other hand, gave way, without

reserve, to the natural irritation which that power had ex-

cited by her declaration of war. He knew that the most

effective war he could carry on against England would be

a w^ar against her trade.

As a prelude to that piece of madness, known by the

name of the Continental system, the First Consul adopted

every possible preventive measure against the introduction

of English merchandise. Bonaparte's irritation against the

English was not without a cause. The intelligence which

reached Paris from the north of France was not very con-

solatory. The English fleets not only blockaded the French

ports, but were acting on the offensive, and had bombarded

Granville. The mayor of the town did his duty, but his

colleagues, more prudent, acted differently. In the height

of his displeasure Bonaparte issued a decree, by which he

bestowed a scarf of honour on Letourneur, the mayor, and
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dismissed liis colleagues from office as cowards unworthy

of trust. The terms of this decree were rather severe, but

they were certainly justified by the conduct of those who
had abandoned their posts at a critical moment.

I come now to the subject of the invasion of England,

and what the First Consul said to me respecting it. I

have stated that Bonaparte never had any idea of realis-

ing the pretended project of a descent on England. The

truth of this assertion will appear from a conversation

which I had with liim after he returned from his journey

to the north. In this conversation he repeated what he

had often before mentioned to me in reference to the proj-

ects and possible steps to which fortune might compel

him to resort.

The peace of Amiens had been broken about seven

months when, on the 15th of December, 1803, the First

Consul sent for me to the Tuileries. His incomprehen-

sible behaviour to me was fresh in my mind ; and as it

was upwards of a year since I had seen him, I confess I

did not feel quite at ease when I received the summons.
He was perfectly aware that I possessed documents and

data for writing his history which would describe facts

correctly, and destroy the illusions with which his flat-

terers constantly entertained the public. I have already

stated that at that period I had no intention of the kind

;

but those who laboured constantly to incense him against

me might have suggested apprehensions on the subject.

At all events, the fact is, that when he sent for me I

took the precaution of providing myself with a nightcap,

conceiving it to be very likely that I should be sent to

sleep at Vmcennes. On the day appointed for the inter-

view Rapp was on duty. I did not conceal from him my
opinion as to the possible result of my visit. " You need

not be afraid," said Eapp ;
" the First Consul merely

wishes to talk with you." He then announced me.
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Bonaparte came into the grand salon where I awaited

him, and addressing me in the most good-humoured way
said, " What do the gossips say of my preparations for

the invasion of England ?
"— " There is a great difference

of opinion on the subject, General." I replied. " Every

one speaks according to his own views. Suchet, for in-

stance, who comes to see me very often, has no doubt

that it will take place, and hopes to give you on the

occasion fresh proofs of his gratitude and fidelity."— " But
Suchet tells me that you do not believe it will be at-

tempted."— " That is true, I certainly do not."— " Why ?

"

— " Because you told me at Antwerp, five years ago, that

you would not risk France on the cast of a die,— that the

adventure was too hazardous, — and circumstances have

not altered since that time." — " You are right. Those

who look forward to the invasion of England are block-

heads. They do not see the affair in its true light. I

can, doubtless, land in England with 100,000 men. A
great battle will be fought, which I shall gain ; but I must
reckon upon 30,000 men killed, wounded, and prisoners.

If I march on London, a second battle must be fought. I

will suppose myself again victorious ; but what should I

do in London with an army diminished three-fourths and

without the hope of reinforcements ? It would be mad-

ness. Until our navy acquires superiority it is useless to

think of such a project. The great assemblage of troops

in the north has another object. My Government must
be the first in the world, or it must fall." ^ Bonaparte

1 Napoleon's conversation with M. de Las? Casas at St. Helena respecting

the invasion of P^ngland is very different from the above. He speaks of a

pitched battle, which wonld have decided the fate of England. " I should

not have entered England," he said, " as a conqueror, but as a liberator."

Bonaparte knew better than any one the difficulty of subduing a strong,

powerful, and united nation. Some years after these feigned prepara-

tions against England he had evidence of this truth written in letters of

blood in Spain. A combination of natural causes is always ruinous to the
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then evidently wished it to be supposed that he enter-

tained the design of invading England in order to divert

the attention of Europe to that direction.^

From Dunkirk the Eirst Consul proceeded to Ant-

werp, where also he had assembled experienced men to

ascertain their opinions respecting the surest way of

attempting a landing, the project of which was merely a

invading army. Napoleon must have been merely jesting at St. Helena

when he said that four days would have enabled him to reach London,

and that nature had made England one of our islands, like Ole'ron or

Corsica. I find these words in my notes :
" Remained with the First Con-

sul from half-past eleven to one o'clock." During this hour and a half he

said not a word bearing any resemblance to his assertions at St. Helena.

— Bourriennt.

1 It will probably always be impossible to say with certainty whether

Napoleon really intended to attempt the invasion of England. It cer-

tainly cannot be described as an empty threat. The preparations were

extraordinarily complete. The probability is, that if any chance had
enabled him to cross the Channel he might have dared the stroke. But
it is obvious that little reliance can be put on his statements at the time,

which seem to have varied. If the expedition were intended, it was natural

to try to throw doiabt on the reality of the plan. If the troops were meant
to be ready for a Continental war, the more would the threat to England
be dwelt on. In any case the effect of the preparations was very great on

England ; and contemporary accounts and caricatures are full of amusing
descriptions of the frequent panics caused in the southern districts by
rumours that the French had landed. The date given to this interview is

in opposition to ^le'neval's statement that Napoleon did not see Bourrienne

from his disgrace in 1802 till 1805 {Meneval, tome ii. p. 379). The Pa-

risians of course had their jest, and the flat-bottomed boats of the flotilla

were compared to walnut shells, and called pe'niches. In one piece Brunet,

a comic actor, was seen on the stage eating walnuts, and throwing the

shells into a tub of water. " What are you doing ? " asked his com-
panion. " Making pdn/cAes," was the answer. For tliis the police pun-

ished him ; but on the next night of the piece Brunet was found as before

with his walnuts. This time he did not answer the question as to what
he was doing till he was told, " Perhaps you don't know what you are

about ? " " Oh yes," said Brunet, " I know very well what I am about,

but I know better than to tell " {.lunot, vol. ii. p. 167). Marmont (tome ii.

p. 211) asserts that Napoleon certainly intended to cross, and he tells us

that Fulton repeatedly attempted to get Napoleon to experiment with

steam. " The First Consul treated Fulton as a charlatan, and would not

listen to him."
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pretence. The employment of large ships of war was,

after long discussions, abandoned in favour of a fiotilla.^

After visiting Belgium, and giving directions there, the

First Consul returned from Brussels to Paris by way of

Maestricht, Li^ge, and Soissons.

Before my visit to the Tuileries, and even before the

rupture of the peace of Amiens, certain intriguing specu-

lators, whose extravagant zeal was not less fatal to the

cause of the Bourbons than was the blind suljserviency

of his unprincipled adherents to the First Consul, had
taken part in some underhand manoeuvres which could

have no favourable result. Amongst these great con-

trivers of petty machinations the well-known Fauche
Borel, the bookseller of Neufchatel, had long been con-

spicuous. Fauche Borel, whose object w^as to create a

stir, and who wished nothing better than to be noticed

and paid, failed not to come to France as soon as the

peace of Amiens afforded him the opportunity. I was at

that time still with Bonaparte, who was aware of all

these little plots, but who felt no personal anxiety on the

subject, leaving to his police the care of watching their

authors.

The object of Fauche Borel's mission was to bring

about a reconciliation between Moreau and Pichegru.

The latter General, who was banished on the 18th Fruc-

tidor (4th September, 1797), had not obtained the First

Consul's permission to return to France. He lived in

England, where he awaited a favourable opportunity for

1 At this period a caricature [by Gillray ?] appeared in London, which
was sent to Paris, and strictly sought after by the police. One of the

copies was shown to the Fir.st Consul, who was highly indignant at it.

The French fleet was represented by a number of nut-shells. An English

sailor, seated on a rock, was quietly smoking his pipe, tiie whiffs of which
were throwing the whole squadron into disorder.— Bourrieyine. GiUray's

caricatures shouhl he at the reader's side during tlie perusal of this work,
also "English Caricature and Satire on Napoleon L," by J. Ashton:
Chatto and Wiudus, 1884.
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putting his old projects into execution. Moreau was in

Paris, but no longer appeared at the levees or parties of

the First Consul, and the enmity of both generals against

Bonaparte, openly avowed on the part of Pichegru, and

still disguised by Moreau, was a secret to nobody. But
as everything was prosperous with Bonaparte, he evinced

contempt rather than fear of the two Generals, His ap-

prehensions were, indeed, tolerably allayed by the absence

of the one and the character of the other. Moreau's

name had greater weight with the army than that of

Pichegru ; and those who were plotting the overthrow of

the Consular Government knew that that measure could

not be attempted with any chance of success without the

assistance of Moreau. The moment was inopportune

;

but, being initiated in some secrets of the British Cabi-

net, they knew that the peace was but a truce, and they

determined to profit by that truce to effect a reconcilia-

tion which might afterwards secure a community of

interests. Moreau and Pichegru had not been friends

since Moreau sent to the Directory the papers seized in

M. de Klinglin's carriage, which placed Pichegru's treason

in so clear a light. Since that period Pichegru's name
possessed no intluence over the minds of the soldiers,

amongst whom he had very few partisans, whilst the

name of Moreau was dear to all who had conquered

under his command.^

Fauche Borel's design was to compromise Moreau with-

out bringing him to any decisive step. Moreau's natural

indolence, and perhaps it may be said his good sense,

induced him to adopt the maxim that it was necessary

to let men and things take their course ; for temporising

policy is often as useful in politics as in war. Besides,

1 Pichegru had been actually transported to Sinnamarri [Guiana],

along with the other unfortunate victims of the 18th Fructidor, but he
liad been fortunate enough to escape.

VOL. II. — 17
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Moreau was a sincere Eepublicau ; and if his habit of

indecision had permitted him to adopt any resolution,

it is quite certain that he would not then have assisted

in the re-establishment of the Bourbons, as Pichegru

wished.

What I have stated is an indispensable introduction to

the knowledge of plots of more importance which preceded

the great event that marked the close of the Consulship

:

I allude to the conspiracy of Georges Cadoudal, Moreau,

and Pichegru, and that indelible stain on the character of

Napoleon,— the death of the Due d'Enghien. Different

opinions have been expressed concerning Georges' con-

spiracy. I shall not contradict any of them. I will relate

what I learned and what I saw, in order to throw some

light on that horrible afi'air. I am far from believing

what I have read in many works, that it was planned by

the police in order to pave the First Consul's way to the

throne. I think that it was contrived by those who were

really interested in it. and encouraged by Fouchd in order

to prepare his return to office.

To corroborate my opinion respecting Fouchd's conduct

and his manoeuvres, I must remind the reader that about

the close of 1803 some persons conceived the project of

reconciling Moreau and Pichegru. Fouch^, who was then

out of the Ministry, caused Moreau to be visited by men
of his own party, and who were induced, perhaps uncon-

sciously, by Fouch^'s art, to influence and irritate the

General's mind. It was at first intended that the Abb^
David, the mutual friend of Moreau and Pichegru, should

undertake to effect their reconciliation ; but he, being

arrested and confined in the Temple, was succeeded by a

man named Lajolais, whom every circumstance proves to

have been employed by Fouchd. He proceeded to Lon-

don, and, having prevailed on Pichegru and his friends

to return to France, he set off to announce their arrival
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and arrange everything for their reception and destruc-

tion. Moreau's discontent was the sole foundation of

this intrigue. I remember that one day, about the end

of January, 1804, I called on Fouchd, who informed me
that he had been at St. Cloud, where he had had a long

conversation with the First Consul on the situation of

affairs. Bonaparte told him that he was satisfied with

the existing police, and hinted that it was only to make
himself of consequence that he had given a false colour-

ing to the picture. Fouchd asked him what he would

say if he told him that Georges and Pichegru had l)een

for some time in Paris carrying on the conspiracy of

which he had received information. The First Con-

sul, apparently delighted at what he conceived to be

Fouch^'s mistake, said, with an air of contempt, " You
are well informed, truly ! Eegnier has just received a

letter from London stating that Pichegru dined three

days ago at Kingston with one of the King of England's

ministers."

As Fouchd, however, persisted in his assertion, the

First Consul sent to Paris for the Grand Judge,' Eegnier,

who showed Fouche the letter he had received. The
First Consul triumphed at first to see Fouchd at fault

;

but the latter so clearly proved that Georges and Pichegru

were actually in Paris that Eegnier began to fear he had

been misled by his agents, whom his rival paid better

than he did. The First Consul, convince'l that his old

minister knew more than his new one, dismissed Eegnier,

and remained a long time in consultation with Fouchd,

who on that occasion said nothing about his rein-

statement for fear of exciting suspicion. He only re-

quested that the management of the business might be

intrusted to E^al, with orders to obey whatever instruc-

tions he might receive from him. I will return hereafter

to the arrest of Moreau and the other persons accused,
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and will now subjoin the account of a long interview

which I had with Bonaparte in the midst of these im-

portant events.

On the 8th of March, 1804, some time after tlie arrest

hut before the trial of General Moreau, I had an audience

of the First Consul, which was unsought on my part.

Bonaparte, after putting several unimportant questions to

me as to what I was doing, what I expected he should do

for me, and assuring me that he would bear me in mind,

<{ave a sudden turn to the conversation, and said, "Bv
the by, the report of my connection with Hortense is

still kept up : the most abominable rumours have been

spread as to her first child. I thouglit at the time that

these reports had only been admitted by the public in

consequence of the great desire that I should not be

childless. Since you and I separated, have you heard

them repeated ? "— " Yes, General, oftentimes ; and I con-

fess I could not have believed that this calumny would

have existed so long."— "It is truly frightful to think of

!

You know the truth — you have seen all— heard all

— nothiag could have passed without your knowledge
;

you were in her full confidence during the time of her

attachment to Duroc. I therefore expect, if you should

overwrite anything about me, that you will clear me from

this infamous imputation. I would not have it accom-

pany my name to posterity. I trust in you. You have

never given credit to the horrid accusation?" — "No,

General, never." Napoleon then entered into a number

of details on the previous life of Hortense ; on the way in

which she conducted herself, and on the turn which her

marriage had taken. " It has not turned out," he said, " as

I wished : the union has not been a happy one. I am
sorry for it, not only because both are dear to me, but

because the circumstance countenances the infamous re-

ports that are current among the idle as to my intimacy
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with her." He couchided the conversatiou with these

words :
" Bourrienne, I sometimes think of recalling you

;

but as there is no good pretext for so doing, the world

would say that I have need of you, and I wish it to be

known that I stand in need of nobody." He again said

a few words about Hortense. I answered that it would

fully coincide with my conviction of the truth to do

what he desired, and that I would do it ; but that sup-

pressing the false reports did not depend on me.

Hortense, in fact, while she was Mademoiselle Beauhar-

nais, regarded Napoleon with respectful awe. She trem-

bled when she spoke to him, and never dared to ask him a

favour. When she had anything to solicit, she applied to

me ; and if I experienced any difficulty in obtaining for

her what she sought, I mentioned her as the person for

whom I pleaded. " The little simpleton !
" Napoleon would

say, " why does she not ask me herself ? Is the girl afraid

of me ?
" Napoleon never cherished for her any feeling

but paternal tenderness. He loved her after his marriage

with her mother as he would have loved his own child.

During three years I was a witness to all their most

private actions, and I declare that I never saw or heard

anything that could furnish the least ground for suspi-

cion, or that afforded the slightest trace of the existence

of a culpable intimacy. This calumny must be classed

amonsc those with which malice deliohts to blacken the

characters of men more brilliant than their fellows, and

which are so readily adopted by the light-minded and

unreflecting. I freely declare that did I entertain the

smallest doubt with regard to this odious charge, of the

existence of which I was well aware before Napoleon

spoke to me on the subject, I would candidly avow it.

He is no more ; and let his memory be accompanied only

by that, be it good or bad, which really belongs to it. Let

not this reproach be one of those charged against him by
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the impartial historian. I must say, in concluding this

delicate subject, that the principles of Napoleon on points

of this kind were rigid in the utmost degree, and that a

connection of the nature of that charged against him was
neither in accordance with his morals nor his tastes.

I cannot tell whether what followed was a portion of his

premeditated conversation with me, or whether it was the

result of the satisfaction he had derived from ascertaining

my perfect conviction of the purity of his conduct with

regard to Hortense, and being assured that I would ex-

press that conviction. Be this as it may, as I was going

out at the door he called me back, saying, " Oh ! I have

forgotten something." I returned. " Bourrienne," said

he, " do you still keep up your acquaintance with the

Fauchers ? " — " Yes, General ; I see them frequently." —
" You are wrong."— " Why should I not ? They are

clever, well-educated men, and exceedingly pleasant com-

pany, especially Ci^Bsar. I derive great pleasure from their

society ; and then they are almost the only persons whose

friendship has continued faithful to me since I left you.

You know people do not care for those who can render

them no service."— " Maret will not see the Fauchers."

—

" That may be. General ; but it is nothing to me ; and you

must recollect that as it was through him I was introduced

to them at the Tuileries, I think he ought to inform me of

his reasons for dropping their acquaintance."— "I tell you

again he has closed his door against them. Do you the

same ; I advise you." As I did not seem disposed to fol-

low this advice without some plausible reason, the First

Consul added, " You must know, then, that I learn from

Ceesar all that passes in your house. You do not speak

very ill of me yourself, nor does any one venture to do so

in your presence. You play your rubber and go to bed.

But no sooner are you gone than your wife, who never

liked me, and most of those who visit at your house, in-
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dulge in the most violent attacks upon me. I receive a

bulletin from Csesar Faucher every day when he visits at

your house ; this is the way in which he requites you
for your kindness, and for the asylum you afforded his

brother.^ But enough
;
you see I know all— farewell ;

"

and he left me.

The grave having closed over these two brothers,^ I

shall merely state that they wrote me a letter the even-

ing preceding their execution, in which they begged me
to forgive their conduct towards me. The following is

an extract from this letter :
—

"la our dungeon we hear our sentence of death being cried in

the streets. To-morrow we shall walk to the scaffold ; but we
will meet death with such calmness and courage as shall make
our executioners blush. We are sixty years old, therefore our

lives will only be shortened by a brief space. During our lives

we have shared in common illness, grief, pleasure, danger, and
good fortune. We both entered the world on the same day,

and on the same day we shall both depart from it. As to

you, sir ... "

I suppress what relates to myself.

The hour of the grand levee arrived just as the sin-

gular interview which I have described terminated. I

remained a short time to look at this phantasmagoria.

Duroc was there. As soon as he saw me, he came up,

and taking me into the recess of a window told me that

Moreau's guilt was evident, and that he was about to be
put on his trial. I made some observations on the sub-

ject, and in particular asked whether there were sufficient

1 Constautine Faucher had beeu condemned in contumacy for the for-

gery of a public document.— Bourrienne,
^ The Faucliers were twin brotliers, distinguished in the wars of the

Eevoiution, and made brigadier-generals at tlie same time on tlie field of
battle. After the Cent Jours they refused to recognise the Bourbons, and
were shot by sentence of court-martial at Bordeaux (Bouillet, Dictionnaire
d'Histoire).
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proofs of his guilt to justify his condemnation ? " They
should be cautious," said I ; "it is no joke to accuse the

conqueror of Hohenlinden." Duroc's answer satisfied me
that he at least had no doubt on the subject. "Besides,"

added he, " when such a general as Moreau has been be-

tween two gendarmes he is lost, and is good for nothing

more. He will- only inspire pity." In vain I tried to

refute this assertion so entirely contrary to facts, and to

convince Duroc that Moreau would never be damaged by

calling him " brigand," as was the phrase then, without

proofs. Duroc persisted in his opinito. As if a political

crime ever sullied the honour of any one ! The result

has proved that I judged rightly.

No person possessing the least degree of intelligence

will be convinced that the conspiracy of Moreau, Georges,

Pichegru, and the other persons accused would ever have

occurred but for the secret connivance of Fouchd's police.

Moreau never for a moment desired the restoration of the

Bourbons. I was too well acquainted with M. Carbonnet,

his most intimate friend, to be ignorant of his private sen-

timents. It was therefore quite impossible that he could

entertain the same views as Georges, the Polignacs,

Riviere, and others ; and they had no intention of com-

mitting any overt acts. These latter persons had come
to the Continent solely to investigate the actual state of

affairs, in order to inform the Princes of the House of

Bourbon with certainty how far they might depend on

the foolisli hopes constantly held out to them by paltry

agents, who were always ready to advance their own
interests at the expense of truth. These agents did in-

deed conspire, but it was against the Treasury of London,

to which they looked for pay.

Without entering into all the details of that great trial

I will relate some facts which may assist in eliciting the

truth from a chaos of intrigue and falsehood.
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Most of the conspirators had been lodged either in the

Temple or La Force, and one of theui, Bouvet de Lozier,

who was confined in the Temple, attempted to hang him-

self. He made use of his cravat to effect his purpose, and
had nearly succeeded, when a turnkey by chance entered

and found him at the point of death. When he was re-

covered, he acknowledged that though he -had the courage

to meet death, he was unable to endure the interrogato-

ries of his trial, and that he had determined to kill him-

self, lest he might be induced to make a confession. He
did in fact confess, and it was on the day after this oc-

curred that Moreau was arrested, while on his way from

his country-seat of Grosbois to Paris.

Fouchd, through the medium of his agents, had given

Pichegru, Georges, and some other partisans of royalty,

to understand that they might depend on Moreau, who,

it was said, was quite prepared. It is certain that Moreau
informed Pichegru that he (Pichegru) had been deceived,

and that he had never been spoken to on the subject.

Eussillon declared on the trial that on the 14th of March
the Polignacs said to some one, " Everything is going

wrong,— they do not understand each other. Moreau
does not keep his word. We have been deceived." M. de

Rivifere declared that he soon became convinced they had
been deceived, and was about to return to England when
he was arrested. It is certain that the principal conspira-

tors obtained positive information which contirmed their

suspicions. They learned Moreau's declaration from

Pichegru. Many of the accused declared that they soon

discovered they had been deceived ; and the greater part

of them were about to quit Paris, when they were all ar-

rested, alnfbst at one and the same moment. Georges was

going into La Vendue when he was betrayed by the man
who, with the connivance of the police, had escorted him
ever since his departure from London, and who had pro-
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tected him from any interruption on the part of the police

so long as it was only necessary to know where he was,

or what he was about. Georges had been in Paris seven

months before it was considered that the proper moment
had arrived for arresting him.

The almost simultaneous arrest of the conspirators

proves clearly that the police knew perfectly well where

they could lay their haiids upon them.^

When Pichegru was required to sign his examination,

he refused. He said it was unnecessary ; that, knowing

1 The jiolitical crime with wliich Moreau and I'ichegru were charged and
wliich Bourrieuiie apparently believed was not of a nature to stain their

characters, was an attempt on the life of the First Consul. There seems

to be no doubt that whether or not Moreau entered into the conspiracy ot

Georges and I'ichegru, he intimated liis readiness to act if the First

Consul were removed, and loss of power had hitherto in France meant
loss of life. But it is quite certain tliat Moreau was for some time in

possession of proofs of Pichegru's plot against the Directory in 1797, and
that he concealed the fact till the plot had failed and Pichegru had been

banished. We iiave a curious account of the calm way in which Napoleon
acted in this arrest of Moreau, great mistake as it was. " Madame Bona-
parte told me that Napoleon had passed almost all the night ' debout

'

(walking, probabli/, as he often did in such cases), considering the que.stion

whether he should arrest Moreau, and weighing the arguments for and
against tliis measure, without a trace of personal feeling. Towards day-

break he sent for Berthier, and after a long interview he determined to

send to Grosbois, where Moreau had retired" {Remusat, tome i. p. 302).

Too much stress has probably been laid on Moreaii's position, as if

Napoleon feared a formidable rival in him. Moreau had Ijeen more
successful in his retreats than in other points of his career, and Na]X)leon

had certainly never from the first shown the least fear of the generals who
had been famous when he was in the junior ranks. His arrest of Moreau
was exactly a similar mistake to the trial of tlie Cardinal de Rohan by
Lonis XVT. in the matter of the diamond necklace. In neither case were

the difficulties and tlie effect of a public trial understood by the Chief of the

State. If the treatment of Masscna by Napoleon is considered, it will be

seen how little he was likely to fear such men as Moreau or the already

discredited Pichegru. Moreau himself said, in 1803, to an Englishwoman
(Laily Besborough?), that he disapproved of the Government, but was not

afraid of Bonaparte, who " was a tyrant, but not an assassin
;

" and that

. he was not afraid of being banished, as he had the heart of the army ( Miss

Berry's Diarn, vol. ii. p. 235).
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all the secret machinery of the police, he suspected that

hy some chemical process they would erase all the writing

except the signature, and afterwards fill up the paper

with statements which he had never made. His refusal

to sign the interrogatory, he added, would not prevent

him from repeating before a court of justice the truth

which he had stated in answer to the questions proposed

to him. Fear was entertained of the disclosures he

might make respecting his connection with Moreau,
whose destruction was sought for, and also with respect

to the means employed by the agents of Fouche to ui'ge

the conspirators to effect a change which they desired.

On the evening of the 15th of February I heard of

Moreau's arrest, and early next morning I proceeded

straight to the Rue St. Pierre, where M. Carbonnet

resided with his nephew. I was anxious to hear from
him the particulars of the General's arrest. What was
my surprise ! I had hardly time to address myself to the

porter before he informed me that M. Carbonnet and his

nephew were both arrested. " I advise you, sir," added
the man, " to retire without more ado, for I can as-

sure you that the persons who visit M. Carbonnet are

watched."— "Is he still at home?" said I. "Yes, sir;

they are examining his papers."— " Then," said I, " I will

go up." M. Carbonnet, of whose friendship I had reason

to be proud, and whose memory will ever he dear to me,

was more distressed by the arrest of his nephew and
Moreau than by his own. His nephew was, however,

liberated after a few hours. M. Carljonnet's papers were
sealed up, and he was placed in solitary confinement at

St. Pdlagie.

Thus the police, who previously knew nothing, were
suddenly informed of all. In spite of the numerous
police agents scattered over France, it was only discov-

ered by the declarations of Bouvet de Lozier that three
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successive landings had been effected, and that a fourth

was expected, wliich, liowever, did not take phice, because

General Savary was despatched by the First Consul with

orders to seize the persons whose arrival was looked for.

There cannot be a more convincing proof of the fidelity

of the agents of the police to their old chief, and their

combined determination of trifling with their new one.



CHAPTEE XXII.

1804.

In order to form a just idea of the events which suc-

ceeded each other so rapidly at the commencement of

1804, it is necessary to consider them both separately

and connectedly. It must be borne in mind that all Bo-

naparte's machinations tended to one object, the founda-

tion of the French Empire in his favour ; and it is also

essential to consider how the situation of the emigrants,

in reference to the First Consul, had changed since the

declaration of war. As long as Bonaparte continued at

peace, the cause of the Bourbons had no support in foreign

Cabinets, and the emigrants had no alternative but to

yield to circumstances; but on the breaking out of a new
war all was changed. The cause of the Bourbons became

that of the powers at war with France; and as many
causes concurred to unite the emigrants abroad with

those who had returned but half satisfied, there was
reason to fear . something from their revolt, in combina-

tion with the powers arrayed against Bonaparte.

Such was the state of things with regard to the

emigrants when the leaders and accomplices of Georges'

conspiracy were arrested at the very beginning of 1804.

The assassination of the Due d'Enghien^ took place on

1 Louis Antoine Henri de Bourbon, Due d'Enghien (1772-1804), son of

the Due de Bourbon, and grandson of the Prince de Conde, served against

France in the army of Conde. When this force was disbanded, he stayed

at Ettenheim on account of a love affair with the Princesse Charlotte de

Hohan-Kochefort. Arrested in the territory of Baden, he was taken to

Vincennes, and after trial Ijy court-martial shot in the moat, 21st May, 1804.
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the 21st of March; on the 30th of April appeared the

proposition of the Tribunate to found a Government in

France under the authority of one individual ; on the

18th of May came the SenatiLs-consulte, naming Napoleon

Bonaparte Emperor, and lastly, on the 10th of June, the

sentence of condemnation on Georges and his accomplices.

Thus the shedding of the blood of a Bourbon, and the

placing of the crown of France on the head of a soldier

of fortune were two acts interpolated in the sanguinary

drama of Georges' conspiracy. It must be remembered,

too, that during the period of these events we were at

war with England, and on the point of seeing Austria

and the Colossus of the north form a coalition against

the new Emperor.

I will now state all I know relative to the death of the

Due d'Engliien. That unfortunate Prince, who was at

Ettenheim in consequence of a love affair, had no com-

munication whatever with those who were concocting a

With him practically ended the house of Bourbon-Conde, as his gvsinifi-

father died in 1818, leaving only the Due de Bourbon, and tlie Princesse

Louise Adelaide, Abbesse de Reniireniont, who died in 1824. The Due de

Bourbon, his father, was found in 1830, hung from a window at St. Leu.

We have the following description of him : "As to the Due d'Engliien,

I can still see him. Siiort, but well shaped, slender, he had the face of a

hero and of a maiwais sujet, with the appearance and the physical details

which please tlie French, and which he supported so well by his lightness,

his grace, and his brilliant courage, as well as by military talents to which

the Republicans themselves did justice. His first words on my presentation

were more worthy of a cornet of hussars tlian of a Prince fighting for the

throne and for the altar. ' General,' said he, ' your son has quite an inno-

cent air ; but he will sotin lose that in the society of the chevaliers of the

Crown.' I parapiirase his coarser words" {Puunidigre, p. 16), where will

also be found a more pleasing story of how the young Prince, after a long

day, finding he could not pull off his boots, asked an old gentleman

whether his boots hurt him. " Certainly, Monseigneur." — " Shall I take

them off ^
"— " Monseigneur would not tliink of such a thing !

"— " Ye.s, be-

cause when I have pulled off your boots, I shall ask you to take off mine."

This is a pleasanter version of the .stor^' of Charles tlie Bold of Burgundy

and Commines, which Scott has used so well in " Quentin Durward."
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plot in the interior. Macchiavelli says that when the

author of a crime cannot be discovered, we should seek

for those to whose advantage it turns. In the present

case Macchiavelli's advice will find an easy application,

since the Duke's death could he advantageous only to

Bonaparte, who considered it indispensable to his acces-

sion to the crown of France. The motives may be ex-

plained, but can they be justified? How could it ever be

said that the Due d'Enghien perished as a presumed
accomplice in the conspiracy of Georges ?

Moreau was arrested on the 15th of February, 1804, at

which time the existence of the conspiracy was known.
Pichegru and Georges were also arrested in February, and
the Due d'Enghien not till the 15th of March. Now, if

the Prince had really been concerned in the plot, if even

he had a knowledge of it, would he have remained at

Ettenheim for nearly a month after the arrest of his pre-

sumed accomplices, intelligence of which he might have
obtained in the space of three days ? Certainly not. So
ignorant was he of that conspiracy that when informed
at Ettenheim of the affair, he doubted it, declaring that if

it were true his father and grandfather would have made
him acquainted with it. Would so long an interval have
been suffered to elapse before lie was arrested ? Alas

!

cruel experience has shown that that step would have
been taken in a few hours.

The sentence of death against Georges and liis accom-
plices was not pronounced till the 10th of June, 1804,
and the Due d'Enghien was shot on the 21st of March,
before the trials were even commenced. How is this pre-

cipitation to be explained ? If, as Napoleon has declared,

the young Bourbon was an accomplice in the crime, why
was he not arrested at the time the others were ? Why
was he not tried along with them, on the ground of his

being an actual accomplice; or of being compromised
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by communications witli them ; or, in short, because his

answers might have thrown light on that mysterious

affair ? How was it that the name of the illustrious ac-

cused was not once mentioned in the course of that awful

trial ?

It can scarcely be conceived that Napoleon could say

at St. Helena, "Either they contrived to implicate the

unfortunate Prince in their project, and so pronounced his

doom, or, by omitting to inform him of what was going

on, allowed him imprudently to slumber on the brink of

a precipice ; for he was only a stone's cast from the fron-

tier when they were about to strike the great blow in the

name and for tlie interest of his family."

This reasoning is not merely absurd, it is atrocious. If

the Duke was implicated by the confession of his accom-

plices, he should have been arrested and tried along with

them. Justice required this. If he was not so impli-

cated, where is the proof of his guilt ? Because some indi-

viduals, without his knowledge, plotted to commit a crime

in the name of his family, he was to be shot ! Because

he was 130 leagues from the scene of the plot, aiul had

no connection with it, he was to die ! Such arguments

cannot fail to inspire horror. It is absolutely impossible

any reasonable person can regard the Due d'Enghien as

an accomplice of Cadoudal ; and Napoleon basely imposed

on his contemporaries and posterity by inventing such

falsehoods, and investing them with the authority of his

name.

Had I been then in the First Consul's intimacy, I may
aver, with as much confidence as pride, that the blood of

the Due d'Enghien would not have imprinted an indelible

stain on tlie glory of Bonaparte. In this terrible matter I

could have done what no one but me could even attempt,

and this on account of my position, which no one else has

since held with Bonaparte. I quite admit that he would
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have preferred others to me, and that he woukl have had
more friendship for them than for me, supposing friend-

ship to be compatible with the character of Bonaparte,

but I knew him better tlian any one else. Besides,

among those who surrounded him I alone could have

permitted myself some return to our former familiarity

on account of our intimacy of childhood. Certainly,

in a matter which permanently touched the glory of

Bonaparte, I should not have been restrained by the fear

of some transitory fit of anger, and the reader has seen

that I did not dread disgrace. Why should I have

dreaded it ? I had neither portfolio, nor office, nor sal-

ary, for, as I have said, I was only with Bonaparte as a

friend, and we had, as it were, a common purse. I feel a

conviction tliat it would have bean very possible for me to

have dissuaded Bonaparte from his fatal design, inasmuch
as I positively Ivuow that his object, after the termination

of the peace, was merely to frighten the emigrants, in

order to drive them from Ettenheim, where great numbers,

like the Due d'Enghien, had sought refuge. His anger

was particularly directed against a Baroness de Eeith

and a Baroness d'Ettengein, who had loudly vituperated

him, and distributed numerous libels on the left bank of

the Khine. At that period Bonaparte had as little design

against the Due d'Enghien's life as against that of any
other emigrant. He was more inclined to frighten than

to harm him, and certainly his first intention was not to

arrest the Prince, but, as I have said, to frighten the

emigres, and to drive them to a distance. I must, how-
ever, admit that when Bonaparte spoke to Eapp and
Duroc of the emigrants on the other side of the Ehine,

he expressed himself with much irritability : so much so,

mdeed, that M. de Talleyrand,^ dreading its effects for

1 On this alleged warning by Talleyrand see the Baron Massias in

"Erreurs" (tome ii. pp. 107 and 111). The Princesse de Kohan, the lady

VOL. u. — 18
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the Due d'Engliien, warned that Prince, through the

medium of a hidy to whom he was attached, of his dan-

ger, and advised him to proceed to a greater distance from

the frontier. On receiving this notice the Prince re-

solved to rejoin his grandfather, which he could not do

but by passing through the Austrian territory. Should

any doubt exist as to these facts, it may be added that

Sir Charles Stuart wrote to M. de Cobentzel to solicit a

passport for the Due d'Enghien ; and it was solely owing

to the delay of the Austrian Cabinet that time was
afforded for the First Consul to order the arrest of the un-

fortunate Prince as soon as he had formed the horrible

resolution of shedding the blood of a Bourbon. This

resolution could have originated only with himself, for

who would have dared to suggest it to him ? The fact is,

Bonaparte knew not what he did. His fever of ambition

amounted to delirium ; and he knew not how he was
losing himself in public opinion because he did not know

apparently alluded to, seems never to have known of this warning. Fur-

ther, there is this to be said. If Talleyrand had remonstrated in the

Council held before the arrest, the fact would have Ijeen known. He did

not remonstrate; see Bulwer, "Historical Character.?," p. 127, with its

rather lame excuses for the silence. If he had really desired to warn the

Prince, there could have been no difficulty in doing so. Even men attached

to Napoleon would have assisted Talleyrand in this. Thus, where Talley-

rand's conduct can be proved, we find no action in favour of the Prince.

We only have a vague .statement tliat he gave a warning, wliich no one

received, and the sending of which is absolutely without corroboration.

The Comte d'Artois (afterwards Charles X.), according to M. de Vitrolles,

gives the following version of Talleyrand's conduct on the night of the

execution :
" All that can be certainly known is that Talleyrand an-

nounced the consummation of tliis cruel murder with barbarous composure.

He was at two in the morning at the house of Madame de Laval, reclining

listlessly, as was his habit, in an arm-chair, when he drew his watch from

his pocket, and, showing no kind of emotion in his voice or countenance,

remarked, ' At this moment the last of the Condes has ceased to exist.'
"

It will be seen farther on — compare also Savary, tome ii. pp. 27-35—
that effectual warning was given to whoever was the person expected to

land on the Channel coast, and for whom Savary was waiting.
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that opinion, to gain wliicli he would have made every

sacrifice.

When Cambac^r^s (who, with a slight reservation, had

voted ^ the death of Louis XVI.) warmly opposed in the

Council the Due d'Enghien's arrest, the First Consul ob-

served to him, " Methinks, Sir, you have grown very chary

of Bourbon blood !

"

Meanwhile the Due d'Enghien was at Ettenheim, in-

dulging in hope rather than plotting conspiracies. It is

well known that an individual made an offer to the Prince

de Cond^ to assassinate the First Consul, but the Prince

indignantly rejected the proposition, and nobly refused to

recover the rights of the Bourbons at the price of such a

crime. The individual above-mentioned was afterwards

discovered to be an agent of tlie Paris police, who had
been commissioned to draw the Princes into a plot which
would have ruined them, for public feeling revolts at as-

sassination under any circumstances.

It has been alleged that Louis XVIII.'s refusal to treat

with Bonaparte led to the fatal catastrophe of the Due
d'Enghien's death. The first correspondence between
Louis XVIII. and the First Consul, which has been given

in these Memoirs, clearly proves the contrary. It is cer-

tainly probable that Louis XVIII.'s refusal to renounce

his rights should have irritated Bonaparte. But it was
rather late to take his revenge two years after, and that

1 In the Convention Cambace'res had nominally voted for the death of

Louis XVI., but witli a respite really intended to save him. Hence this

sneer. Here it is to be remarked that if Napoleon had believed that Cam-
baceres had really been a regicide, he would never have allowed him to be

Consul with him. See his language to Dumas on this subject (Mat/iieu

Dumas, tome iii. p. 316), allowing always for the circumstances that forced

Fouche, a regicide, on him. It must be remembered that Napoleon,

once arrived at jiower, had the greatest horror of the Revolution, tliat is,

of the follies and bloodshed of the Revolution. " My last break with the

Revolution " was his description of his abolition of the Tribunate. Again,
" I will not bequeath France to the Revolution, from wliich I delivered

her."
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too on a Prince totally ignorant of those overtures. It is

needless to comment on such absurdities. It is equally

unnecessary to speak of the mysterious being who often

appeared at meetings in the Faubourg St. Germain, and

who was afterwards discovered to be Pichegru.^

A further light is thrown on this melancholy catas-

trophe by a conversation Napoleon had, a few days after

his elevation to the imperial throne, with M. Massias, the

French Minister at the Court of the Grand Duke of Baden.

This conversation took place at Aix-la-Chapelle. After

some remarks on the intrigues of the emigrants, Bonaparte

observed, " You ought at least to have prevented the plots

which the Due d'Enghien was hatching at Ettenheim."

—

1 Of this mysterious personage Savary gives tlie following particulars,

collected from the evidence for the investigation of Georges' conspiracy

:

" Georges was considered as merely a principal instrument ; the question

was, for whom, in whose name, he would have acted the day following that

on wliich he should have despatched the First Consul. It was very natur-

ally concluded that a more important personage was somewhere concealed,

and waiting for the blow to be struck before he made himself known. An
active search was set on foot. Georges' people, and those of the house in

which he had lodged, were examined ; but nothing was discovered. At
length two of his servants, being separately interrogated, declared that

every ten or twelve days there came to their master a gentleman whose

name they did not know, about thirty-four or thirty-five years of age, who
had light hair, was bald on tlie foreliead, of middle height, and rather cor-

pulent. They stated that he was always extremely well-dressed, both as

to his linen and otherwise ; that he must be a person of consequence, for

their master always went to the door to receive him. When he was in the

room everybody, Messrs. de I'olignac and de Riviere, as well as the others,

rose and did not sit down till he had again retired, and that whenever he

came to see Georges they went together into a cabinet, wliere they remained

alone till he went away, and then Georges attended him to the door.

" The description given of this mysterious person corresponded neither

with the age of the Comte d'Artois nor the person of the Due de Berri.

Besides, the witnesses knew the latter personally, and declared it was not

he. The Due d'Angouleme was at Mittau with the King; the Due de

Bourbon was known to be in London. Attention was therefore directed

to the Due d'Enghien, who resided at Ettenheim on the right bank of the

Khine" {Memoirs ofthe Duke of Rovigo, vol. ii. p. 42).

Rovigo subsequently corroborates the statement of M. de Bourrienne,

that the mysterious person turned out to be Pichegru.
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" Sii'e, I am too old to learn to tell a falsehood. Believe

me, on tliis subject your Majesty's ear has been abused."—
" Do you not think, then, that had the conspiracy of Georges

and Pichegru proved successful, the Prince would have

passed the Rhine, and have come post to Paris ?

"

M. Massias, from whom I had these particulars, added,

"At this last question of the Emperor I hung down my
head and was silent, for I saw he did not wish to hear the

truth."

Now let us consider, with that attention which the im-

portance of the subject demands, what has been said by
the historians of St. Helena.

Napoleon said to his companions in exile that " the Due
d'Enghien's death must be attributed either to an excess

of zeal for him (Napoleon), to private views, or to mys-
terious intrigues. He had been blindly urged on ; he was,

if he might say so, taken by surprise. The measure was
precipitated, and the result predetermined."

This he might have said ; but if he did so express him-

self, how are we to reconcile such a declaration with the

statement of O'Meara ? How give credit to assertions so

very opposite ?
^

1 The following is the statement referred to :
—

" It was discovered," said Napoleon, " by the confession of some of the

consjjirators, that the Due d'Enghien was an accomplice, and that he was
only waiting on the frontiers of France for the news of my assassination,

upon receiving which lie was to have entered France as the King's lieu-

tenant. Was I to suffer that the Comte d'Artois should send a parcel of

miscreants to murder me, and that a Prince of his House should hover on
the borders of the country that I governed, to profit by my assassination 1

According to the laws of nature I was authorised to cause him to be as-

sassinated in retaliation for the numerous attempts of the Ivind that he
had before caused to be made against me. I gave orders to have him
seized. He was tried and condemned by a law made long before I had any
power in France. He was tried by a military commission formed of all

the colonels of the regiments then in garrison at Paris. He was accused

of having borne arms against the Republic, which he did not deny. When
before the Tribunal, he behaved with great Ijravery. AVhen he arrived at
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Napoleon said to M. de Las Casas:—
" One day when alone, I recollect it well, I was taking my

coffee, half seated on the table at which I had just dined, when

suddenly information was brought to me that a new conspiracy

had been discovered. I was warmly urged to put an end to

these enormities ; they represented to me that it was time at

last to give a lesson to those who had been day after day con-

spiring against my life ; that this end could only be attained by

shedding the blood of one of them ; and that the Due d'En-

ghien, who might now be convicted of forming part of this new
conspiracy, and taken in the very act, should be that one. It

was added that he had been seen at Stra.sburg ; that it was even

believed that he had been in Paris ; and that the plan was that

he should enter France by the east at the moment of the explo-

sion, whilst the Due de Berri was disembarking in the west. I

should tell you," observed the Emperor, "that I did not even

know precisely who the Due d'Eughien was (the Eevolution

having taken place when I was yet a very young man, and I

having never been at Court), and that I was quite in the dark as

to where he was at that moment. Having been informed on

those points, I exclaimed that if such were the case the Duke
ought to be arrested, and that orders should be given to that

effect. Everything had been foreseen and prepared ; the differ-

ent orders were already drawn up, nothing remained to be done

but to sign them, and the fate of the young Prince was thus

decided."

Strasburg, he wrote a letter to me in which he offered to discover every-

thing if pardon were granted to him ; said that liis family had lost their

claims for a long time ; and concluded by offering his services to me.

Tliis letter was delivered to Talleyrand, who concealed it until after his

execution. Had the Comte d'Artois been in his place, he would have suf-

fered the same fate ; and were I now placed under similar circumstances

I would act in a similar manner. As the police," added Napoleon, " did

not like to trust to the evidence of Mehee de la Touclie alone, they sent

Captain Rosey (a man in whose integrity they had every confidence) to

Drake at Munich with a letter from iNlehee, which procured him an inter-

view, the result of whicli confirmed Mehee's statement, tliat he was con-

cerned in a plot to terrasser ie premier Consul, no matter by what means "

( Voicefrom St, Helena).
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Napoleon next asserts that in the Duke's arrest and
condemnation all the usual forms were strictly observed.

But he has also declared that the death of that unfortu-

nate Prince will be an eternal reproach to those who,

carried away by a criminal zeal, waited not for their

Sovereign's orders to execute the sentence of the court-

martial. He would, perhaps, have allowed the Prince to

live ; but yet he said, " It is true I wished to make an

example which should deter."

It has been said that the Due d'Enghien addressed a

letter to Napoleon, which was not delivered till after the

execution. This is false and absurd ! How could that

Prince write to Bonaparte to offer him his services and to

solicit the command of an army ? His- interrogatory

makes no mention of this letter, and is in direct opposition

to the sentiments which that letter would attribute to

him. The truth is, no such letter ever existed. The in-

dividual who was with the Prince declared he never

wrote it. It will never be believed that any one would
have presumed to withhold from Bonaparte a letter on
which depended the fate of so august a victim.

In his declarations to his companions in exile Napoleon
endeavoured either to free himself of this crime or to

justify it. His fear or his susceptibility was such, that in

discoursing with strangers he merely said, that had he
known of the Prince's letter, which was not delivered to

him — God knows why !— until after he had breathed

his last, he would have pardoned him. But at a subse-

quent date he traced, with his own hand, his'last thoughts,

which he supposed would be consecrated in the minds of

his contemporaries and of posterity. Napoleon, touch-

ing on the subject which he felt would be one of the

most important attached to his memory, said tbat if the

thing were to do again he would act as he then did. How
does this declaration tally with his avowal, that if he had
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received the Prince's letter he should have lived ? This is

irreconcilable. But if we compare all that NajDoleon said

at St. Helena, and which has heen transmitted to ns by
his faithful followers ; if we consider his contradictions

when speaking of the Dnc d'Enghien's death to strangers,

to his friends, to the public, or to posterity, the question

ceases to be doubtful. Bonaparte wished to strike a blow

which would terrify his enemies. Fancying that the Due
de Berri was ready to land in France, he despatched his

aide-de-camp Savary, in disguise, attended by gendarmes,

to watch the Duke's landing at Biville, near Dieppe. This

turned out a fruitless mission. The Duke was warned in

time not to attempt the useless and dangerous enterprise

;

and Bonaparte, enraged to see one prey escape him,

pounced upon another. It is well known that Bonaparte

often, and in the presence even of persons whom he con-

ceived to have maintained relations with the partisans of

the Bourbons at Paris, expressed himself thus :
" I will

put an end to these conspiracies. If any of the emigrants

conspire, they shall be shot. I have been told that Co-

bentzel harbours some of them. I do not believe this
;

but if it be true, Cobentzel shall be arrested and shot

along with them. I will let the Bourbons know I am
not to be trifled with."

The above statement of facts accounts for the suppo-

sitions respecting the probable influence of the Jacobins

in this affair. It has been said, not without some appear-

ance of reason, that to get the Jacobins to help him to

ascend the throne Bonaparte consented to sacrifice a vie-

.

tim of the blood royal, as the only pledge capable of

insuring them against the return of the proscribed fam-

ily. Be this as it may, there are no possible means of

relieving Bonaparte from his share of guilt in the death

of the Due d'Enghien.

To the above facts, which came within my own knowl-
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edge, I may add the following curious story, which was
related to me by an individual who himself heard it from

the secretary of General Davoust.

Davoust was commanding a division in the camp of

Boulogne, and his secretary when proceeding thitlier to

join him met in the diligence a man who seemed to be

absorbed in alHiction. This man during the whole jour-

ney never once broke silence but by some deep sighs,

which he Jiad not power to repress. General Davoust's

secretary observed him with curiosity and interest, but

did not venture to intrude upon his grief by any conver-

sation. The concourse of travellers from Paris to the

camp was, however, at that time very great, and the inn

at which the diligence stopped in the evening was so

crowTled that it was impossible to assign a chamber to

each traveller. Two, therefore, were put into one room,

and it so happened that the secretary was lodged with

his mysterious travelling companion.

When tliey were alone, he addressed him in a tone of

interest which banished all appearance of intrusion. He
inquired whether the cause of his grief was of a nature to

admit of any alleviation, and offered to render him any

assistance in his power. " Sir," replied the stranger, " I

am much obliged for the sympathy you express for me,—
I want nothing. There is no possible consolation for me.

My affliction can end only wdth my life. You shall judge

for yourself, for the interest you seem to take in my mis-

fortune fully justifies my confidence. I was quarter-

master in the select gendarmerie, and formed part of a

detachment which was ordered to Vincennes. I passed

the night there under arms, and at daybreak was ordered

down to the moat with six men. An execution was to

take place. The prisoner was brought out, and I gave

the word to fire. The man fell, and after the execution

I learned that we had shot the Due d'Enshien. Judge
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of my horror ! . . . I knew the prisoner only by the name
of the hrigand of La Vendee ! . . . 1 could no longer

remain in the service — I obtained my discharge, and am
about to retire to my family. Would that I had done so

sooner !
" The above has been related to me and other

persons by Davoust's secretary, whom I shall not name.

Note.— At the time of the Due d'Eughieii's execution, General Murat,
the First Consul's brother-iu-law, was governor of Paris. 'I he castle of

Viuceuues being witliiu his Tnilitary jurisdiction, many writers have held

him up to that infamy which ought more properly to ha\ e fallen on other

heads. Murat was a kind-hearted, humaue man ; though a soldier of for-

tune, and accustomed to scenes of carnage, he could see blood spilt only

on the field, and slmddered at all civil executions or private acts of ven-

geance. Under his two immediate predecessors on that throne conspirators,

and men called so, were hanged or shot by dozens at a time ; but during
the seven years that Murat was King of Naples he did not allow an exe-

cution of the kind, and he never could be brouglit to sign a death-warrant

for any, the worst .species of criminal, without the greatest difficulty. His
feelings on these points amounted to a weakness. Being well aware of

the reports against liini, he took every o))p()rtunity of contradicting them
to the persons in his confidence ; and to the last moment of his life he
solemnly protested that he had done all he could to save the Duke. He
denied that lie apjjomted the eight officers who sat in judgment at

Vincennes, and, witliout expressly naming them, he seemed to lay most of

the bhime on Fouchc, Savary, and Hullin. lie never s])oke of the mid-

night trial and the execution in the ditch without liorror. We have
received this information from men of most honourable cliaracters, and
we give it a place here because we are convinced in our own minds of

its veracity, and think it fair to rescue the fame of Murat, who, with all

his faults, was one of the best men in the scliool he belonged to.

The end of Joachim Murat bore a striking resemblance to that of the

Due d'I']ngliien. He was tried by an incompetent military tribunal, and
shot in the courtyard of an old castle in Calabria. Hence several authors

have taken occasion to establish a visitation of I'rovidence, and to declare

that Murat, iniquitously tried and barbarou.sly murdered, merited the

fate he met at Pizzo on the 14tli of October, 1815, by what he had done at

Vincennes on the 20th of March, 1804.

In General Colletta's admirable history of the Kingdom of Naples there

is a narrative of Murat's death, which was drawn up entirely from the

accounts of eye and ear witnesses. One of the last things Joachim said to

Captain Stratti, the commandant of the castle of Pizzo, was :
" As for the

tragedy of tlie Due d'Enghien, which King Ferdinand is about to avenge
witii another tragedy, I had no part in it, and this I swear by that God in

whose presence I must shortly appear."
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Like the Due d'Enghien, Murat refused to have his eves bandaged, and
he himself gave the word of command to his soldiers'. These, the' kist
words he spoke, were higlily cliaracteristic of the man, — of liis dauntless
bravery and personal vanity. " Soldiers," he said, " spare my face, — aim
at my heart !" The volley was fired, and Joachim Murat fell dead, still
holding in his hands the miniature portraits of his children (6Wa(/e/
Reame di NupoU dul 1734, sino at 1825).— Editor o/1836 eduion.



CHAPTER XXIIT.

1804.

I WILL now narrate more fully the sanguinary scene

which took place at Vincennes. General Ordener, com-

manding the mounted grenadiers of the Guard, received

orders from the War Minister to proceed to the Ehine,

to give instructions to the chiefs of the gendarmerie

of New Brissac, which was placed at his disposal. Gen-
eral Ordener sent a detachment of gendarmerie to Etten-

heim, where the Due d'Enghien was arrested on the 15th

of March. He was immediately conducted to the citadel

of Strasburg, where he remained till the LSth, to give

time for the arrival of orders from Paris. These orders

were given rapidly, and executed promptly, for the car-

riage which conveyed the unfortunate Prince arrived

at the barrier at eleven o'clock on the morning of the

20th, where it remained for five hours, and afterwards

proceeded by the exterior boulevards on the road to

Vincennes, where it arrived at night. Every scene of

this horrible drama was acted under the veil of night

:

the sun did not even shine upon its tragical close. The
soldiers received orders to proceed to Vincennes at night.

It was at night that the fatal gates of the fortress

were closed upon the Prince. At night the Council

assembled and tried him, or rather condemned him with-

out trial. When the clock struck six in the morning,

the orders were given to fire, and the Prince ceased

to exist.

Here a reflection occurs to me. Supposing one were

inclined to admit that the Council held on the 10th
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of March had some connection with the Due d'Enghien's

arrest, yet as no Council was held from the time of the

Duke's arrival at the barrier to the moment of his

execution, it could only be Bonaparte himself who issued

the orders which were too punctually obeyed. When the

dreadful intelligence of the Due d'Enghien's death was
spread in Paris, it excited a feeling of consternation

which recalled the recollection of the Eeign of Terror.

Could Bonaparte have seen the gloom which pervaded

Paris, and compared it with the joy which prevailed

on the day when he returned victorious from the field

of Marengo, he would have felt that he had tarnished his

glory by a stain which could never be effaced.

About half past twelve on the 22d of March I was
informed that some one wislied to speak with me. It was
Harrel,^ I will relate word for word what he communi-
cated to me. Harrel probably thought that he was bound
in gratitude to acquaint me with these details ; but he

owed me no gratitude, for it was much against my will

that he had encouraged the conspiracy of C^racchi, and
received the reward of his treachery in that crime. The
following is Harrel's statement :

" On the evening of

the day before yesterday, when the Prince arrived, I

was asked whether I had a room to lodge a prisoner in

;

I replied, No, — that there were only my apartments

and the Council-chamber. I was told to prepare instantly

a room in which a prisoner could sleep who was to arrive

that evening. I was also desired to dig a pit in the

courtyard.2 I replied that that could not be easily done,

1 Harrel, wlio had been unemployed till the plot of Arena and Ceracchi

on the 18th Vendemiaire, an IX. (10th October, 1800), which he had
feigned to join, and had then revealed to the police (see ante), had been

made Governor of Vincennes.
2 This fact must be noted. Harrel is told to dig a trench before tlie

sentence. Thus it was known that they had come to kill the Due
d'Enghien. How can this be answered 1 Can it possibly be supposed
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as the cointyard was paved. The moat was then fixed

upon, and there the pit was dug. The Prince arrived at

seven o'clock in the evening ; he was perisliing with cold

and hunger. He did not appear dispirited. He said

he wanted something to eat, and to go to bed afterwards.

His apartment not being yet sufficiently aired, I took

him into my own, and sent into the village for some

refreshment. The Prince sat down to table, and invited

me to eat with him. He then asked me a number
of questions respecting Vincennes, — what was going

on there, and other particulars. He told me that he

had been brought up in the neighbourhood of the castle,

and spoke to me with great freedom and kindness.

' What do they want with me ?
' he said. ' What do they

mean to do with me ?
' But these questions betrayed

no uneasiness or anxiety. My wife, who was ill, was

lying in the same room in an alcove, closed by a railing.

She heard, without being perceived, all our conversation,

and she was exceedingly agitated, for she recognised

the Prince, whose foster-sister she was, and whose family

had given her a pension before the Kevolution.

"The Prince hastened to bed, but before he could have

fallen asleep the judges sent to request his presence

in the Council-chamber. I was not present at his

examination ; but when it was concluded he returned

to his chamber, and when they came to read his sentence

to him, he was in a profound sleep. In a few moments
after he was led out for execution. He had so little

suspicion of the fate that awaited him, that on descend-

ing the staircase leading to the moat he asked where

they were taking him. He received no answer. I went

before the Prince with a lantern. Feeling the cold air

that any one, whoever it was, wouhl have dared to give such an order

in anticipation, if tlie order had not heen the carrying out of a formal

command of Bonaparte ? Tiiat is incredible.— Bourrienne.
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which came np the staircase, he pressed my arm and said,

' Are they going to put me into a dungeon ?
'

"

The rest is known. I can yet see Harrel shuddering

while tliinking of this action of the Prince's.

Much has been said aljout a lantern which it is pre-

tended was attached to one of the Due d'P]nghien's

button-holes. This is a pure invention. Captain Dau-
tancourt, whose sight was not very good, took the lantern

out of Harrel's hand to read the sentence to the victim,

who had been condemned with as little regard to judicial

forms as to justice. This circumstance probably gave

rise to the story about the lantern to which I have just

alluded. The fatal event took place at six o'clock on

the morning of the 21st of March, and it was then

daylight.

General Savary did not dare to delay the execution

of the sentence, although the Prince urgently demanded
to have an interview with the First Consul. Had
Bonaparte seen the Prince, there can be little doubt

but that he would have saved his life. Savary, however,

thought himself bound to sacrifice his own opinions

to the powerful faction which then controlled the First

Consul ; and whilst he thought he was serving his

master, he was in fact only serving the faction to which,

I must say, he did not belong. The truth is, that General

Savary can only be reproached for not having taken upon
himself to suspend the execution, which very probably

would not have taken place had it been suspended. He
was merely an instrument, and regret on his part would,

perhaps, have told more in his favour than his vain

efforts to justify Bonaparte. I have just said that if

there had been any suspension there would have been

no execution ; and I think this is almost proved by
the uncertainty which must have existed in the mind of

the First Consul. If he had made up his mind, all the
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measures would have been taken in advance ; and if they

had been, the carriage of the Duke would certainly not

have been kept for five hours at the barriers. Besides,

it is certain that the first intention was to take the

Prince to the prison of the Temple.

From all that I have stated, and particularly from the

non-suspension of the execution, it appears to me as clear

as day that General Savary had received a formal order

from Bonaparte for the Due d'Enghien's death, and also

a formal order that it should be so managed as to make
it impossible to speak to Bonaparte again on the subject

until all should be over. Can there be a more evident, a

more direct proof of this than the digging of the grave

beforehand ? I have repeated Harrel's story just as he

related it to me. He told it me without solicitation, and

he could not invent a circumstance of this nature.^

General Savary was not in the moat during the execu-

tion, but on the bank, from whence he could easily see

all that passed. Another circumstance connected with

the Due d'Enghien's death has been mentioned, which is

true. The Prince had a little dog ; this faithful animal

returned incessantly to the fatal spot in the moat. There

are few who have not seen that spot. Who has not made
a pilgrimage to A^incennes and dropped a tear where the

victim fell ? The fidelity of the poor dog excited so much
interest that the police prevented any one from visiting

the fatal spot, and the dog was no longer heard to howl
over his master's grave.

I -promised to state the truth respecting the death of

the Due d'Enghien, and I have done so, though it has

cost me some pain. Harrel's narrative, and the shocking

circumstance of the grave being dug beforehand, left me
no opportunity of cherishing any doubts I might have

wished to entertain ; and everything which followed con-

1 Harrel's antecedents should, however, be borne in mind.
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firmed the view I then took of the subject. When Harrel

left me on the 22d, I determined to go to Malmaison to

see Madame Bonaparte, knowing, from her sentiments

towards the House of Bourbon, that she would be in the

greatest affliction. I had previously sent to know whether

it would be convenient for her to see me,— a precaution I

had never before observed, but which I conceived to be

proper upon that occasion. On my arrival I was imme-
diately introduced to her boudoir, where she was alone

with Hortense and Madame de R^musat. They were all

deeply afflicted. " Bourrienne," exclaimed Josephine, as

soon as she perceived me, " what a dreadful event ! Did
you but know the state of mind Bonaparte is in ! He
avoids, he dreads the presence of every one ! Who could

have suggested to him such an act as this ? " I then

acquainted Josephine with the particulars which I had
received from Harrel " What barbarity ! " she resumed.
" But no reproach can rest upon me, for I did every-

thing to dissuade him from this dreadful project. He
did not confide the secret to me, but I guessed it, and
he acknowledged all. How harshly he repelled my en-

treaties ! I clung to him ! I threw myself at his feet

!

' Meddle with what concerns you !
' he exclaimed angrily.

' This is not women's business ! Leave me !
' And he

repulsed me with a violence which he had never displayed

since our first interview after your return from Egypt.

Heavens ! what will become of us ?
"

I could say nothing to calm affliction and alarm in

which I participated, for to my grief for the death of

the Due d'Enghien was added my regret that Bonaparte

should be capable of such a crime. " Wliat," said Jose-

phine, " can be thought of this in Paris ? He must be the

object of universal imprecation, for even here his flatterers

appear astounded when they are out of his presence.

How wretched we have been since yesterday ; and
VOL. II. — 19



290 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1804.

he ! . . . You know what he is when he is dissatisfied

with himself. No one dare speak to him, and all is

mournful around us. What a commission he gave to

Savary ! You know I do not like the General, because

he is one of those whose flatteries will contribute to

ruin Bonaparte. Well ! I pitied Savary when he came
yesterday to fulfil a commission which the Due d'Enghien

had intrusted to him. Here," added Josephine, " is

his portrait and a lock of his hair, which he has re-

quested me to transmit to one who was dear to him.

Savary almost shed tears when he described to me the

last moments of the Duke ; then, endeavouring to resume

his self-possession, he said :
' It is in vain to try to be

indifferent, Madame ! It is impossible to witness the

death of such a man unmoved !
'

"

Josephine afterw^ards informed me of the only act

of courage which occurred at this period, namely, the

resignation which M. de Chateaubriand had sent to

Bonaparte. She admired his conduct greatly, and said :

" What a pity he is not surrounded by luen of this

description ! It would be the means of preventing all

the errors into which he is led by the constant approba-

tion of those about him." Josephine thanked me for my
attention in coming to see her at such an unhappy junc-

ture ; and I confess that it reqidred all the regard I

cherished for her to induce me to do so, for at that

moment I should not have wished to see the First Con-

sul, since the evil was irreparable. On the evening of that

day nothing was spoken of but the transaction of the 21st

of March, and tlie noble conduct of M. de Chateau-

briand. As the name of that celebrated man is for ever

written in characters of honour in the history of that

period, I think I may with propriety relate here what I

know respecting his previous connection with Bonaparte.

I do not recollect the precise date of M. de Chateau-
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briand's return to France ; I only know that it was about

tbe year 1800, for we were, I think, still at the Luxem-
bourg. However, I recollect perfectly that Bonaparte

began to conceive prejudices against hiin ; and when I

one day expressed my surprise to the First Consul that

M. de Chateaubriand's name did not appear on any of

the lists which he had ordered to be presented to him
for filling up vacant places, he said: "He has been

mentioned to me, but I replied in a way to check all

hopes of his obtaining any appointment. He has notions

of liberty and independence which will not suit my
system. I would rather have him my enemy than my
forced friend. At all events, he must wait awhile ; I

may, perhaps, try him first in a secondary place, and, if

he does well, I may advance him."

The above is, word for word, what Bonaparte said the

first time I conversed with him about M. de Chateau-

briand. The publication of"Atala"and the " Gdnie du
Christianisme " suddenly gave Chateaubriand celebrity,

and attracted the attention of the First Consul. Bona-

parte, who then meditated the restoration of religious

worship in France, found himself wonderfully supported

by the publication of a book which excited the highest

interest, and whose superior merit led the public mind
to the consideration of religious topics. I remember
Madame Bacciocchi coming one day to visit her brother

with a little volume in her hand; it was " Atala." She

presented it to the First Consul, and begged he would

read it. " What, more romances !
" exclaimed he. " Do

you think I have time to read all your fooleries ? " He,

however, took the book from his sister and laid it down
on my desk. Madame Bacciocchi then solicited the

erasure of M. de Cliateaubriand's name from the list of

emigrants. " Oh ! oh ! " said Bonaparte, " it is Chateau-

briand's book, is it ? I will read it, then. Bourrienne,

write to Fouch^ to erase his name from the list."
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Bonaparte at that time paid so little attention to what
was doing in the literary world that he was not aware of

Chateaubriand being the author of " Atala." It was on

the reconnnendation of M. de Fontanes that Madame
Bacciocchi tried this experiment, which was attended by
complete success. The First Consul read " Atala," and
was much pleased with it. On the publication of the
" Gdnie du Christianisme " some time after, his first

prejudices were wholly removed. Among the persons

about him there were many who dreaded to see a man
of M. de Chateaubriand's talent approach the First Con-

sul, who knew how to appreciate superior merit when it

did not excite his envy.

Our relations with the Court of the Vatican being

renewed, and Cardinal Fesch appointed Ambassador to

the Holy See, Bonaparte conceived the idea of making

M. de Chateaubriand first secretary to the Embassy,

thinking that the author of the " Gdnie du Christi-

anisme" was peculiarly fitted to make up for his uncle's

deficiency of talent in the capital of the Christian world,

which was destined to become the second city of the

Empire.

It was not a little extraordinary to see a man, pre-

viously a stranger to diplomatic business, stepping over

all the intermediate degrees, and being at once invested

with the functions of first secretary to an important

Embassy. I oftener than once heard the First Consul

congratulate himself on having made the appointment.

I knew, though Bonaparte was not aware of the circum-

st^ance at the time, that Chateaubriand at first refused

the situation, and that he was only induced to accept it

by the entreaties of the heads of the clergy, particularly of

the Abbd Emery, a man of great influence. They repre-

sented to the author of the "Gdnie du Christianisme"

that it was necessary he should accompany the uncle of
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the First Consul to Rome ; and M. de Chateaubriand

accordingly resolved to do so.

However, clouds gathered, I do not know from what
cause, between the ambassador and his secretary. All I

know is, that on Bonaparte bemg informed of the circum-

stance he took the part of the Cardinal, and the friends of

M. de Chateaubriand expected to see him soon deprived

of his appointment, when, to the great astonishment of

every one, the secretary to the Roman Embassy, far from

being disgraced, was raised by the First Consul to the

rank of Minister Plenipotentiary to the Valais, with leave

to travel in Switzerland and Italy, together with the

promise of the first vacant Embassy.

This favour excited a considerable sensation at the

Tuileries ; but as it was known to be the will and pleas-

ure of the First Consul, all expression of opinion on the

subject was confined to a few quiet murmurs that Bona-

parte had done for the name of Chateaubriand what, in

fact, he had done only on account of his talent. It was
during the continuance of this favour that the second

edition of the " Gdnie du Christianisme " was dedicated

to the First Consul.

M. de Chateaubriand returned to France previously

to entering on the fulfilment of his new mission. He
remained for some months in Paris, and on the day

appointed for his departure he went to take leave of the

First Consul. By a singular chance it happened to be

the fatal morning of the 21st of March, and consequently

only a few hours after the Due d'Enghien had been shot.

It is unnecessary to observe that M. de Chateaubriand

was ignorant of the fatal event. However, on his return

home he said to his friends that he had remarked a sin-

gular change in the appearance of the First Consul, and
that there was a sort of sinister expression in his coun-

tenance. Bonaparte saw his new minister amidst the
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crowd who attended the audience, and several times

seemed inclined to step forward to speak to him, but as

often turned away, and did not approach him the whole

morning. A few hours after, when M. de Chateaubriand

mentioned his observations to some of his friends, he was

made acquainted with the cause of that agitation which,

in spite of all his strength of mind and self-command,

Bonaparte could not disguise.

M. de Chateaubriand instantly resigned his appoint-

ment of Minister Plenipotentiary to the Valais. For sev-

eral days his friends were much alarmed for his safety,

and they called every morning early to ascertain whether

he had not been carried off during the night. Their fears

were not without foundation. I must confess that I, who
knew Bonaparte well, was somewhat surprised that no

serious consequence attended the anger he manifested on

receiving the resignation of the man who had dedicated

his work to him. In fact, there was good reason for ap-

prehension, and it was not without considerable difficulty

that Elisa succeeded in averting the threatened storm.

From this time began a state of hostility between Bona-

parte and Chateaubriand which only terminated at the

Restoration.

I am persuaded, from my knowledge of Bonaparte's

character, that though he retained implacable resentment

against a returned emigrant who had dared to censure his

conduct in so positive a manner, yet, his first burst of

anger being soothed, that which was the cause of hatred

was at the same time the ground of esteem. Bonaparte's

animosity was, I confess, very natural, for he could not

disguise from himself the real meaning of a resignation

made under such circumstances. It said plainly, " You
have committed a crime, and I will not serve your Gov-

ernment, which is stained with the blood of a Bourbon
!

"

I can therefore very well imagine that Bonaparte could
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never pardon the only man wlio dared to give liim such a

lesson in the midst of tlie plenitude of his power. But,

as I have often had occasion to remark, there was no
unison between Bonaparte's feelings and his judgment.

I find a fresh proof of this in the following passage,

which he dictated to M. de Montholon at St. Helena {316-

moires, tome iv. p. 248). " If," said he, " the royal confi-

dence had not been placed in men whose minds were
unstrung by too important circumstances, or who, ren-

egades to their country, saw no safety or glory for their

master's throne except under the yoke of the Holy Alli-

ance
; if the Due de Kichelieu, whose ambition was to de-

liver his country from the presence of foreign bayonets
;

if Chateaubriand, who had just rendered valuable services

at Ghent, — if they had had the direction of afiairs, France
would have emerged from these two great national crises

powerful and redoubtable. Chateaubriand had received

from Nature the sacred fire,— his works show it ! His
style is not that of Racine but of a prophet. Only he
could have said with impunity in the chamber of peers,
' that the redingote and cocked hat of Napoleon, put on a

stick on the coast of Brest, would make all Europe run to

arms.' "
^

1 Napoleon had been struck by tlie genius of Cliateaubriand. Sainte-

Beuve {Chatenulin'and, tome i. p 398), relating his progress from Ossian
to Corneille, and from Corneille to Racine, says, " Notwithstanding all

tliis, it may be said with certainty that he nowhere found poetry which
fully answered liis ideal, and which satisfied him ; Chateauliriand alone
offered him some resemldance to it. Thus, notwithstanding tlie insults he
I'eceived from Chateaul)riand, he always preserved a predilection for liim,

and rendered him justice." The same day on which the Concordat was
proclaimed, the " Moniteur " contained a graceful notice of the " Genie du
Christianisme." Chateaubriand was then full of admiration for the man
he so bitterly attacked in 1814. Napoleon was tlien to him t/ie man who
has dragged us Ixirk from the ahgss. Comparing the work of Napoleon to

the restoration of the Temple of Jerusalem, Chateaubriand says that as

an " obscure Israelite, I carry to-day my grain of sand." After the Res-
toration Chateaubriand, with the feelings of a French Rovalist, accused
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The immediate consequences of the Due d'Enghien's

death were not confined to the general consternation

which that unjustifiable stroke of state policy produced

in the capital. The news spread rapidly through the

provinces and foreign countries, and was everywhere ac-

companied by astonishment and sorrow. There is in the

departments a separate class of society, possessing great

influence, and constituted entirely of persons usually

called the " Gentry of the Chateaux," who may be said

to form the provincial Faubourg St. Germain, and who
were overwhelmed by the news. The opinion of the

Gentry of the Chateaux, was not hitherto unfavourable

to the First Consul, for the law of hostages wliich he re-

pealed had been felt very severely by them. With the

exception of some families accustomed to consider tliem-

selves, in relation to the whole world, what tliey were

only within the circle of a couple of leagues, that is to

say, illustrious personages, all the inhabitants of the prov-

inces, though they might retain some attachment to the

ancient order of things, had viewed with satisfaction the

substitution of the Consular for the Directorial govern-

ment, and entertained no personal dislike to the First

Consul. Among the Chateaux, more than anywhere else,

it has always been the custom to cherish Utopian ideas

respecting the management of public affairs, and to crit-

icise the acts of the Government. It is well known that

at this time there was not in all France a single old man-
sion surmounted by its two weathercocks which had not

a system of policy peculiar to itself, and in whicli the

Napoleon of a taste for bad literature. It was a stranjije return for the

opinion Napoleon always had for him. Napoleon, on his side, was not un-

willing to again employ Chateaubriand, but, as he said, -wished to take

him at his own estimation for him, and not at the price Chateaubriand set

on himself. Chateauliriand disclaimed the exact words altout tlie cocked
h<at Napoleon attributed to him. See Saint-Beuve, " Chateaubriand et son

Groupe Litte'raire," tome i. p. 279.
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question whether the First Consul woukl play the part

of Cromwell or Monk was not frequently canvassed. In

those innocent controversies the little news which the

Paris papers were allowed to publish was freely discussed,

and a confidential letter from Paris sometimes furnished

food for the conversation of a whole week.

While I was with Bonaparte he often talked to me
about the life in tiie Chateaux, which he considered as

the lia])piest for men with sufficient income and exempt
from ambition. He knew and could appreciate this sort

of life, for he often told me the period of his life which lie

remembered with the greatest pleasure was that which

he had passed in a chateau of the family of Boulat du
Colombier near Valence.^ Bonaparte set great value on

the opinion of the Chateaux, because while living in the

country he had observed the moral influence which their

inhabitants exercise over their neighbourhood. He had

succeeded to a great degree in conciliating them, but the

news of the death of the Due d'Enghien alienated from

him minds wliich were still wavering, and even those

which had already declared in his favour. That act of

tyranny dissolved the charm which had created hope

from his government, and awakened affections which had

as yet only slumbered. Those to whom this event was
almost indifferent also joined in condemning it ; for there

are certain aristocratic ideas which are always fashionable

in a certain class of society. Thus for different causes

this atrocity gave a retrograde direction to public opinion,

which had previously been favourably disposed to Bona-

parte throughout the whole of France.

The consequences were not less important, and might

^ Compare with the passage where, in 1795, he wishes Bourrienne to

buy for liiin, in the beautiful valley of tlie Yonne, a small property to

which he can retire. Then came the Jour des Sections, and all the great

dream of his ambition.
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have been disastrous with respect to foreign Courts. I

learned, through a channel which does not permit me to

entertain any doubt of the correctness of my information,

that as soon as the Emperor Alexander received the news

it became clear that England might conceive a well-

founded hope of forming a new coalition against France.

Alexander openly expressed his indignation. I also

learned with equal certainty that when Mr. Pitt was
informed of the death of the French Prince, he said,

" Bonaparte has now done himself more mischief than we
have done him since the last declaration of war." ^ Pitt

was not the man to feel much concern for the death of

any one ; but he understood and seized all the advantages

afforded to him by this great error of policy committed

by the most formidable enemy of England. In all the

Treasury journals published in London Bonaparte was

never spoken of under any other name than that of the

" assassin of the Due d'Enghien."

The inert policy of the Cabinet of Vienna prevented

the manifestation of its displeasure by remonstrances, or

by any outward act. At Berlin, in consequence of the

neighbourhood of the French troops in Hanover, the com-

miseration for the death of the Due d'Enghien was also

confined to the King's cabinet, and more particularly to

the salons of the Queen of Prussia ; but it is certain

that that transaction almost everywhere changed the

disposition of sovereigns towards the First Consul, and

that if it did not cause, it at least hastened the success of

the negotiations which England was secretly carrying on

with Austria and Prussia. Every Prince of Germany was

offended by the violation of the Grand Duke of Baden's

territory, and the death of a Prince could not fail every-

1 The remark made on this murder hy the astute cold-lilooded Fouche

is well known. He said, " It was worse than a crime — it was a blunder !

"

(C'est plus qu'un crime — c'est unefaute).— Editor of 1836 edition.
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where to irritate tliat kind of sympathy of blood and of

race which had hitherto always intluenced tlie crowned
heads and sovereign families of Europe ; for it was felt as

an injury to all of them.

When Louis XVIII. learned the death of the Due d'En-

ghien he wrote to the King of Spain, returning him the

insignia of the Order of the Golden Fleece (which had
also been conferred on Bonaparte), with the accompany-
ing letter :

—
Sire, Monsieur, axd dear Cousin, — It is with re<,'ret that I

send back to you the insignia of the Order of the Golden Fleece

which his Majesty, your father, of glorious memory conferred

upon me. There can be nothing in common between me and
the great criminal whom audacity and fortune have placed on
my throne, since he has had the barbarity to stain himself with

the blood of a Bourbon, the Due d'Enghien.

Religion might make me pardon an assassin, but the tyrant of

my people must always be my enemy.

In the present age it is more glorious to merit a sceptre than

to possess one.

Providence, for incomprehensible reasons, may condemn me to

end my days in exile, but neither my contemporaries nor posterity

shall ever have to say, that in the period of adversity I showed
myself unworthy of occupying the throne of my ancestors.

Louis.

The death of the Due d'Enghien was a horrible episode

in the proceedings of the great trial which was then pre-

paring, and which was speedily followed by the accession

of Bonaparte to the Imperial dignity. It was not one of

the least remarkable anomalies of the epoch to see the

judgment by which criminal enterprises against the Re-

public v.'ere condemned pronounced in the name of the

Emperor who had so evidently destroyed that Republic,

This anomaly certainly was not removed by the subtlety

by the aid of which he at first declared himself Emperor
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of the Eepul)lic, as a preliminary to his proclaiming him-

self Emperor of the French. Setting aside the means, it

must be acknowledged that it is impossible not to admire

the genius of Bonaparte, his tenacity in advancing towards

his object, and that adroit employment of suppleness and
audacity which made him sometimes dare fortune, some-

times avoid difficulties which he found insurmountable, to

arrive, not merely at the throne of Louis XVI., but at the

reconstructed throne of Charlemagne.

Note.— Although the details of the death of the Due d'Enghien are

well known, some remarks may be made here. It is not evident what

Napoleon gained by the step. From that moment he must have expected

that the Royalists would turn from him, and it is strange that so many
continued or afterwards consented to serve him. His proclaiming himself

Emperor would have reassured the Republicans without shedding blood.

He was quite capable of the execution, if he believed it necessary ; but, as

he himself said, "Great men are never cruel except from necessity," and
here the necessity is not evident. If the reader compares tlie account of

Madame de Re'musat (tome i. chap, v.), which agrees fairly with Bour-

rienne's account of what Josephine said to him (note especially the descrip-

tion in both of Savary's state), it will be seen that all Napoleon's actions

are consonant with an intention to pardon the Prince at the last moment.
His first anger was over, and he was not the man to uselessly act in pri-

vate the foolish and ignoble part he did in repeating the following lines if

he had intended the Prince to die :
—

"Des Dieux que nous servons connais la difference:

Les tiens t'ont commands le meiirtre et la vengeance
;

Et le mien, quand ton bras vient de m'assassiner,

M'ordonne de te plaindre et de te pardonner."

(Alzire, Act V. Scene vii.)

(Know the difference between the Gods we serve. Thine have com-

manded thee mnrder and revenge, while, when thy arm drops from assas-

sinating me, mine have ordered me to pity and pardon yoii.)

The most striking point of the whole matter is the implicit obedience

that was paid to Naptdeon's order, if such order were ever given to carry

out the sentence witliout referring to him. In the very height of his

power, when he wished to try such an unimportant personage as the

Prince of Hatzfeld in Berlin in 1806, the men immediately around him
determined this should not be done ; and they seemed to have taken for

granted that if the Princess once saw Napoleon he was sure to pardon her

husband. Why, we may ask, did not some person stir when they knew
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that such action would for ever constitute a claim on the Bourbons, who
then were thought not far from the tlirone ? Talleyrand, later, hore all

the violent wrath of Napoleon witliout shrinking. He now at most kept

silence. Savary, later, took on himself all the responsibility of evacuating

Madrid after Bayleu, knowing that the Emjjeror would storm. He was iu

command of the troops temporarily occu])ying Vincennes. With all his

faults he was not the man to slirink from delaying the execution till Na-

poleon had been referred to. We know that Real, one of the heads of the

police, was ordered to goto Vincennes to examine tlie Prince. He would

have found him at last fully aware of tlie danger of his position, and likely

to make the ap])eal to the First Consul for which Napoleon may have been

waiting; an accident prevented him starting till too late. The extraordi-

nary liaste is strange, as no pressure seems to have been put on Napoleon,

though the intended seizure of the Prince was known to many. It is easy

for persons unacquainted with the difficulties of command to say that Na-

poleon was responsible for everything done ; but there is one theory which,

if true, would explain all. Napoleon, the first burst of anger over, never

intended to kill the Prince ; he meant to release him after obtaining some
appeal from him damaging to his cause. The whole scene was prepared.

Napoleon, left unsolicited, was to receive and comply with the appeal of

the frightened Prince. But men around him wished to tie his hands, and
bind him to the Revolutionary party. They did not understand how little

he was made to play Monk's part: they dreaded his intentions and they

forced his hand, just as the ministers of Elizabeth forced hers in the exe-

cution of ^lary. Napoleon, with the words of mercy on liis lips, finds that

the Prince is dead ; he sees how vain it would be to disclaim the act, and
he boldly accepts it. This was the view of Savary (see especially tome ii.

p. 377). There is nothing unlikely al)out it. Such men as Talleyrand had
everything then to dread from the return of the Bourbons ; they, not Na-

poleon, gained by the act. Talleyrand disclaimed any part in the matter,

especially after his tenure of power, during the Provisional Government
in 1814, Inid placed the records of the Foreign Ofiice in his hands, and
enabled him to destroy any incriminatory documents. Napoleon, while

the evidence existed, and the event was fresh in the memory of men, ac-

cused Talleyrand of having advised the act. It is necessary to remember
that Bourrienne was under obligations to Talleyrand at tlie time he wrote.

The Princesse de Canino, the second wife of Lucien, says that she had seen

a letter of Talleyrand to Napoleon tending to persuade him to try the Due
d'Eiighien by a council of war. This letter, she says, was shown to Thiers,

who refused to use it for his history, saying that to do so would be an act

of ingratitude on his part towards Talleyrand, to whom he owed his po-

litical position (lung's Lucien, tome ii. p. 432, note). Three days after the

execution Talleyrand gave a ball, a proceeding in .accordance with his an-

swer to the question why, if he disapproved the act, he did not resign his

post ?
" If he has committed a crime, that is no reason why / should com-

mit a follv." For the men of the Revolution the murder was a srain ; thev
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made an accomplice of the man who hated their party, and whose inten-

tions they doubted, while the act was in accordance with tlieir conduct

whenever, before or afterwards, they possessed power, i'or Napoleon the

act was without object, and in utter contrast with his conduct in all pre-

vious and sul)sequent cases of the sort. One gain there was. Talleyrand,

Fouche', or whoever was the author of the saying, " C'est pire qu'un crime,

c'est une faute," was not quite right. " For humanity's sake," says Thiers

(tome iv. p. 608), "one is sorry to say that the terror inspired by the First

Consul acted ethcaciously on the Bourl)on Princes and the emigres. . . .

From this day plots of this sort ceased." See Savary's account in tome ii.

p. 337, and Bulwer's (Lord Bailing) " Hi.<torical Sketches," p. 126, both

of which come to much the same conclusion as here expressed.

Some surprise has been expressed that so few attempts were made on
the life of Napoleon. See, for example, the curious and not very credit-

able conversation of tlie Prince de Liejhten.stein with Vitrolles in March,
1814, wlien the Prince, forgetting the German subserviency, wondered
that the acts of tyranny exercised on the nation and on individuals had
never armed " un bras vengeur," i. e., an assassin ( Vitrolles, tome i. p. 75).

Napoleon himself always said tliat lie knew any man who ventured his

own life could take his. His safety was probably due to some simple pre-

cautions (see D' Odelehen, tome i. p. 163, copied in Alison, vol. x. p. 294),

and also, quite as probably, to the absence, during the time of his power,

of any of the great personal hatred affected, and perhaps felt, when he

had fallen. The plots of the infernal machine and others, during the

early days of the Consulate, were aimed at him as head of the Govern-

ment, not as an individual. After Napoleon's fall from power it was
natural that he should have a greater dread of attempts on his life. De-

throned Princes seldom live long. The Maubreuil affair, dealt with in

this work under the year 1814, showed at least the possibility of an assas-

sination, which woixld have been so convenient for man}- of the new adhe-

rents of the Bourbons. We know that the Allies intended to remove

Napoleon from Elba to some distant island (see the Talleyrand Correspond-

ence, specially vol. i. p. 48); and it was practically certain that he would

resist the attempt to consign him to the living tomb destined for him,

when the struggle would offer many chances for his death. It might

have been awkward to intrust such a mission to any of the regular and

honourable officers of the allied fleets, and we find a plan laid before

Talleyrand for seizing Napoleon on board his brig while coasting round

Elba, which was to have been carried out by one of his own discontented

officers. The plot was discovered by Napoleon, who seems to have had a

probably not misplaced anxiety as to other attempts on his life. See the

account of a very unfriendly writer (lung's Liirien, tome iii. chap. ix.). On
the whole it is ditficult not to come to the conclusion that the real affection

felt for Napoleon by the men immediately around him gave him a better

safeguard than all the precautions of most sovereigns can procure for

themselves.
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If it he thought that Napoleon's anxiety was affected, it shouhl he re-

memhered that, putting aside some exclamations when in a rage, lie

ceased to express tliem wlieu under tlie charge of English olficers at St.

Helena. His belief that a confinement there was intended to hasten his

death cannot be thonglit unreasonable when we consider the hereditary

disease of his family, the existence of which can hardly have been un-
known to the allied Governments. Talleyrand had another explanation.

Asked why some of the best French sovereigns had been attacked l)v as-

sassins while none attempted the life of Napoleon, Talleyrand replied,
" What else do you expect 'i there is no longer any religion in France

"

( Vitrolles, tome i. p. 58).



CHAPTEE XXIV.

1804.

I SHALL now proceed to relate what I knew at the

time, and what I have since learnt of the different phases

of the trial of Georges, Pichegru, Moreau, and the other

persons accused of conspiracy,— a trial to all the pro-

ceedings of which I closely attended. From those

proceedings I was convinced that Moreau was no con-

spirator, V)ut at the same time I must confess that it

is very probable the First Consul might believe that

he had been engaged in the plot, and I am also of

opinion that the real conspirators believed Moreau to

be their accomplice and their chief ; for the object of the

machinations of the police agents was to create a founda-

tion for such a belief, it being important to the success

of their scheme.

It has been stated that Moreau was arrested on the

day after the confessions made by Bouvet de Lozier

;

Pichegru was taken by means of the most infamoiis

treachery that a man can be guilty of. The official police

had at last ascertained that he was in Paris, but tliey

could not learn the place of his concealment. The police

agents had in vain exerted all their efforts to discover

him, when an old friend, v/ho had given him his last

asylum, offered to deliver him up for 100,000 crowns.

This infamous fellow gave an exact description of the

chamber which Pichegru occupied in the Eue de Chaba-





Portrait of Moreau.

Photo-Etching.— From Painting by Gerard.
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nais, and in consequence of his information, Comminges,

Commissary of Police, proceeded thither, accompanied

by some determined men. Precautions were necessary,

because it was known that Pichegru was a 'man of

prodigious bodily strength, and. that besides, as he pos-

sessed the means of defence, he would not allow himself

to be taken without making a desperate resistance.

The police entered his chamber by using false keys,

which the man who had sold him had the baseness to get

made for them. A light was burning on his night table.

The party of police, directed by Comminges, overturned

the table, extinguished the light, and threw themselves

on the General, who struggled with all his strength, and

cried out loudly- They were obliged to bind him, and in

this state the conqueror of Holland was removed to

the Temple, out of which he was destined never to come
alive. 1

It must be owned that Pichegru was far from exciting

the same interest as Moreau. The public, and more

1 In " Errenrs " (tome ii. p. 69), a writer, apparently Re'al himself,

denies most of Bonrrienne's account. Pichegru was betrayed by a man
named Blanc, of the Bourse, who, agreeing to receive him, then betrayed

him for 100,000 francs, which were paid. Blanc then had the audacity to

ask for the Legion of Honour, and was ordered to leave Paris. He went

to Hamlnirg, but did not stay there. Pichegru was seized without the

light being extinguislied ; he kicked a gendarme in the stomach, and was

himself wounded by a sword-thrust near the knee. At last he was bound
and gagged, to stop his shouts. He was then carried, naked, tied, and
gagged, and placed stretched on the floor of the cabinet of Heal, one

of the chiefs of the police, where at last, worn out by his cries and fury,

he answered the rjuestions put to him. Thiers (tome iv. p. 575) gives

a curious story of Pichegru, while trying to evade the police, going

at night to tlie house of M. de Barbe Marbois, then Ministre du Tre'sor,

one of the members of the Legislature who had been transported to Sin-

namarri with Pichegru, after the 1 8th Fructidor, and wlio, like him, had
escaped. Marbois, one of tlie most honourable of the Ministers, received

him, and afterwards acknowledged to Napoleon what he had done. " 'i'he

First Consul answered by a letter which was a noble approbation of hia

(Marbois') generous conduct."

VOL. II.— 20
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especially the army, never pardoned him for his negotia-

tions with the Prince de Condd prior to the IStli Fructidor.

However, I became acquainted with a trait respecting

him while he was in Paris which I think does him
much honour. A son of M. Lagrende, formerly director

of the French Academy at Eome, had been one of

Pichegru's aides-de-camp. This young man, though he

had obtained the rank of captain, resigned on the banish-

ment of his General, and resumed the pencil, which he

had laid aside for the sword. Pichegru, while he was
concealed in Paris, visited his former aide-de-camp, who
insisted upon giving him an asylum ; but Pichegru

positively refused to accept M. Lagrenee's offer, being

determined not to commit a man who had already given

him so strong a proof of friendship. 1 learned this fact

by a singular coincidence. At this period Madame de

Bourrienne wished to have a portrait of one of our

children ; she was recommended to M. Lagrenee, and

he related the circumstance to her.

It was on the night of the 22d of February that

Pichegru was arrested in the manner I have described.

The deceitful friend who gave him up was named Le

Blanc, and he went to settle at Hamlnirg with the reward

of his treachery. I had entirely lost sight of Pichegru

since we left Brienne, for Pichegru was also a pupil

of that establishment ; but, being older than either

Bonaparte or I, he was already a tutor when we were

only scholars, and I very well recollect that it was he

who exammed Bonaparte in the four first rules of

arithmetic.

Pichegru belonged to an agricultural family of Franche-

Comtd He had a relation, a minim, ^ in that country.

The minims, who had the charge of educating the

pupils of the Military School of Brienne, being very poor,

1 A brother of the order founded by S. Francis de Paulo.
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and tlicir poverty not enabling them to hold out much
inducement to other persons to assist them, they applied

to the minims of Franche-Comtd. In consequence of

this application, Pichegru's relation, and some other

minims, repaired to Brienne. An aunt of Pichegru, who
was a sister of the order of charity, accompanied them,

and the care of the infirmary was intrusted to her. This

good woman took her nephew to Brienne with her, and
he was educated at tlie school gratuitously. As soon as

his age permitted, Pichegru was made a tutor ; hut all

his ambition was to become a minim. He was, however,

dissuaded from that pursuit by his relation, and he

adopted the military profession. There is this further

remarkable circumstance in the youth of Pichegru, that,

though he was older by several years than Bonaparte,

they were both made lieutenants of artillery at the same
time. What a difference in their destiny ! While the

one was preparing to ascend a throne, the other was
a solitary prisoner in the dungeon of the Temple.

I had no motive to induce me to visit either the

Temple or La Force, but I received at the time circum-

stantial details of what was passing in those prisons,

particularly in the former ; I went, however, frequently

to St. Pdlagie, where M. Carbon net was confined. As
soon as I knew that he was lodged in tliat prison I set

about getting an admission from It(^al, who smoothed all

difficulties. M. Carbonnet was detained two months
in solitary confinement. He was several times examined,

but the interrogatories produced no result, and, notwith-

standing the desire to implicate him in consequence

of the known intimacy between him and Moreau, it was
at last found impossiVde to put him on trial with the

other parties accused.

The Temple had more terrors than St. Pelagic, but not

for the prisoners who were committed to it, for none of



308 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1804.

those illustrious victims of police machination displayed

any weakness, with the exception of Bouvet de Lozier,

who, being .sensible of his weakness, wished to prevent its

consequences by death. The public, however, kept their

attention riveted on tlie prison in which Moreau was con-

fined. I have already mentioned that Pichegru was con-

veyed thither on the night of the 22d of February

;

a fortnight later Georges was arrested, and committed to

the same prison.

Either R6al or Desmarets, and sometimes both together,

repaired to the Temple to examine the prisoners. In vain

the police endeavoured to direct public odium against the

prisoners by placarding lists of their names through the

whole of Paris, even before they were arrested. In those

lists they were styled "brigands," and at the head of "the

brigands " the name of General Moreau shone conspicu-

ously. An absurdity without a parallel. The efiect pro-

duced was totally opposite to that calculated on ; for, as

no person could connect the idea of a brigand with that

of a general who was the object of public esteem, it was

naturally concluded that those whose names were pla-

carded along with his were no more brigands than he.

Public opinion w^as decidedly in favour of Moreau,^ and

every one was indignant at seeing him described as a

brigand. Far from believing him guilty, he was regarded

as a victim fastened on because his reputation embar-

rassed Bonaparte ; for Moreau had always been looked up

to as capable of opposing the accomplishment of the First

Consul's ambitious views. The whole crime of Moreau

was his having numerous partisans among those who still

clung to the phantom of the Republic ; and that crime was

unpardonable in the eyes of the First Consul, who for two

years had ruled the destinies of France as sovereign

master. What means were not employed to mislead the

^ Little anticipating then that he was to die fighting against France !
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opinion of the public respecting IMoreau ? The police

published pamphlets of all sorts, and tlie Conite de Mont-
gaillard was brought from Lyons to draw up a libel im-

plicating him with Pichegru and the exiled Princes.

But nothing that was done produced the effect proposed.

The weak character of Moreau is known. In fact, he
allowed himself to be circumvented by a few intriguers,

who endeavoured to deiive advantage from the influence

of his name. But he was so decidedly opposed to the re-

establishment of the ancient system that he replied to one

of the agents who addressed him, " I cannot put myself

at the head of any movement for the Bourbons, and such

an attempt would not succeed. If Pichegru act on

another principle— and even in that case I have told

him that the Consuls and the Governor of Paris must dis-

appear 1— I believe that I have a party strong enough
in the Senate to obtain possession of authority, and I

will immediately make use of it to protect his friends

;

public opinion will then dictate what may be fit to be

done, but I will promise nothing in writing." Admitting
these words attributed to Moreau to be true, they prove

that he was dissatisfied with the Consular Government,
and that he wished a change ; but there is a great differ-

ence between a conditional wish and a conspiracy.

The commander of the principal guard of the Temple
was General Savary, and he had reinforced that guard by
his select gendarmerie. The prisoners did not dare to

communicate one with another for fear of mutual injury,

but all evinced a courage which created no little alarm

as to the consequences of the trial. Neither offers nor

threats produced any confessions in the course of the

1 The phrase here attributed on good authority to Moreau should be
noted. The Consuls were to disappear. The King, the Girondists,

Robespierre, etc., had disappeared. Whatever Moreau may have meant,
the word was practically a recommendation for assassination, judicial or

otherwise.
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interrogatories. Pichegru, in particular, displayed an

extraordinary firmness, and Edal one day, on leaving the

chamber where he had been examining him, said aloud in

the presence of several persons, " What a man that

Pichegru is
!

"

Porty days elapsed after the arrest of General Pichegru

when, on the morning of the 6th of April, he was found

dead in the chamber he occupied in the Temple. Pichegru

had undergone ten examinations ;
^ but he had made no

confessions, and no person was committed by his replies.

All his declarations, however, gave reason to believe that

he would speak out, and that too in a lofty and energetic

manner, during the progress of the trial. " When I am
before my judges," said he, " my language shall be con-

formable to truth and the interests of my country."

1 The author of the observations on the trial of Pichegru, Georges, etc.,

in the collection entitled " Bourrienne et ses Erreurs," is apparently one

of the persons who was employed in instructing or jireparing tliat extraor-

dinary process, perhaps M. Real himself. In adverting to tlie statement

{Erreurs, tome ii. pp. 69-96) that Pichegru underwent ten interrogatories,

he remarks that the number is great, but that he knew of four. One, he

says, took place in the presence of numerous witnesses, and that this pre-

caution was adopted because it was suspected that Pichegru would re-

fuse to sign liis deposition. At the close of this examination M. Rc'al per-

ceived an old translation of Xenophon lying on the General's table, which

induced him to ask whether he wished to have books to read. " I

should like one," said Pichegru. " What Ijook do you want ? " asked the

Councillor of State, and added, " Would you like travels? "— " Oh, no!

I am tired of travels," was tlie answer, with a melancholy smile. " Well,

then, what book would you have ?
" — " Seneca."— " Seneca !

" said the

prefect, with an allusion wdiich was evidently quickly felt by the prisoner.

" Wliy, General, the gamester does not ask for Seneca until the game is

lost, and the game is not yet " Pichegru did not allow the sen-

tence to be finished, but said hastily, " Have the goodness to order a Seneca

to be sent in to me." — "A Erench or a Latin one ? " Pichegru hesitated,

and after a moment's reflection said, " Let me have a Latin one, I can

understand it still." The Seneca was sent, and the day after the suicide

it was found on Pichegru's table. It was open, and turned down at the

place where Seneca says that when jjublic liberty must be despaired of,

the upright man lias nothing to do but to die.— Editor o/T836 edition.
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What would that language have been ? Without doubt

there was no wish that it should be heard. Pichegru

would have kept his promise, for he was distinguished for

his firmness of character above everything, even above his

qualities as a soldier ; differing in this respect from

Moreau, who allowed himself to be guided by his wife

and mother-in-law, both of whom displayed ridiculous

pretensions in their visits to Madame Bonaparte.

The day on which Rdal spoke before several persons of

Pichegru in the way I have related was the day of his

last examination. I afterwards learned, from a source on

which I can rely, that during his examination Pichegru,

thougli careful to say nothing which could affect the

other prisoners, showed no disposition to be tender of

him who had sought and resolved his death, but evinced

a firm resolution to unveil before the public the odious

machinery of the plot into which the police had drawn

him. He also declared that he and his companions had

no longer any object but to consider of the means of

leaving Paris, with the view of escaping from the snares

laid for them when their arrest took place. He declared

that they had all of them given up the idea of overturn-

ing the power of Bonaparte, a scheme into which they

had been enticed by shameful intrigues. I am convinced

the dread excited by his manifestation of a resolution to

speak out with the most rigid candour hastened the death

of Pichegru. M. Pidal, who is still living, knows better

than any one else what were Pichegru's declarations, as he

interrogated him. I know not whether that gentleman

will think fit, either at the present or some future period,

to raise the veil of mystery which hangs over these events,

but of this I am sure, he will be unable to deny anything

I advance. There is evidence almost amounting to dem-

onstration that Pichegru was strangled in prison, and

consequently all idea of suicide must be rejected as inad-
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missible. Have I positive and substantive proof of what I

assert? I have not; but the concurrence of facts and
the weight of proljabilities do not leave me in possession

of the doubts I shouki wish to entertain on that tragic

event, liesides, there exists a certain popular instinct,

w^hich is rarely at fault, and it must be in the recollection

of many, not only that the general opinion favoured the

notion of Pichegru's assassination, but that the pains

taken to give that opinion another direction by the

affected exhibition of the body, only served to strengthen

it.^ He who spontaneously says, I have not committed

1 The following are a few extracts from the report of the examination

of Pichegru's body, which took place on the 16th of April, 1804 :
—

" The body had round the neck a black silk handkerchief, through whicli

was passed a stick about forty centimetres (nearly sixteen inches) long,

and from four to five (one and a half to two inclies) in circumference,

which after being twisted round in the handkerchief, was stopped by the

left cheek, against which one of its extremities rested, and which had pro-

duced a strangulati(jn sufficient to occasion death."

A gendarme, named Sirot, next declares, " that being on duty as a sen-

tinel outside of the Temple, near Pichegru's apartment, he several times

heard a cougliing and spitting in the said apartment, and that he thought

he could perceive from the manner of the cough'ng and spitting that a per-

son was suffering from oppression, but having heard nothing more of it,

he did not think it necessary to give any alarm."

One Lapointe, who was orderly in the tower of the Temple, declares

" that having slept from midnight until four in the morning he heard

nothing."

Fauconnier declares " that at half-past seven in the morning citizen

Popon, the turnkey on duty, informed him that he liad lighted a fire in

Pichegru's chamber, and that he was surprised at his not stirring." He
added, " that he took the key of Pichegru's apartment at ten o'clock on

the preceding night after gi.ving the General his supper ; that it remained

in his pocket until he lighted the fire."

The following is Savary's account of Pichegru's death :
—

' General Pichegru was lying on his right .side ; he had put round his

neck his own black silk cravat, which he had previou.sly twisted like a

small rope : this mu.st have occupied him so long as to afford time for re-

flection had he not been resolutely bent on self-destruction. Pie appeared

to have tied his cravat thus twisted about his neck, and to have at first

drawn it as tight as he could bear it, then to have taken a piece of wood,

of the length of a finger, which he had taken from a branch that yet lay
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such or such a crime, at least admits there is room for

suspecting his guilt.

The truth is, the tide of opinion never set iu with such

force against Bonaparte as during the trial of Moreau
;

nor was the popular sentiment in error on the subject of

the death of Pichegru, who was clearly strangled in the

Temple by secret agents. The authors, the actors, and
the witnesses of tlie horrible prison scenes of the period

are the only persons capable of removing the doubts

which still hang over the death of Pichegru ; but I must
nevertheless contend that the preceding circumstances,

the general belief at the time, and even probability, are

in contradiction with any idea of suicide on the part of

Pichegru. His death was considered necessary, and this

necessity was its real cause.

in the middle of the room (part of a fagot, the relics of which were still

in his fireplace) ; this he must have slipped between his neck and his cra-

vat, on the right side, and turned round till tlie moment that reason for-

sook him. His head had fallen back on the pillow, and compressed the

little liit of stick, which had prevented the cravat from untwisting. In
this situation apoplexy could not fail to supervene. His hand was still

under his head, and almost touched this little tourniquet " {Memoirs of the

Due cle Rovigo, vol. ii. p. 78).



CHAPTEE XXV.

1804.

Georges was arrested about seven o'clock, on the even-

ing of the 9th of March, with another conspirator, whose
.tianie, I think, was Ldridan. Georges was stopped in a

cabriolet on the Place de I'Od^on, whither he had no

doubt been directed by the police agent, who was con-

stantly about him. In not seizing him at his lodgings,

the object, probably, was to give more publicity to his

arrest, and to produce an effect upon the minds of the

multitude. This calculation cost the life of one man,

and had well-nigli sacrificed the lives of two ; for Georges,

who constantly carried arms about him, first shot dead the

police officer who seized the horse's reins, and wounded
another who advanced to arrest him in the cabriolet.

Besides his pistols there was found upon him a poniard

of English manufacture.

Georges lodged with a woman named Lemoine, w'ho

kept a fruiterer's shop in the Eue de la Montague St.

Genevieve, and on the evening of the 9th of March he

had just left his lodging to go, it was said, to a per-

fumer's named Caron.^ It is ditticult to suppose that the

1 The author of the observations on the trial of Pichegru, Georges, etc.,

already quoted, admits the truth (vol. ii. p. 91) of the statement that

Georges was expected by this Caron, who on the Restoration was ap-

pointed perfumer to the Duchesse d'Angouleme, and afterwards became

one of the ushers of the chamber. Pie is described as a profligate

hypocrite. His immoral excesses, however, did not prevent the Tartuffe
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circumstance of the police being on the spot was the mere
effect of chance. The fruiterer's daughter was putting

into the cabriolet a parcel belonging to Georges at the

moment of his arrest. Georges, seeing the officers advance

to seize him, desired the girl to get out of the way, fearing

lest he should shoot her when he fired on the officers.

She ran into a neighl:)ouring house, taking the parcel

along with her. The police, it may readily be supposed,

were soon after lier. The master of the house in which
she had taken refuge, curious to know what the parcel

contained, had opened it, and discovered, among other

things, a bag containing 1,000 Dutch sovereigns, from
which he acknowledged he had abstracted a considerable

sum. He and his wife, as well as the fruiterer's daughter,

were all arrested ; as to Georges, he was taken that same
evening to the Temple, where he remained until his

removal to the Conciergerie when the trial commenced.
During the whole of the legal proceedings Georges and

the other important prisoners were kept in solitary con-

finement. Immediately on Pichegru's death the prisoners

were informed of the circumstance. As they were all

acquainted with the General, and none believed the fact

of his reported suicide, it may easily be conceived what
consternation and horror the tragical event excited among
them. I learned, and I was sorry to hear of it, that Louis

Bonaparte, who was an excellent man, and, bevond
all comparison, the best of the family, had the cruel

curiosity to see Georges in his prison a few days after

from being remarkably devout. He was extremely attentive to religious

ceremonies, and made Masses be said to the Holy Ghost, to ascertain

whether God apjjroved of his giving an asylum to Georges. When Caroa
was examined, this pious invocatioa gave not a little amusement to M.
Real :

" What answer did the Holy Gliost give you ?
" said he " None

at all," replied the perfumer, quite coolly. " Why then did you resolve to

give the asylum 1 " " Because," replied the pious perru(^uier, " silence is

consent."

—

Editor o/' 1836 edition.
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the death of Pichegru,^ and when the sensation of horror

excited by that event in the interior of the Temple was

at its height, Louis repaired to the prison, accompanied by

a brilliant escort of staff-officers, and General Savary in-

troduced him to the prisoners. When Louis arrived,

Georges was lying on his bed with his hands strongly

bound by manacles. Lauriston, wiio accompanied Louis,

related to me some of the particulars of this visit, which,

in spite of his sincere devotedness to the First Consul, he

assured me had been very painful to him.

After the arrest of Georges there were still some indi-

viduals marked out as accomplices in the conspiracy who
had found means to elude the search of the police. The

persons last arrested were, I think, Villeneuve, one of

the principal confidants of Georges, Burban Malabre, who
went by the name of Barco, and Charles d'Hozier. They

were not taken till five days after the arrest of the Due
d'Enghien. The famous Commissioner Comminges, ac-

companied by an inspector and a detachment of gendarmes

d'Mitc, found Villeneuve and Burban Malabre in the

house of a man named Dubuisson, in the Eue Jean

Robert.

This Dubuisson and his wife had sheltered some of the

principal persons proscribed by the police. The Mes-

sieurs de Polignac and M. de Riviere had lodged with

them. When the police came to arrest Villeneuve and

Burban Malabre, the people with whom they lodged de-

clared that they had gone away in the morning. The

officers, however, searched the house, and discovered a

secret door wnthin a closet. They called, and, receiving

no answer, the gendarmerie had recourse to one of those

1 Joseph Bonaparte (Errenrs, tome ii. p. 138) di.'^credits the visit of

Louis to Georges. The alleged visit of the son of Louis, Louis Napoleon,

to Orsini, when the latter was awaiting execution for his attempt to as-

sassinate him, and its connection with the Italian war of 1859, may be

remembered by the reader.
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expedients which were, unfortunately, too familiar to

tliem. They fired a pistol through the door. Villeneuve,

who went by the name of Joyau was wounded in the

arm, which obliged him and his companion to come from

the place of their concealment, and they were then made
prisoners.

Moreau was not treated with the degree of rigour ob-

served towards the other prisoners. Indeed, it would
not have been safe so to treat him, for even in his prison

he received the homage and respect of all the military,

not excej)ting even those who were his guards. Many of

these soldiers had served under him, and it could not be

forgotten how much he was beloved by the troops he had
commanded. He did not possess that irresistible charm
which in Bonaparte excited attachment, but his mild-

ness of temper and excellent character inspired love and
respect. It was the general opinion in Paris that a single

word from Moreau to the soldiers in whose custody he

was placed would in a moment have converted the gaoler-

guard into a guard of honour, ready to execute all that

might be required for the safety of the conqueror of

Hohenlinden. Perhaps the respect with wliich he was
treated and the indulgence of daily seeing his wife and
child were but artful calculations for keeping him within

the limits of his usual character. Besides, ]\Ioreau was

so confident of the injustice of the charge brought against

him that he was calm and resigned, and showed no dis-

position to rouse the anger of an enemy who would have

been happy to have some real accusation against him.

To these causes combined I always attributed the resigna-

tion, and I may say the indifference, of Moreau while he

was in prison and on his trial.

"When the legal preparations for the trial were ended,

the prisoners of the Temple were permitted to communi-
cate with each other, and, viewing their fate with that
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indifference which youth, misfortune, and courage in-

spired, they amused themselves with some of those games
which usually serve for boyish recreation. While they

were thus engaged, the order arrived for their removal to

the Conciergerie. The firmness of all remained unshaken,

and they made their preparations for departure as if they

were going about any ordinary business. This fortitude

was particularly remarkable in Georges, in whose manner
a change had taken place which was remarked by all his

companions in misfortune.

For some time past the agents of Government through-

out France had been instructed to solicit the First Con-

sul to grant for the people what the people did not want,

but what Bonaparte wished to take while he appeared

to yield to the general will, namely, unlimited sovereign

authority, free from any subterfuge of denomination.

The opportunity of the great conspiracy just discovered,

and in which Bonaparte had not incurred a moment's

danger, as he did at the time of the infernal machine,

was not suffered to escape ; that opportunity was, on

the contrary, eagerly seized by the authorities of every

rank, civil, ecclesiastical, and military, and a torrent of

addresses, congratulations, and thanksgivings inundated

the Tuileries. Most of the authors of these addresses

did not confine themselves to mere congratulations'; they

entreated Bonaparte to consolidate his worh, the true

meaning of which w^as that it was time he should make
himself Emperor and establish hereditary succession.

Those who on other occasions had shown an officious

readiness to execute Bonaparte's commands did not now
fear to risk his displeasure by opposing the opinion he

had expressed in the Council of State on the discussion

of the question of the Consulate for life. Bonaparte then

said, " Hereditary succession is absurd. It is irreconcil-

able with the principle of the sovereignty of the people,

and impossible in France."
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In this scene of the grand drama Bonaparte played his

part with his accustomed talent, keeping himself in the

background and leaving to others the task of preparing

the catastrophe. The Senate, who took the lead in the

way of insinuation, did not fail, while congratulating the

First Consul on his escape from the plots of foreigners,

or, as they were officially styled, the daggers of England,

to conjure him not to delay the completion of his work.

Six days after the death of the Due d'Enghien the

Senate first expressed this wisli. Eitlier because Bona-

parte began to repent of a useless crime, and felt the ill

effect it must produce on the public mind, or because he

found the language of the Senate somewhat vague, he

left the address nearly a month unanswered, and then

only replied by the request that the intention of the

address might be more completely expressed. These

negotiations between the Senate and the Head of the

Government were not immediately published. Bonaparte

did not like publicity except for what had arrived at a

result ; but to attain the result which was the object of

his ambition it was necessary that the project which
he was maturing should be introduced in the Tribunate,

and the tribune Curde had the honour to be the first to

propose officially, on the 30th of April, 1804, the con-

version of the Consular Republic into an Empire, and

the elevation of Bonaparte to the title of Emperor, with

the rights of hereditary succession.

If any doubts could exist respecting the complaisant

part which Curde acted on this occasion, one circumstance

would suffice to remove them ; that is, that ten days

before the development of his proposition Bonaparte had

caused the question of founding the Empire and estab-

lishing hereditary succession in his family to be secretly

discussed in the Council of State. I learned from one

of the Councillors of State all that passed on that occa-
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sion, and I may remark that Cambacdrfes showed him-

self particularly eager in the Council of State, as well

as afterwards in the Senate, to become the exalted sub-

ject of him who had been his first colleague in the

Consulate.

About the middle of April, the Council of State being

assembled as for an ordinary sitting, the First Consul,

who was frequently present at the sittings, did not

appear. Cambacdrfes arrived and took the Presidency in

his quality of Second Consul, and it was remarked that

his air was more solemn than usual, though he at all

times affected gravity. .

The partisans of hereditary succession were the ma-

jority, and resolved to present an address to the First

Consul. Those of the Councillors who opposed this

determined on their part to send a counter-address ; and

to avoid this clashing of opinions Bonaparte signified his

wish that each member of the Council should send him
his opinion individually, with his signature affixed. By
a singular accident it happened to be Berlier's task to

present to the First Consul the separate opinions of the

Council. Out of the twenty-seven Councillors present

only seven opposed the question. Bonaparte received

them all most graciously, and told them, among other

things, that he wished for hereditary power only for the

benefit of France ; that the citizens would never be his

subjects, and that the French people would never be

his people. Such were the preliminaries to the official

proposition of Curde to the Tribunate, and upon reflec-

tion it was decided that, as all opposition would be use-

less and perhaps dangerous to the opposing party, the

minority should join the majority. This was accordingly

done.

The Tribunate having adopted the proposition of Cur^e,

there was no loniier anv motive for concealing the over-
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tures of the Senate. Its address to the First Consul was
therefore published forty days after its date : the 'pear

was then ripe. This period is so important that I must
not omit putting together the most remarkable facts

which either came within my own observation, or which
I have learned since respecting the foundation of the

Empire.

Bonaparte had a long time before spoken to me of tlie

title of Emperor as being the most appropriate for the

new sovereignty which he wished to found in France.

This, he observed, was not restoring the old system

entirely, and he dwelt much on its being the title which
Csesar had borne. He often said, " One may be the

Emperor of a republic, but not the King of a republic;

those two terms are incongruous."

In its first address the Senate had taken as a text the

documents it had received from the Government in

relation to the intrigues of Drake, who had been sent

from England to Munich. That text afforded the oppor-

tunity for a vague expression of what the Senate termed

the necessities of France. To give greater solemnity to

the affair, the Senate proceeded in a body to the Tuileries,

and one thing wliich gave a peculiar character to the

preconcerted advances of the Senate was that Cambac^r^s,

the Second Consul, fulfilled his functions of President on

this occasion, and delivered the address to the First

ConsuL

However, the First Consul thought the address of the

Senate, which, I have been informed, was drawn up by

Franc^ois de ISTeufchateau, was not expressed with suf-

ficient clearness ; he therefore, after suffering a little

interval to elapse, sent a message to the Senate signed

by himself, in which he said, " Your address has been the

object of my earnest consideration." And though tlie

address contained no mention of hereditary succession,

VOL. II. 21
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he added, " You consider the hereditary sueces.sion of the

supreme magistracy necessary to defend the French

people against the plots of our enemies and the agitation

arising from rival ambition. At the same time several

of our institutions appear to you to require improvement

so as to insure the triumph of equality and puLlic liberty,

and to offer to the nation and the Government the double

guarantee they require." From the subsequent passages

of the message it will be sufficient to extract the follow-

ing: "We have been constantly guided by this great

truth : that the sovereignty dwells with the French

people, and that it is for their interest, happiness, and
glory that the Supreme Magistracy, the Senate, the

Council of State, the Legislative Body, the Electoral

Colleges, and the diffeient branches of the Government,

are and must be instituted." The omission of the Tribu-

nate in his enumeration is somewhat remarkable. It

announced a promise which was speedily realised.

The will of Bonaparte being thus expressed in his

message to the Senate, that body, which was created to

preserve the institutions consecrated by the Constitution

of the year VIIL, had no alternative but to submit to the

intentions manifested by the First Consul. The reply

to the message was, therefore, merely a counterpart of the

message itself. It positively declared that hereditary

government was essential to the happiness, the glory,

and the prosperity of France, and that that government

could be confided only to Bonaparte and liis family.

While the Senate so complaisantly played its part in this

well-got-up piece, yet, the better to impose on the cre-

dulity of the multitude, its reply, like l^onaparte's mes-

sage, resounded with the words " liberty and equality."

Indeed, it was impudently asserted in that reply that

Bonaparte's accession to hereditary power would be a

certain guarantee for the liberty of the press, a liberty
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which Bonaparte held in the greatest horror, and without

which all other liberty is but a vain illusion.

^

By this reply of the Senate the most important step

was performed. There now remained merely ceremonies

to regulate and formulas to fill up. These various

arrangements occasioned a delay of a fortnight. On the

18th of May the First Consul was greeted. for the first

time by the appellation of Sire by his former colleague,

Cambacdres, who at the head of the Senate went to

present to Bonaparte the organic Scnatus-consulte con-

taining the foundation of the Empire. Napoleon was at

St. Cloud, whither the Senate proceeded in state. After

the speech of Cambacdrfes, in which the old designation

of Majesty was for the first time revived, the EMPEiiOK

replied :
—

1 In the orisjinal motion as prepared by Curc'e the Imperial dignity was
to be declared hereditary in the familj/ of Napoleon. Previous to being for-

mally read before the Tribunate, the First Consul sent for the document,

and when it was returned it was found that tlie word famih/ was altered to

descendants. Fabre, the President of the Tribunate, who received the

altered document from Maret, seeing tlie effect the alteration would have

on the brothers of Napoleon, and finding that Maret affected to treat the

change as immaterial, took on himself to restore the original form, and in

that sliape it was read by tlie unconscious Cure'e to the Tjibunate. ()n this

curious passage see Miot de Melito, tome ii. p. 179. As finally settled, the

descent of the crown in default of Napoleon's children was limited to

Joseph and Louis and their descendants, but the power of adoption was
given to Napoleon. The draft of the Senatus-consulte was heard by the

Council of State in silence, and Napoleon tried in vain to get even the most
talkative of the members now to speak. The Senate were not unanimous
in rendering the Senatus-consulte. The three votes given against it were

said to have been Gregoire, the former constitutional Bishop of Blois,

Garat, whf) as Minister of Justice had read to Louis XVI. the sentence of

death, and Lanjuinais, one of the very few survivors of the Girondists

{Miot, tome ii. pp. 182-183). Thiers (tome v. p. 12.5) says there was only

one dissentient voice. For the fury of tlie brothers of Napoleon, who saw
the destruction of all their ambitious hopes in any measure for the

descent of the crown except in the fumili/, see Miot, tome ii. p. 172, where

Joseph is described as cursing the ambition of his brotier, and desiring

his death as a benefit for France and his family.
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" All that can contribute to the welfare of the country is essen-

tially connected with my happiness. I accept the title which

you believe to be conducive to the glory of the nation. I

submit to the sanction of the people the law of hereditary suc-

cession. I hope that France will never repent tlic honours she

may confer on my family. At all events, my spirit will not be

with my posterity when they cease to merit the confidence and

love of the great nation."

Cambacdres next went to congratulate the Empress,

and then was realised to Josephine the prediction which

I had made to her three years before at Malmaison.

Bonaparte's first act as Emperor, on the very day

of his elevation to the Imperial throne, was the nomina-

tion of Joseph to the dignity of Grand Elector, with the

title of Imperial Highness. Louis was raised to the

dignity of Constable, with the same title, and Cambaceres

and Lebrun were created Arch-Chancellor and Arch-

Treasurer of the Empire. On the same day Bonaparte

wrote the following letter to Cambacdrfes, the first which

he signed as Emperor, and merely with the name of

Napoleon :
—

Citizen Consul Cambacbr^s, — Your title has changed
;

but your functions and my confidence remain the same. In

the high dignity with which you are now invested you will

continue to manifest, as you have hitherto done in that of

Consul, that wisdom and that distinguished talent which

entitle you to so important a share in all the good which 1

may have effected. I have, therefore, only to desire the con-

tinuance of the sentiments you cherish towards the State and

me.

Given at the Palace of St. Cloud, 28th Floreal, an XII.

(18th May, 1804).

(Signed) Napoleon.

By the Emperor.

H. B. Maret.
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1 have quoted this first letter of the Emperor because

it is characteristic of Bonaparte's art in managing transi-

tions. It was to the Citizcn-Consul that tlie Emperor
addressed himself, and it was dated according to the Re-

publican calendar. That calendar, together with the

delusive inscription on the coin, was all that now
remained of the Eepublic. Next day the Emperor came
to Paris to hold a grand levee at the Tuileries, for he w^as

not the man to postpone the gratification that vanity

derived from his new dignity and title. The assembly

was more numerous and brilliant than on any former

occasion. Bessieres having addressed the Emperor on the

part of the Guards, the Emperor replied in the following

terms :
" I know the sentiments the Guards cherish

towards me. I repose perfect confidence in their courage

and fidelity. I constantly see, with renewed pleasure,

companions in arms who have escaped so many dangers,

and are covered with so many honourable wounds. I

experience a sentiment of satisfaction when I look at the

Guards, and think that there has not, for the last fifteen

years, in any of the four quarters of the world, been a

battle in which some of them have not taken part."

On the same day all the generals and colonels in Paris

were presented to the Emperor by Louis Bonaparte, who
had already begun to exercise his functions of Constable.

In a few days everything assumed a new aspect ; but in

spite of the admiration which was openly expressed, the

Parisians secretly ridiculed the new courtiers. This

greatly displeased Bonaparte, who was very charitably

informed of it in order to check his prepossession in

favour of the men of the old Court, such as the Comte de

S^gur, and at a later period, Comte Louis de Narbonne.

To give all possible solemnity to his accession Napoleon

ordered that the Senate itself should proclaim in Paris

the organic Senatus-consulte, which entirely changed the
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Constitution of the State. By one of those anomalies

which I have frequently had occasion to remark, the

Emperor fixed for this ceremony, Sunday, the 30th

Flordal. That day was a festival in all Paris, while the

unfortunate prisoners were languishing in the dungeons

of the Temple.

On the day after Bonaparte's accession the old formulas

were restored. The Emperor determined that the French

Princes and Princesses should receive the title of Impe-

rial Highness ; that his sisters should take the same title
;

that the grand dignitaries of the Empire should be

called Serene Highnesses ; that the Princes and titularies

of the grand dignitaries should be addressed by the title

of Monseigneur ; that M. Maret, the Secretary of State,

should have the rank of Minister; that the Ministers

should retain the title of Excellency, to w^hicli should

be added that of Monseigneur in the petitions addressed

to them ; and that the title of Excellency should be

given to the President of the Senate.

At the same time Napoleon appointed the first Mar-

shals of the Empire, and determined that they should be

called Monsieur le Marechal when addressed verbally, and

Monseigneur in writing. The following are the names of

these sons of the Eepublic transformed into props of the

Empire : Berthier, Murat, Moncey, Jourdan, Mass^na,

Augereau, Bernadotte, Soult, Brune, Lannes, Mortier,

Ney, Davoust, and Bessiferes. The title of Marshal of

the Empire was also granted to the generals Kellerman,

Lefebvre, P^rignon, and Serrurier, as having served as

commanders-in-chief.^

1 A complete list of the ilarshals of the first Empire will be found in

the "Memoirs of the Duchesse d'Abrantes " (Madame Jimot), English

edition of 1883, at the end of the third volume. The ^larechaux de

VEmpire created by Napoleon I. must not be confused with the Marechaux
de France of the Monarchy before the Revolution and after the Restora-

tion. Francis I . had first caused the title to be held for life, but it had
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The reader cannot have failed to observe that the name
of Lucien has not been mentioned among the individuals

of Bonaparte's family on whom dignities were conferred.

The fact is, the two brothers were no longer on good
terms with each other. Not, as it has been alleged, be-

cause Lucien wished to play the part of a Eepublican,

but because he would not submit to the imperious will

of Napoleon in a circumstance in which the latter

counted on his brother's docility to serve the interests

of his policy. In the conferences which preceded the

great change in the form of government, it was not

Lucien but Joseph who, probably for the sake of sound-

ing opinion, affected an opposition, which was by some
mistaken for Eepublicanism. With regard to Lucien, as

he had really rendered great services to Napoleon on the

19th Brumaire at St. Cloud, and as he himself exaijgerated

the value of those services, he saw no reward worthy of

his ambition but a throne independent of his brother. It

is certain that when at Madrid he had aspired to win
the good graces of a Spanish Infanta, and on that subject

reports were circulated with which I have nothing to do,

because I never had any opportunity of ascertaining their

truth. All I know is that, Lucien's first wife being dead,

Bonaparte wished him to marry a German Princess, by
way of forming the first great alliance in the family.^

been abolished in 1792. As some of Napoleon's generals were made
Marecliaux de France under the Restoration and the ilonarchy of July,

and as Duroc, Due de Frioul, the Grand Mare'chal du Palais, is often,

for brevity's sake, called Marechal, there is apt to be great confusion

about this title.

1 According to Lucien himself, Napoleon wished him to marrv the

Queen of Etruria, Maria Louise, daughter of Charles IV. of Spain, who
had married, 179.5, Louis de Bourbon, Prince of Parma, sou of the Duke
of Parma, to whom Napoleon had given Tuscany in 1801 as the Kingdom
of Etruria. Her husband had died in May, 180.3, and she governed in the

name of her son. Lucien, whose first wife, Anne Christine Boyer, had
died in 1801, had married his second wife, Alexaiuhiue Laurence de
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Lucien, however, refused to comply with Napoleon's

wishes, and he secretly married the wife of an agent,

named, I believe, Jouhertou, who for the sake of conven-

ience was sent to the West Indies, where he died shortly

after. When Bonaparte heard of this marriage from the

priest by whom it had been clandestinely performed, he

fell into a furious passion, and resolved not to confer on

Lucien the title of French Prince, on account of what he

termed his unequal match. Lucien, therefore, obtained

no other dignity than that of Senator. Jt'rome, who
pursued an opposite line of conduct, was afterwards

made a King. As to Lucien's Republicanism, it did not

survive the 18th Brumaire, and he was always a warm
partisan of hereditary succession.

But I pass on to relate what I know respecting the

Bleschamps, who had married, but who had divorced, a M. Jouberthon.

Wheu Lucien liad been ambassador in Spain, in 1801, charged among
other things with obtaining Elba, the Queen, he says, wislied Napoleon
should marry an Infanta, — Donna Isabella, her youngest daughter,

afterwards Queen of Naples (lung, tome ii. pp. 66 and 130), an overture

to which Napoleon seems not to have made any answer. As for Lucien,

he objected to his brother that the Queen was ugly, and laughed at

Napoleon's representations as to her being " propre ;

" Init at last he

acknowledged his marriage with Madame Jouberthon. This made a com-

plete break l)et\veen the brothers, and on hearing of the execution of the

Due d'Enghien, Lucien said to his wife, " Alexandrine, let us go ; he has

tasted blood." He went to Italy, and in 1810 tried to go to the United

States. Taken prisoner by the English, he was detained first at Malta,

and then in England, at Ludlow Castle and at Thorngrove, till 1814,

when he went to Rome. The Pope, who ever showed a kindly feeling

towards the Bonapartes, made the ex- "Brutus" Bonajtarte Prince de

Canino and Due de Musignano. In 1815 he joined Napoleon, and on the

fin.al fall of the Empire he was interned at Rome till tlie death of his

brotlier. He lived to have his hopes raised by the Revolution of July,

1830, and to be horrified by his nephew Louis Napoleon's wild attempt on
Strasburg in 1836. He died at Viterbo, 1840. See " Lucien Bonaparte,"

by lung: Paris, Charpentier, 1883, in which work note the curious

account by Lucien of Napoleon constantly dreaming of being attacked and
dragged from his palace by a mob of sans culottes headed by I.,ucien {lung,

tome ii. p. 302).
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almost incredible influence which, on the foundation of

the Empire, Bonaparte exercised over the powers which

did not yet dare to declare war against him. I studied

Bonaparte's policy closely, and I came to this conclusion

on the subject, that he was governed by ambition, by the

passion of dominion, and that no relations, on a footing

of equality, between himself and any other power, could

be of long duration. The other States of Europe had

only to choose one of two things,— submission or war.

As to secondary States, they might thenceforth be con-

sidered as fiefs of the French Government ; and as they

could not resist, Bonaparte easily accustomed them to

bend to his yoke. Can there be a stronger proof of this

arbitrary influence than what occurred at Carlsruhe,

after the violation of the territory of Baden, ])y the

arrest of the Due d'Enghien ? Ear from venturing to

make any observation on that violation, so contrary to

the rights of nations, the Grand Duke of Baden was

obliged to publish, in his own State, a decree evidently

dictated by Bonaparte. The decree stated, that many
individuals formerly belonging to the army of Conde

having come to tlie neighbourhood of Carlsruhe, his

Electoral Highness had felt it his duty to direct that

no individual coming from Condd's army, nor indeed any

French emigrant, should, unless he had permission pre-

viously to the peace, make a longer sojourn than was

allowed to foreign travellers. Such was already the

influence which Bonaparte exercised over Germany,

whose Princes, to use an expression which he employed

in a later decree, were crushed by the grand measures

of the Empire.

But to be just, without however justifying Bonaparte,

I must acknowledge that the intrigues which England

fomented in all parts of the Continent were calculated

to excite his natural irritability to the utmost degree.
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Tlie agents of England were spread over the whole of

Europe, and they varied the rumours which they were

commissioned to circulate, according to the chances of

credit which the different places afforded. Their reports

were generally false ; but credulity gave ear to them,

and speculators endeavoured, each according to his in-

terest, to give tliem support. The headquarters of all

this plotting was Munich, where Drake, who w^as sent

from England, had the supreme direction. His corre-

spondence, which was seized by the French Government,

was at first placed amongst the documents to be pro-

duced on the trial of Georges, Moreau, and the other

prisoners ; but in the course of the preliminary proceed-

ings the Grand Judge received directions to detach them,

and make them the sulgect of a special report to the

First Consul, in order that their publication beforehand

might influence public opinion, and render it unfavour-

able to those who were doomed to be sacrificed. The
instructions given by Drake to his agents render it im-

possible to doubt that England wished to overthrow the

Government of Bonaparte. Drake wrote as follows to a

man who was appointed to travel through France :
—

"The principal object of your journey being tlie overthrow of

the existing Government, one of the means of effecting it is to

acquire a knowledge of the enemy's plans. For tin's purpose it

is of the highest importance to begin, in the first place, by es-

tablishing communications with persons who may be depended

upon in tlie diiferent Government offices, in order to obtain

exact information of all plans with respect to foreign or internal

affairs. The knowledge of these plans will supply the best

means of defeating them ; and failure is the way to bring the

Government into complete discredit, — the first and most im-

portant step towards the end proposed. Try to gain over trust-

worthy agents in the different Government departments.

Endeavour, also, to learn what passes in the secret committee,
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^vI^cll is supposed to be established at St. Cloud, and composed
of tlie friends of the First Consul. Be careful to furnish in-

formation of the various projects which Bonaparte may enter-

tain relative to Turkey and Ireland. Likewise send intelligence

respecting tlie movements of troops, respecting vessels and ship-

building, and all militaiy preparations."

Drake, in his instructions, also recommended that the

subversion of Bonaparte's Government shoukl, for the

time, be the only object in view, and that nothing should

be said about the King's intentions until certain infor-

mation could be obtained respecting his views ; but most
of his letters and instructions were anterior to 1804.

The whole bearing of the seized documents proved what
Bonaparte could not be ignorant of, namely, that Eng-
land was his constant enemy ; but after examining them,
I was of opinion that they contained nothing which
could justify the belief that the Government of Great
Britain authorised any attempt at assassination.

When the First Consul received the report of the

Grand Judge relative to Drake's plots ^ against his Gov-
ernment, he transmitted a copy of it to the Senate, and
it was in reply to this communication that the Senate

made those first overtures which Bonaparte thou<Tht

vague, but which, nevertheless, led to the formation of

the Empire. Notwithstanding this important circum-

1 Tliese were not plots for assassination. Bonaparte, in the same war,
had his secret agents in every conntry of Europe, witliont exceptino-

England. Alison (chap, xxxvii. para. 39) says on this matter of Drake
tliat, though the English agents were certainly attempting a counter-
revolution, they had no idea of encouraging the assassination of Napoleon,
while " England was no match for the French police agents in a transac-

tion of this description, for the puhlication of Regnier revealed tlie morti-
fying fact that the whole correspondence both of Drake and Spencer
Smith had been regularly transmitted, as fast as it took place, to the
police of Paris, and that their principal correspondent in that citv, M.
Mehe'e de laTouche, was liimself an agent of tlie police, em])loyed to tempt
th,e British envoys into this perilous enterprise."
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Stance, I have not hitherto mentioned Drake, because

his intrigues for Bonaparte's overthrow appeared to me
to be more immediately connected with the preliminaries

of the trial of Georges and Moreau, which I shall notice

in my next chapter.

At the same time that Bonaparte communicated to the

Senate the report of the Grand Judge, tlie INIinister for

Foreign Affairs addressed the following circular letter to

the members of the Diplomatic Body :
—

"The First Consul bus commanded me to forward to your

Excellency a copy of a report which has been presented to liim,

respecting a conspiracy -formed in France by Mr. Drake, his

Britannic Majesty's Minister at tlie Court of Mnnich, which, by

its object as well as its date, is evidently coTuiected with the

infamous plot now in the course of investigation.

"The printed copy of Mr. Drake's letters and authentic docu-

ments is annexed to the report. The originals will be innne-

diately sent, by order of the First Consul, to the Elector of

Bavaria.

" Such a prostitution of the most honourable function which

can be intrusted to a man is unexampled in the history of civi-

lised nations. It will astonish and afflict Europe as an un-

heard-of crime, which hitherto the most perverse Governments

have not dared to meditate. The First Consul is too well ac-

quainted with sentiments of the Diplomatic Body accredited to

him not to be fully convinced that every one of its mend^ers

will behold, with profound regret, the profanation of the sacred

character of Ambassador, basely transformed into a minister of

plots, snares, and corruption."

All the ambassadors, ministers, plenipotentiaries, en-

voys, ordinary or extraordinary, whatever might be their

denomination, addressed answers to the Minister for For-

eign Affairs, in which they expressed horror and indigna-

tion at the conduct of England and Drake's machinations.
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These answers were returned only five days after the

Due d'Enghien's death ; and here one cannot help admir-

ing the adroitness of Bonaparte, who thus compelled

all the representatives of the European Governments

to give official testimonies of regard for his person and
Government.



CHAPTEE XXVI.

1804.

Ox the 28th of May, about ten days after Xapoleon had
been declared Emperor, the trials of Moreau and others

commenced. No similar event that has since occurred

can convey an idea of the fermentation which then pre-

vailed in Paris. The Indignation excited by Moreau's

arrest was openly manifested, and braved the observation

of the police. Endeavours had been successfully made to

mislead public opinion with respect to Georges and some
others among the accused, who were looked upon as

assassins in the pay of England, at least by that numer-

ous portion of the public who lent implicit faitli to decla-

rations presented to them as official. But the case was
different with regard to those individuals who were parti-

cularly the ol:)jects of public interest, viz. ]\IM. de Polignac,

de Eiviere, Charles d'Hozier, and, above all, Moreau. The
name of Moreau towered above all the rest, and with re-

spect to him the Government found itself not a little per-

plexed. It was necessary on the one hand to surround

him with a guard sufficiently imposing to repress the

eagerness of the people and of his friends, and yet on the

other hand care was required that this guard should not

be so strong as to admit of the possibility of making it a

rallying-point, should the voice of a chief so honoured by

the army appeal to it for defence. A rising of the popu-

lace in favour of JMoreau was considered as a very possible

event,— some hoped for it, others dreaded it. When I



1804. PUBLIC SYMPATHY WITH MOREAU. 335

reflect on the state of feeling which then prevailed, I am
certain that a movement in his favour would infallibly

have taken place liad judges more complying than even

those who presided at the trial condemned Moreau to

capital punishment.

It is impossible to form an idea of the crcnvd that

choked up the avenues of the Palace of Justice on the day

the trials commenced. This crowd continued during the

twelve days the proceedings lasted, and was exceedingly

great on the day the sentence was pronounced. Persons

of the highest class were anxious to be present.

I was one of the first in the Hall, being determined

to watch the course of these solemn proceedings. The
Court being assembled, the President ordered the prison-

ers to be brought in. They entered in a file, and ranged

themselves on the benches each between two gendarmes.

They appeared composed and collected, and resignation

was depicted on the countenances of all except Bouvet

de Lozier, wdio did not dare to raise his eyes to his compan-
ions in misfortune, wdiom his weakness, rather than his

will, had betrayed. I did not recognise him until the Pres-

ident proceeded to call over the prisoners, and to put the

usual questions respecting their names, professions, and
places of abode. Of the forty-nine prisoners, among whom
were several females, only two were personally known to

me; namely, Moreau, whose presence on the prisoner's

bench seemed to wring every heart, and Georges, wliom I

had seen at the Tuileries in the First Consul's cabinet.

The first sitting of the Court was occupied with the

reading of tlie act of accusation or indictment, and the

voices of the ushers, commanding silence, could scarce

suppress the buzz which pervaded the Court at the men-
tion of Moreau's nanie.^ All eyes were turned towards

1 Miot de Melito (tome ii. p. 192), -n-ho cannot be called an extreme
partisan of Napoleon, acknowledging the excitement in favour of ]\Ioreau,
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the conqueror of Holienlindcn, and while the rrocureur

Imperial read over the long indictment and invoked the

vengeance of the law on an attempt against the head of

the llepublic, it was easy to perceive how he tortured his

ingenuity to fasten a]3parent guilt on the laurels of

Moreau. The good sense of the public discerned proofs of

his innocence in the very circumstances brought forward

against him. I shall never forget the effect produced—
so contrary to what was anticipated by the prosecutors—
by the reading of a letter addressed by Moreau from his

prison in the Temple to the First Consul, when the judges

appointed to interrogate him sought to make his past

conduct the subject of accusation, on account of M. de

Klinglin's papers having fallen into his hands. He was
reproached with having too long delayed transmitting

these documents to the Directory ; and it was curious to

see the Emperor Napoleon become the avenger of pre-

tended offences committed against the Directory which

he liad overthrown.

In the letter here alluded to Moreau said to Bonaparte,

then First Consul:—
" In the short campaign of the year V. (from tbe 20th to the

23(1 of March, 1797) we took the papers belonging to tlie staff

of the enemy's army, and a number of documents were brought

to me which Genera] Desaix, then wounded, amused himself by

perusing. It appeared from this correspondence that General

Pichegru had maintained communications with the French

Princes. This discovery was very painful and particularly to

me, and we agreed to say nothing of tlie matter. Pichegru, as

a mendjer of the Legislative Body, could do but little to injure

attributes it, not to a belief in his innocence,— the evidence was too strong

for that, — but to the striking contrast betrreen the fortunes of the two

Generals; see also tome ii. pp. 13.5, 136. The feeling for Moreau was

certainly strong. " At the The'atre Frauc^ais some young men applauded

loudly some lines which appeared to apply to Moreau, but the police

arrested them" (Pui/maifjre, p. 108).
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the public cause, since peace was established. I nevertheless

took every precaution for protecting the army against the ill

effects of a system of espionage. . . . The events of the 18th

Fructidor occasioned so much anxiety that two officers, who
knew of the existence of the correspondence, prevailed on me to

coninnmicate it to the Government. ... I felt that, as a public

functionary, I could no longer remain silent. . . . During the

two last campaigns in Germany, and since the peace, distant

overtures have been made to me, with the view of drawing me
into connection with the French Princes. This appeared so ab-

surd that I took no notice of these overtures. As to the present

conspiracy, I can assure you I have been far from taking any share

in it. I repeat to you, General, that whatever proposition to that

effect was made me, I rejected it, and regarded it as the height

of madness. When it was represented to me that the invasion

of England would offer a favourable opportunity for effecting a

change in the French Government, I invariably answered that

the Senate was the authority to which the whole of France

would naturally cling in the time of trouble, and tliat I would

be the first to place myself under its orders. To such overtures

made to a private individual, who vrished to preserve no connec-

tion either with the army, of whom nine tenths have served

under me, or any constituted authority, the only possible answer

was a refusal. Betrayal of confidence I disdained. Such a step,

which is always base, becomes doubly odious when the treachery

is committed against those to whom we owe gratitude, or have

been bound by old friendship.

" This, General, is all I have to tell you respecting my rela-

tions with Pichegru, and it must convince you that very false

and hasty inferences have been drawn from conduct which,

though perhaps imprudent, was far from being crimiual." ^

1 This letter is, to say the least, curious. In at latest March, 1797, Mo-
reau became aware that Pichegru, the leader of one of the parties in tlie

Legishitive Body, and still jjossessiug great influence with the army, was in

communication with the Princes, that is, was conspiring with men facing

Moreau in arms. It was not until after Pichegru's party was ruined by
the coup d'etat of the 18th Fructidor (4th September, 1797) that Mureau
revealed this fact to the Government, and only then when the step was

VOL. II.— 22
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Moreau fulfilled liis duty as a public functionary by
communicating to the Directory the papers which un-

folded a plot against the Government, and which the

chances of war had thrown into his hands. He fulfilled

his duty as a man of honour by not voluntarily incurring

the infamy which can never be wiped from the character

of an informer. Bonaparte in Moreau's situation would
have acted the same part, for I never knew a man express

stronger indignation than himself against informers, until

he began to consider everything a virtue which served

his ambition, and everything a crime which opposed it.

The two facts which most forcibly obtruded themselves

on my attention during the trial were the inveterate vio-

lence of the President of the Court towards the prison-

ers and the innocence of Moreau. But, in spite of the

most insidious examinations which can be conceived,

Moreau never once fell into the least contradiction. If

my memory fail me not, it was on the fourth day that he

was examined by Thuriot, one of the judges.^ The result,

forced on him hy others. Moreau also acknowledges that it had been pro-

posed to him to upset the Government during the expected ahsence of Na-

poleon in England, a step which would inevitably have ruined the French

Army in England. He says that he answered that he would put himself

under the Senate ; thus practically Moreau says, " Get rid of the Govern-

ment without compromising me, and then I will act." He himself had

taken an active part in establishing this very Government. A man who
acts thus cannot complain if he be treated as a conspirator alon'^side the

more daring men who were ready to take the dangers of the attempt of

which Moreau was prepared to reap the advantages. That Moreau met
Piehegru and Georges at night at the Madeleine is, surely rightly, taken by

Thiers (to::e v. p. 144) as proof that Moreau had some other object than,

as he professed, the reconciliation of Fichegru with Napoleon. Georges

undoubtedly intended assassination ; see also Savary, tome ii. p. 94. Lan-

frey's defence (tome iii. p. 185) is most lame; he adopts Rolland's correc-

tion of the phrase il fallait /aire disparaitreles Consuls, to U fandrait gu'ils

disparaisserit. Few persons can doubt what the disappearance of a ruler

then meant in France.
1 It is strange that Bourrienne does not acknowledge that he was charged

by Napoleon with the duty of attending this trial of Moreau, and of send-
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clear as day to all present, was, that Moreaii was a total

stranger to all the plots, all the intrigues which had been
set on foot in London. In fact, during the whole course

of the trial, to which I listened with as much atten-

tion as interest, I did not discover the shadow of a cir-

cumstance which could in the least commit him, or which
had the least reference to him. Scarcely one of the hun-

dred and thirty-nine witnesses who were heard for the

prosecution knew him, and he himself declared on the

fourth sitting, which took place on the 31st of May, that

there was not an individual among the accused whom he
knew,— not one whom he had ever seen. In the course

of the long proceedings, notwithstanding the manifest

efforts of Thuriot to extort false admissions and force

contradictions, no fact of any consequence was elicited to

the prejudice of Moreau. His appearance was as calm as

his conscience ; and as he sat on the bench he had the

appearance of one led by curiosity to be present at this

interesting trial, rather than of an accused person, to

whom the proceedings might end in condemnation and
death. But for the fall of Moreau in the ranks of the

enemy, but for the foreign cockade which disgraced

the cap of the conqueror of Hohenlinden, his complete

innocence would long since have been put beyond doubt,

and it would have been acknowledged that the most in-

famous machinations were employed for his destruction.

It is evident that Lajolais, who had passed from London
to Paris, and from Paris to London, had been acting the

part of an intriguer rather than of a conspirator; and
that the object of his missions was not so much to rec-

oncile Moreau and Pichegru as to make Pichegru the

instrument of implicating Moreau. Those who supposed

ing in a daily report of the proceedings. If, says Meneval (tome iii.

p. 29), these reports can j-et be found, the public could judge of the differ-

ence of thoughts and language between the two versions Bourrienne has

given of the trial.
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Lajolais to be in the pay of tlie British Government were

egregiously imposed on. Lajolais was only in the pay of

the secret police ; he was condemned to death, as was ex-

pected, but he received his pardon, as was agreed upon.

Here was one of the disclosures which Pichegru might

have made ; hence the necessity of getting him out of

the way before the trial. As to the evidence of the man
named Eolland, it was clear to everybody that Moreau

was right when he said to the President, " In my opinion,

Rolland is either a creature of the police, or he has given

his evidence under the influence of fear." Eolland made
two declarations : the first contained nothing at all ; the

second was in answer to the following observations

:

" You see you stand in a terrible situation
;
you must

either be held to be an accomplice in the conspiracy, or

you must be taken as evidence. If you say nothing, you

will be considered in the light of an accomplice ; if you

confess, you will be saved." This single circumstance

may serve to give an idea of the way the trials were con-

ducted so as to criminate Moreau. On his part the Gen-

eral repelled the attacks, of which he was the object, with

calm composure and modest confidence, though flashes of

just indignation would occasionally burst from him. I

recollect the effect he produced upon the Court and the

auditors at one of the sittings, when the President had

accused him of the design of making himself Dictator.

He exclaimed, " / Dictator ! What, make myself Dicta-

tor at the head of the partisans of the Bourbons ! Point

out my partisans ! My partisans would naturally be the

soldiers of France, of whom I have commanded nine

tenths, and saved more than fifty thousand. These are

the partisans I should look to ! All my aides-de-camp,

all the officers of my acquaintance, have been arrested
;

not the shadow of a suspicion could be found against any

of them, and they have been set at liberty. Why, then,
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attribute to me tlie madness of aiming to get myself made
Dictator by the aid of the adherents of tlie old French

Princes, of persons who have fought in their cause since

1792 ? You allege that these men, in the space of four-

and-twenty hours, formed the project of raising me to the

Dictatorship ! It is madness to think of it ! My fortune

and my 'pay have been alluded to, I began the world

with nothing ; I might have had by this time fifty mil-

lions ; I have merely a house and a bit of ground. As to

my pay, it is forty thousand francs. Surely that sum
will not be compared with my services

!

"

During the trial Moreau delivered a defence, which I

knew had been written by his friend Garat, whose elo-

quence I well remember was always disliked by Bona-

parte. Of this I had a proof on the occasion of a grand

ceremony which took place in the Place des Victoires, on

laying the first stone of a monument which was to have

been erected to the memory of Desaix, but wdiich was
never executed. The First Consul returned home in

very ill humour, and said to me, " Bourrienne, what a

brute that Garat is ! What a stringer of words ! I have

been obliged to listen to him for three quarters of an

hour. There are people who never know when to hold

their tongues !

"

Whatever might be the character of Garat's eloquence

or Bonaparte's opinion of it, his conduct was noble on the

occasion of Moreau's trial ; for he might be sure Bona-

parte would bear him a grudge for lending the aid of his

pen to the only man whose military glory, though not

equal to that of the First Consul, might entitle him to be

looked upon as his rival in fame. At one of the sittings

a circumstance occurred which produced an almost elec-

trical effect. I think I still see General Lecourbe,^ the

1 This action of Lecourlie, together with the part played in this trial by
his brother, oue of the judges, was most uufortuiiate, uot only for Leeourbe
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worthy friend of Moreau, entering unexpectedly into the

Court, leading a little boy. Raising the child in his arms,

he exclaimed aloud, and with considerable emotion, " Sol-

diers, behold the son of your General
!

" At this unex-

pected movement all the military present spontaneously

rose and presented arms; while a murmur of approbation

from the spectators applauded the act. It is certain that

had Moreau at that moment said but one word, such was

the enthusiasm in his favour, the tribunal would have

been broken up and the prisoners liberated. Moreau,

however, was silent, and indeed appeared the only uncon-

cerned person in Court. Tliroughout the whole course of

the trial Moreau inspired so much respect that when he

was asked a question and rose to reply the gendarmes

appointed to guard him rose at the same time and stood

uncovered while he spoke.

Georges was far from exciting the interest inspired by
Moreau. He was an object of curiosity rather than of

interest. The difference of their previous conduct was in

itself sufficient to occasion a great contrast in their situa-

tion before the Court. Moreau was full of confidence, and

Georges full of resignation. The latter regarded his fate

with a fierce kind of resolution. He occasionally resumed

the caustic tone which he seemed to have renounced when
he harangued his associates before their departure from

the Temple. With the most sarcastic bitterness he al-

luded to the name and vote of Thuriot, one of the most

violent of the judges, often terming him Ttie-roi ; ^ and

but for France, which consequently lost the services of its best general of

mountain warfare. His campaigns of Switzerland in 1799 on the St.

Gothard against Suwarrow are well known. Naturally disgraced for the

part he took with Moreau, he was not again employed till the Vent Jours,

when he did good service, although he had disapproved of the defection

of 'Sey from the Royalist cause. He died in 1815 ; his brother, the judge,

had a most furious reception from Napoleon, who called him a prevaricat-

ing judge, and dismissed him from his office (Rimusal. tome ii. p. 8).

1 Thuriot and the President Hcmart both voted for the death of the
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after pronouncing his name, or being forced to reply to

his interrogatories, he would ask for a glass of Lrandy
to wash his mouth.

Georges had the manners and bearing of a rude soldier

;

but under his coarse exterior he concealed the soul of a

hero. When the witnesses of his arrest had answered

the questions of the President H^mart, this judge turned

towards the accused, and inquired whether he had any-

thing to say in reply.— "No."— "Do you admit the

facts?"— "Yes." Here Georges busied himself in look-

ing over the papers which lay before him, when Hdmart
warned him to desist, and attend to the questions. The
following dialogue then commenced. " Do you confess

having been arrested in the place designated by the wit-

ness ?"— "I do not know the name of the place."— " Do
you confess having been arrested ? "— " Yes."— " Did you
twice fire a pistol ? "— " Yes."— " Did you kill a man ?

"

— " Indeed I do not know."— " Had you a poniard ? "—
"Yes."— " And two pistols ? " — " Yes."— " Who was in

company with you?"— "I do not know the person."—
"Where did you lodge in Paris?"— "Nowhere."— "At
the time of your arrest did you not reside in the house of

a fruiterer in the Eue de la Montague St. Genevieve ? "—
" At the time of my arrest I was in a cabriolet. I lodged

nowhere."— " Where did you sleep on the evening of

your arrest ? "— " Nowhere."— " What were you doing in

Paris?" — "I was walking about." — "Whom have you
seen in Paris?"— "I shall name no one; I know no

one."

From this short specimen of the manner in which
Georges replied to the questions of the President we may
judge of his unshaken firmness during the proceedings.

In all that concerned himself he was perfectly open ; but

King. Merlin, the imperial Procureur-Ge'ue'ral, was one of the regicides.

— Bourrienne.
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in regard to whatever tended to endanger his associates

he maintained the most obstinate silence, notwithstand-

ing every attempt to overcome his firmness.

That I was not the only one who justly appreciated the

noble character of Georges is rendered evident by the fol-

lowing circumstance. Having accompanied M. Carbonnet

to the police, where he went to demand his papers, on the

day of his removal to St. P^lagie, we were obliged to await

the return of M. Edal, who was absent. M. Desmarets

and several other persons were also in attendance. M.

R^al had been at the Conciergerie, where he had seen

Georges Cadoudal, and on his entrance observed to M.
Desmarets and the others, sufficiently loud to be dis-

tinctly heard by M. Carbonnet and myself, "T have had

an interview with Georges, who is an extraordinary man.

I told him that I was disposed to ofCer him a pardon if he

would promise to renounce the conspiracy and accept of

employment under Government. But to my arguments

and persuasions he only replied, ' My comrades follov:ecl

me to Fravce, and I shall follovj them to death.' " In this

he kept his word.

Were we to judge these memorable proceedings from the

official documents published in the " Moniteur " and other

journals of that period, we should form a very erroneous

opinion. Those falsities were even the object of a very

serious complaint on the part of Coster St. Victor, one of

the accused.

After the speech of M. Gauthier, the advocate of Coster

St. Victor, the President inquired of the accused whether

he had anything further to say in his defence, to which he

replied :
" I have only to add that the witnesses necessary

to my exculpation have not yet appeared. I must besides

express my surprise at the means which have been em-

ployed to lead astray public opinion, and to load with

infamy not only the accused but also their intrepid de-
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fenders. 1 have read with pain in the journals of to-day

that the proceedings " Here the President, interrupt-

ing, observed that " these were circumstances foreign to

the case." " Not in the least," replied Coster St. Victor

;

" on the contrary, they bear very materially on the cause,

since mangling and misrepresenting our defence is a prac-

tice assuredly calculated to ruin us in the estimation of

the public. In the journals of to-day the speech of M.
Gauthier is shamefully garbled, and I should be deficient

in gratitude were I not here to bear testimony to the zeal

and courage which he has displayed in my defence. I

protest against the puerilities and absurdities which have

been put into his mouth, and I entreat him not to relax

in his generous efforts. It is not on his account that I

make this observation ; he does not require it at my
hands ; it is for myself, it is for the accused, whom such

arts tend to injure in the estimation of the public."

Coster St. Victor had something chivalrous in his lan-

guage and manners which spoke greatly in his favour ; he

conveyed no bad idea of one of the Fiesco conspirators, or

of those leaders of the Fronde who intermingled gallantry

with their politics.

An anecdote to this effect was current about the period

of the trial Coster St. Victor, it is related, being unable

any longer to find a secure asylum in Paris, sought refuge

for a single night in the house of a beautiful actress, for-

merly in the good graces of the First Consul ; and it is

added that Bonaparte, on the same night, having secretly

arrived on a visit to the lady, found himself unexpectedly

in the presence of Coster St. Victor, who might have taken

his life, but that only an interchange of courtesy took

place betwixt the rival gallants.

This ridiculous story was doubtless intended to throw
additional odium on the First Consul, if Coster St. A^ictor

should be condemned and not obtain a pardon, in which



346 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 1804.

case malignity would not fail to attribute his execution to

the vengeance of a jealous lover.

I should blush to relate such stories, equally destitute

of probability and truth, had they not obtained some credit

at the time. Whilst I was with Bonaparte he never went

abroad during the night ; and it was not surely at a mo-
ment when the saying of Fouche, " The air is full of

jjoniards" was fully explained that he would have risked

such nocturnal adventures.

Wright was heard in the sixth sitting, on the 2d of

June, as the hundred and thirty-fourth witness in sup-

port of the prosecution. He, however, refused to answer

any interrogatories put to him, declaring that, as a prisoner

of war, he considered himself only amenable to his own
Government.

The Procureur-G^neral requested the President to order

the examinations of Captain Wright on the 21st of May
and at a later period to be read over to him ; which being

done, the witness replied, that it was omitted to be stated

that on these occasions the questions had been accom-

panied with the threat of transferring him to a military

tribunal in order to be shot, if he did not betray the

secrets of his country.

In the course of the trial the most lively interest was

felt for MM. de Polignac,^ Charles d'Hozier, and de Kivifere.

1 The eldest of the Polignacs, Armand (177 1-1 847), condemned to death,

had that penalty remitted, but was imprisoned in Ham till permitted to

escape in 1813. He became Due de Richelieu in 1817. His younger

brother, Jules (1780-1847), was also imprisoned and escaped. In 1814 he

was one of the first to display the white flag in Paris. In 1829 he became

Minister of Charles X., and was responsible for the ordonnances which cost

his master his throne in 1830. Imprisoned, nominallj' for life, he was

released in 1836, and after passing some time in England returned to

France. The remission of the sentence of death on Prince Armand was

obtained by the Empress Josephine. Time after time, urged on by Madame
de Remusat, she implored mercy from Napoleon, who at last consented to

see tlie wife of the Prince. L'ulike the Bourbon Louis XVIII., who could
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So short a period had elapsed since the proscription of the

nobility that, independently of every feeling of humanity,

it was certainly impolitic to exhibit before the public the

heirs of an illustrious name, endowed with that devoted

heroism whicli could not fail to extort admiration even

from those who condemned their opinions and principles.

The prisoners were all young, and their situation created

universal sympathy. The greatest number of them dis-

dained to have recourse to a denial, and seemed less

anxious for the preservation of their own lives than for

the honour of the cause in which they had embarked,—
not with the view of assassination, as had been demon-

strated, but for the purpose of ascertaining the true state

of the public feeling, which had been represented by some
factious intriguers as favourable to the Bourbons.

Even when the sword of the law was suspended over

their heads, the faithful adherents of the Bourbons dis-

played on every occasion their attachment and fidelity to

the royal cause. I recollect that the Court was dissolved

in tears when the President adduced as a proof of the

guilt of M. de Rivifere his having worn a medal of the

Comte d'xirtois, which the prisoner requested to examine

;

and, on its being handed to him by an officer, M. de Riviere

pressed it to his lips and his heart ; then, returning it, he
said that he only wished to render homage to the Prince

whom he loved.

The Court was still more deeply affected on witnessing

the generous fraternal struggle which took place during

the last sitting between the two De Polignacs. The
emotion was general when the eldest of the brothers,

see Madame de Lavalette only to refuse the wretched woman's prayer for

her husband, for Napoleon to grant the interview was to concede the par-

don. The Prince escaped death, and liis wife, who had oljtained tlie inter-

view by applying to Madame de Kemusat, when she met her benefactress

in tlie time of the Restoration, displayed a really grand forgetfuluess of

what had passed (see Remusat, tome ii. chap. i.).
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after having observed that his always going out alone

and during the day did not look like a conspirator anxious

for concealment, added these remarkable words, which will

remain indelibly engraven on my memory :
" I have now

only one wish, which is that, as the sword is suspended

over our heads, and threatens to cut short the existence

of several of the accused, you would, in consideration

of his youth if not of his innocence, spare my brother,

and shower down upon me the whole weight of your

vengeance."

It was during the last sitting but one, on Friday, the

8th of June, that M. Armand de Polignac made the above

affecting appeal in favour of his brother. The following

day, before the fatal sentence was pronounced, M. Jules

de Polignac addressed the judges, saying, " I was so deeply

affected yesterday, wliile my brother was speaking, as not

fully to have attended to what I read in my own defence
;

but being now perfectly tranquil, I entreat, gentlemen,

that you will not regard what he urged in my behalf.

I repeat, on the contrary, and with more justice, if one of

us must fall a sacrifice, if there be yet time, save him,

—

restore him to the tears of his wife ; I have no tie. Like

him, I can meet death unappalled ; too young to have

tasted the pleasures of the world, I cannot regret their

loss." " No, no," exclaimed his brother, " you are still in

the outset of your career ; it is I who ought to fall."

At eight in the morning the members of the Tribunal

withdrew to the council-chamber. Since the commence-

ment of the proceedings the crowd, far from diminishing,

seemed each day to increase. This morning it was im-

mense, and, though the sentence was not expected to be

pronounced till a late hour, no one quitted the Court for

fear of not being able to find a place when the Tribunal

should resume its sitting.

Sentence of death was passed upon Georges Cadoudal,
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Bouvet de Lozier, Riisillon, Eochelle, Armand de Polignac,

Charles d'Hozier, De Riviere, Louis Ducorps, Picot, Lajo-

lais, Roger, Coster St. Victor, Deville, Gaillard, Joyaiit,

Burban, Lemercier, Jean Cadudol, Lelan, and Merille

;

while Jules de Polignac, Leridant, General Moreau,^

Rolland, and Hisay were only condemned to two years'

imprisonment.

This decree was heard with consternation by the as-

sembly, and soon spread throughout Paris. I may well

affirm it to have been a day of public mourning ; even
though it was Sunday, every place of amusement was
nearly deserted. To the horror inspired by a sentence

of death passed so wantonly, and of which the greater

number of the victims belonged to the most distinguished

class of society, was joined the ridicule inspired by the

condemnation of Moreau, of the absurdity of which no
one seemed more sensible than Bonaparte himself, and
respecting which he expressed himself in the most pointed

terms. I am persuaded that every one who narrowly
watched the proceedings of this celebrated trial must
have been convinced that all means were resorted to in

order that Moreau, once accused, should not appear en-

tirely free from guilt.

Bonaparte is reported to have said, "Gentlemen, I

have no control over your proceedings ; it is your duty
strictly to examine the evidence before presenting a

report to me. But when it has once the sanction of your
signatures, woe to you if an innocent man be con-

demned." 2 This remark is in strict conformity with his

^ General Moreau's sentence was remitted, and he was allowed to go to

America.
2 This passage is taken from Savary (tome ii. p. 75), who often heard

the Emperor say so to his Ministers. Any person who has held eitlier a

command or any executive post must know that Napoleon was strictly

within his riglit in making his Ministers responsible in this manner.
The cardinal error of Lanfrey and his school of critics is to consider that
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usual language, and bears a striking similarity to the

conversation I held with him on the following Thurs-

day ; but though this language might be appropriate

from the lips of a sovereign whose ministers are respon-

sible, it appears but a lame excuse in tlie mouth of Bona-

parte, the possessor of absolute power.

The condemned busied themselves in endeavouring to

procure a repeal of their sentence ; the greatest number
of them yielded in this respect to the entreaties of their

friends, who lost no time in taking the steps requisite to

obtain the pardon of those in whom they were most in-

terested. Moreau at first also determined to appeal

;

but he relinquished his purpose before the Court of Cas-

sation commenced its sittings.

As soon as the decree of the special Tribunal was de-

livered, Murat, Governor of Paris and brother-in-law to

the Emperor, sought his presence and conjured him in

the most urgent manner to pardon all the criminals,

observing that such an act of clemency would redound

greatly to his honour in the opinion of France and all

Europe, that it would be said the Emperor pardoned the

attempt against the life of the First Consul, that this act

of mercy would shed more glory over the commence-
ment of his reign than any security which could accrue

from the execution of the prisoners. Such was the con-

duct of ^lurat ; but he did not solicit, as has been re-

ported, the pardon of any one in particular.

Those who obtained the imperial pardon were Bouvet

Napoleon could be responsiljle for all the acts of his adminvstration. There
is probably no one from whom any order, however contrary to tlieir inten-

tions, could not some time or otlier be obtained by any one able to wait

for a moment of haste, or weariness, or misconception. Writers who
would shrink from answering for tlie acts of their few servants cheerfully

accuse Napoleon of every act done in France in his time, if the result be

bad. They are less liberal with responsibility for the measures they are

forced to approve of.
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de Lozier, who expected it from the dischisures he had
made ; Eusillon, lie Eivifere, Eochelle, Armand de Po-

Hgnac, D'Hozier, Lajolais, who had beforehand received

a i)romise to that effect, and Armand Gaillard.

The other ill-fated victims of a sanguinary police un-

derwent their sentence on the 25th of June, two days

after the promulgation of the pardon of their associates.

Their courage and resignation never forsook them even

for a moment; and Georges,^ knowing that it was ru-

moured he had obtained a pardon, entreated that he

might die the first, in order that his companions in their

last moments might be assured he had not survived

them.

1 Georges Cadoudal (1769-1804) was one of those strong characters

not unfrequeutly found among conspirators. Napoleon would gladly have

saved him or won him over, except for his determined attempts at assas-

sination. He had been one of the chiefs in La Veude'e, and when that

rebellion had been put an end to in 1800, Napoleon had seen Georges

alone, to the horror of his aide-de-camp ; but he could not shake the gloomy
resolution of the conspirator, or his firm attachment to the Royalist cause

(
Thiers, tome i. p. 209). Georges is even .said to have afterwards regretted

not having taken advantage of this opportunity to kill the First Consul.

When condemned now, he wrote, says Lavalette (tome ii. p. 26) a noble

letter to INIurat, the Governor of Paris, asking for the pardon of his ac-

complices. He did not ask for his own, but offered to be the first to

throw himself on the English coast if life were granted to him. It was,

he said, only changing the manner of his death, but in that way at least

it would be useful to liis country. Napoleon, says Madame de Remusat
(tome ii. p. 6), seemed struck by the firmness of the cliaracter of Georges,

and said, " If it were possible to save any of these assassins, I would par-

don Georges."



CHAPTER XXVII.

1804.

The judges composing the Tribunal which condemned
Moreau were not all like Thuriot and Hdmart. History

has recorded an honourable contrast to the general mean-

ness of the period in the reply given by M. Clavier, when
urged by Hdinart to vote for the condemnation of Mo-
reau. " Ah, Monsieur, if we condemn him, how shall we
be able to acquit ourselves ?

" ^ I have, besides, the best

reason for asserting that the judges were tampered with,

from a circumstance which occurred to myself.

Bonaparte knew that I was intimately connected with

M. Desmaisons, one of the members of the Tribunal, and

brother-in-law to Corvisart ; he also knew that Desmai-

sons was inclined to believe in Moreau's innocence, and

favourable to his acquittal. During the progress of the

trial Corvisart arrived at my house one morning at a

very early hour, in a state of such evident embarrassment

that, before he had time to utter a word, I said to him,
" What is the matter ? Have you heard any bad news ?

"

" No," replied Corvisart, " but I came by the Emperor's

order. He wishes you to see my brother-in-law. ' He is,'

said he to me, ' the senior judge, and a man of consider-

able eminence : his opinion will carry with it great

weight, and I know that he is favourable to Moreau ; he

is in the wrong. Visit Bourrienne,' said the Emperor,

1 Another version has it, " If we condemn him, who will acquit us ?
"
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* and concert with him respecting the best method of con-

vincing Desmaisons of his error, for I repeat he is wrong,

— he is deceived.' This is the mission with which I am
intrusted."

" How," said I, with thorough astonishment, — " how
came you to be employed in this affair ? Could you be-

lieve for one moment that I would tamper with a magis-

trate in order to induce him to exercise an unjust

rigour ?

"

" No, rest assured," replied Corvisart, " I merely visited

you this morning in obedience to the order of the Em-
peror ; but I knew beforehand in what manner you

would regard the proposition with which I was charged.

I knew your opinions and your character too well to en-

tertain the smallest doubt in this respect, and I was

convinced that I ran no risk in becoming the bearer of

a commission which would be attended with no effect.

Besides, had I refused to obey the Emperor, it would have

proved prejudicial to your interest, and confirmed him in

the opinion that you were favourable to the acquittal of

Moreau. For myself," added Corvisart, " it is needless

to affirm that I have no intention of attempting to influ-

ence the opinion of my brother-in-law ; and if I had, you

know him sufficiently well to be convinced in what light

he would regard such a proceeding."

Such were the object and result of Corvisart's visit,

and I am thence led to believe that similar attempts

must have been made to influence other members of the

Tribunal.! But however this may be, prudence led me

^ " The jud2;es had been pressed and acted on in a thousand ways by

the hangers-on of the palace, and especially by Real, the natiii-al inter-

mediary between justice and the Government. Ambition, servility, fear,

every motive capable of influencing them, had been used ; even their

humane scruples were employed" (Lanfrey, tome iii. p. 193, who goes on

to say that the judges were urged to sentence Moreau to death in order

that the Emperor might fully pardon him).

VOL. IL — 23
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to discontinue visiting M. Desmaisons, with whom I was

in hahits of the strictest friendship.

About this period I paid a visit which occupies an

important place in my recollections. On the 14th of

June, 1804, four days after the condemnation of Georges

and his accomplices, I received a summons to attend

the Emperor at St. Cloud. It was Thursday, and as I

thought on the great events and tragic scenes about to

be acted, I was rather imeasy respecting his intentions.

But I was fortunate enough to find my friend Eapp in

waiting, who said to me as I entered, " Be not alarmed
;

he is in the best of humours at present, and wishes to

have some conversation with you."

Eapp then announced me to the Emperor, and I was
immediately admitted to his presence. After pinching

my ear and asking his usual questions, such as, " What
does the world say ? How are your children ? What
are yovi about ? " etc., he said to me, " By the by, have

you attended the proceedings against Moreau ? "— " Yes,

Sire, I have not been absent during one of the sittings."

—" Well, Bourrienne, are you of the opinion that Moreau
is innocent ?

"— " Yes, Sire ; at least I am certain that

nothing has come out in the course of the trial tending

to criminate him ; I am even surprised how he came
to be implicated in this conspiracy, since nothing has

appeared against him which has the most remote connec-

tion with the affair."— "I know your opinion on this

subject ; Duroc related to me the conversation you held

with him at the Tuileries ; experience has shown that

you were correct ; but how could I act otherwise ? You
know that Bouvet de Lozier hanged himself in prison,

and was only saved by accident. Edal hurried to the

Temple in order to interrogate him, and in his first con-

fessions he criminated Moreau, affirming that he had

held repeated conferences with Pichegru. Edal im-
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mediately reported to me tliis fact, and proposed tliat

Moreau should be arrested, since the rumours against

him seemed to be well founded ; he had previously made
the same proposition. I at first refused my sanction to

this measure ; but after the charge made against him by
Bouvet de Lozier, how could I act otherwise than I did ?

Could I suffer such open conspiracies against the Govern-

ment ? Could I doubt the truth of Bouvet de Lozier's

declaration, under the circumstances in which it was
made ? Could I foresee that he would deny his first

declaration when brought before the Court ? There was
a chain of circumstances which human sagacity could

not penetrate, and I consented to the arrest of Moreau
when it was proved that he was in league with Pichegru.

Has not England sent assassins ? "— " Sire," said I, " per-

mit me to call to your recollection the conversation you
had in my presence with Mr. Fox, after which you said

to me, * Bourrienne, I am very happy at having heard
from the mouth of a man of honour that the British

Government is incapable of seeking my life ; I always
wish to esteem my enemies.' " — " Bah ! you are a fool

!

Parhleu ! I did not say that the English Minister sent

over an assassin, and that he said to him, ' Here is gold

and a poniard; go and kill the First Consul.' Xo, I did

not believe that ; but it cannot be denied that all those

foreign conspirators agtunst my Government were serv-

ing England, and receiving pay from that power. Have
I agents in London to disturb the Government of Great
Britain ? I have waged with it honourable warfare ; I

have not attempted to awaken a remembrance of the

Stuarts amongst their old partisans. Is not Wright, who
landed Georges and his accomplices at Dieppe, a captain

in the British navy ? But rest assured that, with the

exception of a few babblers, whom I can easily silence,

the hearts of the French people are with me ; every-
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where puljlic opinion has been declared in my favonr,

so that I have nothing to apprehend from giving the

greatest publicity to these plots, and bringing the accused

to a solemn trial. The greater number of those gentle-

men wished me to bring the prisoners liefore a military

commission, that summary judgment might be obtained
;

but I refused my consent to this measure. It might

have been said that I dreaded public opinion ; and I fear

it not. People may talk as much as they please, well

and good, I am not obliged to hear them ; but I do not

like those who are attached to my person to blame whaf

I have done."

As I could not wholly conceal an involuntary emotion,

in which the Emperor saw something more than mere

surprise, he paused, took me by the ear, and, smiling in

the most affectionate manner, said, " I have no reference

to you in what I said, but I have to complain of Lacuc^e.^

Could you believe that during the trial he went about

clamouring in behalf of Moreau ? He, my aide-de-camp

— a man who owes everything to me ! As for you, I

have said that you acted very well in this affair," — "I
know not, Sire, what has either been done or said by

Lacude, whom I have not seen for a long time- what I

said to Duroc is what history teaches in every page."—
" By the by," resumed the Emperor, after a short silence,

" do you know that it was I myself who discovered that

Pichegru was in Paris. Every one said to me, Pichegru

is in Paris; Fouchd, Rdal, harped on the same string, but

could give me no proof of their assertion. ' What a fool

you are,' said I to Eeal, ' when in an instant you may
ascertain the fact. Pichegru has a brotlier, an aged eccle-

siastic, wlio resides in Paris ; let his dwelling be searched,

and should he be absent, it will warrant a suspicion that

1 Lacuee wa.s killed at the bridge of Guntzhurg. I believe that after

this conversation he ceased to act as aide-de-camp to the Emperor.

—

Bourrienne.
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Picliegru is here ; if, on the contrary, his brother should

be at home, let him be arrested : he is a simple-minded

man, and in the first moments of agitation will betray

the truth.' Everytliing happened as I had foreseen, for

no sooner was he arrested than without waiting to be

questioned, he inquired if it was a crime to have received

his brother into his house. Thus every doubt was re-

moved, and a miscreant in the house in which Pichegru

lodged betrayed him to the police. What horrid degra-

dation to betray a friend for the sake of gold."

Then reverting to Moreau, the Emperor talked a great

deal respecting that General. " Moreau," he said, " pos-

sesses many good qualities ; his bravery is undoubted
;

but he lias more courage than energy ; he is indolent and
effeminate. When with the army he lived like a pasha

;

he smoked, was almost constantly in bed, and gave him-

self up to the pleasures of the table. His dispositions

are naturally good ; but he is too indolent for study ; he

does not read, and since he has been tied to his wife's

apron-strings is fit for nothing. He sees only with the

eyes of his wife and her mother, who have had a hand in

all these late plots ; and then, Bourrienne, is it not very

strange that it was by my advice that he entered into

this union ? I was told that Mademoiselle Hulot was a

Creole, and I believed that he would find in her a second

Josephine ; how greatly was I mistaken ! It is these

women who have estranged us from each other, and I

regret that he should have acted so unworthily. You
must remember my observing to you more than two
years ago that Moreau would one day run his head

against the gate of the Tuileries ; that he has done so

was no fault of mine, for you know how much I did to

secure his attachment.^ You cannot have forgotten the

1 This seems to have been Napoleon's real opinion. " They will be sure

to say that I am jealous of Moreau, fhat this is revenge, and a thousand
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reception I gave him at Malraaison. On the 18th Bru-

maire I conferred on him the eharffe of the Luxembourg,

and in that situation he fully justified my choice. But
since that period he has behaved towards me with the

utmost ingratitude, — entered into all the silly cabals

against me, blamed all my measures, and turned into

ridicule the Legion of Honour. Have not some of the

intriguers put it into his head that I regard him with

jealousy ? ^ You must be aware of that. You must
also know as well as I how anxious the members of

the Directory were to exalt the reputation of Moreau.

Alarmed at my success in Italy, they wished to have in

the armies a general to serve as a counterpoise to my
renown. I have ascended the throne and he is the

inmate of a prison ! You are aware of the incessant

clamouring raised against me by the whole family, at

which I confess I was very much displeased ; coming

from those whom I had treated so well ! Had he at-

tached himself to me, I would doubtless have conferred

on him the title of First Marshal of the Empire ; but

what could I do ? He constantly depreciated my cam-

paigns and my government. From discontent to revolt

there is frequently only one step, especially when a man
of a weak character becomes the tool of popular clubs

;

and therefore when I was first informed that Moreau was

pettinesses of that sort. I jealous of Moreau ! Good God ! He owes the

greater part of his glory to me. It was I who left him a fine army, while

I only kept recruits for Italy " (Remusat, tome i. p. 301 ). It must be

remembered that Napoleon had only to leave Moreau unemployed in the

campaign of 1800 to render him harmless. Moreau's fame, without the

battles fought in the time Napoleon was in power— Hohenlinden, etc. —
would not have been greater than that of Masse'na, the victor of Zurich

and, to most Republicans, the saviour of France from invasion.

1 Bonaparte was right in this respect, that the consciousness of his own
superiority over Moreau prevented him from being jealous of that Gen-

eral ; but he was certainly jealous of the estimjition in which he was held

by the public, whether rightly or wrongly. — Bourrienne.
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implicated in the conspiracy of Georges, I believed him

to be guilty, but hesitated to issue an order for his arrest

till I had taken the opinion of my Council. The mem-
bers having assembled, I ordered the different documents

to be laid before them, with an injunction to examine

them with the utmost care, since they related to an affair

of importance, and I urged them candidly to inform me
whether, in their opinion, any of the charges against

Moreau were sufficiently strong to endanger his life. The

fools ! their reply was in the affirmative ; I believe they

were even unanimous ! Then I had no alternative but

to suifer the proceedings to take their course. It is

unnecessary to affirm to yoio, Bourrienne, that Moreau
never should have perished on a scaffold !

^ Most as-

suredly I would have pardoned him ; but with the sen-

tence of death hanging over his head he could no longer

have proved dangerous ; and his name would have ceased

to be a rallying-point for disaffected Eepublicans or im-

1 This declaration is confirmed by M. de Rovigo, who defends Napoleon
against the imputation of having wished that Moreau should suffer capital

punishment.
" If," says he, " he was vexed at the result of the trial, on which point

I am ignorant, it was no doubt merely because it deprived him of an
opportunity to humble Moreau by pardoning him. He was not fond of

revenging himself by capital punishments. After the condemnation of

Georges and his people, he pardoned several of them at the first applica-

tion. If I recollect rightly, there were seven pardoned in all. Would he

have suffered the conqueror of Holland and the victor of Hohenlinden to

perish ? It would be unjust to think so.

" Did he leave Moreau to suffer the two years' confinement to which
he was sentenced, and during which he might have found occasion to get

rid of him had he harboured a thought of so doing ? No ; for on the

night of the very day tliat Moreau solicited by letter permission to go to

America, he granted him leave to depart.
" I was the person whom the First Consul sent to him in the Temple

to communicate his consent, and to make arrangements with him for his

departure. I gave him my own carriage, and the First Consul paid all

the expenses of his journey to Barcelona. The General expressed a wish

to see Madame Moreau ; I went myself to fetch her, and brought her to

the Temple" (Memoirs of the Due de Rovigo, vol. ii. p. 99).
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becile Royalists. Had the Council expressed any doubts

respecting bis giiilt I would have intimated to him that

the suspicions against him were so strong as to render

any further connection between us impossible ; and that

the best course he could pursue would be to leave France

for three years, under the pretext of visiting some of the

places rendered celebrated during the late wars ; but that

if he preferred a diplomatic mission I would make a suit-

able provision for his expenses ; and the great inno-

vator, Time, might effect great changes during the period

of his absence. But my foolish Council affirmed to me
that his guilt, as a principal, being evident, it was abso-

lutely necessary to bring him to trial ; and now his sen-

tence is only that of a pickpocket ! What think you

I ought to do ? Detain him ? He might still prove a

rallying-point. No. Let him sell his property and quit

France ? Can I confine him in the Temple ? it is full

enough without him. Still, if this had been the only

great error they had led me to commit "

" Sire, how greatly you have been deceived !

"

" Oh yes, I have been so ; but I cannot see everything

with my own eyes."

At this part of our conversation, of which I have sup-

pressed my own share as much as possible, I conceived

that the last words of Bonaparte alluded to the death of

the Due d'Enghien ; and I fancied he was about to men-

tion that event, but he again spoke of Moreau.
" He is very much mistaken," resumed the Emperor,

" if he conceives I bore any ill-will towards him. After

his arrest I sent Lauriston to the Temple, whom I chose

because he was of an amiable and conciliating disposition;

I charged him to tell Moreau to confess he had only seen

Pichegru, and I would cause the proceedings against him

to be suspended. Instead of receiving this act of gener-

osity as he ought to have done, he replied to it with great
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haughtiness, so much was he elated that Pichegru had not

been arrested ; he afterwards, however, lowered his tone.

He wrote to me a letter of excuse respecting his anterior

conduct, which I caused to be produced on the trial. He
was the author of his own ruin ; besides, it would have

required men of a different stamp from Moreau to conspire

against me. Among the conspirators, for example, was an

individual whose fate I regret ; , this Georges in my hands

might have achieved great things. I can duly appreciate

the firmness of character he displayed, and to which I

could have given a proper direction. I caused Edal to in-

timate to him that, if he would attach himself to me, not

only should he be pardoned, but that I would give him
the command of a regiment. Perhaps I might even have

made him my aide-de-camp. Complaints would have been

made, but, pa?-&/e«, I should not have cared. Georges

refused all my offers; he was as inflexible as iron. What
could I do ? He underwent his fate, for he was a danger-

ous man ; circumstances rendered his death a matter of

necessity. Examples of severity were called for, when
England was pouring into France the whole off'scouring

of the emigration ; but, patience, patience ! I have a long

arm, and shall be able to reach them, when necessary.

Moreau regarded Georges merely as a ruffian — I viewed

him in a different light. You may remember the conver-

sation I had with him at the Tuileries,— you and Eapp
were in an adjoining cabinet. I tried in vain to influence

him,— some of his associates were affected at the mention

of country and of glory ; he alone stood cold and un-

moved. I addressed myself to his feelings, but in vain

;

he was insensible to everything I said. At that period

Georges appeared to me little ambitious of power ; his

whole wishes seemed to centre in commanding the Ven-
ddans. It was not till I had exhausted every means of

conciliation that I assumed the tone and lanG[uage of the
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first magistrate. I dismissed him with a strong injunc-

tion to live retired,— to be peaceable and obedient,— not

to misinterpret the motives of my conduct towards him-

self, nor attribute to weakness what was merely the re-

sult of moderation and strength. ' Kest assured,' I added,

' and repeat to your associates, that while I hold the reins

of authority there will be neither chance nor salvation for

those who dare to conspire against me.' How he con-

formed to this injunction the event has shown. Edal

told me that when Moreau and Georges found themselves

in the presence of Picliegru, they could not come to any
understanding, because Georges would not act against the

Bourbons. Well, he had a plan, but Moreau had none; he

merely wished for my overthrow, without having formed

any ulterior views whatever. This showed that he was

destitute of even common sense. Apropos, Bourrienne,

have you seen Corvisart ? "— " Yes, Sire." — " Well !

" —

•

" He delivered to me the message with which you in-

trusted him." — " And Desmaisons !— I wager that you

have not spoken to him in conformity to my wishes."—
" Sire, the estimation in which I hold Desmaisons de-

terred me from a course so injurious to him ; for in what

other light could he have considered what I should have

said to him ? I have never visited at his house since the

commencement of the trial." — " Well ! well ! Be pru-

dent and discreet, I shall not forget you." He then

waved a very gracious salute with his hand, and with-

drew into his cabinet.

The Emperor had detained me more than an hour. On
leaving the audience-chamber I passed through the outer

salon, where a number of individuals were waiting ; and

I perceived that an observance of eticjuette was fast gain-

ing ground, though the Emperor had not yet adopted the

admirable institution of Court Chamberlains.

I cannot deny that I was much gratified with my recep-
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tion ; besides, I was' beginning to be weary of an inactive

life, and was anxious to obtain a place, of which I stood

in great need, from the losses I had sustained and the

unjust resumption which Bonaparte had made of his gifts.

Being desirous to speak of Napoleon with the strictest

impartiality, I prefer drawing my conclusions from those

actions in which I had no personal concern. I shall

therefore only relate here, even before giving an account

of my visit to the Empress on leaving the audience-cham-

ber, the former conduct of Napoleon towards myself and

Madame de Bourrienne, which will justify the momentary
alarm with which I was seized when summoned to the

Tuileries, and the satisfaction I felt at my reception. I

had a proof of what Eapp said of the Emperor being in

good-humour, and was flattered by the confidential man-

ner in which he spoke to me concerning some of the great

political secrets of his Government. On seeing me come
out, Eapp observed, "You have had a long audience." —
" Yes, not amiss

;

" and this circumstance procured for me
a courtly salutation from all persons waiting in the ante-

chamber.^

I shall now relate how I spent the two preceding years.

The month after I tendered my resignation to the First

Consul, and which he refused to accept, the house at St.

1 That Bourrienne had any interview at this time with Napoleon is de-

nied by the Bonapartists, but all the account of this conversation is in ac-

cordance with otiier records of Napoleon's feelings. There is no doubt

that Napoleon had been advised that Moreau's condemnation was certain.

" I was," says Madame de Re'musat (tome ii. p. 7),
" at St. Cloud when the

news of the sentence arrived. Every one was overwhelmed with astonish-

ment. The Grand Judge (Regnier) had rashly assured the First Consul of

the condemnation of ]\Ioreau to death, and Bonaparte was so angry that

he could not conceal his state." In another place (tome i. p. 30.5) she tells

us that on her husband advising Savary that tlie evidence would not con-

vict Moreau, Savary replied, " In that case the Grand Judge has made us

commit a great folly. It would have been better to have employed a
military commission."
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Cloud Ijelonging to Madame Deville was offered to me; it

was that in wliich tlie Due d'Angouleme and the Due de

Berri were inoculated. I visited this mansion, thinking

it might be suitable for my family ; but, notwithstanding

the beauty of its situation, it seemed far too splendid

either for my taste or my fortune. Except the outer

walls, it was in a very dilapidated state, and would re-

quire numerous and expensive repairs. Josepliine, being

informed that Madame de Bourrienne had set her face

against the purchase, expressed a wish to see the man-

sion, and accompanied us for that purpose. She was so

much delighted with it that she blamed my wife for

starting any objections to my becoming its possessor.

" With regard to the expense," Josephine replied to her,

" ah, we shall arrange that." On our return to Malmaison

she spoke of it in such high terms that Bonaparte said to

me, " Why don't you purchase it, Bourrienne, since the

price is so reasonable ?
" ^

The house was accordingly purchased. An outlay of

20,000 francs was immediately required to render it habit-

able. Furniture was also necessary for this large mansion,

and orders for it were accordingly given. But no sooner

were repairs begun than everything crumbled to pieces,

which rendered many additional expenses necessary.

About this period Bonaparte hurried forward the works

at St. Cloud, to which place he immediately removed. My
services being constantly required, I found it so fatiguing

to go twice or thrice a day from Euel to St. Cloud that I

took possession of my new mansion, though it was still

filled with workmen. Scarcely eight days had elapsed

from this period when Bonaparte intimated that he no

lono-er had occasion for my services. When my wife

went to take leave. Napoleon spoke to her in a flattering

manner of my good qualities, my merit, and the utility of

1 It was valued at G0,000 francs.
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ray labours, saying that he was himself the most unfor-

tunate of the three, and that my loss could never be

replaced. He then added, " I shall be absent for a

month, but Bouvrienne may be quite easy; let him re-

main in retirement, and on my return I shall reward his

services, should I even create a place on purpose for him."

Madame de Bourrienne then requested leave to retain

the apartments appropriated to her in the Tuileries till

after her accouchement, which was not far distant, to

which he replied, " You may keep them as long as you
please ; for it will be some time before I again reside in

Paris."

Bonaparte set out on his journey, and shortly after-

wards I went with my family to visit Madame de Cou-

bertin, my cousin-german, who received us with her usual

kindness. We passed the time of the First Consul's ab-

sence at her country-seat, and only returned to St. Cloud

on the day Bonaparte was expected.

Scarcely a quarter of an hour had elapsed after his ar-

rival when I received an intimation to give up, in twenty-

four hours, the apartments in the Tuileries, which he had
promised my wife should retain till after her confinement.

He reclaimed at the same time the furniture of Euel, which
he presented to me two years before, when I purchased that

small house on purpose to be near him.

I addressed several memorials to him on this subject,

stating that I had replaced the worn-out furniture with

new and superior articles; but this he wholly disregarded,

compelling me to give up everything, even to the greatest

trifle. It may be right to say that on his return the Em-
peror found his table covered with information respecting

my conduct in Paris, though I had not held the smallest

communication with any one in the capital, nor once en-

tered it during his absence.

After my departure for Hamburg, Bonaparte took pos-
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session of my stabies and coach-house, which he filled

with horses. Even the very avenues and walks were

converted into stabling. A handsome house at the en-

trance to the park was also appropriated to similar pur-

poses ; in fact, he spared nothing. Everything was done

in the true military style ; I neither had previous intima-

tion of the proceedings nor received any remuneration for

my loss. The Emperor seemed to regard the property as

his own ; but though he all but ordered me to make the

purchase, he did not furnish the money that was paid for

it. In this way it was occupied for more tlian four years.

The recollection of those arbitrary and vexatious pro-

ceedings on the part of Bonaparte has led me farther

than I intended. I shall therefore return to the impe-

rial residence of St. Cloud. On leaving the audience-

chamber, as already stated, I repaired to the apartments

of the Empress, who, knowing that I was in the palace,

had intimated her wishes for my attendance. No com-

mand could have been more agreeable to me, for every

one was certain of a gracious reception from Josephine.

I do not recollect which of the ladies in waiting was in

attendance when my name was announced ; but she im-

mediately retired, and left me alone with Josephine.

Her recent elevation had not changed the usual amenity

of her disposition. After some conversation respecting

the change in her situation, I gave her an account of

what had passed between the Emperor and myself.

I faithfully related all that he had said of Moreau, ob-

serving that at one moment I imagined he was about to

speak of the Due d'Eughien, when he suddenly reverted

to what he had been saying, and never made the slightest

allusion to the subject.

Madame Bonaparte replied to me, "Napoleon has spoken

the truth respecting Moreau. He was grossly deceived

by those who believed they could best pay their court to
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him by calumniating that General. His silence on the

subject of the Due d'Enghien does not surprise me ; he

says as little respecting it as possible, and always in a

vague manner and with manifest repugnance. When
you see Bonaparte again, be silent on the subject, and

should chance bring it forward, avoid every expression in

the smallest degree indicative of reproach ; he would not

suffer it
;
you would ruin yourself forever in his estima-

tion, and the evil is, alas ! without remedy. When you

came to Malmaison, I told you that I had vainly endeav-

oured to turn him from his fatal purpose, and how he

had treated me. Since then he has experienced but little

internal satisfaction ; it is only in the presence of his

courtiers that he affects a calm and tranquil deportment

;

but I perceive his suff'erings are the greater from thus

endeavouring to conceal them. By the by, I forgot to

mention that he knew of the visit you paid me on the

day after the catastrophe. I dreaded that your enemies,

the greater number of whom are also mine, might have

misrepresented that interview ; but, fortunately, he paid

little attention to it. He merely said, 'So you have seen

Bourrienne? Does he sulk at me ? Nevertheless I must

do something for him.' He has again spoken in the same

strain, and repeated nearly the same expressions three

days ago ; and since he has commanded your presence

to-day, I have not a doubt but he has something in view

for your advantage." — " May I presume to inquire wdiat

it is?" — "I do not yet know; but I would recommend

to you, in the mean time, to be more strictly on your

guard than ever; he is so suspicious, and so well in-

formed of all that is done or said respecting himself. I

have suffered so much since I last saw you ; never can I

forget the unkind manner in which he rejected my en-

treaties ! For several days I laboured under a depres-

sion of spirits which greatly irritated him, because he
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clearly saw whence it proceeded. I am not dazzled by
the title of Empress ; I dread some evil will result from

this step to him, to my children, and to myself. The
miscreants ought to be satisfied ; see to what they have

driven us ! This death embitters every moment of my
life. I need not say to you, Bourrienne, that I speak

this in confidence."— " You cannot doubt my prudence."

— "No, certainly not, Bourrienne. I do not doubt it.

My confidence in you is unbounded. Rest assured that

I shall never forget what you have done for me, under

various circumstances, and the devotedness you evinced

to me on your return from Egypt.— Adieu, my friend.

Let me see you soon again."

It was on the 14th of June, 1804, that I had this audi-

ence of the Emperor, and afterwards attended the Em-
press.

On my return home I spent three hours in making
notes of all that was said to me by these two person-

ages ; and the substance of these notes I have now given

to the reader.



CHAPTER XXVIII.

1804.

Louis XVIII., being at Warsaw when he was informed
of the elevation of Napoleon to the Imperial dignity, ad-

dressed to the sovereigns of Europe a protest against that

usurpation of his throne. Fouche, being the tirst who
heard of his protest, immediately communicated the cir-

cumstance to the Emperor, observing that doubtless the

copies would be multiplied and distributed amongst the

enemies of his Government, in the Faubourg St. Germain,

which might produce the worst effects, and that he there-

fore deemed it his duty to inform him that orders might
be given to Eegnier and Rdal to keep a strict watch over

those engaged in distributing this document.
" You may judge of my surprise," added Fouchd, " you

who know so well that formerly the very mention of the

Bourbons rendered Bonaparte furious, when, after perus-

ing the protest, he returned it to me, saying, ' Ah, ah, so

the Comte de Lille makes his protest ! Well, w^ell, all in

good time. I hold my right by the voice of the French
nation, and while 1 wear a sword I will maintain it ! The
Bourbons ought to know that I do not fear them ; let

them, therefore, leave me in tranquillity. Did you say that

the fools of the Faubourg St. Germain would multiply

the copies of this protest of Comte de Lille ? Well, they

shall read it at their ease. Send it to the " Moniteur,

"

Fouchd ; and let it be inserted to-morrow morning.'

"

This passed on the 30th of June, and the next day the

protest of Louis XVIII. did actually appear in that paper.

VOL. II. — 24
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Fouch6 was wholly indifferent res])ecting the circnla-

tion of this protest ; he merely wished to show the Em-
peror that he was better informed of passing events than

Eegnier, and to afford Napoleon another ])roof of the in-

experience and inability of the Grand Judge in police

;

and Fouch^ was not long in receiving the reward which

he expected from this step. In fact, ten days after the

publication of the protest, the Emperor announced to

Eegnier the re-establishment of the Ministry of General

Police.

The formula, I pray God to have you in His holy keep-

ing, with which the letter to Eegnier closed, was another

step of Napoleon in the knowledge of ancient usages, with

which he was not sufficiently familiar when he wrote

Cambacdrfes on the day succeeding his elevation to the

Imperial throne ; at the same time it must be confessed

that this formula assorted awkwardly with the month of

" Messidor," and the " twelfth year of the Eepublic "
!

The errors which Eegnier had committed in the affair

of Georges were the cause which determined Bonaparte to

re-establish the Ministry of Police, and to bestow it on a

man who had created a belief in the necessity of that

measure, by a monstrous accumulation of plots and in-

trigues. I am also certain that the Emperor was swayed

by the probability of a war breaking out, which would

force hiin to leave France ; and that he considered Fouchd

as the most proper person to maintain the public tranquil-

lity during his absence, and detect any cabals that might

be formed in favour of the Bourbons.

At this period, when Bonaparte had given the finishing

blow to the Eepublic, which had only been a shadow since

the 19th Brumaire, it was not difficult to foresee that the

Bourbons would one day remount the throne of their an-

cestors ; and this presentiment was not, perhaps, without

its influence in rendering the majority greater in favour
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of the foundation of the Empire than for the establish-

ment of a Consulate for life. The re-establishment of the

throne was a most important step in favour of the Bour-

bons, for that was the thing most difficult to be done.

But Bonaparte undertook the task ; and, as if by the aid

of a magic rod, the ancient order of things was restored

in the twinkling of an eye. The distinctions of rank,—
orders, titles, the noblesse, decorations, all the baul)les

of vanity,— in short, all the burlesque tattooing whicli

the vulgar regard as an indispensable attribute of royalty,

reappeared in an instant. The question no longer re-

garded the form of government, but the individual who
should be placed at its head. By restoring the ancient

order of things, the Eepublicans had themselves decided

the question, audit could no longer be doubted that when
an occasion presented itself the majority of the nation

would prefer the ancient royal family, to whom France

owed lier civilisation, her greatness, and her power, and

who had exalted her to such a high degree of glory and

prosperity.

It was not one of the least singular traits in Xapoleon's

character that during the first year of his reign he retained

the fi^te of the 14th of July. It was not indeed strictly a

Eepublican fete, but it recalled the recollection of two

great popular triumphs, — the taking of the Bastile and

the first Federation. This year the 14th of July fell on a

Saturday, and the Emperor ordered its celebration to be

delayed till the following day, because it was Sunday
;

which was in conformity with the sentiments he delivered

respecting the Concordat. " Wliat renders me," he said,

"most hostile to the re-establishment of the Catholic

worship is the number of festivals formerly oljserved. A
saint's day is a day of indolence, and I wish not for that;

the people must labour in order to live. I consent to

four holidavs in the vear, but no more ; if the gentlemen
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from Eome arc not satisfied with this, they may take

their departure.

"

The loss of time seemed to him so great a calamity that

he seldom failed to order an indispensable solemnity to

he held on the succeeding holiday. Thus he postponed

the Corpus Christi to the following Sunday.

On Sunday, the 15th of July, 1804, the Emperor ap-

peared for the first time before the Parisians surrounded

by all the pomp of royalty. The members of the Legion

of Honour, then in Paris, took the oath prescribed by the

new Constitution, and on this occasion the Emperor and

Empress appeared attended for the first time by a separate

and numerous retinue.

The carriages in the train of the Empress crossed the

garden of the Tuileries, hitherto exclusively appropriated

to the public ; then follow^ed the cavalcade of the Emperor,

who appeared on horseback, surrounded by his principal

generals, whom he liad created IMarshals of the Empire.

M. de Sdgur, who held the office of Grand Master of

Ceremonies, had the direction of the ceremonial to be

observed on this occasion, and with the Governor received

the Emperor on the threshold of the Hotel des Invalides.

They conducted the Empress to a tribune prepared for her

reception, opposite the Imperial throne which Napoleon

alone occupied, to the right of the altar. I was present at

this ceremony, notwithstanding the repugnance I have to

such brilliant exhibitions ; but as Duroc had two days

before presented me with tickets, I deemed it prudent to

attend on the occasion, lest the keen eye of Bonaparte

should have remarked my absence if Duroc had acted

by his order.

I spent al)out an hour contemplating the proud and

sometimes almost ludicrous demeanour of the new gran-

dees of the Empire ; I mai'ked the manoeuvring of the

clergy, who, with Cardinal Belloy at their head, proceeded
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to receive the Emperor on his entrance into the church.

What a singular train of ideas was called up to my
mind wlien I beheld my former comrade at the school

of Brienne seated upon an elevated throne, surrounded

by his brilliant staff, the great dignitaries of his Empire,

— his Ministers and Marshals ! I involuntarily recurred

to the 19th Brumaire, and all this splendid scene van-

ished, when I thought of Bonaparte stammering to such

a degree that I was obliged to pull the skirt of his coat

to induce him to withdraw.

It was neither a feeling of animosity nor of jealousy

which called up such reflections ; at no period of our

career would I have exchanged my situation for his , but

whoever can reflect, whoever has witnessed the unex-

pected elevation of a former equal, may perhaps be able

to conceive the strange thoughts that assailed my mind,

for the first time, on this occasion.

When the religious part of the ceremony terminated,

the church assumed, in some measure, the appearance of

a profane temple. The congregation displayed more de-

votion to the Emperor than tow\ards the God of the

Christians, — more enthusiasm than fervour. The Mass
had been heard with little attention ; but when M. de

Lacdpkle, Grand Chancellor of the Legion of Honour,

after pronouncing a flattering discourse, finished the call

of the Grand Officers of the Legion, Bonaparte covered,

as did the ancient kings of France when they held a bed

of justice. A profound silence, a sort of religious awe,

then reigned throughout the assembly, and Napoleon,

who did not now stammer as in the Council of the Eive

Hundred, said in a firm voice :
—

"Coimuanders, officers, legionaries, citizens, soldiers; swear

upon your lionour to devote yourselves to the service of tlie

Empire,— to the preservation of the integrity of the French ter-
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ritorv, — to the dc-fence of the Emperor, of the laws of the

lte[)uh]ic, and of the property wliich they have made sacred, —
to combat by all the means which justice, reason, and the laws

authorise every attemi)t to re-establish the feudal .system ; in

short, swear to concur with all your might in maintaining

liberty and equality, which are the bases of all our institutions.

Do you swear ]

"

Each member of the Legion of Honour exclaimed, "7

swear ;
" adding, " Vive rEmpereur I " with an enthu-

siasm it is impossiljle to describe and in wliich all present

joined.

What, after all, was this new oath ? It only differed

from that taken by the Legion of Honour, under the

Consulate, in putting the defence of the Emperor before

that of the laws of the Eepublic ; and this was not

merely a form. It was, besides, sufficiently laughable

and somewhat audacious, to make them swear to support

equality at the moment so many titles and monarchical

distinctions had been re-established.

On the 18th of July, three days after this ceremony,

the Emperor left Paris to visit the camp at Boulogne.

He was not accompanied by the Empress on this journey,

which was merely to examine the progress of the military

operations. Availing myself of the invitation Josephine

had given me, I presented myself at St. Cloud a few days

after the departure of Napoleon ; as she did not expect

my visit, I found her surrounded by four or five of the

ladies in waiting, occupied in examining some of the

elegant productions of the famous Leroi and Madame
Despeaux ; for amidst the host of painful feelings expe-

rienced by Josephine she was too much of a woman not

to devote some attention to the toilet.

On my introduction they were discussing tlie serious

question of the costume to be worn by tlie Empress on

her journey to Belgium to meet Napoleon at the Palace
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of Lacken, near Brussels. Kotwithstanding those discus-

sions respecting the form of hats, the colour and shape of

dresses, etc., Josephine received me in her usual gracious

manner. But not being able to converse with me, she

said, without giving it an appearance of invitation,

but in a manner sufficiently evident to be understood,

that she intended to pass the following morning at

Malmaison.

I shortened my visit, and at noon next day repaired to

that delightful abode, which always created in my mind
.deep emotion. Not an alley, not a grove but teemed with

interesting recollections ; all recalled to me the period

when I was the confidant of Ijonaparte. But the time

was past when he minutely calculated how mucli a resi-

dence at Malmaison would cost, and concluded by saying

that an income of 30,000 livres would be necessary.

When I arrived, Madame Bonaparte was in the garden

with Madame de Eemusat, who was her favourite from

the similarity of disposition which existed between
them.i

Madame de Pidmusat was the daugliter of the Minister

Vergennes, and sister to Madame de Nansouty, whom I

had sometimes seen with Josephine, but not so frequently

as her elder sister. I found the ladies in the avenue

which leads to Euel, and saluted Josephine by inquiring

respecting the health of Her Majesty. Never can I

forget the tone in which she replied :
" Ah ! Bourrienne,

1 entreat that you will suffer me, at least here, to forget

that I am an Empress." As she had not a thought con-

1 Madame de Remusat's " Memoirs " have been recently published by
her grandson, M. Panl de Hemusat. Although Madame de Remusat
seems to have really liked Josepliine, it is pleasant to think of hor horror

at finding herself to resemble the Empress in oliaracter. " Not a person

of transcendent mind, with a neglected education, wanting in gravity and
elevation of soul, incapal)le of prolonged feeling," — such are some of her

remarks on Josephine (Remusat, tome i. p. 140).
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cealed from Madame de Kdmusat except some domestic

vexations, of which probably I was the only contidant,

we conversed with the same freedom as if alone, and it is

easy to divine that the subject of our discourse regarded

Bonaparte.

After having spoken of her intended journey to Bel-

gium, Josephine said to me, " What a pity, Bourrienne,

that the past cannot be recalled ! He departed in the

happiest disposition : he has bestowed some pardons
;

and I am satisfied that but for those accursed politics he

would have pardoned a far greater number. I would

have said much more, but I endeavoured to conceal my
chagrin, because the slightest contradiction only renders

him the more obstinate. Now, when in the midst of his

army, he will forget everything. How much have I been

afflicted that I was not able to obtain a favourable answer

to all the petitions which were addressed to me. That

good Madame de Montesson came from Eomainville to

St. Cloud to solicit the pardon of MM. de Eivifere and de

Polignac ; we succeeded in gaining an audience for Ma-
dame de Polignac ; . . . how beautiful she is ! Bona-

parte was greatly affected on beholding her ; he said to

her, ' Madame, since it was only my life your husband

menaced, I may pardon him.' You know Napoleon,

Bourrienne
;
you know that he is not naturally cruel ; it

is his counsellors and flatterers who have induced him to

commit so many villainous actions. Rapp has behaved

extremely well ; he went to the Emperor, and would not

leave him till he had obtained the pardon of another of

the condemned, whose name I do not recollect.^ How
much these Polignacs have interested me ! There

will be then at least some families who will owe him

gratitude ! Strive, if it be possible, to throw a veil over

the past ; I am sufficiently miserable in my anticipations

1 It was, I believe, De Rusillon. — Bourrienne.
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of the future. Eest assured, my dear Bourrienne, that I

shall not fail to exert myself durmg our stay in Belgium

in your behalf, and inform you of the result. Adieu !"

Daring the festival in celehration of the 14th of July,

which I have already alluded to, the Emperor before

leavins the Hotel des Invalides liad announced that he

would go in person to distribute the decorations of the

Legion of Honour to the army assembled in the camp of

Boulogne. He was not long before he fulfilled his

promise. He left St. Cloud on the 18th, and travelled

with such rapidity that the next morning, whilst every

one was busy with preparations for his reception, he was

already at tbat port, in the midst of the labourers,

examining the works. He seemed to multiply himself by

his inconceivable activity, and one might say that he was

present everywhere.

At the Emperor's departure it was gsnerally believed at

Paris that the distribution of the crosses at the camp of

Boulogne was only a pretext, and that Bonaparte had at

length gone to carry into execution the project of an inva-

sion of England, which everybody supposed he contem-

plated. It was, indeed, a pretext. The Emperor wished

to excite more and more the enthusiasm of the army,—

-

to show himself to the military invested in his new
dignity, to be present at some grand manoeuvres, and dis-

pose the army to obey the first signal he might give.

How indeed, on beholding such great preparations, so

many transports created, as it were, by enchantment,

could any one have supposed that he did not really intend

to attempt a descent on England ? People almost fancied

him already in London ; it was known that all the army
corps echelloned on the coast from Etaples to Ostend

were ready to embark. Napoleon's arrival in the midst

of his troops inspired them, if possible, with a new im-

pulse. The French ports on the Channel had for a long
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period been converted into dock-yards and arsenals, where

works were carried on with that inconceivable activity

wliich Xapoleon knew so well how to inspire. An almost

incredible degree of emulation prevailed amongst the

commanders of the different camps, and it descended

from rank to rank to the common soldiers and even to

the labourers.

As every one was eager to take advantage of the slight-

est effects of chance, and exercised his ingenuity in con-'

verting them into prognostics of good fortune for the

Emperor, those who had access to him did not fail to call

his attention to some remains of a Roman camp which

had been discovered at the " Tour d'Ordre," where the

Emperor's tent was pitched. Tliis was considered an

evident yn^oof that the French Csesar occupied the camp
which the Roman desar had formerly constructed to

menace Great Britain. To give additional force to this

allusion, the " Tour d'Ordre " resumed the name of Caesar's

Tower. Some medals of William the Conqueror, found in

another spot, where, perhaps, they had been buried for the

purpose of being dug up, could not fail to satisfy the most

incredulous that Napoleon must conquer England.

It was not far from Caesar's Tower that 80,000 men of

the camps of Boulogne and Montreuil, under the command
of Marshal Soult, were assembled in a vast plain to witness

the distribution of the crosses of the Legion of Honour im-

pressed with the Imperial effigy. This plain, which I saw

with Bonaparte in our first journey to the coast, before our

departure to Egypt, was circular and hollow, and in the

centre was a little hill. This hill formed the Imperial

throne of Bonaparte in the midst of his soldiers. There he

stationed himself with his staff, and around this centre of

glory the regiments were drawn up in lines, and looked

like so many diverging rays. From this throne, which

had been erected by the hand of nature, Bonaparte deliv-
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ered in a loud voice the same form of oath which he had

pronounced at the Hotel des Invalides a few days before.

It was the signal for a general burst of enthusiasm ; and
Eapp, alluding to this ceremony, told me that he never

saw the Emperor appear more pleased. How could he be

otherwise ? Fortune then seemed obedient to his wishes.

A storm came on during this brilliant day, and it was
apprehended that part of the flotilla would have suffered.^

1 The following descriijtion of the incident wlien Napoleon nearly

occasioned the destrnction of the Boulogne Hotilla was forwarded to the
" Revue Politique et Littcraire " from a private memoir. The writer, who
was an eyewitness, says :

—
'' One morning, when the Emperor was mounting his horse, he announced

that he intended to hold a review of his naval forces, and gave the order

that the vessels wdiich lay in the harboiir should alter their positions, as

the review was to l)e held on the open sea. He started on his usual ride,

giving orders that everything should be arranged on his return, the time

of which he indicated. His wish was communicated to Admiral Bruix, who
responded with imperturbable coolness that he was very sorry, but that

the review could not take place that day. Consequeutly not a vessel was
moved. On his return back from his ride the Emperor asked whether all

was ready. He was told what the Admiral had said. Twice the answer had
to be repeated to him before he could realise its nature, and then, violently

stamping his foot on the ground, he sent for the Admiral. The Emperor
met him half-way. With eyes burning with rage, he exclaimed in au
excited voice, ' Why have my orders not been executed f ' Witli respect-

ful firmness Admiral Bruix replied, ' Sire, a terrible storm is brewing.

Your Majesty may convince yourself of it ; would you without need expose

the lives of so many men ?
' The heaviness of the atmosphere and the

sound of thunder in the distance more than justified the fears of the

Admiral. ' Sir,' said the Emperor, getting more and more irritated,

' I have given the orders once more ; why have they not beeii executed ?

The consequences concern me alone. Obey !

'
' Sire, I will not obey,'

replied the Admiral. 'You are insolent!' And the Emperor, who still

held his riding-whip in his hand, advanced towards the Admiral witli a
threatening gesture. Admiral Bruix stepped back and put his hand on the

sheath of his sword and said, growing very pale, ' Sire, take care !
' The

whole suite stood paralysed with fear. The Emperor remained motionless

for some time, his hand lifted up, his eyes fixed on the Admiral, who .still re-

tained his menacing attitude. At last the Emperor threw liis whip on the

floor. M. Bruix took his hand off his sword, and with uncovered head

awaited in silence the result of the painful scene. Rear-Admiral Magon
was then ordered to see that the Emperor's orders were instantly e.xe-
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Bonaparte quitted the hill from which he had distributed

the crosses, and proceeded to the port to direct what meas-

ures should be taken, when upon his arrival the storm

ceased as if by enchantment. The flotilla entered the

port safe and sound, and he went back to the camp, where

the sports and amusements prepared for the soldiers com-

menced, and in the evening the brilliant fireworks which
were let off rose in a luminous column, which was dis-

tinctly seen from the English coast.

AVhen he reviewed the troops, he asked the officers, and

often the soldiers, in what battles they had been en-

cuted. ' As for you, sir,' said the Emperor, fixing his eyes on Admiral

Bruix, ' you leave Boulogne within twenty-four hours and depart for

Holland. Go !
' M. Magon ordered tlie fatal movement of the fleet on

which the Emperor had insisted. The first arrangements had scarcely

been made when the sea became very high. The black sky was pierced

t)v lightning, the thunder rolled, aud every moment the line of A-essels was

broken bv the wind, and shortly after, that which the Admiral had fore-

seen came to pass, and the most frightful storm dispersed the vessels in

such a way that it seemed impossible to save them. "With bent head,

arms crossed, and a sorrowful look in his face, the Emperor walked up

and down on the beach, when suddenly the most terrible cries were heard.

More than twenty gunboats filled with soldiers and sailors were being

driven towards the shore, and the unfortunate men were vainly figliting

against the furious waves, calling for help wliich nobody could give them.

Deeplv touched by the spectacle and the heartrending cries and lamenta-

tions of the multitude which had assembled on the beach, the Emperor,

seeing his generals and oflScers tremble with horror, attempted to set an

example of devotion, and, in spite of all efforts to keep him back, he

threw himself into a boat, saying, ' Let me go ! let me go ! they must be

brought out of this.' In a moment the boat was filled with water. The

waves poured over it again and again, and the Emperor was drenched.

One wave larger than the others almost threw him overboard, and liis hat

was carried away. Inspired l)y so much courage, officers, soldiers, seamen,

and citizens tried to succour the drowning, some in boats, some swim-

ming. But, alas ! only a small number could be saved of the unfortunate

men. The following day more than 200 bodies were thrown ashore, and

with them the hat of the conqueror of Marengo. Tliat sad day was one of

desolation for Boulogne and for the camp. The Emperor groaned under

the burden of an accident which he had to attribute solely to his own ob-

stinacv. Agents were despatched to all parts of the town to suljdue with

gold the murmurs which were ready to break out into a tumult."
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gaged, and to those who had received serious wounds he

gave the cross. Here, I think, I may appropriately men-

tion a singular piece of charlatanism to which the Em-
peror had recourse, and which powerfully contributed to

augment the enthusiasm of his troops. He would say to

one of his aides-de-camp, " Ascertain from the colonel of

such a regiment whether he has in his corps a man who
has served in the campaigns of Italy or the campaigns of

Egypt. Ascertain his name, where he was born, the par-

ticulars of his family, and what he has done. Learn his

number in the ranks, and to what company he belongs,

and furnish me with the information."

On the day of the review Bonaparte, at a single glance,

could perceive the man who had been described to him.

He would go up to him as if he recognised him, address

him by his name, and say, " Oh ! so you are here ! You
are a brave fellow— I saw you at Aboukir— how is your

old father ? What ! have you not got the cross ? Stay, I

will give it you." Then the delighted soldiers would say

to each other, " You see the Emperor knows us all ; he

knows our families ; he knows where we have served."

What a stimulus was this to soldiers, whom he succeeded

in persuading that they would all some time or other be-

come ^Marshals of the Empire !

Lauriston told me, amongst other anecdotes relating to

Napoleon's sojourn at the camp at Boulogne, a remarkable

instance of intrepidity on the part of two English sailors.

These men had been prisoners at Verdun, which was the

most considerable depot of English prisoners in France at

the rupture of the peace of Amiens. They effected their

escape from Verdun, and arrived at Boulogne without

having been discovered on the road, notwithstanding the

vigilance with which all the English were watched. They

remained at Boulogne for some time, destitute of money,

and without being able to effect their escape. They had
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no hope of getting aboard a boat, on account of the strict

watch that was kept upon vessels of every kind. These

two sailors made a boat of little pieces of wood, which

they put together as well as they could, having no other

tools than their knives. They covered it with a piece of

sail-cloth. It was only three or four feet wide, and not

much longer, and was so light that a man could easily

carry it on his shoulders,— so powerful a pas.sion is the

love of home and liberty ! Sure of being shot if they were

discovered, almost equally sure of being drowned if they

effected their escape, they, nevertheless, resolved to at-

tempt crossing the Channel in their fragile skiff. Per-

ceiving an English frigate within sight of the coast, they

pushed off" and endeavoured to reach her. They had not

gone a hundred toises from the shore when they were

perceived by the custom-house officers, who set out in

pursuit of them and brought them back again. The news

of this adventure spread through the camp, where the

extraordinary courage of the two sailors was the sub-

ject of general remark. The circumstance reached the

Emperor's ears. He wished to see the men, and they

were conducted to his presence, along with their little

boat. Napoleon, whose imagination was struck by every-

thing extraordinary, could not conceal his surprise at so

bold a project, undertaken with such feeble means of exe-

cution. " Is it really true," said the Emperor to them,
" that you thought of crossing the sea in this ? " " Sire,"

said they, " if you doubt it, give us leave to go, and you

shall see us depart." " I will. You are bold and enter-

prising men. I admire courage wherever I meet it. But

you shall not hazard your lives. You are at liberty ;
and

more than that, I will cause you to be put on board an

English ship. When you return to London, tell how I

esteem brave men, even when they are my enemies."

Eapp, who with Lauriston, Duroc, and many others were
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present at this scene, was not a little astonished at the

Emperor's generosity. If the men had not been brought

before him, the}^ would have been shot as spies, instead

of which they obtained their liberty, and Napoleon gave

several pieces of gold to each. This circumstance was
one of those which made the strongest impression on

Napoleon, and he recollected it when at St, Helena, in

one of his conversations with M. de Las Casas.

No man was ever so fond of contrasts as Bonaparte.

He liked, al)Ove everything, to direct the affairs of war
whilst seated in his easy-chair in the cabinet of St. Cloud,

and to dictate in the camp his decrees relative to civil

administration. Thus, at the camp of Boulogne, he

founded the decennial premiums, the first distribution

of which he intended should take place five years after-

wards, on the anniversary of the 18th Brumaire, which
was an innocent compliment to the date of the founda-

tion of the Consular Eepublic. This measure also seemed

to promise to the Eepublican calendar a longevity which
it did not attain.^ All these little circumstances passed

unobserved; but Bonaparte had so often developed to me
his theory of the art of deceiving mankind that I knew
their true value. It was likewise at the camp of Boulogne
that, by a decree emanating from his individual will, he

destroyed the noblest institution of the Eepublic, the

Polytechnic School, by converting it into a purely military

academy. He knew that in that sanchiary of high study

a Eepublican spirit was fostered ; and whilst I was with

him he had often told me it was necessary that all schools,

colleges, and establishments for public instruction should

be subject to military discipline. I frequently endeav-

oured to controvert this idea, but without success.

It was arranged that Josephine and the Emperor should

meet in Belgium. He proceeded thither from the camp

^ See the end of tin's vt)lume.
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of Boulogne, to the astonishment of those who believed

that the moment for the invasion of England had at

length arrived. He joined the Empress at the Palace

of Lacken, which the Emperor had ordered to be repaired

and newly furnished with great magnificence.

The Emperor continued his journey by the towns bor-

dering on the Ehine. He stopped first in the town of

Charlemagne,^ passed through the three bishoprics, saw

1 There are two or three little circumstauces related by Mademoiselle

Avrillion iu connection with tliis journey that seem worth inserting here.

Mademoiselle Avrillion was the fernme de chambre of Josephine, and was

constantly about her person from the time of the First Consulship to the

death of the Empress in 1814. In all such matters as we shall quote from

them, her memoirs seem worthy of credit. According to Mademoiselle,

the Empress during her stay at Aix-la-Chapelle drank the waters with

much eagerness and some hope. As the theatre there was only supplied

with some German singers who were not to Josephine's taste, .she had part

of a French operatic company sent to her from Paris. The amiable creole

had always a mo.st royal disregard of expense. When Bonaparte joined

her, he renewed his old custom of visiting his wife now and then at her toilet,

and, according to Mademoise.le Avrillion, he took great interest in the sub-

ject of her dressing. She says, " It was a most extraordinary tiling for us

to see the man whose head was filled with such vast affairs, enter into the

most minute details of the female toilet, and of what dresses, what robes,

and what jewels the Empress should wear on such and such an occasion.

One dav he daubed her dress with ink because he did not like it, and

wanted her to put on another. Whenever he looked into her wardrobe, he

wrs sure to throw ever^-thing topsy-turvy."

Tliis characteristic anecdote perfectly agrees with what we have heard

from other persons. When the Neapolitan Princess di was at the

Tuileries as chune d'honneur to Bonaparte's sister Caroline Murat, then

Queen of Naples, on the grand occasion of the marriage with jNIaria

Louisa, the Princess, to her astonishment, saw the Emperor go up to a

lady of tlie Court and address her thus :
" This is the same gown you wore

the day before yesterday ! What 's the meaning of this, Madame 1 This

is not riglit, Madame !

"

Josephine never gave him a similar cause of complaint, Init even when

he was Emperor she often made liim murnmr at the profusion of lier ex-

penditure under this head. The next anecdote will give some idea of the

quantitv of dresses which .she wore for a day or so, and then gave away to

her at':endants, who appear to have carried on a very active trade in them.
" W'liile we w'cre at Mayence, the palace was literally liesieged by Jews,

who continually !)rought manufactureJ and other goods to shaw to the fol-
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on liis way Cologne and Coblentz, which the emigration

had rendered so famous, and arrived at Mayence, where
his sojourn was distinguished by the first attempt at

negotiation with the Holy See, in order to induce the

Pope to come to France to crown the new Emperor, and
consolidate his power by supporting it with the sanction

of the Church. This journey of Napoleon occupied three

months, and he did not return to St. Cloud till October.

Amongst the flattering addresses which the Emperor re-

ceived in the course of his journey, I cannot pass over

unnoticed the speech of M. de la Chaise, Prefect of Arras,

who said, " God made Bonaparte, and then rested." This

occasioned Comte Louis de Narbonne, who was not yet

attached to the Imperial system, to remark, " that it

would have been well had God rested a little sooner."

During the Emperor's absence a partial change took

place in the Ministry. M. de Champagny succeeded

M. Chaptal as Minister of the Interior. At the camp
of Boulogne the pacific Joseph found himself, by his

brother's wish, transformed into a warrior, and placed in

command of a regiment of dragoons,^ which was a subject

of laughter with a great number of generals. I recollect

that one day Lannes, speaking to me of the circumstance

in his usual downright and energetic way, said, " He had
better not place him under my orders, for upon the first

fault I will put the scamp under arrest."

lowers of the Court ; and we had the greatest difficulty to avoid buying
them. At last they proposed that we should barter with tliem ; and when
Her Majesty had given us dresses that were far too rich for us to wear
ourselves, we exchanged tliem with the Jews for piece-goods. The robes

we thus bartered did not long remain in the hands of the Jews, and there

must have been a great demand for them among the belles of Mayence, for

I remember a ball tliere at which the Empress might have seen all the

ladies of a quadrille party dressed in her cast-off clothes,— I even saw
German Princesses wearing them " {Mimoires de Mademoiselle Avrillion).

1 Joseph was made colonel of the fourth regiment of the line, not of a
dragoon regiment (Eireurs, tome ii. p. 142).
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England was never so much deceived by Bonaparte

as during the period of the encampment at Boulogne.

The English really believed that an invasion was
intended, and the Government exhausted itself in

eftbrts for raising men and money to guard against the

danger of being taken by surprise. Such, indeed, is the

advantage always possessed by the assailant. He can

choose the point on which he thinks it most convenient

to act, while the party which stands on the defence, and

is afraid of being attacked, is compelled to be prepared

in every point. However, Napoleon, who was then in

the full vigour of his genius and activity, had always

his eyes fixed on objects remote from those which sur-

rounded hiin, and which seemed to absorb his whole

attention. Thus, during the journey of which I have

spoken, the ostensible object of which was the organi-

sation of the departments on the Rhine, he despatched

two squadrons from Rochefort and Boulogne, one com-

manded by Missiessy, the other by Villeneuve. I shall

not enter into any details about those squadrons ; I shall

merely mention with respect to them that, while the

Emperor was still in Belgium, Lauriston paid me a sud-

den and unexpected visit.^ He was on his way to Tou-

1 Lauriston, one of Napoleon's aides-de camp, who was with liiin at the

Military School of Paris, and who had been commissioned in the artillery
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Ion to take command of the troops whicli were to lie

embarkad on Villeneuve's squadron, and he was not

much pleased with the service to which he had been

appointed.

Lauriston's visit was a piece of good fortune for me.

We were always on friendly terms, and I received mucli

information from him, particularly with respect to the

manner in which the Emperor spent his time. " You
can have no idea," said he, " how much the Elmperor

does, and the sort of enthusiasm which his presence ex-

cites in the army. But his anger at the contractors is

greater than ever, and he has been very severe with some
of them." These words of Lauriston did not at all sur-

prise me, for I well knew Napoleon's dislike to contrac-

tors, and all men who had mercantile transactions with

the army. I have often heard him say that they were

a curse and a leprosy to nations ; that whatever power

he might attain, lie never would grant honours to any of

them, and that of all aristocracies, theirs was to him the

most insupportable. After his accession to the Empire

the contractors were no longer the important persons

they had been under the Directory, or even during the

two first years of the Consulate. Bonaparte sometimes

acted with them as he had before done with the Beys of

Egypt, when he drew from them forced contributions.

I recollect another somewhat curious circumstance

respecting the visit of Lauriston, who had left the Em-
peror and Empress at Aix-la-Chapelle. Lauriston wa-;

the best educated of the aides-de-camp, and Napoleon

at the same time as Napoleon, considered that he slimild have had the post

of Grand Eenyer which (>aulaincourt had ohtained. He liad complained

angrily to the Emperor, and after a stormy interview was ordered to join

the fleet of Villenenve. In consequence he was at Trafalgar. On his

return after Austerlitz his temporary disgrace was forgotten, and he was
sent as governor to ^'enice. He became marshal under the Restoration.

See Mc'neval, tome iii p. 102, and Savary, tome ii. p. 2-39.
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often conversed witli him on such literary works as he

chose to notice. " He sent for me one day," said Lauris-

ton, " when I was on duty at the Palace of Lacken, and

spoke to me of the decennial prizes, and the tragedy of

' Carion de Nisas/ ^ and a novel by Madame de Stael,

which he had just read, but which I had not seen, and

was therefore rather embarrassed in replying to him.

Respecting Madame de Stael and her ' Delphine,' he said

some remarkable things. ' I do not like women,' lie ob-

served, ' who make men of themselves, any more than I

like effeminate men. There is a proper part for every

one to play in the world. What does all this flight of

imagination mean ? What is the result of it ? Nothing.

It is all sentimental metaphysics and disorder of the

mind. I cannot endure that woman ; for one reason,

that I cannot bear women who make a set at me, and

God knows how often she has tried to cajole me !
'

"

The words of Lauriston l)rought to my recollection the

conversations I had often had with Bonaparte respecting

Madame de Stael, of whose advances made to the First

Consul, and even to the General of the Army of Italy, I

had frequently been witness. Bonaparte knew nothing

at first of Madame de Stael but that she was the daugh-

ter of M. Necker, a man for whom, as I have already

shown, he had very little esteem. Madame de Stael had

not been introduced to him, and knew nothing more of

him than what fame had published respecting the young

conqueror of Italy, when she addressed to him letters

full of enthusiasm. Bonaparte read some passages of

them to me, and, laughing, said, " What do you think,

1 Lauriston alluded to the tragedy of " Peter the Great," which was

twice represented before very tumultuous audiences. Tliis piece was

performed at the Thc'atre Fran(;ais in the first period of the Empire,

hut tlie Emperor proliibited the representation because the allusions were

not taken in the sense he wished them to be, and which tiie author had

hoped they would.

—

Bourrienne.
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Bourrienne, of these extravagances ? This woman is

mad." I recollect that in one of her letters Madame de

Stael, among other things, told him that they certainly

were created for each other,— that it was in consequence

of an error in human institutions that the quiet and

gentle Josephine was united to his fate, — that nature

seemed to have destined for the adoration of. a hero such

as he, a soul of fire like her own. These extravagances

disgusted Bonaparte to a degree which I cannot describe.

When he had finished reading these fine epistles, he used

to throw them into the fire, or tear them with marked
ill-humour, and would say, " Well, here is a woman who
pretends to genius,— a maker of sentiments, and she pre-

sumes to compare herself to Josephine ! Bourrienne, I

shall not reply to such letters."

I had, however, the opportunity of seeing what the

perseverance of a woman of talent can effect. Notwith-

standing Bonaparte's prejudices against Madame de Stael,

which he never abandoned, she succeeded in getting her-

self introduced to him ; and if anything could have

disgusted him with flattery, it would have been the

admiration, or, to speak more properly, the worship,

which she paid him ; for she used to compare him to a

god descended on earth,— a kind of comparison which

the clergy, I thought, had reserved for their own use.

But, unfortunately, to please Madame de Stael it would
have been necessary that her god had been Plutus ; for

behind her eulogies lay a claim for two millions, which

M. Necker considered still due to him on account of his

good and worthy services. However, Bonaparte said on

this occasion that whatever value he might set on the

suffrage of Madame de Stael, he did not think fit to pay

so dear for it with the money of the State. The conver-

sion of Madame de Stall's enthusiasm into hatred is well

known, as are also the petty vexations, unworthy of him-
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self, witli wliicli the Emperor harassed her in her retreat

at Coppet.^

Lauristou had arrived at Paris, where he made but a

short stay, some days before Caffarelli, who was sent on

a mission to Rome to sound the Papal Court, and to

induce the Holy Father to come to Paris to consecrate

Bonaparte at his Coronation. I have already described

the nature of Bonaparte's ideas on religion. His notions

1 Madame de Stael, with all her geuius aud worth, -as certainly a vain

woman ; hut slie was always high-minded, and we canuut help thinking

that Buurrienue deals ratlier harshly by her. The conduct of Bonaparte
towards her was low-minded and jjaltry in the extreme. Why has Bour-

rienne omitted to mention the unmanly manner in which she was suddenly

exiled from France, and to give a copy of the brutal letter to her, wiitten

at Bonaparte's orders by Savary, in which she was old, in cruel mockery,

tliat the air of France no longer suited her health ? After lier rupture

with the First Consul, Madame de Stael said that Bonaparte was nothing

but a Robespierre a cheval. Tliis was her great offence. Bonaparte was
always cut to the quick by such e]jigrammatic sallies, and his resentment,

even when its object was a woman, was always implacable.

—

Editor of

18.36 edition.

This passage is attacked in '' Madame de Stael " (by A. Stevens, London,

Murray, 1 88
1 )

,. vol. i. p. 20.5. The debt claimed by her was paid by the Bour-

bons, but Bourrienne's account seems perfectly true. Napoleon's horror

of such a whirlwind of sentiment as iladame de Stael was most natural.

The very damaging admissions made by her biographer should be noted.
" She acknowledged to him (Joseph) sometimes, with regret, the violence

of her language against Napoleon. . . . She did not demand (!) the right

to attack him publicly. . . . When the new Napoleonic order appeared

to be irreversibly established, she was not indisposed to recognise what
seemed to be invincible fate" (vol. i. p. 208). As for any improbability of

her throwing herself at Napoleon's head, see vol. ii. p. 95, for the spirit in

which she went to England :
" If I discover there a noble character, I will

sacrifice my liberty." As for her extraordinary conceit and extravagant

idea of her position, see Metternich, tome iii. p. .50.5. When asked by the

Police President of Vienna, " Pray, Madame, are we to go to war about

Herr Rocca ?
" she answered, " Whv not 1 Herr Rocca is my friend, and

will be my husband !

" It will be seen that Metternich took much the

same view of her as Napoleon did. When asked to obtain the permission

slie so specially desired to perorate in the salons of Paris, he says (on the

same page), "My head, however, does not seem to be so easily turned, for

I was able to withstand her without difficulty. . . . Celebrity was a power

to Madame de Stael ! The longer I live the more I mistrust this power."
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on the subject seemed to amount to a sort of vague feeling

rather thnn to any belief founded on reflection. Xeverthe-

less, he had a high opinion of the power of the Church

;

but not because he considered it dangerous to Govern-

ments, particularly to his own. Napoleon never could

have conceived how it was possible that a sovereign

wearing a crown and a sword could have the meanness to

kneel to a Pope, or to humble his sceptre before the keys

of St. Peter. His spirit was too great to admit of such

a thought. On the contrary, he regarded the alliance

batween the Church and his power as a happy means of

influencing the opinions of the people, and as an additional

tie which was to attach them to a Government rendered

legitimate by the solemn sanction of the Papal authority.

Bonaparte was not deceived. In this, as well as in many
other things, the perspicacity of his genius enabled him to

comprehend all the importance of a consecration bestowed

on him by the Pope; more especially as Louis XVIIL,
without subjects, without territory, and wearing only an

illusory crown, had not received that sacred unction by
which the descendants of Hugh Capet become the eldest

sons of the Church.

As soon as the Emperor was informed of the success of

Caffarelli's mission, and that the Pope, in compliance

with his desire, was about to repair to Paris to confirm

in his hands the sceptre of Charlemagne, nothing was
thought of but pieparations for that great event, which
had been preceded by the recognition of Napoleon as

Emperor of the French on the part of all the States of

Europe, with the exception of England.

On the conclusion of the Concordat Bonaparte said to

me, " I shall let the Eepublican generals exclaim as much
as they like against the Mass. I know what I am about

;

I am working for posterity." He was now gathering the

fruits of his Concordat. He ordered that the Pope should

be everywhere treated in his journey through the French
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territory with the highest distinction, and he proceeded

to Fontainehleau to receive his Holiness. This afforded

an opportunity for Bonaparte to re-establish the example

of those journeys of the old Court, during which changes

of ministers used formerly to be made. The Palace of

Fontainebleau, now become Imperial, like all the old

royal chateaux, had been newly furnished with a luxury

and taste corresponding to the progress of modern art.

The Emperor was proceeding on the road to Nemours
when courtiers informed him of the approach of Pius VII.

Bonaparte's object was to avoid the ceremony which had

been previously settled. He had therefore made the pre-

text of going on a hunting-party, and was in the way as

it were by chance when the Pope's carriage was arriving.

He alighted from horseback, and the Pope came out of

his carriage. Rapp was with the Emperor, and I think I

yet hear him describing, in his original manner and with

his German accent, this grand interview, upon which,

however, he for his part looked with very little respect.

Eapp, in fact, was among the number of those who, not-

withstanding his attachment to the Emperor, preserved

independence of character, and he knew he had no reason

to dissemble with me. " Eancy to yourself," said he,

" the amusing comedy that was played." After the Em-
peror and the Pope had well embraced, they went into the

same carriage; and, in order that they might be upon a

footing of equality, they were to enter at the same time

by opposite doors. All that was settled ; but at breakfast

the Emperor had calculated how he should manage, with-

out appearing to assume anything, to get on the right-

hand side of the Pope, and everything turned out as he

wished. " As to the Pope," said Eapp, " I must own that

I never saw a man with a finer countenance or more
respectable appearance than Pius VII." ^

1 The following is Savary's account of the meeting of the Pope and

Napoleon :
" The Emperor went to meet the Pope on the road to Nemours.
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After the conference between the Pope and the Em-
peror at Fontainebleau, Pius VII. set oti' for Paris first.

On the road the same lionours were paid to him as to tlie

Emperor. Apartments were prepared for him in the

Pavilion de Flore in the Tuileries, and his bedchamber
was arranged and furnished in the same manner as his

chamber in the Palace of Monte-Cavallo, his usual resi-

dence in Eonie. The Pope's presence in Paris was so

extraordinary a circumstance that it was scarcely believed,

though it had some time l)efore been talked of. AYhat,

indeed, could be more singular than to see the Head of

the Church in a capital where four years previously the

altars had been overturned, and the few faithful who
remained had been obliged to exercise their worship in

secret ! The Pope became the object of public respect

and general curiosity. I was exceedingly anxious to see

him, and my wish was gratified on the day when he went
to visit the Imperial printing-office, then situated where
the Bank of France now is.

A pamphlet, dedicated to the Pope, containing the

"Pater Noster" in one hundred and fifty different lan-

guages, was struck off in the presence of his Holiness.

To avoid ceremony, the pretext of a huuting-party was assumed ; the

attendants, witli his equipages, were in the forest. The Emperor came on
horseback, and in a hunting-dress, with his retinue. It was at the Half-

Moon, on the top of tlie hill, that the meeting tooii place. There the

Pope's carriage drew up ; he got out at tlie left door in his white costume;

the ground was dirty ; he did not like to step upon it with his white silk

shoes, but was obliged to do so at last.

" Napoleon aliglited to receive him. They embraced, and the Emperor's

carriage, which had been purposely driven up, was advanced a few paces,

as if from the carelessness of the driver ; but men were posted to hold the

two doors open. At the moment of getting in, tlie Emperor took the right

door, and an officer of the Court handed the Pope to the left ; so that they

entered the carriage by the two doors at the same time. The Emperor
naturally seated himself on the right ; and this first step decided, without

negotiation, upon the etiquette to be observed during the whole time that

the Pope was to remain in Paris."— Memoirs of the Due de Rovtgo, vol. ii.

p. 111.
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During this visit to the printing-office an ill-bred young

man kejjt his hat on in the Pope's presence. Several

persons, indignant at this indecorum, advanced to take off

the young man's hat. A little confusion arose, and the

Pope, observing the cause of it, stepped up to the young

man and said to him, in a tone of kindness truly patri-

archal, " Young man, uncover, that I may give thee my
blessing. An old man's blessing never yet harmed any

one." This little incident deeply affected all who wit-

nessed it. The countenance and figure of Pope Pius VII.

commanded respect. David's admirable portrait is a living

likeness of him.

The Pope's arrival at Paris produced a great sensation

in London, greater indeed there than anywhere else, not-

withstanding the separation of the English Church from

the Church of Rome. The English Ministry now spared

no endeavours to influence public opinion by the circula-

tion of libels against Bonaparte. The Cabinet of London
found a twofold advantage in encouraging this system,

which not merely excited irritation against the powerful

enemy of England, but diverted from the British Govern-

ment the clamour which some of its measures were calcu-

lated to create. Bonaparte's indignation against England

was roused to the utmost extreme, and in truth this in-

dignation was in some degree a national feeling in France.

Napoleon had heard of the success of Caff'arelli's nego-

tiations previous to his return to Paris, after his journey

to the Rhine. On arriving at St. Cloud he lost no time in

ordering the preparations for his Coronation. Evervthing

aided the fulfilment of his wishes. On 28th November
the Pope arrived at Paris, and two days after, viz., on the

1st of December, the Senate presented to the Emperor

the votes of the people for the establishment of hereditary

succession in his family ; for as it was pretended that the

assumption of the title of Emperor was no way prejudicial
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to the liepublic, the question of hereditary succession

only had been proposed for public sanction. Sixty thou-

sand registers had been opened in different parts of France,

— at the offices of the ministers, the prefects, the mayors

of the communes, notaries, solicitors, etc. France at that

time contained 108 departments, and there were 3,574,898

voters. Of these only 2,569 voted against hereditary suc-

cession. Bonaparte ordered a list of the persons who had

voted against the question to be sent to him, and he often

consulted it. They proved to be not Royalist, but for the

most part stanch lie|)ublicans. To my knowledge many
Royalists abstained from voting at all, not wishing to

commit themselves uselessly, and still less to give their

suffrages to the author of the Due d'Enghien's death.

For my part, I gave my vote in favour of hereditary suc-

cession in Bonaparte's family ; my situation, as may well

be imagined, did not allow me to do otherwise.

Since the month of October the Legislative Body had

been convoked to attend the Emperor's Coronation. Many
deputies arrived, and with them a swarm of those presi-

dents of cantons who occupied a conspicuous place in the

annals of ridicule at the close of the year 1S04. They
became the objects of all sorts of witticisms and jests.

The obligation of wearing swords made their appearance

very grotesque. As many droll stories were told of them

as were ten years afterwards related of those who were

styled the voltigeurs of Louis XIV. One of these anec-

dotes was so exceedingly ludicrous that, though it was

probably a mere invention, yet I cannot refrain from re-

lating it. A certain number of these presidents were one

day selected to be presented to the Pope ; and as most of

them were very poor, they found it necessary to coni1)ine

economy with the etiquette necessary to be observed

under the new order of things. To save the expense of

hiring carriages, they therefore proceeded to the Pavilion
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de Flore on foot, taking the precaution of putting on

gaiters to preserve tlieir white silk stockings from the

mud which covered the streets, for it was then the month
of December. On arriving at the Tuileries one of the

party put his gaiters into his pocket. It happened that

the Pope delivered such an affecting address that all

present were moved to tears, and the unfortunate presi-

dent who had disposed of his gaiters in the way just

mentioned drew them out instead of his handkerchief

and smeared his face over with mud. The Pope is said

to have been much amused at this mistake. If this anec-

dote should be thought too puerile to be repeated here, I

may observe that it afforded no small merriment to Bona-

parte, who made Michot the actor relate it to the Empress

at Paris one evening after a Court performance.

Napoleon had now attained the avowed object of his

ambition ; but his ambition receded before him like a

boundless horizon. On the 1st of December, the day on

which the Senate presented to the Emperor the result of

the votes for hereditary succession, Francois de Neufcha-

teau delivered an address to him, in wdiicli there was no

want of adulatory expressions. As President of the Sen-

ate he had had some practice in that style of speech-mak-

ing ; and he only substituted the eulogy of the ]\Ionarcliical

Government for that of the Eepublican Government a sem-

jpre bene, as the Italians say.

If I wished to make comparisons, I could here indulge

in some curious ones. Is it not extraordinary that Fon-

tainebleau should have witnessed, at the interval of nearly

ten years, Napoleon's first interview with the Pope and

his last farewell to his army, and that the Senate, who
had previously given such ready support to Bonaparte,

should in 1814 have pronounced his abdication at Fon-

tainebleau ?

The preparations for the Coronation proved very ad-
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vantageous to the trading-classes of Paris. Great num-
bers of foreigners and people from the provinces visited

the capital, and the return of luxury and the revival of

old customs gave occupation to a variety of tradespeople

who could get no employment under the Directory or

Consulate, such as saddlers, carriage-makers, lacemen,

embroiderers, and others. By these positive interests

were created more partisans of the Empire than by opin-

ion and reflection ; and it is but just to say that trade

had not been so active for a dozen years before. The
Imperial crown jewels were exhibited to the public at

Biennais the jeweller's. The crown was of a light form,

and, with its leaves of gold, it less resembled the crown

of France than the antique crown of the Cttsars. These

things were afterwards placed in the public treasury, to-

gether with the imperial insignia of Charlemagne, which

Bonaparte had ordered to be brought from Aix-la-Cha-

pelle. But while Bonaparte was thus priding himself in

his crowm and his imagined resemblance to Charlemagne,

Mr. Pitt, lately recalled to the Ministry, was concluding

at Stockholm a treaty with Sweden, and agreeing to pay

a subsidy to that power to enable it to maintain hostilities

against France. This treaty was concluded on the 3d of

December, the day after the Coronation.^

1 The details of the preparation for the Coronation caused many stormy

scenes between Napoleon and his family. The Princesses, his sisters and

sisters-in-law, were especially shocked at having to carry the train of the

Imperial mantle of Josephine, and even when Josephine was actually

moving from tlie altar to the throne the Princesses evinced their reluc-

tance so plainly tliat .Josephine could not advance, and an altercation took

place which had to be stopped by Napoleon himself (Remusat, tome ii.

p. 71). For the details of the disputes between Napoleon and Joseph see

JNIiot de Melito, tome ii. p. 221. Joseph was (piite willing to himself give

up appearing in a mantle with a train, but he wished to prevent his wife

bearing the mantle of the Empress ; and he opposed his brotlier on so

many points that Napoletm ended by calling on liim to eitiier give up his

position and retire from all politics, or else to fully accept the Imperial
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It cannot be expected that I should enter into a detail

of the ceremony which took place on the 2d of December.

The glitter of gold, the waving plumes, and richly capar-

isoned horses of the Imperial procession ; the mule which

preceded the Pope's cortege, and occasioned so much mer-

riment to the Parisians, have already been described over

and over again. I may, however, relate an anecdote con-

nected with the Coronation, told me by Josephine, and

which is exceedingly characteristic of Napoleon.

When Bonaparte was paying his addresses to Madame

regime. How the economical Cambaccres used up the ermine he couhl

not wear, will be seen in Junot, tome iii. p. 195. Josepliine her.self was

in the greatest anxiety as to whether tlie wish of the Bonajiarte family

that she should be divorced would carry the day witli her husband.

When she had gained her cause for the time, and after the Pope had

engaged to crown her, she seems to have most cleverly managed to get

the Pope informed that she was oidy united to Napoleon by a civil mar-

riage. The Pope insisted on a religious marriage. Napoleon was angry,

but could not recede, and the religious rite was performed by Cardinal

Fesch the day, or two <lays, before the Coronation. The certificate of the

marriage was carefully guarded from Napoleon by Josephine, and even

placed l)eyond his reach at tlie time of the divorce. Such at least seems

to be the most probable account of this mysterious and doubtful matter.

Compare Remusat, tome ii. p. 67 ; Thiers, tome v. p. 262, corrected by

tome xi. p. 3.i2 ; Cardinal Consalvi's " Memoirs," and Jervis's " Gallican

Church and tlie Revolution," p. 448, and especially p. 451, where the opin-

ion of the Abbe Emery as to the non-validity of this marriage is given.

Metternich (tome i. p. 121) says concerning this, "For the Church this

question did not exist, and tlierefore not for the Emperor (of Austria)
;"

and he treats the matter as if there had been no religious marriage rite.

"Indeed," he says, "otherwise the scheme of a divorce could not have

been entertained for a moment." But the Austrian Court was deeply in-

terested in this matter, and not likely to be too scrupulous. The fact that

Cardinal Fesch maintained that the religious rite iiad l)een duly performed,

and tiiat tliirteen of the Cardinals (not, however, including Fesch) were

so convinced of the legality of tlie marriage that they refused to appear

at the ceremony of marriage with Marie Louise, thus drawing down the

wrath of the Emperor, and becoming the " Cardinals Noirs," from being

forbidden to wear their own robes, seems to leave no doubt that the reli-

gious rite liad been duly performed. The marriage was only pronounced

to be invalid in 1809 by the local canonical bodies, not by the authority of

the Pope.
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de Beauharnais, neithei' the one nor the other kept a car-

riage ; and therefore Bonaparte frequently accompanied

her when she walked out. One day they went together

to the notary Eaguideau, one of the shortest men I think

I ever saw in my life. Madame de Beauharnais placed

great confidence in him, and went there on purpose to

acquaint him of her intention to marry the young general

of artillery, — the protege of Barras. Josephine went
alone into the notary's cabinet, while Bonaparte waited

for her in an adjoining room. The door of Eaguideau's

cabinet did not shut close, and Bonaparte plainly heard

him dissuading Madame de Beauharnais from her pro-

jected marriage. " You are going to take a very wrong
step," said he, " and you will be sorry for it. Can you be

so mad as to marry a young man who has nothing but

his cloak and his sword ? " Bonaparte, Josephine told

me, had never mentioned this to her, and she never

supposed that he had heard what fell from Eaguideau.
" Only think, Bourrienne," continued she, " what was my
astonishment when, dressed in the Imperial robes on the

Coronation day, lie desired that Eaguideau might be sent

for, saying that he wished to see him immediately ; and
when Eaguideau appeared, he said to him, ' Well, sir

!

have I nothing but my cloak and my sword now ?
'

"

Though Bonaparte had related to nie almost all the cir-

cumstances of his life, as they occurred to his memory,

he never once mentioned this affair of Eaguideau, which

he only seemed to have suddenly recollected on his Coro-

nation day.^

1 The truth about this story seems to be that Ragiiideau went by
appointment to Josephine's house (slie was not likely to go to his office),

and there advised her against the marriage, using the words attributed to

him. He was disconcerted when introduced to Napoleon, who was stand-

ing at the window drumming on the panes. When asked whctlier he had

heard, Napoleon said, " Yes, he has spoken as an honest man, and what
he has said makes me esteem him. I hope he will continue to manage
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The day after the Coronation all the troops in Paris

were asseml;)led in the Champ de Mars, that the Imperial

eagles might be distributed to each regiment, in lieu

of the national flags. I had stayed away from the

Coronation in the church of Notre Dame, but I wished to

see the military fete in the Champ de Mars, because

I took real pleasure in seeing Bonaparte amongst his

soldiers. A throne was erected in front of the Military

School, which, though now transformed into a barrack,

must have recalled to Bonaparte's mind some singular

recollections of Ms boyhood. At a given signal all the

columns closed and approached the throne. Then Bona-

parte, rising, gave orders for the distribution of the

eagles, and delivered the following address to the deputa-

tions of the different corps of the army :
—

" Soldiers ! behold your colours. These eagles will

always Ije your rallying-point ! They will always be

where your Emperor may think them necessary for the

defence of his throne and of his people. Swear to

sacrifice your lives to defend them, and by your courage

to keep them constantly in the path of victory. —
Swear !

"

It would be impossible to descrilie the acclamations

which followed this address ; there is something so

seductive in popular enthusiasm that even indifferent

persons cannot help yielding to its influence. And yet

the least reflection would have shown how shamefully

Napoleon forswore the declaration he made to the Senate,

when the organic Senatus-consulte for the foundation

of the Empire was presented to him at St. Cloud. On

your affairs, for he has inclined me to give him my confidence." Instead

of displayin": hims(-lf as Emperor before Raguideau, Napoleon made him
notary of the civil list, and always treated him well.

Mc'neval, in upsetting Bourrienne's story, gives us a pleasanter one in

telling us that Napoleon did say, "Joseph, if our father saw us!"
(Meneval, tome i. p. 129.)
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that occasion he said, " The French people shall never

be my people ! " And yet the day after his Coronation

his eagles were to be carried wherever they might be

necessary for the defence of his people.

By a singular coincidence, while on the 2d of Decem-
ber, 1804, Bonaparte was receiving from the head of the

Church the Imperial crown of France, Louis XVIII.,

who was then at Colmar, prompted as it were by an

inexplicable presentiment, drew up and signed a declara-

tion to the French people, in which he declared that he

then swore never to break the sacred bond which united

his destiny to theirs, never to renounce the inheritance

of his ancestors, or to relinquish his rights.

Note.— M. de Bourrienne's omission relative to the Imperial Corona-
tion may be supplied by the follovving extracts :

—
" The interior of the church of Notre Dame had been newly painted

;

galleries and pews magnificentl}- adorned had been erected, and they
were thronged with a prodigious concourse of spectators.

" The Pope set out from the Tuileries, and proceeded along the quay to

the archiepiscopal palace, whence he repaired to the choir by a private

entrance.

" The Emperor set out with the Empress by the Carrousel. The pro-

cession passed along the Rue St. Honore' to the Rue des Lombards, then
the Pont au Change, the Palace of Justice, tiie court of Notre Dame, and
entered the Archbishop's Palace.

" It was a truly magnificent sight. The procession was opened by the
already numerous body of courtiers ; next came the Marshals of the

Empire wearing their honours ; then the dignitaries and high officers

of the Crown ; and lastly, the Emperor in a dress of state. At the

moment of his entering the cathedral there was a simultaneous shout of
' Vive I'Empereur !'

" Tlie procession passed along the middle of the nave, and arrived at

the choir facing the high altar. This scene was not less imposing ; the
galleries round the choir were filled with the handsomest women whom
the bist company could produce, and most of whom rivalled in the lustre

of their l)eauty that of the jewels with which they were covered.
" His Holiness went to meet the Emperor at a tribune whicli liad been

placed in the middle of the choir; there was anotlier on one side for the

Empress. After saying a short prayer there, they returned, and seated

themselves on the throne at the end of tlie church facing tlie choir

;

there they heard Mass, which was said by the Pope. They went to make

VOL. II. — 26
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the offering, and came back ; they then descende.l from the platform

of the throne, and walked in procession to receive the holy unction. The
Emperor and Empress, on reaching the choir, replaced themselves at their

tribunes, where the Pope performed the ceremony.
" He presented the crown to the Emperor, who received it, put it him-

self upon his head, took it off, placed it on that of the Empress, removed

it again, and laid it on the cushion where it was at first. A smaller crown

was immediately put upon the head of the Empress. All the arrange-

ments had been made beforehand ; she was surrounded by her ladies

;

everything was done in a moment, and nobody perceived the substitution

which had taken place. The procession moved back to the platform.

The Emperor there heard Te Deum ; the Pope himself went thither at

the conclusion of the service, as if to say, Ite, missu est. The Testament
was presented to the Emperor, who took off his glove, and pronounced

his oath, with his hand upon the sacred book.
" He went back to the Archbishop's Palace the same way as that he had

come, and entered his carriage. The ceremony was very long; the pro-

cession returned by a different route, and it was getting dusk when the

Emperor arrived at the Tuileries."

The gossip of the premiere femme de chamhre on the subject of the

Coronation is amusing.
" A great many persons in the palace sat np the whole of the night

which preceded that great day. A fact which, though not important in

itself, may serve to give an idea of the busy confusion in which we all

were : I was obliged that day to have my head dressed at five o'clock in

the morning. When, at the break of day, we entered the Empress's

apartments, I was already dres.sed, en grande toilette, for the ceremony at

the cathedral, whither I was to repair as soon as her Majesty's toilet

should be completed, having duties to perform there. As soon as the

Empress was dressed, I set out, having in my carriage her Imperial

mantle and crown. . . . Arriving at Notre Dame a considerable time

before the procession, I was conducted into an apartment which had been

prepared for their Majesties. All the Imperial family were introduced

therein successively as they arrived. I fastened on the Imperial mantle,

and the Princesses put their toilettes in fresh order. When everything

was ready, they formed in procession, and so went into the cathedral,

where every one according to his or her rank took up a place which had

been previously assigned. It was exactly like a theatrical representation,

for all the parts had been studied beforehand, and we had even had

several general rehearsals at the palace, where, by the Emperor's orders,

M. Isabey, the artist, had modelled a sacre in high relief, to serve as

a guide. Messieurs the masters of the ceremonies played the part of

prompters, they being charged with the duty of reminding each of the

great personages figuring in the august ceremony as to where he was to

go and what he was to do. I followed the procession with some other

ladies of her Majesty's household, and was so fortunate as to get placed
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in the gallery of the Empress, whence I saw perfectly all the ceremony in

its greatest details ; but there already exist so many descriptions of it

that I need not repeat what every one knows. And, in fine, who does not

know th.at the Emperor put the crown on his head with his own hands,

having first received the Pope's benediction and consecration, and that he
afterwards crowned the Empress himself ?

" On the day of the snc7-e the weather was cold and frosty ; we were all

dressed as if for a well-heated drawing-room, and our only protection

against the cold, our cachemere shawls, we were obliged to take off as we
entered tlie gallery. I believe I never suffered so much from cold in all

the days of my life ; but people do not enter the service of the great to

enjoy their comforts, and this I perceived above all on that day, and in

more ways than one. I set out in such a hurry, I had been so confused

since the preceding daj', that I forgot to take my breakfast ; and the

pangs of hunger were added to the lively sufferings of cold. I never
knew that while I was waiting to put on her Majesty's mantle an excel-

lent breakfast had been served up in the Archbishop's apartments for all

the retinue. This was very unlucky ; and when the beautiful sacred music
of M. Lesueur was performed in the cathedral, I had good grounds for

judging of the truth of the old proverb, Ventre affame n'a point

d'oreilles.

" When the ceremony was over, their Majesties returned to their

apartment. Never have I seen on any physiognomy such an expression

of joy, coutent, and happiness as that which then animated the counte-

nance of the Empress ; her face was radiant. The crown just fixed on her
forehead by her liusband had settled her future lot, and seemed calcu-

lated to dissipate for ever those rumours of divorce which had long vexed
her ears, and which had been repeated to her even by the Emperor's own
family. ... On the return from Notre Dame I arrived at the Tuileries

some time before their Majesties. Cold, hunger, and the bad night I had
passed gave me such a headache that I was obliged to go to bed, and
thus I saw nothing of the other ceremonies which took place that day.

What I know is, that by the evening the Empress was completely

exhausted, — but, at last, she was a crowned Empress !
' {Memoires de

Mademoiselle Avrillion).



CHAPTER XXX.

1805.

I MUST now mention an event which concerns myself

personally, namely, my appointment as Minister Pleni-

potentiary to the Dukes of Brunswick and Mecklenburg-

Schwerin, and to the Hanse towns.

This appointment took place on the 22d of March,

1805. Josephine, who had kindly promised to apprise

me of what the Emperor intended to do for me, as soon

as she herself should know his intentions, sent a messen-

ger to acquaint me with my appointment, and to tell me
that the Emperor wished to see me. I had not visited

Josephine since her departure for Belgium. The pomps
and ceremonies of the Coronation had, I may say, dazzled

me, and deterred me from presenting myself at the Im-

perial Palace, where I should have been annoyed by the

etiquette which had been observed since the Coronation.

I cannot describe what a disagreeable impression this

parade always produced on me. I could not all at once

forget the time when I used without ceremony to go into

Bonaparte's chamber and wake him at the appointed

hour. As to Bonaparte, I had not seen him since he

sent for me after the condemnation of Georges, when I

saw that my candour relative to Moreau was not dis-

pleasing to him. Moreau had since quitted France

without Napoleon's subjecting him to the application of

the odious law which has only been repealed since the



1805. A FRIENDLY INTERVIEW. 405

return of the Bourbons, and by virtue of which he was
condemned to the confiscation of his property. Moveau
sold his estate of Gros Bois to Berthier, and proceeded to

Cadiz, whence he embarked for America. I shall not

again have occasion to speak of him until the period of

the intrigues into which he was drawn by the same in-

fluence which ruined him in France.

On the evening of the day when I received the kind

message from Josephine I had an official invitation to

proceed the next day to Malmaison, where the Emperor
then was. I was much pleased at th6 idea of seeing him
there rather than at the Tuileries, or even at St. Cloud.

Our former intimacy at Malmaison made me feel more
at my ease respecting an interview of which my knowl-

edge of Bonaparte's character led me to entertain some
apprehension. Was I to be received by my old comrade

of Brienne, or by His Imperial Majesty ? I was received-

by my old college companion.

On my arrival at Malmaison I was ushered into the

tent-room leading to the library. How I was astonished

at the good-natured familiarity with which he received

me ! This extraordinary man displayed, if I may employ

the term, a coquetry towards me which surprised me,

notwithstanding my past knowledge of his character.

He came up to me with a smile on his lips, took my
hand (which he had never done since he was Consul),

pressed it affectionately, and it- was impossible that I

could look upon him as the Emperor of France and the

future King of Italy. Yet I was too well aware of his

fits of pride to allow his familiarity to lead me beyond

the bounds of affectionate respect. "My dear Bour-

rienne," said he, " can you suppose that the elevated rank

I have attained has altered my feelings towards you ?

Ko. I do not attach importance to the glitter of Impe-

rial pomp ; all that is meant for the people ; but I must
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still be valued according to my deserts. I have been

very well satisfied with your services, and I have ap-

pointed you to a situation where I shall have occasion

for them. I know that I can rely upon you." He then

asked with great warmth of friendship what I was about,

and inquired after my family, etc. In short, I never

saw him display less reserve or more familiarity and

unaffected simplicity, which he did the more readily, per-

haps, because his greatness was now incontestable.

" You know," added Napoleon, " that I set out in a

week for Italy. I shall make myself King ; but that is

only a stepping-stone. I have greater designs respecting

Italy. It must be a kingdom comprising all the Trans-

alpine States, from Venice to the Maritime Alps.^ The

union of Italy with France can only be temporary;

but it is necessary, in order to accustom the nations of

Italy to live under common laws. The Genoese, the

Piedmontese, the Venetians, the Milanese, the inhab-

itants of Tuscany, the Eomans, and the Neapolitans hate

each other. None of them will acknowledge the superi-

ority of the other, and yet Rome is, from the recollections

connected with it, the natural capital of Italy. To make
it so, however, it is necessary that the power of the Pope

should be confined within limits purely spiritual. I can-

not now think of this ; but I will reflect upon it hereafter.

At present I have only vague ideas on the subject, but

they will be matured in time, and then all depends on

circumstances. What was it told me, when we were

1 The statement that the union of Italy with France was only to be

temporary shoiild be remarked ; it agrees with the promise made to Aus-

tria afterwards, in the treaty of Presburg, 26th December, 1805, after

Austerlitz, that the crowns of Italy and France were to be separated when
Naples, the Ionian Islands, and Malta were evacuated by foreign armies.

The present generation has seen this dream of the union of Italy realised,

but the abortive attempt of 1848 has shown that Napoleon was right in

the time he said he required for the completion of his plan.
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walking like two idle fellows, as we were, in the streets

of Paris, that I should one day be master of France —
my wish — merely a vague wish. Circumstances have

done the rest. It is therefore wise to look into the

future, and that I do. With respect to Italy, as it will

be impossible with one effort to unite her so as to form

a single power, subject to uniform laws, I will begin by
making her French. All these little States will insensi-

bly become accustomed to the same laws, and when man-
ners shall be assimilated and enmities extinguished, then

there will be an Italy, and I will give her independence.

But for that I must have twenty years, and who can

count on the future ? Bourrienne, I feel pleasure in

telling you all this. It was locked up in my mind.

With you I think aloud."

I do not believe that I have altered two words of what
Bonaparte said to me respecting Italy, so perfect, I may
now say without vanity, was my memory then, and so

confirmed was my habit of fixing in it all that he said to

me. After having informed me of his vague projects,

Bonaparte, with one of those transitions so common to

him, said, " By the by, Bourrienne, I have something to

tell you. Madame de Brienne has begged that I will

pass through Brienne, and I promised that I will. I will

not conceal from you that I shall feel great pleasure in

again beholding the spot which for six years was the

scene of our boyish sports and studies." Taking advan-

tage of the Emperor's good humour, I ventured to tell

him what happiness it would give me if it were possible

that I could share with him the revival of all recollec-

tions which were mutually dear to us. But Napoleon,

after a moment's pause, said with extreme kindness,

"Hark ye, Bourrienne, in your situation and mine this

cannot be. It is more than two years since we parted.

What would be said of so sudden a reconciliation ? I
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tell you frankly that I have regretted you, and the cir-

cumstances in which I have frequently been placed have

often made me wish to recall you. At Boulogne I was

quite resolved upon it. Eapp, perhaps, has informed you

of it. He liked you, and he assured me that he would

be delighted at your return. But if upon reflection I

changed my mind it was because, as I have often told

you, I wdll not have it said that I stand in need of any

one. No. Go to Hamburg. I have formed some proj-

ects respecting Germany in which you can be useful to

me. It is there I will give a mortal blow to Eng-

land. I will deprive her of the Continent,— besides, I

have some ideas not yet matured which extend much
farther. There is not sufficient unanimity amongst the

nations of Europe. European society must be regener-

ated,— a superior power must control the other powers,

and compel them to live in peace with each other ; and

France is well situated for that purpose. For details you

will receive instructions from Talleyrand ; but I recom-

mend you, above all things, to keep a strict watch on the

emigrants. Woe to them if they become too dangerous !

I know that there are still agitators,— among them all

the Marquis dc Versailles, the courtiers of the old school.

But they are moths who will burn themselves in the

candle. You have been an emigrant yourself, Bour-

rienne
;
you feel a partiality for them, and you know

that I have allowed upwards of two hundred of them to

return upon your recommendation. But the case is al-

tered. Those who are abroad are hardened. They do

not wish to return home. Watch them closely. That is

the only particular direction I give you. You are to be

Minister from France to Hamburg ; but your place will

be an independent one ; besides your correspondence

with the Minister for Foreign Affairs, I authorise you to

write to me personally, whenever you have anything par-
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ticular to communicate. You will likewise correspond

with Foucli(5."

Here the Emperor remained silent for a moment, and I

was preparing to retire, but he detained me, saying in the

kindest manner, " What, are you going already, Bour-

rienne ? Are you in a hurry ? Let us chat a little longer.

God knows when we may see each other again ! " Then
after two or three moments' silence he said, " The more I

reflect on our situation, on our former intimacy, and our

subsequent separation, the more I see the necessity of

your going to Hamburg, Go, then, my dear fellow, I

advise you. Trust me. When do you think of setting

out ? " — « In May."— " In May ? . . . Ah, I shall be in

Milan then, for I wish to stop at Turin. I like the Pied-

montese ; they are the best soldiers in Italy." — "Sire,

the King of Italy will be the junior of the Emperor of

France !
" ^ — " Ah ! so you recollect what I said one day

at the Tuileries ; but, my dear fellow, I have yet a devil-

ish long way to go before I gain my point." — " At the

rate, Sire, at which you are going, you will not be long

in reaching it."— " Longer than you imagine. I see all

the obstacles in my way ; but they do not alarm me.

England is everywliere, and the struggle is between her

and me. I see how it will be. The whole of Europe will

be our instruments ; sometimes serving one, sometimes

the other, but at bottom the dispute is wholly between

England and France.

"J. propos," said the Emperor, changing the subject,

for all who knew him are aware that this ct propos was

his favourite and, indeed, his only mode of transition,—
1 I alluded to a conversation which I had with Napoleon when we first

went to the Tuileries. He spoke to me about liis projects of royalty, and

I stated the difficulties which I thought he would experience in getting

himself acknowledged by the old reigning families of Europe. " If it comes

to that," he replied, " I will dethrone them all, and then I shall be the

oldest sovereign among them." — Bourrienne.
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" ^ propos, Bourrienne, you surely must have heard of the

departure of Jaubert^ and his mission. What is said on

the subject ? " — " Sire, I have only heard it slightly

alluded to. His father, however, to whom he said noth-

ing respecting the object of his journey, knowing I was

intimate with Jaubert, came to me to ascertain whether

I could allay his anxiety respecting a journey of the dura-

tion of which he could form no idea. The precipitate

departure of his son had filled him with apprehension.

I told him the truth, viz., that Jaubert had said no more

to me on the subject than to him." — " Then you do not

know where he is gone ? "— "I beg your pardon, Sire ; I

know very well." — " How, the devil
!

" said Bonaparte,

suddenly turning on me a look of astonishment. " No
one, I declare, has ever told me ; but I guessed it. Hav-

ing received a letter from Jaubert dated Leipsic, I recol-

lected what your Majesty had often told me of your views

respecting Persia and India. I have not forgotten our

conversation in Egypt, nor the great projects which you

unfolded to me to relieve the solitude and sometimes the

weariness of the cabinet of Cairo. Besides, I long since

knew your opinion of Am^d^e, of his fidelity, his ability,

and his courage. I felt convinced, therefore, that he had

a mission to the Shah of Persia."— " You guessed right

;

but I beg of you, Bourrienne, say nothing of this to any

person whatever. Secrecy on this point is of great impor-

tance. The English would do him an ill turn, for they

are well aware that my views are directed against their

possessions and their influence in the East." — "I think

Sire, that my answer to Am^d^e's worthy father is a suffi-

1 Amede'e Jaubert had beeu with Napoleon in Egypt, and was appointed

to the Cabinet of the Consul as secretary interpreter of Oriental languages

(see Mineral, tome i. p. 81 ). He was sent on several missions to the East,

and brought back, in 1818, goats from Thibet, naturalising in France the

manufacture of cashmeres. He became a peer of France under the Mon-

archy of July.
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cient guarantee for my discretion. Besides, it was a mere
supposition on my part, and I could have stated nothing

with certainty before your Majesty had the kindness to

inform me of the fact. . . . Instead of going to Hamburg,
if your Majesty pleases, I will join Jaubert, accompany
him to Persia, and undertake half his mission."— " How !

would you go with him?"— "Yes, Sire; I am much
attaclied to him. He is an excellent man, and I am sure

that he would not be sorry to have me with him. "—
" But . . . stop, Bourrienne, . . . this, perhaps, would
not be a bad idea. You know a little of the East. You
are accustomed to the climate. You could assist Jaubert.

. . . But . . . No. Jaubert must be already far off. I

fear you could not overtake him. And besides you have

a numerous family. You will be more useful to me in

Germany. All things considered, go to Hamburg, — you
know the country, and, what is better, you speak the

language."

I could see that Bonaparte still had something to say

to me. As we were walking up and down the room, he

stopped, and, looking at me with an expression of sadness,

he said, " Bourrienne, you must, before I proceed to Italy,

do me a service. You sometimes visit my wife, and it is

right ; it is fit you should. You have been too long one

of the family not to continue your friendship with her.

Go to her.i Endeavour once more to make her sensible

1 This employment of Bourrienne to remonstrate with Josephine is a

complete answer to the charge sometimes made that Napoleon, while scold-

ing, really encouraged the foolish expenses of his wife, as keeping her

under his control. Josephine was incorrigible. " On the very day of her

death," says Madame de Re'musat (tome ii. p. 347), " she wished to put on

a very pretty dressing-gown because she thought the Emperor of Russia

would perhaps come to see her. She died all covered with ribbons and
rose-coloured satin." " One would not, sure, be frightful when one 's dead !

"

As for Josephine's great fault— her failure to give Napoleon an heir— he

did not always wish for one. In 1802, on his brother Jerome jokingly

advising Josephine to give the Consul a little Caesar, Napoleon broke out,
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of her mad extravagance. Every day I discover new in-

stances of it, and it distresses me. When I speak to her

on the subject, I am vexed ; I get angry— she weeps.

I forgive her, I pay her bills — she makes fair promises
;

bnt the same thing occurs over and over again.^ If she

" Yes, that he may end in the .same manner as that of Alexander ? Be-

lieve me. Messieurs, that at the present time it is better not to have chil-

dren : I mean when one is condemned to rule nations " {Inng, tome ii. p.

131). The fate of the King of Rome shows that the exclamation was only

too true !

1 The Emperor estimated the expenses of Malmaison to have been three

or four hundred thousand francs. He then calculated the amount of the

sums which the Empress .Josephine must have received from him, and

added, that with a little order and regularity she might proba])ly have left

behind her fifty or sixty million francs. " Her extravagance," said tlie Em-
peror," vexed me beyond measure. Calculator as I am, I would of course

rather have given away a million francs than have seen a hundred thou-

sand squandered away." He informed me that having one day unexpectedly

broken in upon Josephine's morning circle, he found a celebrated milliner,

whom he had expressly forbidden to go near the Empress, as she was

ruining her by extravagant demands. " My unlooked-for entrance," said

he, " occasioned great dismay in the academic sitting. I gave some orders

unperceived to the individuals in attendance, and on the lady's departure

she was seized and conducted to the Bicetre " (}remonal de Sainte H^/ene).

The story of the " celebrated milliner " arrested by Bonaparte is so

amusingly told by Mademoiselle Avrillion, that we will find room for it

here ; and this we are the more inclined to do as the contrast between the

conqueror of half Europe and the persecutor of a marchande des modes is

most striking, and as the whole scene shows how Bonaparte could play the

part of the ti/ran domestiqtie.

"On another day I was witness of a scene which I should be tempted to

call ridiculous, were it not for the respect I owe to their Majesties' mem-
ories. I will report it as I saw it ; the reader will characterise it as he

thinks fit. The Empress had heen slightly indisposed ; one of the most

famous marchandes des modes of the day. Mademoiselle Despeaux, had

come to offer her services to her Majesty. She was waiting in tlie blue

salon that joined the bedroom until she should be called for. At that very

moment the Emperor came down to see the Empress, and the very first

person that struck his eye in the blue salon through which he had to pass,

was poor Mademoiselle Despeaux, armed with her bandboxes ' Who are

vou ? ' he angrily exclaimed. When, trembling all over, she had declared

her name, he ru.shed like a madman into his wife's chamber, gesticulating

and crying out ;
' Who sent for this woman ? Who brought her here ?

I insist upon knomng it.' Every one of us made an excuse for herself,
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had only borne me a child ! It is the torment of my life

not to have a child. I plainly perceive that my power

will never be firmly established until I have one. If I

die without an heir, not one of my brothers is capable of

supplying my place. All is begun, but nothing is ended.

God knows what will happen ! Go and see Josephine,

and do not forget my injunctions."

Then he resumed the gaiety which he had exhibited at

intervals during our conversation, for clouds driven by the

wind do not traverse the horizon with such rapidity as

and the fact was nobody had written to summon Mademoiselle Despeaux,

who had come of her own accord. Knowing that the Empress was ill, she

had fancied she might want some pretty neglige cap becoming to her deli-

cate state. Our denials, however, only added fuel to the fire of the Em-
peror's rage. He shouted like a maniac :

' I icill know who has done this

!

I will throw you all into prison !
' Now, at the moment of all this fury

the Empress was bound head and feet (that is to say, her coiffeur was

dressing her hair, and she was taking a foot-bath). Women, hairdresser

and all, instantly took to flight, and I was left alone in a small cabinet

adjoining the bedchamber. I confess that if I had obeyed my first im-

pulse I should have decamped like the rest, but, reflecting on the situation

in which the Empress found herself, I would not leave her all alone. The
Emperor saw me, but did not say a word to me. A few moments after he

came hastily out of the bedroom, nor had the Empress been able to calm

him. As for herself, she was treml)ling and pale, and I found her coun-

tenance sorely troubled.
" Such was the scene of which I was a witness, and now for the conse-

quences. As soon as the Emperor reached his own cabinet, he sent to

summon the Due de Rovigo (Savary), whom he ordered instantly to have

Mademoiselle Despeaux arrested by the gendarmes, and then shut up in

prison. The Duke did all he could to prevent the Emperor from commit-

ting such an act of injustice, but his representations and prayers were in

vain ; the Emperor was obstinate in his will, — the Duke forced to obey
;

poor Mademoiselle Despeaux was arrested almost as soon as she got out-

side of the palace, and carried to the greffe (a sort of police station), where

she passed the night.

" In the mean time the Empress, having been informed of this arrest,

repaired to the Emperor, who the next morning revoked his order aud re-

stored Mademoiselle Despeaux to lil)erty. It was quite time, poor thing !

for this unexpected act of rigour had caused such a revolution in that

demoiselle's condition that she fell sick aud had a dangerous illness"

(Me'moires de Mademoiselle Avrillion).
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different ideas and sensations succeeded each other in Na-

poleon's mind. He dismissed me with his usual nod of

the head, and seeing him in such good humour I said on

departing, " Well, Sire, you are going to hear the old bell

of Brienne. I have no doubt it will please you better

than the bells of Kuel." He replied, " That 's- true— you

are right. Adieu !

"

Such are my recollections of this conversation, which

lasted for more than an hour and a half. We walked

about all the time, for Bonaparte was indefatigable in au-

diences of this sort, and would, I believe, have walked and

talked for a whole day without being aware of it. I left

him, and, according to his desire, went to see Madame
Bonaparte, which indeed I had intended to do before he

requested it.

I found Josephine with Madame de la Eochefoucauld,

who had long been in her suite, and who a short time be-

fore had obtained the title of lady of honour to the Em-
press. Madame de la Rochefoucauld was a very amiable

woman, of mild disposition, and was a favourite with

Josephine. When I told the Empress that I had just left

the Emperor, she, thinking that 1 would not speak freely

before a third person, made a sign to Madame de la Roche-

foucauld to retire. I had no trouble in introducing the

conversation on the subject concerning which Napoleon

had directed me to speak to Josephine, for, after the inter-

change of a few indifferent remarks, she herself told me
of a violent scene, which had occurred between her and

the Emperor two days before. " When I wrote to you

yesterday," said she, " to announce your appointment, and

to tell you that Bonaparte would recall you, I hoped that

you w^ould come to see me on quitting him, but I did not

think that he would have sent for you so soon. Ah !

how I wish that you were still with him, Bourrienne

;

you could make him hear reason. I know not who takes
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pleasure in bearing tales to him ; but really I think there

are persons busy everywhere in finding out my debts, and

telling him of them."

These complaints, so gently uttered by Josephine, ren-

dered less difficult the preparatory mission with which I

commenced the exercise of my diplomatic functions. I

acquainted Madame Bonaparte with all that the Em-
peror had said to me. I reminded her of the affair of

the 1,200,000 francs which we had settled with half that

sum. I even dropped some allusions to the promises she

had made.
" How can I help it ? " said she. " Is it my fault ?

"

Josephine uttered these words in a tone of sincerity which

was at once affecting and ludicrous. " All sorts of beau-

tiful things are brought to me," she contmued ;
" they

are praised up ; I buy them— I am not asked for the

money, and all of a sudden, when I have got none, they

come upon me with demands for payment. This reaches

Napoleon's ears, and he gets angry. When I have money,

Bourrienne, you know how I employ it. I give it prin-

cipally to the unfortunate who solicit my assistance, and
to poor emigrants. But I will try to Be more economical

in future. Tell him so if you see him again. But is it

not my duty to bestow as much in charity as I can ?
" —

•

" Yes, Madame ; but permit me to say that nothing re-

quires greater discernment than the distribution of char-

ity. If you had always sat upon a throne, you might have

supposed that your bounty always fell into the hands of

the deserving ; but you cannot be ignorant that it oftener

falls to the lot of intriguers than to the meritorious needy.

I cannot disguise from you that the Emperor was very

earnest when he spoke on this subject ; and he desired me
to tell you so."— "Did he reproach me with nothing

else ? "— " No, Madame. You know the influence you
have over him with respect to everything but what
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relates to politics. Allow a faithful and sincere friend

to prevail upon you seriously not to vex him on this

point."
—

" Bourrienne, I give you my word. Adieu! my
friend."

In communicating to Josephine what the Emperor had
said to me I took care not to touch a chord which would
have awakened feelings far more painful to her than

even the Emperor's harsh reproof on account of her ex-

travagance. Poor. Josephine ! how I should have afflicted

her had I uttered a word of Bonaparte's regret at not hav-

ing a child. She always had a presentiment of the fate

that one day awaited her. Besides, Josephine told the

truth in assuring me that it was not her fault that she

spent as she did ; at least all the time I was with hoth of

them, order and economy were no more compatible with

her than moderation and patience with Napoleon. The
sight of the least waste put him beside himself, and that

was a sensation his wife hardly ever spared him. He
saw with irritation the eagerness of his family to gain

riches; the more he gave, the more insatiable they ap-

peared, with the exception of Louis, whose inclinations

were always upright, and his tastes moderate. As for

the other members of his family, they annoyed him so

much by their importunity that one day he said, " Eeally,

to listen to them it would be thought that I had wasted

the heritage of our father." ^

1 This story is often told, but generally the last words are said to have

been, " The inheritance of the late King our father."



CHAPTER XXXL

, 1805.

VoLTAiKE says that it is very well to kiss the feet of

Popes, provided their hands are tied. Notwithstanding

the slight estimation in which Bonaparte held Voltaire,

he probably, without being aware of this irreverent satire,

put it into practice. The Court of Rome gave him the

opportunity of doing so shortly after his Coronation. Tlie

Pope, or rather the Cardinals, his advisers, conceiving

that so great an instance of complaisance as the journey

of His Holiness to Paris ought not to go for nothing,

demanded a compensation, which, had they been better

acquainted with Bonaparte's character and policy, they

would never have dreamed of soliciting. The Holy See

demanded the restitution of Avignon, Bologna, and some
parts of the Italian territory which, had formerly been

subject to the Papal dominion. It may be imagined how
such demands were received by Napoleon, particularly

after he had obtained all he wanted from the Pope. It

was, it must be confessed, a great mistake of the Court of

Rome, whose policy is usually so artful and adroit, not

to make this demand till after the Coronation. Had
it been made the condition of the Pope's journey to

France, perhaps Bonaparte would have consented to give

up, not Avignon, certainly, but the Italian territories,

with the intention of taking them back again. V>e this as

it may, these tardy claims, which were peremptorily re-

VOL. II.— 27
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jected, created an extreme coolness between Napoleon and

Pius VII. The public did not immediately perceive it,

but there is in the public an instinct of reason which the

most able politicians never can impose upon; and all

eyes were opened when it was known that the Pope, after

having crowned Napoleon as Emperor of France, refused

to crown him as sovereign of the regenerated kingdom of

Italy.

Napoleon left Paris on the 1st of April to take posses-

sion of the Iron Crown at Milan. The Pope remained

some time longer in the French capital. The prolonged

presence of His Holiness was not without its influence on

the religious feelings of the people, so great was the re-

spect inspired by the benign countenance and mild man-
ners of the Pope. When the period of his persecutions

arrived, it would have been well for Bonaparte had Pius

VII. never been seen in Paris, for it was impossible to

view in any other light than as a victim the man whose

truly evangelic meekness had been duly appreciated.

Bonaparte did not evince great impatience to seize the

Crown of Italy, which he well knew could not escape

him. He stayed a considerable time at Turin, where he

resided in the Stupinis Palace, which may be called the

St. Cloud of the Kings of Sardinia. The Emperor cajoled

the Piedmontese. General Menou, who was made Gov-

ernor of Piedmont, remained there till Napoleon founded

the general government of tlie Transalpine departments in

favour of his brother-in-law, the Prince Borghfese, of

whom he would have found it difficult to make anything

else than a Roman Prince. Napoleon was still at Turin

when the Pope passed through that city on his return to

Eome. Napoleon had a final interview with His Holi-

ness, to whom he now affected to show the greatest per-

sonal deference. From Turin Bonaparte })roceeded to

Alessandria, where he commenced those immense works
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on which such vast sums were expended. He had many
times spoken to me of his projects respecting Alessandria,

for, as I have ah^eady observed, all his great measures as

Emperor were merely the execution of projects conceived

at a time when his future elevation could have been only

a dream of the imagination. He one day said to Berthier,

in my presence, during our sojourn at Milan, after the

battle of Marengo, " With Alessandria in my possession I

should always be master of Italy. It might be made the

strongest fortress in the world ; it is capalile of contain-

ing a garrison of 40,000 men, with provisions for six

months. Should insurrection take place, should Austria

send a formidable force here, the French troops might

retire to Alessandria, and stand a six months' siege. Six

months would be more than sufficient, wherever I might

be, to enable me to fall upon Italy rout the Austrians,

and raise the siege of Alessandria."

As he was so near the field of Marengo, the Emperor
did not fail to visit it, and to add to this solemnity he

reviewed on the field all the C(trps of French troops

which were in Italy. Kapp told me afterwards that the

Emperor had taken witli him from Paris the dress and
the hat which he wore on the day of that memorable
battle, with the intention of wearing them on the field

where it was fought. He afterwards proceeded by the

way of Casal to Milan.

There the most brilliant reception he had yet experi-

encea awaited him. His sojourn at Milan was not dis-

tinguished by outward demonstrations of enthusiasm

alone. M. Durazzo, the last Doge of Genoa, added

another gem to the Crown of Italy by supplicating the

Emperor in the name of the Republic, of which he was
the representative, to permit Genoa to exchange her in-

dependence for the honour of becoming a department of

France. This offer, as may be guessed, was merely a
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plan contrived beforeliand. It was accepted with an

air of protecting kindness, and at the same moment that

tlie country of Andrea Doria was effaced from the list of

nations, its last Doge was included among the number of

French Senators. Genoa, which formerly prided herself

in her surname, the Superb, became the chief station of

the twenty-seventh military division. The Emperor

went to take possession of the city in person, and slept in

the Doria Palace, in the bed where Charles V. had lain.

He left M. le Brun at Genoa as Governor-General.

At Milan the Emperor occupied the Palace of Monza.

The old Iron Crown of the Kings of Lombardy was

brought from the dust in which it had been buried, and

the new Coronation took place in the cathedral at Milan,

the largest in Italy, with the exception of St. Peter's at

Eome. Napoleon received the crown from the hands of

the Archbishop of Milan, and placed it on his head, ex-

claiming, " Dieu me I'a donnde, gare a qui la touche."

This became the motto of the Order of the Iron Crown,

which the Emperor founded in commemoration of his

being crowned King of Italy.

Napoleon was crowned in the month of May, 1S05 ; and

here I cannot avoid correcting some gross and inconceiv-

able errors into which Napoleon must have voluntarily

fallen at St. Helena. The " Memorial " states ''that the

celebrated singer Madame Grassini attracted his attention

at the time of the Coronation." Napoleon alleges that

Madame Grassini on that occasion said to him, " When
I was in the prime of my beauty and talent, all I wished

was that you would bestow a single look upon me. That

wish was not fulfilled, and now you notice me when I

am no longer worthy your attention."

I confess I am at a loss to conceive what could induce

Napoleon to invent such a story. He might have recol-

lected his acquaintance with Madame Grassini at Milan
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before the battle of Marengo. It was in 1800, and not in

1805, that I was first introduced to her, and I know that

I several times took tea with her and Bonaparte in the

General's apartments. I remember also another circum-

stance, which is, that on the night when I awoke Bona-

parte to announce to him the capitulation of Genoa,

Madame Grassini also awoke. Napoleon was charmed

with Madame Grassini's delicious voice, and if his im-

perious duties had permitted it, lie would have listened

with ecstasy to her singing for hours together.

Whilst Napoleon was at Milan, priding himself on his

double sovereignty, some schemes were set on foot at

Vienna and St. Petersburg wdiich I shall hereafter have

occasion to notice. The Emperor, indeed, gave cause for

just complaint by the fact of annexing Genoa to the

Empire within four months after his solemn declaration

to the Legislative Body, in which he pledged himself in

the face of France and Europe not to seek any aggran-

disement of territory. The pretext of a voluntary offer

on the part of Genoa was too absurd to deceive any one.

The rapid progress of Napoleon's ambition could not

escape the observation of the Cabinet of Vienna, which
began to show increased symptoms of hostility. The
change which was effected in the form of the Govern-

ment of the Cisalpine Eepublic was likewise an act

calculated to excite remonstrances on the part of all the

powers who were not entirely subject to the yoke of

France. He disguised the taking of Genoa under the

name of a gift, and the possession of Italy under the

appearance of a mere change of denomination. Notwith-

standing these flagrant outrages the exclusive apologists

of Napoleon have always asserted that he did not wish

for war, and he himself maintained that assertion at

St. Helena. It is said that lie was always attacked,

and hence a conclusion is drawn in favour of his love
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of peace. I acknowledge Bonaparte would never have

fired a single musket-sliot if all the powers of Europe had

submitted to be pillaged l)y him one after the other with-

out opposition. It was in fact declaring war against

them to place them under the necessity of breaking a

peace, during the continuance of which he was augment-

ing his power, and gratifying his ambition, as if in

defiance of Europe. In this way Napoleon commenced
all the wars in which he was engaged, with the excep-

tion of that which followed the peace of Marengo, and

which terminated in IMoreau's triumph at Hohenlinden.

As there was no liberty of the press in France, he found

it easy to deceive the nation. He was in fact attacked,

and thus he enjoyed the pleasure of undertaking his

great military expeditions without being responsible in

the event of failure.

During the Emperor's stay in the capital of the new
kingdom of Italy he received the first intelligence of the

dissatisfaction of Austria and Eussia. That dissatisfac-

tion was not of recent date. When I entered on my
functions at Hamburg, I learned some curious details

(which I will relate in their proper place) respecting the

secret negotiations which had been carried on for a

considerable time previously to the commencement of

hostilities. Even Prussia was no stranger to the dissat-

isfaction of Austria and Russia ; I do not mean the

King, but the Cabinet of Berlin, which was then under

the control of Chancellor Hardenberg; for the King of

Prussia had always personally declared himself in favour

of the exact observance of treaties, even when their con-

ditions were not honourable. Be that as it may, the

Cabinet of Berlin, although dissatisfied in 1805 with the

rapid progress of Napoleon's ambition, was neverthe-

less constrained to conceal its discontent, owing to the

presence of the French troops in Hanover.
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On returning from Milan the Emperor ordered the

erection of a monument on the Great St. Bernard in com-
memoration of the victory of Marengo. M. Denon, who
accompanied Napoleon, told me that he made a useless

search to discover the body of Desaix, which Bonaparte

wished to be buried beneath the monument, and that it

was at length found by General Savary. It is therefore

certain that the ashes of the brave Desaix repose on the

summit of the Alps.^

The Emperor arrived in Paris about the end of June,

and instantly set off for the camp at Boulogne. It was
now once more believed that the project of invading

1 On his return to Paris after the battle of Marengo, Napoleon resolved

to perpetuate the memory of the conquest of Italy l)y erecting, in the

hospital of the Great St. Bernard, a monument which should attest to

future ages that glorious epoch in the history of our arms. lie directed

M. Denon to go and survey the spot, and to submit to liini various plans

;

out of these he had selected one, and the building was just finished while

the Emperor was at Milan. He resolved to have it solemnly inaugurated,

and the remains of General Desaix, surrounded with the laurels amid
which he had fallen, removed thither. A small column was formed of the

deputations of different regiments of the Army of Italy, and of a civil

deputation of Italians, Avho were to proceed from Milan to the hos])ital of

Mont St. Bernard. Everything was arranged when M. Denon came to

inform the Emperor that the body of General Desaix was not to be
found. The Emperor recollected the order which he had given to me on
the field of battle at Marengo, and desired me to neglect no means for

discovering wliat had been done with it. M. Denon assured me that lie

had made many inquiries without success. I begged him to come with
me just for an hour, and conducted him straightway to the convent wliere

I had caused the body of General Desaix to ])e deposited. The monastery
had been secularised ; one of the monks only was left there ; at the first

question he comprehended what I wanted ; he took me into a little

sacristy, contiguous to a chapel, and there I found the body of General
Desaix, in the same place, and in the same state, in wliicli I had left it

some years before, after having had it emb.almed, then put into a leaden
coffin, then into one of copper, and lastly, the wliole enclosed in a wooden
one. M. Denon rejoiced at tliis discovery, for lie was afraid that he
should 1)6 obliged to perform the ceremony without the remains of the
illustrious General who was the object of it. Since that time General
Desaix has reposed in the church of Mont St. Bernard {Memoirs of the

Due de Roi-i(jo, tome ii. jj. 12.3).
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England would be accomplished. This idea obtained

the greater credit because Bonaparte caused some ex-

periments for embarkation to be made in his presence.

These experiments, however, led to no result. About
this period a fatal event but too effectually contributed

to strengthen the opinion of the inferiority of our navy.

A French squadron, consisting of fifteen ships, fell in

with the English fleet commanded by Adndval Calder,

who had only nine vessels under his command, and in an

engagement, which there was every reason to expect

would terminate in our favour, we had the misfortune to

lose two ships. The invasion of England was as little

the object of this as of the previous journey to Bou-

logne ; all Napoleon had in view was to stimulate the

enthusiasm of the troops, and to hold out those threats

against England which he conceived necessary for divert-

ing attention from the real motive of his hostile prepara-

tions, which was to invade Germany and repulse the

Russian troops, who had begun their march towards

Austria. Such was the true object of Napoleon's last

journey to Boulogne.

I had been some time at Hamburg when these events

took place, and it was curious to observe the effect they

produced. But I must not forget one circumstance in

which I am personally concerned, and which brings me
back to the time when I was in Paris. My new title of

Minister Plenipotentiary obliged me to see a little more

of society than during the period when prudence required

me to live as it were in retirement. I had received sin-

cere congratulations from Duroc, Eapp, and Lauriston,

the three friends who had shown the greatest readiness

to serve my interests with the Emperor ; and I had fre-

quent occasion to see M. Talleyrand, as my functions

belonged to his department. The Emperor, on my fare-

well audience, having informed me that I was to corre-
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spond directly with the Minister of the General Police,

I called on Fouchd, who invited me to spend some days

at his estate of Pont-Carr(5. I accepted the invitation

because I wanted to confer with him, and I spent Sunday

and Monday, the 28th and 29th of April, at Pont-Carrd.

Fouche, like the Emperor, frequently revealed what he

intended to conceal ; but he had such a reputation for

cunning that this sort of indiscretion was attended by
no inconvenience to him. He was supposed to be such a

constant dissembler that those who did not know him
well looked upon the truth when he spoke it merely as

an artful snare laid to entrap them. I, however, knew
that celebrated person too well to confound his cunning

with his indiscretion. The best way to get out of him
more than he was aware of was to let him talk on with-

out interruption. There were very few visitors at Pont-

Carre, and during the two days I spent there I had

several conversations with Fouchd. He told me a great

deal about the events of 1804, and he congratulated

himself on having advised Napoleon to declare himself

Emperor. " I have no preference,'' says Fouchd, " for one

form of government more than another. Forms signify

nothing. The first object of the Revolution was not

the overthrow of the Bourbons, but merely the reform

of abuses and the destruction of prejudices. However,

when it was discovered that Louis XVI. had neither

firmness to refuse what he did not wish to grant, nor

good faith to grant what his weakness had led him
to promise, it was evident that the Bourbons could no

longer reign over France ; and things were carried to

such a length that we were under the necessity of con-

demning Louis XVI. and resorting to energetic measures.

You know all that passed up to the 18th Brumaire, and

after. We all perceived that a Republic could not exist

in France ; the question, therefore, was to insure the
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perpetual removal of the Bourbons ; and I believed the

only means for so doing was to transfer the inheritance

of their throne to another family. Some time before the

18th Brumaire I had a conversation with Siey^s and
Barras, in which it was proposed, in case of the Directory

being threatened, to recall the Duke of Orleans ; and I

could see very well that Barras favoured that suggestion,

although he alluded to it merely as a report that was
circulated about, and recommended me to pay attention

to it. Sieyes said nothing, and I settled the question by

observing, that if any such thing had been agitated I

must have been informed of it through the reports of my
agents. I added, that the restoration of the throne to a

collateral branch of the Bourbons would be an impolitic

act, and would but temporarily change the position of

those who had brought about the Eevolution. I rendered

an account of this interview with Barras to General

Bonaparte the first time I had an opportunity of convers-

ing with him after your return from Egypt. I sounded

him, and I was perfectly convinced that in the state of

decrepitude into which the Directory had fallen he was
just the man we wanted. I therefore adopted such meas-

ures with the police as tended to promote his elevation

to the First Magistracy. He soon showed himself un-

grateful, and instead of giving me all his confidence he

tried to outwit me. He put into the hands of a number
of persons various matters of police which were worse

than useless. Most of their agents, who were my crea-

tures, obeyed my instructions in their reports ; and it

often happened that the First Consul thought he had

discovered, through the medium of others, information

that came from me, and of the falsehood of which I

easily convinced him. I confess I was at fault on the

3d Nivose ; but are there any human means of prevent-

ing two men, who have no accomplices, from bringing a
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plot to execution? You saw the First Consul on his

return from the opera ; you heard all his declamations.

I felt assured that the infernal machine was the work of

the Eoyalists. I told the Emperor this, and he was, I am
sure, convinced of it ; but he, nevertheless, proscribed

a number of men on the mere pretence of their old

opinions. Do you suppose I am ignorant of wliat he said

of me and of my vote at the National Convention ? Most
assuredly it ill becomes him to reproach the Conven-
tionists. It was that vote which placed the crown upon
his head. But for the situation in which we were placed

by that event, which circumstances had rendered inevi-

table, what should we have cared for the chance of see-

ing the Bourbons return ? You must have remarked
that the Eepublicans, who were not Conventionists, were

in general more averse than we to the proceedings of the

18th Brumaire, as, for example, Bernadotte and Moreau.

I know positively that Moreau was averse to the Con-

sulate ; and that it was only from irresolution that he

accepted the custody of the Directory. I know also

that he excused himself to his prisoners for the duty

which had devolved upon him. They themselves told

me tliis."

Fouchd entered further into many details respecting

his conduct, and the motives which had urged him to do
what he did in favour of the First Consul. My memory
does not enable me to report all he told me, but I dis-

tinctly recollect that the impression made on my mind
by what fell from him was, that he had acted merely

with a view to his own interests, He did not conceal his

satisfaction at having outwitted Eegnier, and obliged

Bonaparte to recall him. That he set in motion every

spring calculated to unite the conspirators, or rather to

convert the discontented into conspirators, is evident from

the following remarks which fell from him :
" With the
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information I possessed, had I remained in office it is

probable that I miglit have prevented the conspiracy
;

but Bonaparte would still have had to fear the rivalry of

Moreau. He would not have been Emperor, and we
should still have had to dread the return of the Bourbons,

of which, thank God, there is now no fear."

During my stay at Pont-Carr^ I said but little to Fouch^
about my long audience with the Emperor. However, I

thoueht I mi^ht inform him that I was authorised to cor-

respond directly with his Majesty. I thought it useless

to conceal this fact, since he would soon learn it through

his agents. I also said a few words about Bonaparte's

regret at not having children. My object was to learn

Fouch^'s opinion on this subject, and it was not without

a feeling of indignation that I heard him say, " It is to be

hoped the Empress will soon die. Her death will remove

many difficulties. Sooner or later he must take a wife

who will bear him a child ; for as long as he has no direct

heir there is every chance that his death will be the signal

for a Eevolution. His brothers are perfectly incapable of

filling his place, and a new party would rise up in favour

of the Bourbons; which must be prevented above all

things. At present they are not dangerous, though they

still have active and devoted agents. Altona is full of

them, and you will be surrounded by them. I beg of you

to keep a watchful eye upon them, and render me a strict

account of all their movements, and even of their most

trivial actions. As they have recourse to all sorts of dis-

guises, you cannot be too vigilant ; therefore it will be

advisable, in the first place, to establish a good system

of espionage ; but have a care of the spies who serve both

sides, for they swarm in G-ermany."

This is all I recollect of my conversations with Fouchd

at Pont-Carrd. I returned to Paris to make preparations

for my journey to Hamburg.



CHAPTER XXXII.

1805.

I LEFT Paris on the 20th of Maj, 1805. On the 5th of

June following, I delivered my credentials to the Senate

of Hamburg, which was represented by the Syndic Door-

mann and the Senator Schutte. M. Reinhart, my prede-

cessor, left Hamburg on the 12th of June.^

The reigning Dukes of Mecklenburg-Schwerin and
Brunswick, to whom I had announced my arrival as

accredited IMinister to them, wrote me letters recognising

me in that character.

General Walmoden had just signed the capitulation of

Sublingen with Marshal Mortier, who had the command
in Hanover. The English Government refused to ratify

this, because it stipulated that the troops should be pris-

oners of war. Bonaparte had two motives for relaxing

this hard condition. He wished to keep Hanover as a

compensation for Malta, and to assure the means of em-
barrassing and attacking Prussia, which he now began to

distrust. By advancing upon Prussia he would secure his

left, so that when convenient he might march northward.

1 Corate Alexandre de Puymaigre, who was sent to Haniburg' iu 1811,

says (Souvenirs, p. 135) :
" Iu treating of the persons I knew at Hamburg,

I recollect the judgment which M. de Bourrienne pronounces ou some of

them in his 'Memoirs,' and I must ajlow that iu general his assertions

are well-founded. This former companion of Napoleon lias only forgotten

to mention the opinion entertained of him iu this town. The fact is tliat

he was believed to have made his money tliere, as also was Marshal Brune.

This belief was as strong as the esteem that was entertained for Marshal

Bernadotte, since, as the soldiers say, promoted King of Sweden."
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Mortier, therefore, recsived orders to reduce the conditions

of the capituhition to the surrender of the arms, baggage,

artillery, and horses. England, which was making great

efforts to resist the invasion with which she thought

herself threatened, expended considerable sums for the

transport of the troops from Hanover to England. Her
precipitation was indescriljable, and she paid the most
exorbitant charges for the hire of ships. Several houses

in Hamburg made fortunes on this occasion.

Experience has long since proved that it is not at their

source that secret transactions are most readily known.

The intelligence of an event frequently resounds at a dis-

tance, while the event itself is almost entirely unknovfn

in the place of its occurrence. The direct influence of

political events on commercial speculations renders mer-

chants exceedingly attentive to what is going on. All

who are engaged in commercial pursuits form a corpora-

tion united by the strongest of all bonds, common inter-

est ; and commercial correspondence frequently presents

a fertile field for observation, and affords much valu-

able information, which often escapes the inquiries of

Government agents.

I resolved to form a connection with some of the mer-

cantile houses which maintained extensive and frequent

communications with the Northern States. I knew that

by obtaining their confidence I might gain a knowledge

of all that was going on in Eussia, Sweden, England, and

Austria. Among the subjects u2:)on which it was desirable

to obtain information I included negotiations, treaties, mil-

itary measures,— such as recruiting troops beyond the

amount settled for the peace establishment, movements
of troops, the formation of camps and magazines, financial

operations, the fitting-out of ships, and many other things,

which, though not important in themselves, frequently

lead to the knowledge of what is important.
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I was not inclined to place reliance on all public re-

ports and gossiping stories circulated on the Exchange
without close investigation ; for I wished to avoid trans-

mitting home as truths what might frequently be mere
stock-jobbing inventions. I was instructed to keep watch
on the emigrants, who were exceedingly numerous in

Hamburg and its neighbourhood, Mecklenburg, Hanover,

Brunswick, and Holstein ; but I must observe that my
inspection was to extend only to those who were known
to be actually engaged in intrigues and plots.

I was also to keep watch on the state of the public

mind, and on the journals which frequently give it a

wrong direction, and to point out those articles in the

journals which I thought censurable. At first I merely

made verbal representations and complaints, but I could

not always confine myself to this course. I received such

distinct and positive orders that, in spite of myself, in-

spection w^as speedily converted into oppression. Com-
plaints against the journals filled one fourth of my
despatches.

As the Emperor wished to be made acquainted with

all that was printed against him, I sent to Paris, in May,
1805, and consequently a very few days after my arrival in

Hamburg, a pamphlet by the celebrated Kotzebue, entitled

" Kecollections of my Journey to Xaples and Rome." This

publication, which was printed at Berlin, was full of in-

decorous attacks and odious allusions on the Emperor.

I was informed at that time, through a certain channel,

that the Emperor Alexander had solicited General jVIoreau

to enter his service, and take the command of tlie Russian

infantry. He offered him 12,000 roubles to defray his

travelling expenses. At a subsequent period Moreau un-

fortunately accepted these offers, and died in the enemy's

ranks.

On the 27th of June M. Bouligny arrived at' Hamburg.
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He was appointed to supersede M. d'Ocariz at Stockholm.

The latter minister had left Hamburg on the 11th of June
for Constantinople, where he did not expect to stay three

months. I had several long conversations with him be-

fore his departure, and he did not appear to be satisfied

with his destination. We frequently spoke of the King

of Sweden, whose conduct M. d'Ocariz blamed. He was,

he said, a young madman, who, without reflecting on the

change of time and circumstances, wished to play the

part of Gustavus Adolphus, to whom he bore no resem-

blance but in name. M. d'Ocariz spoke of the King of

Sweden's camp in a tone of derision. That Prince had

returned to the King of Prussia the cordon of tlie Black

Eaoie because the order had been given to the Pirst Con-

sul. I understood that Frederick William was very

much offended at this proceeding, which was as indecorous

and absurd as the return of the Golden Fleece by Louis

XVIII. to the King of Spain was dignified and proper.^

Gustavus Adolphus was Ijrave, enterprising, and chival-

rous, but inconsiderate and irascible. He called Bonaparte

Monsieur NapoUon. His follies and reverses in Hanover

were without doubt the cause of his abdication. On the

1 Of Gustavus IV. Napoleou spoke in the following terms at St.

Helena :
—

" That Prince," he said, " on his appearance in life announced himself

as a hero, and terminated his career merely as a madman. He distin-

guished himself in his early days by some very remarkable traits. While

yet under age lie was seen to insult Catherine by the refusal of her grand-

daughter, at the very moment, too, when that great Emjiress, seated on

her throne and surrounded by her Court, only awaited for him to celebrate

the marriage ceremony. At a later period he iusulted Alexander in no

less marked a wav In- refusing, after Paul's death, to allow one of tlie new
Emperor's officers to enter his territory, and by answering to the official

complaints addressed to him on the subject that Alexander ought not to

be disjdeased that he, Gustavus, who still deplored the assassination of his

father, should close the entrance of his States against one of those accused

by the puldic voice of having immolated his (Alexander's) " {Memorial de

Sainte Htlene).



1805. DANGEROUS AND ILL-DISPOSED MEN. 433

31st of October, 1805, he published a dechiratiou of war
against Frauce in language highly insulting to the

Emperor.

Fouch^ overwhelmed me with letters. If I had
attended to all his instructions, I should have left nobody
unmolested. He asked me for information respecting a

man named Lazoret, of the department of Gard, a girl,

named Eosine Zimbenni, having informed the police that

he had been killed in a duel at Hamburg. I replied that

I knew but of four Frenchmen who had been killed in

that way ; one, named Clement, was killed by Tarasson ; a

second, named Duparc, killed by Lezardi ; a third, named
Sadremont, killed by Eevel ; and a fourth, wliose name I

did not know, killed by Lafond. This latter had just

arrived at Hamburg when he was killed, but he was not

the man sought fur.

Lafond was a native of Brabant, and had served in the

British army. He insulted the Frenchman because he

wore the national cockade. A duel was the consequence,

and the offended party fell. M. Eeinhart, my predecessor,

wished to punish Lafond, but, the Austrian Minister hav-

ing claimed him as the subject of his sovereign, he was
not molested. Lafond took refuge in Antwerp, where he

became a player.

During the first months which succeeded my arrival in

Hamburg I received orders for the arrest of many persons,

almost all of whom were designated as dangerous and ill-

disposed men. When I was convinced that the accusa-

tion was groundless, I postponed the arrest. The matter

was then forgotten, and nobody complained.

A title, or a rank in foreign service, was a safeguard

against the Paris inquisition. Of this the following is an

instance. Count Gimel, of whom I shall hereafter have

occasion to speak more at length, set out aljout this time

for Carlsbad. Count Grote, the Prussian Minister, fre-

VOL. II. — 28
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quently spoke to me of him. On my expressing appre-

liensiou that M. de Gimel might be arrested, as there was
a strong prejudice against him, M. Grote replied, "Oh!
there is no fear of that. He will return to Hamburg
with the rank of an English colonel."

On the 17th of July there appeared in the "Correspon-

dant " an article exceedingly insulting to France. It had

been inserted by order of Baron Novozilzow, who was at

Berlin, and who had become very hostile to France,

though it was said he had been sent from St. Petersburg

on a specific mission to Napoleon. The article in ques-

tion was transmitted from Berlin by an extraordinary

courier, and Xovozilzow in his note to the Senate said it

might be stated that the article was inserted at the re-

quest of His Britannic Majesty. The Eussian Minister

at Berlin, M. Alopceus, despatched also an estofctte to the

Russian charge d'affaires at Hamburg, with orders to

apply for the insertion of the article, which accordingly

appeared. In obedience to the Emperor's instructions, I

complained of it, and the Senate replied that it never op-

posed the insertion of an official note sent by any Govern-

nient ; that insults would redound against those from

whom they came ; that the reply of the French Govern-

ment would be published ; and that the Senate had never

deviated from this mode of proceeding.

I observed to the Senate that I did not understand why
the " Correspondant " should make itself the trumpet of M.
Novozilzow; to which the Syndic replied, that two great

powers, which might do them much harm, had required

the insertion of the article, and that it could not be

refused.^

1 The circulation of the " Hamhurjif Correspondant " at that time was
27,000. At a hiter period it amounted to 60,000. It was a well-conducted

and cheap jmirual, and was read in all parts of Germany. It was, at tiie

time here alluded to, the most effective medium of publicity. — Bourrienne.
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The hatred felt by the foreign Princes which the death

of the Due d'Enghien had considerably increased, gave
encouragement to the publication of everything hostile to

Napoleon. This was candidly avowed to me Ijy the Min-
isters and foreigners of rank, whom I saw in Hamburg.
The King of Sweden was most violent in manifesting the

indignation wliich was generally excited by the death of

the Due d' Enghien. M. Wetterstadt, who had succeeded

M. La Gerbielske in the Cabinet of Stockholm, sent to

the Swedish Mmister at Hamburg a long letter exceed-

ingly insulting to Napoleon. It was in reply to an article

inserted in the '•' Moniteur " respecting the return of the

Black Eagle to the King of Prussia. M. Peyron, the

Swedish Minister at Hamburg, who was very far from
approving all that his master did, transmitted to Stock-

holm some very energetic remarks on the ill effect which
would be produced by the insertion of the article in the
" Correspondant." The article was then a little modified,

and M. Peyron received formal orders to get it inserted.

However, on my representations the Senate agreed to

suppress it, and it did not appear.

Marshal Bernadotte, who had the command of the

French troops in Hanover, kept up a friendly correspond-

ence with me unconnected with the duties of our respec-

tive functions.

On the occupation of Hanover Mr. Taylor, the English

Minister at Cassel, was obliged to leave that place ; but

he soon returned in spite of the opposition of France.

On this subject the Marshal furnished me with the fol-

lowing particulars ;
—

I have just received, my dear Bourrienne, information which
leaves no doubt of wliat has taken place at Cassel with respect

to Mr. Taylor. That Minister has been received in spite of the

representations of M. Bignon, which, however, had previously

been merely verbal. I know that the Elector wrote to London
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to request tliat Mr. Taylor should not return. In answer to

this the English Government sent him back. Our Minister has

done everything he could to ol)tain his dismissal ; but the pe-

cuniary interests of the Elector have triumphed over every other

consideration. He would not ri.sk quarrelling with the Court

from whicli he expects to receive moie than 12,000,000 francs.

The British Government has been written to a second time, but

without effect. The Elector himself, in a private letter, has

requested the King of England to recall Mr. Taylor, but it is

very probable that the Cabinet of Lnndon will evade this

request.

Under these circumstances our troops have approached nearer

to Cassel. Hitherto the wliole district of Gottingen had been

exempt from quartering troops. New arrangements, rendered

necessary by the scarcity of forage, have obliged lue to send a

squadron of chasseurs a cheval to Munden, a little town four

leagues from Cassel. This movement excited some alarm in

the Elector, who expressed a wish to see things restored to the

same footing as before. He has requested M. Bignon to write to

me, and to assure me again that he will be delighted to become

acquainted with me at the waters of Xemidorff, where he in-

tends to spend some time. But on this subject I shall not

alter the determination I have already mentioned to you.

Yours, etc.,

(Signed) Bernadotte,

Stade, 10th Thermidor (29th July, 1805).
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1805.

At the beginning of August, 1805, a treaty of alliance

between Russia and England was spoken of. Some per-

sons of consequence, who had the means of knowing all

that was going on in the political world, had read this

treaty, the principal points of which were communicated

to me.

Article 1st stated that the object of the alliance was to

restore the balance of Europe. By art. 2d the Emperor
of Russia was to place 36,000 men at the disposal of

England. Art. 3d stipulated that neither of the two
powers would consent to treat with France, nor to lay

down arms until the King of Sardinia should either be

restored to his dominions or receive an equivalent indem-

nity in the northeast of Italy. By art. 4th Malta was

to* be evacuated by the English, and occupied by the

Russians. By art. 5th the two powers were to guarantee

the independence of the Republic of the Ionian Isles,

and England was to pledge herself to assist Russia in

her war against Persia. If this plan of a treaty, of the

existence of which I was informed on unquestionable

authority, had been brought to any result,^ it is impos-

sible to calculate what might have been its consequences.

At that time an immediate Continental war was con-

fidently expected by every person in the Xorth of Eu-

^ The provisious iu regard to ^lalta aud Persia at once rendered this

impossible.
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rope ; and it is very certain that, had not Xapoleon taken

the hint in time and renounced his absurd schemes at

Boulogne, France would have stood in a dangerous

situation.

M. Forshmann, the Eussian charge d'affaires, was in-

triguing to excite the North of Europe against France.

He repeatedly received orders to obtain the insertion of

irritating articles in the " Correspondant." He was an

active, intriguing, and spiteful little man, and a declared

enemy of France ; but fortunately his stupidity and

vanity rendered him less dangerous than he wished to

be. He was universally detested, and he would have

lost all credit but that the extensive trade carried on

between Eussia and Hamburg forced the inhabitants and

magistrates of that city to bear with a man who might

have done them, individually, considerable injury.

The recollection of Duroc's successful mission to Ber-

lin during the Consulate induced Napoleon to believe

that that General might appease the King of Prussia,

who complained seriously of the violation of the terri-

tory of Anspach, which Bernadotte, in consequence of

the orders he received, had not been able to respect.

Duroc remained about six weeks in Berlin.

The following letter from Duroc will show that the

facility of passing through Hesse seemed to excuse the

second violation of the Prussian territory ; but there was

a great difference between a petty Prince of Hesse and

the King of Prussia.

" I send yon, my dear Bourrienne, two despatches, which I

have received for you. M. de Talleyrand, who sends them,

desires me to request that you will transmit General Victor's

by a sure conveyance.
" I do not yet know whether I shall stay long in Berlin. By

the last accounts I received the Emperor is still in Paris, and

numerous forces are assembling on the Khine. The hopes of
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peace are vanishing every day, and Austria does everything to

promote war.

"I liave received accounts from Marshal Berna(h)tte. He has

effected his passage tli rough Hesse. Marshal Bernadotte was

much pleaseil witli the courtesy he experienced from the

Electoi'."

The junction of the corps commanded by Bernadotte

with the army of the Emperor was very important, and
Napoleon therefore directed the Marshal to come up
with him as speedily as possible, and by the shortest

road. It was necessary he should arrive in time for the

battle of Austerlitz. Gustavus, King of Sweden, who
was always engaged in some enterprise, wished to raise

an army composed of Swedes, Prussians, and English

;

and certainly a vigorous attack in the north would have

prevented Bernadotte from quitting the banks of the

Elbe and the Weser, and reinforcing the Grand Army
which was marching on Vienna. But the King of

Sweden's coalition produced no other result than the

siege of the little fortress of Hameln. Prussia would

not come to a rupture with France, the King of Sweden
was abandoned, and Bonaparte's resentment against him
increased. This abortive project of Gustavus contributed

not a little to alienate the affections of his subjects, who
feared that they might be the victims of the revenge

excited by the extravagant plans of their King, and the

insults he had heaped upon Napoleon, particularly since

the death of the Due d'Enghien.

On the 13th of September, 1805, I received a letter

from the Minister of Police soliciting information about

Swedish Pomerania.

Astonished at not obtaining from the commercial Con-

suls at Lubeck and Stettin any accounts of the move-

ments of the Russians, I had sent to those ports, four

days before the receipt of the Police Minister's letter, a
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confidential agent, to observe the IJaltic : thongli we
were only 64 leagues from Stralsund, the most uncertain

and contradictory accounts came to hand. It was, how-

ever, certain that a landing of the Eussians was expected

at Stralsund, or at Travemiinde, the port of Luheck, at

the mouth of the little river Trave. I was positively

informed that Eussia had freighted a considerable num-
ber of vessels for those ports.

The hatred of the French continued to increase in the

Xorth of Europe. About the end of September there

appeared at Kiel, in Denmark, a libellous pamphlet,

which was bought and read with inconceivable avidity.

This pamphlet, wdiich w^as very ably written, was the

production of some fanatic who openly preached a cru-

sade against France. The author regarded the blood of

millions of men as a triiling sacrifice for the great object

of humiliating France and bringing her back to the limits

of the old monarchy. This pamphlet was circulated ex-

tensively in the German departments united to France,

in Holland, and in Switzerland. The number of incen-

diary publications which everywhere abounded indicated

but too plainly that if the nations of the north should

lie driven back towards the Arctic regions they would in

their turn repulse their conquerors towards the south

;

and no man of common sense could doubt that if the

French eagles were planted in foreign capitals, foreign

standards would one day wave over Paris.

On the 30th of September, 1805, I received, by an

edafttte, intelligence of the landing at Stralsund of 6,000

Swedes, who had arrived from Stockholm in two ships

of war.

About the end of September the Hamburg exchange

on Paris fell alarmingly. The loss was twenty per cent.

The fall stopped at seventeen below par. The speculation

for this fall of the exchange had been made witli equal
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imprudence and animosity by the house of Osy and Com-
pany. The head of that house, a Dutch emigrant, who
had been settled at Hamburg about six years, seized

every opportunity of manifesting his hatred of France.

An agent of that rich house at Eotterdam was also very

hostile to us,— a circumstance which shows that if many
persons sacrifice their political opinions to their interests

there are others who endanger their interests for the

triumph of their opinions.

On the 23d of October, 1805, I received official intelli-

gence of the total destruction of the first Austrian Army.
General Barbou, who was in Hanover, also informed me
of that event in the following terms : "The first Austrian

Army has ceased to exist." He alluded to the brilliant

affair of Ulm. I immediately despatched twelve estafcttes

to different parts ; among other places to Stralsund and
Husum. I thought that these prodigies, which must have

been almost incredible to those who were unacquainted

with -Napoleon's military genius, might arrest the progress

of the Russian troops, and produce some change in the

movements of the enemy's forces. A second edition of

the " Correspondant " *vas published with this intel-

ligence, and 6,000 copies were sold at four times the

usual price.

I need not detain the reader with the details of the

capitulation of Ulm, which have already been published,

but I may relate the following anecdote, wdiicli is not

generally known. A French general passing before the

ranks of his men said to them, " Well, comrades, we have
prisoners enough here."— " Yes, indeed," replied one of

the soldiers, " we never saw so many . . . collected to-

gether before." It was stated at the time, and I believe

it, that the Emperor w^as much displeased when he

heard 'of this, and remarked that it was "atrocious to

insult brave men to whom the fate of arms had proved

unfavourable."
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In reading the history of this period we find that in

whatever place Napoleon happened to be, there was the

central point of action. The affairs of Europe were ar-

ranged at his headquarters in the same manner as if he

had been in Paris. Everything depended on his good or

bad fortune. Espionage, seduction, false promises, exac-

tions,— all were put in force to promote the success of

kis projects ; but his despotism, which excited dissatis-

faction in France, and his continual aggressions, which

threatened the independence of foreign States, rendered

him more and more unpopular everywhere.

The battle of Trafalgar took place while Napoleon was
marching on Vienna, and on the day after the capitulation

of Ulm. The southern coast of Spain then witnessed an

engagement between thirtv-one French and about an

equal number of English ships, and in spite of this

equality of force the Frencli fleet was destroyed.^

This great battle aff"orded another proof of our naval

inferiority. Admiral Calder first gave us the lesson which

Nelson completed, but which cost the latter his life. Ac-

cording to the reports which Duroc transmitted to me,

courage gave momentary hope to the French ; but they

were at length forced to yield to the superior naval tac-

tics of the enemy. The battle of Trafalgar paralysed our

naval force, and banished all hope of any attempt against

England.^

The favour which the King of Prussia had shown to

1 The actual force.s present were 27 English ships of the line, and

33 Franco-Spanish ships of the line ; see James' " Naval History," vol, iii.

p. 459.

2 On receiving the dismal news of the annihilation of his fleet at

Trafalgar, Bonaparte is reported to have said, " I cannot be everywhere."

Just as if he could have clianged the fate of the day— lie, who knew
nothing of naval tactics ! It lias been well remarked on this point tliat

the presence of Bonaparte at Trafalgar w(juld have had about as much
influence as Nelson mounted on lu)rseback could have produced in the

land fights of Marengo and Austerlitz.— Editor of 183G edition.
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Diiroc was withdrawn when his Majesty received intelli-

gence of the march of Jjernadotte's troops through tlie

Margravate of Anspach. All accounts concurred respect-

ing the just umbrage whicli that violation of territory

occasioned to the King of Prussia. The agents whom I

had in that quarter overwhelmed me with reports of the

excesses committed by the French in passing through the

Margravate. A letter I received from Duroc contains

the following remarks on this subject :

'
—

"The corps of Marshal Bernadotte has passed through Anspach,

and by some misunderstanding t])is has been regarde<l at BerHn

as an insult to the King, a violence committed upon his neutral-

ity. How can it be supposed, especially under present cir-

cumstances, that tlie Emperor could have any intention of

insulting or committing violence upon liis friend i Besides, the

reports have been exaggerated, and liave been made by persons

who wish to favour our enemies rather than us. However, I

am perfertly aware that Marshal Reniadotte's 70,000 men are

not 70,000 virgins. Be this as it may, the business might have

been fatal, and will, at all events, be very injurious to us.

Laforest and J are treated very harshly, though we do not

deserve it. All the idle stories that have been got up here

1 The igiiolile and ludicrous behaviour of Prussia at this time can he

well seen in the correspondence of ^letternich (vol. ii. pp. 20-142). While

Austria was urging her to join tlie Allies, and Kussia was preparing to

force her hand by violating her territory. Napoleon calmly marched his

troops across her frontier. He had crushed Austria while Prussia was
slowly preparing to march to attack the French. Finally, Prussia had to

cede Anspach and Neufchatel, Valengin, Cleves, etc., to France, receiving

in exchange Hanover, the possession of her ally the King of England.

Napoleon did not even pay the empty compliment of waiting for the

ratification of the treaty by Prussia, but occupied the ceded districts at

once. The whole affair is a good instance of tlie siiameless greed, ir-

resolution, and jealousy of the Continental powers which made it easy for

Na])o]eon to cru-sh them in detail. The reader, accustomed to hear of the

so-called grand uprising of the Germans in 181.3, when with superior num-
bers they forced the young French recruits back from Germany, should

note how it was the French ever came to dominate over Germauv.
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must have reached you. Probably Prussia will not forget that

France was, ami still may be, the only power interested in her

glory and aggramlisoment."

At the end of October the King of Prussia, far from
thinking of war, Init in case of its occurrence wishing to

clieck its disasters as far as possible, proposed to establish

a line of neutrality. This was the first idea of the Con-
federation of the North.i Duroc, fearing lest the Eus-
sians should enter Hamburg, advised me, as a friend, to

adopt precautions. But I was on the spot ; I knew all

the movements of the little detached corps, and I was
under no apprehension.

The editor of the " Hamburg Correspondant " sent me
every evening a proof of the number which was to appear

next day,— a favour vjJiich vjas granted only to the

French Minister? On the 20th of November I received

the proof as usual, and saw nothing objectionable in it.

How great, therefore, was my astonishment wlien next

1 The "Confederation flu Nord," which was projected in 1806, after the

formation of tlie Confederation du Riiin, was to liave been composed of

Prussia, Saxony, Hesse, and tlie Hanse towns. The ]jlan was never

carried out.

2 This is literally true. Metternich, writing in 1805, says that he has

sent an article to the newspapers at Berlin and to M. de Hofer at Ham-
burg. " I do not icnow whether it has l)een accepted by tlie editors, for

M. Bourrienne still exercises an authority so severe over tliese journals

that they are always submitted to him before they ajjpear, tliat he may
erase or alter the articles wliich do not please him" (Metternich, tome ii.

p. 96). In another place (tome ii. p. 227) he says " the newspapers are

worth to Xapoleon an army of 300,000 men, for such a force would not

overlook the interior better, or frighten foreign powers more, than half a
dozen of his paid pamplileteers." Sometimes the press was used to make
it seem as if the assurances of the hostile powers were believed. Thus
before the Ulm campaign the " Moniteur" solemnly announced: "The
Bussians continue their preparations nr/dinsf the Persians." The German
papers themselves often took the French side :

" Onr journalists take up
the cause of the tyrant and of the ' Grande Nation ' either from meanness,

stupidity, fear, or for gold. I need only name Woltinann, Archenholz,
Voss, and Bucholz " (J/e/HOiVs of Perthes, vol. i. p. 143).
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morning I read in the same journal an article personally

insulting to the Emperor, and in which the legitimate

sovereigns of Europe were called upon to undertake a

crusade against tlie usurper ! etc. I immediately sent

for M. Doormann, first Syndic of the Senate of Hamburg.

When he appeared, his mortified look sufficiently informed

me that he knew what I had to say to him. I reproached

him sharply, and asked him how, after all I had told him
of tlie Emperor's susceptibility, he could permit the in-

sertion of sucli an article. I observed to him that this

indecorous diatribe had no official character, since it had

no signature ; and that, therefore, he had acted in direct

opposition to a decree of the Senate, which prohibited the

insertion in the journals of any articles which were not

signed. I told him plainly that his imprudence might be

attended with serious consequences. M. Doorman did not

attempt to justify himself, but merely explained to me
how the thing had happened. On the 20th of November,

at ten in the evening, M. Forshmann, the Kussian charge

d'affaires, who had in the course of the day arrived from

the Russian headquarters, presented to the editor of the

" Correspondant " tlie article in question. The editor,

after reading the article, which he thought exceedingly

indecorous, observed to M. Forshmann that his paper was
already made up,— which was the fact, for I had seen a

proof. M. Forshmann, however, insisted on the insertion

of the article. The editor then told him that he could

not admit it without the approbation of the Syndic

Censor. M. Forshmann immediately waited upon M.
Doormann, and when the latter begged that he would
not insist on the insertion of the article, M. Forshmann
produced a letter written in French, which, among other

things, contained the following :
" You will get the en-

closed article inserted in the ' Correspondant ' without

suh'ering a single word to be altered. Should the censor
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refuse, you must fipply to the directing Burgomaster, and,

in case of his refusal, to General Tolstoy, who will devise

some means of rendering the Senate more complying, and
forcing it to observe an impartial deference."

M. Doormann, thinking he could not take upon him-
self to allow the insertion of the article, went, accom-

panied by M. Forshmann, to wait upon M. Von Graffen,

the directing Burgomaster. MM. Doormann and Von
Graffen earnestly pointed out the impropriety of insert-

ing the article ; but M. Forshmann referred to his order,

and added that the compliance of tlie Senate on tins

point was the only means of avoiding great mischief.

The Burgomaster and the Syndic, finding themselves

thus forced to admit the article, entreated that the fol-

lowing passage at least might be suppressed :
" I know a

certain chief, who, in defiance of all lav/s divine and hu-

man,— in contempt of the hatred he inspires in Europe,

as well as among those whom he has reduced to be his

subjects, keeps possession of a usurped throne by violence

and crime. His insatiable ambition would subject all

Europe to his rule. But the time is come for avenging

the rights of nations. . .
/' M. Forshmann again referred

to his orders, and, with some degree of violence, insisted

on the insertion of the article in its complete form. The
Burgomaster then authorised the editor of the " Corre-

spondant " to print the article that night, and M. Forsh-

mann, having obtained that authority, carried the article

to the office at half-past eleven o'clock.

Such was the account given me by M. Doormann. I

observed that I did not understand how the imaginary

apprehension of any violence on the part of Russia should

have induced him to admit so insolent an attack upon the

most powerful sovereign in Europe, whose arms would

soon dictate laws to Germapy. The Syndic did not dis-

semble his fear of the Emperor's resentment, while at the
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same time he expressed a hope that the Emperor would

take into consideration the extreme difficulty of a small

power maintaining neutrality in the extraordinary cir-

cumstances in which Hamburg was placed, and that the

articles might he said to have heen presented almost at

the point of the Cossacks' spears. M. Doormann added

that a refusal, which would have brought Kussian troops

to Hamburg, might have been attended by very unpleas-

ant consequences to me, and might have committed the

Senate in a very different way. I begged of him, once

for all, to set aside in these affairs all consideration of my
personal danger; and the Syndic, after a conversation of

more than two hours, departed more uneasy in his mind

than v/hen he arrived, and conjuring me to give a faith-

ful report of the facts as they had happened.

M. Doormann was a very worthy man, and I gave a

favourable representation of his excuses and of the readi-

ness which he had always evinced to keep out of the

" Correspondant " articles hostile to France ; as, for ex-

ample, the commencement of a proclamation of the

Emperor of Germany to his subjects, and a complete

proclamation of the King of Sweden. As it happened,

the good Syndic escaped with nothing worse than a

fright ; I was myself astonished at the success of my
intercession. I learned from the Minister for Foreign

Affairs that the Emperor w^as furiously indignant on

reading the article, in which the French Army was out-

raged as well as he. Indeed, he paid but little attention

to insults directed against himself personally. Their

eternal repetition had inured him to them ; but at the

idea of his army being insulted he was violently enraged,

and uttered the most terrible threats.

It is worthy of remark that the Swedish and English

Ministers, as soon as they read the article, waited upon

the editor of the " Correspondant," and expressed their
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astoiiisliment that such a libel should have been pub-

lished. " Victorious armies," said they, " should be an-

swered by cannon-balls, and not by insults as gross as

they are ridiculous." Tliis opinion was shared by all the

foreigners at that time in Hamburg.



CHAPTER XXXIV.

1805.

The brief detail I have given, in the two or three pre-

ceding chapters, of the events which occurred previously

to and during the campaign of Austerlitz, with the letters

of Duroc and Bernadotte, may afford the reader some idea

of my situation during the early part of my I'esidence in

Hamburg. Events succeeded each other with such in-

credible rapidity as to render my labour excessive. My
occupations were different, but not less laborious, than

those which I formerly performed when near the Em-
peror; and, besides, I was now loaded with a responsi-

bility which did not attach to me as the private secretary

of General Bonaparte and the First Consul. I had, in

fact, to maintain a constant watch over the emigrants in

Altona, which was no easy matter,— to correspond daily

with the Minister for Foreign Affairs and the Minister of

Police,— to confer with the foreign Mmisters accredited

at Hamburg,— to maintain active relations with the com-

manders of the French Army,— to interrogate my secret

agents, and keep a strict surveillance over their proceed-

ings ; it was, besides, necessary to be unceasingly on the

watch for scurrilous articles against Napoleon in the

"Hamburg Correspondant." I shall frequently have

occasion to speak of all these things, and especially of

the most marked emigrants, in a manner less irregular,

because what I have hitherto said may, in some sort, be

VOL. II.— 29
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considered merely as a summary of all the facts relating

to the occurrences which daily passed before my eyes.

In the midst of these multifarious and weighty occu-

pations, I received a packet with the Strasburg postmark
at the time the Empress was in that city. This packet

had not the usual form of a diplomatic despatch, and the

superscription announced that it came from the residence

of Josephine. My readers, I venture to presume, will not

experience less gratification than I did on a perusal of

its contents, which will be found at the end of this chap-

ter ; but before satisfying the curiosity to which I have

perhaps given birth, I may here relate that one of the

peculiarities of Bonaparte was a fondness of extempore

narration ; and it appears he had not discontinued the

practice eveir after he became Emperor.

In fact, Bonaparte, during the first year after his eleva-

tion to the Imperial throne, usually passed those evenings

in the apartments of the Empress which he could steal from

public business. Tlirowing himself on a sofa, he would

remain absorbed in gloomy silence, which no one dared to

interrupt. Sometimes, however, on the contrary, he would
give the reins to his vivid imagination and his love of the

marvellous, or, to speak more correctly, his desire to pro-

duce effect, which was perhaps one of his strongest pas-

sions, and would relate little romances, which were

always of a fearful description, and in unison with the

natural turn of his ideas. During those recitals the

ladies-in-waiting were always present,— to one of whom
I am indebted for the following story, which she had writ-

ten nearly in the words of Napoleon. " Never," said this

lady in her letter to me, " did the Emperor appear more

extraordinary. Led away by the subject, he paced the

salon with hasty strides ; the intonations of his voice

varied according to the characters of the personages he

brought on the scene ; he seemed to multiply himself in
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order to play the different parts, and no person needed

to feign the terror which he really inspired, and which he

loved to see depicted in the countenances of those who sur-

rounded him." In this tale I have made no alterations,

as can be attested by those who, to my knowledge, have

a copy of it. It is curious to compare the impassioned

portions of it with the style of Napoleon in some of the

letters addressed to Josephine.



GIULTO,

A STORY BY THE EMPEROR NAPOLEON I.

I.

In the city of Rome appeared a mysterious being who pre-

tended to unveil the secrets of futurity, and who was enveloped

in so much obscurity that even its sex w^s an object of doubt

and discussion. Some, in relating the strange predictions which

they had heard from tlie mouth of this being, described the form

and the features of a woman, while others justified their terror

by depicting a hideous monster.

The abode of this oracle was in one of the suburbs of Rome,
in a deserted palace, where the delusions of superstition were a

sufficient protection from popular curiosity. No one knew tlie

period of the arrival of this singular being ; everything con-

nected with her existence was shrouded in impenetrable mystery.

Nothing was spoken of in Rome but the Sibyl, the appellation

by which she was generally known ; every one was anxious to

consult the oracle, but few had courage to cross the threshold of

her dwelling. On approaching it the greatest number of the

curious were seized with a feeling of horror, which they could

only attribute to a fatal presentiment, and fled as if forcibly

repelled by an invisible hand.

II.

Camillo, a young Roman of a noble family, resolved to ex-

plore the retreat of the Sibyl, and entreated Giulio, his intimate

friend, to be the companion of his adventure. Giulio, being of
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a timid and irresolute character, at first declined the invitation

of his friend. It was not a dread of any unknown peril wliich

produced this hesitation, but he shuddered at tlie idea of seeing

tiie salutary veil withdrawn which concealed the future. At
length, however, he yielded to the persuasions of his friend.

The day was fixed, and together they proceeded to the fatal

palace ; the gate opened as of its own accord, and the two friends

immediately entered. They wandered for some tiuie through

the deserted apartments, and at length found themselves in a

gallery divided by a black curtain with this inscription : If you

wish to know your destiny, pass beyond this curtain ; but prepare

yourself by prayer. Giulio experienced the most violent agi-

tation, and sank involuntarily on his knees. Was he already

under the influence of a mysterious power ? In a few moments
the youths, raising the curtain, drew their swords and penetrated

into the sanctuary. A female approached them : she was young,

perhaps even beautiful ; but her aspect defied and repelled all

examination; the cold immobility of death, strangely combined

with the motions of life, formed the expression of her counte-

nance. How find words to define or depict those supernatural

beings, who doubtless inhabit regions where human language is

unknown 1 Giulio shuddered, and turned away his eyes ; Ca-

millo cast down his, and the Sibyl inquired the motive of their

visit. Camillo answered her, but she listened not to his words,

her whole attention seemed absorbed by Giulio ; she was agi-

tated, trembled, extended one hand as if about to seize him, and
suddenly stepped back. Camillo reiterated his request to be

instructed in the secrets of his destiny ; slie consented, and
Giulio withdrew. After a short conference Camillo rejoined

his friend, whom he found buried in a profound reverie. " Go,"

said he to him, smiling, " take courage, for I myself have learned

nothing very awful ; the Sibyl promised that I should espouse

your sister Giuliana (a thing already agreed on),— only slie added
that ' a trifling accident would for a short time retard our union !

'

"

Giulio, in his turn, stepped beyond the fatal curtain, and
Camillo remained in the gallery. Very soon he heard a fearful

cry, and, recognising the voice of his friend, flew to his aid.
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Giulio was on bis knees before tbe Sibyl, wbo, waving over bis

bead a wand, pronounced tbese awful words :
" Love witbout

bounds ! Sacrilege ! Murder !
" Caniillo, seized witb borror,

approacbed Giulio, wbo, pale and motionless, could not support

bimself. To bis interrogation be could obtain no reply from

bis friend, wbo vaguely repeated tbe fatal words, Love ivithout

boitnds ! Miirder ! Sacrilege

!

[These words were pronounced in a lugubrious tone by Bonaparte.]

Camillo at lengtb succeeded in conducting Giulio to bis bome,

and tbe moment be could find a pretext for leaving bim, be flew

to make another visit to tbe Sibyl : be bad resolved to question

and compel ber to give an explanation of what she bad said;

but tbe place was deserted : tbe curtain, tbe inscription, — all

bad disappeared ; there remained no trace of tbe magician, wbo
was never seen again.

III.

Several weeks flew away ; tbe marriage of Camillo was fixed,

and Giulio seemed to have recovered bis tranquillity. His

friend avoided speaking to bim on the prediction, in the hope

that the horrible scene would be gradually effaced from bis

memory. On tbe day preceding that fixed for tbe marriage of

Camillo tbe Marquis di Cosmo, the father of Giulio, fell from

bis horse, and though be received no serious injury, this acci-

dent delayed tbe nuptials. Giulio, bis sister, and Camillo,

surrounded the coucb of tbe marquis, deploring the delay of

their happiness. A sudden recollection darted into tbe mind
of Camillo ; he exclaimed aloud, " The prediction of the Sibyl

is accomplished." This exclamation threw Giulio into the

greatest agitation ; from that moment be shut bimself up in

bis own apartment, and avoided all society. He admitted only

a venerable monk who bad been bis tutor, and witb bim be

held long and mysterious conferences. Camillo no longer

sought entrance to the apartment of bis friend ; be perceived

that be especially it was whom Giulio sought to avoid.
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The clay so anxiously anticipated at length arrived, and Ca-

millo and Giuliana were united. But Giulio did not attend the

nuptials ; he ha<l left the paternal roof, and every attempt to

discover his retreat proved unavailing. His father was in

despair, when about the termination of a month he received

the following letter :
—

My Father, — Spare your useless search, my resolution is fixed.

Nothing can change it. Dispose of your wealth ; Giulio is dead to

the world. It gi'ieves me to leave you ; but I must fly from a hor-

rible destiny. Adieu ! forget the ill-fated

Giulio.

This letter, which bore no date, was left by a stranger, who
departed the moment he had delivered it. The marquis in-

terrogated the monk, who alone could enable him to recover

his fugitive son ; but entreaties and threats proved equally

ineffectual either to persuade or to intimidate the ecclesiastic.

He was not ignorant, he replied, of the designs of Giulio,

and for a long time opposed them ; but he had found him

so firmly resolved that he became at last convinced it was

bis duty to acquiesce in his project ; he knew the ]>lace of

his retreat, but declared that no power on earth could

induce him to betray secrets confided to him under the seal

of confession.

IV.

Giulio had gone to Naples, and from thence had embarked

for Messina ; he intended to enter a Dominican monastery

recommended to him by his confessor. The piety of Father

Ambrosio, the Superior of this monastery, was too sincere, and

his mind too enlightened, to take advantage of the disturbed

imagination of a youth, and Giulio in vain supplicated him to

dispense with his novitiate, — he would not consent. Giulio

was obliged to submit to this probation, but his resolution

remained unshaken ; he was under the dominion of a strange

delusion, and believed be had only the power to escape from
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his destiny by embracing a monastic life. The image of the

Sibyl pursued him ; lier words rung continually in his ear,

Love witlioul bounds ! Sacrilege ! Murder I The cloister seemed
to him to be the only refuge which could shield him from love

and from crime. Unhappy youth ! as if the walls, the vow.-?,

or the rules of a monastery could counteract the decrees of

fate !

The year of his novitiate expired. Giulio pronounced the

vows ; he believed himself happy, and felt at least an abate-

ment of the torments that he had suffered. The idea of the

sacrifice he had consummated was not for a moment present to

his mind, to trouble or sadden his thoughts. But on the even-

ing of the solemn day on which he renounced the world for

ever, at the moment when he was about to retire to his cell, he

met one of the monks, who took his hand, and pressing it

affectionately said to him, " Brother, it is for ever." The
words /or ever appalled Giulio. How marvellous the power of

a word over a weak and superstitious mind ! Giulio now for

the first time seemed sensible of the extent of his sacrifice ; he

regarded himself as a being already dead, for time Avas no

more. He became melancholy, and appeared to support with

difficulty the weight of existence.

Father Ambrosio beheld with compassion the situation of

the young man ; it was sufficient to know that he was unhappy
to create in the bosom of the Superior the tenderest interest

in his behalf, and he thought that employment would prove

best calculated to dispel his melancholy. Giulio was eloquent,

and Ambrosio appointed him preacher to the monastery. His

reputation rapidly spread, and crowds flocked from all parts

to hear him. He was young and handsome, and, doubtless,

the mystery which surrounded him imparted an additional

charm to his words.

The time approached for the celebration of a grand festival,

at which the King of isaples and his whole Court were to be
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present. Giulio was appointed to pronounce the panegyric

upon St. Thomas, the patron saint of the monastery, and the

most splendid preparations were made for the occasion. The
day arrived ; immense crowds filled the church ; Giulio could

with difficulty make his way through them, in order to reach

the pulpit, when in the midst of his exertions his cowl fell

back and exposed his countenance to view. At the same mo-

ment he heard a voice exclaim, " Good God, how handsome !

"

Agitated and surprised, he involuntarily turned, and saw a

female, whose eyes were fixed on him with the most penetrating

expression. That moment sufficed to give a colour to the

future existence of those two beings. Giulio delivered his ser-

mon, and as soon as he found himself at liberty ran and shut

himself up in his cell ; but it was not to devote himself to his

usual meditations. Pursued by the image of the unknown
female, experiencing feelings altogether new to him, restless,

unhappy, he found no repose. Yet it seemed to him that he

only began to exist when he heard that voice, the tones of

which thrilled to the inmost recesses of his heart. He durst

not glance towards the future. Alas ! of what avail could it

be? his destiny was fixed. Every morning when he celebrated

Mass, every morning he beheld on the same spot a veiled

female ; he knew her, but durst not even indulge in the wish to

behold her features, though he eagerly fixed his gaze on the

veil. He watched all her motions ; he perceived, as it were,

the very pulsations of her heart, and his own responded to

them. Witliout resolution to tear himself from the dangerous

indulgence, he trembled to analyse his sensations; he recoiled

from the truth. His whole life seemed concentrated in those

few moments ; the rest of his days were an absolute blank.

He wished to fly. " If to-morrow she reappears in the church,"

he at length said to himself, " I shall return thither no more."

Armed by this resolution, he thought himself safe ; and he

appeared to experience greater tranquillity. Next day he

repaired to the church somewhat earlier than usual. She was
not there. When the congregation had departed, he approached

the seat of the unknown, and saw her prayer-book. He seized
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it, opened it, and upon the first leaf read the name of

Theresa. Now, then, he could call her by her name ; he

could repeat it a thousand and a thousand times. " Theresa !

Theresa !" murmured he in a low voice, as if he feared to be

heard, though alone. Since she had not reappeared, he need

not scruple to return to the church. Days and weeks flew

away, and Theresa was still absent.

VI.

Theresa, the wife of an old man whom she loved as a father,

found her liappiness in the fulfilment of her duties, and

dreamed not that there existed a different species of existence

from that which she had hitherto experienced. She saw Giulio,

and her peace fled for ever. In a soul ardent as Theresa's

the first serious passion she felt must decide the fate of her

life. She adored Giulio. Until this critical moment her

husband had been the confidant of all her thoughts ; but she

spoke not to him of Giulio. The reserve was painful, and

seemed a crime in her own eyes. She perceived that there was

a danger to be avoided, and abstained from attending Mass. In

the hope of calming the agitation of her soul, Theresa deter-

mined to have recourse to confession, and for this purpose

returned to the church of the Dominicans. Making choice of

the hour when she knew Giulio would be occupied, she

approached the confessional, and on her knees related all that

she liad felt since the day of the festival of St. Thomas ; the

delight she had in beholding Giidio, the remorse consequent on

that indulgence, and the courage with which she had relin-

quished it ; but she feared that her resolution would soon fail.

" What ought I to do ? " exclaimed she ;
" have pity on a mis-

erable sinner !
" Her tears fell in torrents,— her agitation was

extreme. Scarcely had she ceased speaking when a threatening

voice pronounced these words :
" Unhappy woman ! what sac-

rilege !
" Giulio, for it was he himself that destiny had con-

ducted to receive this avowal, at these words darted from the

confessional. Theresa, still on her knees, arrested his steps,
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and seizing his robe supplicated him to retract his malediction :

she implored him in the name of his salvation, — she implored

him in the name of love. Giulio replied but very feebly.

" Theresa, Theresa," cried he at last, " leave this place ! very

soon my resolution will vanish." At these words Theresa threw

herself on his bosom, and encircled him with her arms. " Tell

me," she ejaculated, " oh ! tell me that I am beloved before

I separate myself from thee !

"

Giulio, agitated and taken by surprise, for a moment returned

her caresses, and pressed her to his heart; but suddenly struck

by a recollection of the prediction, he vowed to fly from her

for ever, and, without any explanation, exacted from her a

similar oath. Theresa, wdiolly abandoned to her passion,

scarcely comprehended the import of his words, and consented

to all that he dictated. What, in fact, imported to her his

language 1 It was sufficient that he loved her ; she was certain

of seeing him again.

Giulio shuddered at the imprudence of which he had been

guilty ; but it was too late to avoid the danger ; he could not

escape from his destiny. He was already a prey to love without

bounds; the sacrilege was already committed. Had he not

avowed his passion, even within the very walls of that sacred

temple, where he had so recently pronounced the vows of

sanctity 1 and yet he had sworn to fly from Theresa for ever.

Strange inconsistency of the human heart ! what ought to have

been his chastisement was his consolation. But in this painful

struggle the unfortunate Giulio saw only misery before him.

Theresa was less terrified. She was a woman ; Giulio had
declared that he loved her, and she could brave whatever else

of evil fate had in store. With what delight she dwelt on their

brief interview ! One such hour teemed with more remem-
brances than a whole life without love. She forgot her deter-

mination to avoid Giulio ; she returned to the church,— she

again saw him, and he too seemed to have forgotten his oath.

His whole existence was absorbed by his passion, and when he

beheld Theresa the universe disappeared from before his eyes.

They avoided conversing together. Giulio, in the absence of
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Theresa, experienced the most bitter remorse ; but a single

glance from her recalled the fatal charm which held captive his

soul. At length he resolved to speak to her, and to bid her an

eternal adieu.

VII.

At the gate of the monastery stood a poor woman and her

child who were supported by Theresa. Little Carlo often

followed her to church with her prayer-book, and performed

his devotions by her side. Giulio, who dared not approach

Theresa, bade Carlo inform her that Father Giulio would attend

her in the confessional at sevoi o'clock in the evening. How
wretchedly passed this day with Giulio ! he shuddered at the

idea of meeting Theresa alone. He feared that he should be

wanting in resolution to say adieu ! he could never resolve to

do so. He determined not to see her, but to write, and Carlo

was charged to deliver his letter to her as she entered the

church. Theresa, on receiving this first message, was much
agitated. Nevertheless, she failed not to repair to the church at

the appointed hour. Carlo placed in her hand the letter, which

she opened with extreme emotion ; but how great was her

despair on reading its contents.

" Fly, imprudent woman, and no more sully by thy presence

the sanctity of this holy fane ! Banish a remembrance which

is the torment of my life. I never loved you ! I will never

see you more !

"

This resolution pierced the heart of Theresa : she could have

struggled against her remorse; but Giulio loved her not, — he

had never loved her ! — her remorse was less bitter than those

words ! She was attacked by a violent fever, wdiich threatened

to deprive her of life ; the name of Giulio often rose to her lips,

but love protected it even in her delirium. His name was

not betrayed ; she only murmured from time to time in a low

voice, " I never loved tliee !

"

Had Giulio in the mean time succeeded in recovering his

tranquillity, or stifling his remorse 1 No, his sufferings were
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extreme. After having declared to Theresa that he never loved

her, he wholly abandoned himself to his fatal passion. The
sacritice seemed to him sufficient, — so terrible had been the

effort to write that letter ! Oh, Theresa ! if thou couldst know
what it cost the unhappy Giulio, thine own grief would be for-

gotten in commiseration for his sufferings ! Giulio was a prey

to the most tormenting inquietude ; three months had flown

away, and he had heard no news of Theresa ; time seemed still

further to inflame his passion, and he now wholly avoided

society. Having, on the plea of ill-health, obtained a dispen-

sation from F'ather Ambrosio, he relinquished his public func-

tions, shut himself up in his cell, or wandered during the night

amongst the tombs of the brethren, thus encouraging the fatal

morbidness of his feelings, having neither the strength of mind
to subdue his passion nor yet to yield himself up to it. Dis-

tracted, above all, by the agonising pangs of suspense, which

sap the springs of life, he could neither review the past with

satisfaction nor look forward to the future with hape.

VIII.

The long and tedious malady of Theresa was succeeded by a

state of weakness not less alarming ; she thought her end

approached, and wished to fulfil the last duties of religion.

Her husband, who tenderly loved her, was convinced that some

hidden sorrow was hurrying her to the tomb ; but, respecting

her silence, he forbore to question her on the subject. He
entreated Father Ambrosio, who was held in great veneration,

to visit Theresa. Ambrosio promised to comply with his

request, but an unforeseen circumstance prevented him from

fulfilling this promise; he directed Giulio to go in his stead to

the house of Signer Vivaldi, the husband of Theresa, to

administer consolation to a dying female. Alas ! Giulio,

himself the victim of despair, had only tears and sighs, instead

of consolation, to offer. He would have excused himself, but

Ambrosio refused to exempt him from this duty, and he there-
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fore repaired to the residence of Vivaldi. He was conducted

into a dimly lighted apartment, where a numerous circle of sor-

rowing friends surrounded the bed of the patient. On his en-

trance every one withdrew, and Giulio was alone with the invalid.

Agitated by an indefinable emotion, he remained immovable and

irresolute. " Holy father," said the dying woman, " has

Heaven mercy in store for a wretched sinner?" Scarcely

were these words uttered when Giulio fell on his knees before

the bed. " Theresa ! Theresa !
" he ejaculated. Who can de-

pict the feelings of the lovers 1 Explanation was useless . . .

they loved. Giulio related all that he had suffered for her, and

accused himself as the cause of her sufferings. " Pardon ! oh,

pardon, Theresa. Giulio is thine for ever." These words re-

animated Theresa ; she could not speak, but she beheld Giulio,

she heard his voice, she pressed his hand ; to die thus appeared

more sweet to her than life. Giulio folded her in his arms ; he

Avould have prolonged her life at the expense of his own :

" Thou shalt live ! thy lover is with thee ! My Theresa ! speak

to me ! am I not again to hear thee 1
" The sound of his voice

seemed to reanimate the strength of Theresa :
" I love you,

Giulio ! I love you !
" murmured she. These words were life to

him. What need had she to say more 1 The moments in

which they conversed together flew rapidly away ; the certainty

of seeing each other again gave them courage to separate.

Theresa recovered her health. Giulio visited her every day.

A delightful intimacy reigned between them, and the lover

appeared to forget his scruples and his remorse. "Wholly

engrossed by Theresa, he watched with the most tender interest

the progress of her recovery ; he durst not afflict her ; he per-

ceived that her life depended on him, and this pretext for

continuing their intercourse he interpreted as a duty.

IX.

Two years had elapsed since he left Rome, and on the second

anniversary of the fatal predictions of the Sibyl he sank into a

gloomy reverie. Theresa longed to know the cause of his sad-
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ness : she had never questioned him on the subject ; but before

she could share his sorrows it was necessary to know tlie cause

whence they arose. Giulio related to her his interview with the

Sibyl, and his flight from the paternal roof. In the course of

this recital all his horriltle feelings were revived, and he exclaimed

in an accent of terror: ^^ Love ! Sacrilege/ Murder f^* Tlie

emotion of Theresa was extreme, but the word love threw

a fatal spell over her heart and her imagination ; and when
Giulio repeated " Sacrilege ! Miirder

!

" she softly replied,

"Love!" thinking thus to calm the agitation of his spirit,

because with her love was everything. Sometimes Giulio, led

away by the violence of his passion, fixed on her a look which

she dared not meet ; she felt his heart palpitate, his frame

tremble, and a dangerous silence succeeded to those tumultuous

emotions.

They were, however, happy, for they were not yet criminal.

Giulio was obliged to be absent on an important mission, with

which he was intrusted by Father Ambrosio. He had not

courage to utter an adieu to Theresa, but he wrote to her,

promising a speedy return. However, he was detained by
numerous obstacles, and it was more than a month before he

returned to Messina.

On his arrival he hastened to Theresa, whom he found alone

on a terrace overlooking the shore, absorbed in thoughts of her

lover. Never before had she appeared to him so beautiful, so

seducing. He gazed on her for a moment in ecstasy, but not

long could he resist the temptation of addressing her, of hearing

her voice. He spoke ; she perceived him, and flew into his arms.

In a delirium of passion Giulio at first responded to all her feel-

ings ; but suddenly starting back with horror, he fell on his

knees, and remained with his hands clasped, his eyes fixed, and
in a state of the most dreadful agitation. His deadly paleness

and the wild expression of his countenance rendered this scene

truly dreadful to Theresa. She durst not approacli him, and for

the first time could not share his emotions. "Theresa," said he

at length, mournfully, "we must separate! you know not all

you have to fear !" Theresa scarcely understood his words, but
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slie saw his agitation, and endeavoured to calm it ; but he again

repulsed her. " In the name of Heaven," cried he, " approach

me not!" She stood trembling and motionless. She knew
only the tenderness of love, and was unacquainted with its mad-

ness. Giulio, impatient at her silence, abruptly started up :

" To-morrow," he said, " my fate shall be decided ;
" and darted

away without giving Theresa time to reply.

[The Emperor put extraordinary animation into the recitation of

the dialogue in this scene. It is a mistake to say that he took lessons

from Talma. He might perhaps have given them to Talma.]

X.

The next day Theresa received the following billet :
—

" Theresa, I cannot again see you ; I am unhappy in your presence.

I know you cannot comprehend what I feel. Theresa, you must be

mine, but it must be with your own free will. Never could I have

the courage to take advantage of your weakness. Yesterday you saw

it. I tore myself from your arms because you said not, ' I will be

thine.' Reflect seriously ; we are lost for ever! Oh, Theresa ! eter-

nal perdition ! how terrible these words ! even in thy arms they will

interpose between me and happiness. For us there is no longer

peace ; death, the only refuge, is not a refuge for us. To-morrow, if

you wish to see me— and you know the price — to-morrow send

Carlo to church. If he bring your prayer-book, that Avill indicate

that you renounce Giulio ; if not, then thou art mine for ever! For

ever belongs to eternity ; how dare I pronounce the words ! Adieu."

Theresa, gentle and timid by nature, was overwhelmed with

terror on perusing this letter ; the words eternal jyerdition seemed

to her a terrible malediction. " Giulio," she ejaculated, " we

were happy ! why could not that happiness satisfy you 1 " She

knew not on what to resolve ; to see him no more was impossible,

and yet .she exclaimed, " Remorse will pursue him withoiit ceas-

ing. Oh, Giulio ! thou ha.st confided to me thy de.'^tiny, and I

ought to sacrifice myself for thee." Carlo was ordered to carry

the book to the church, and he placed it on the seat usually

occupied by Theresa.
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Giulio, notwithstanding the violence of his passion, could

not resolve to possess Theresa without her own consent. Cruel

from his weakness, he wished to throw upon her the whole

responsibility of the crime. The church was empty when

Giulio saw the hoy enter and deposit the book upon the seat.

No longer master of himself, he darted forward, seized it, and,

giving it to Carlo, ordered liim to carry it back to his mistress.

Long he stood rooted to the spot where he had awaited the

decree of his fate and that of Theresa. At length, recover-

ing from the tumult of his feelings, " I will see her !
" he

murmured.

Carlo returned and delivered the book to Theresa, saying

Father Giulio had sent it. How great was the emotion of

Theresa ! she knew that Giulio would return, and she waited

for him on the terrace where they had last parted. At length

he appeared, but sad and gloomy, and approached with a falter-

ing step. Theresa penetrated what was passing in his mind,

and shuddered at the idea of this interview. She had assumed

the fortitude to refuse ; but on beholding her worshipped lover

so miserable she thought only of consoling him ;— she no

longer hesitated or trembled, but approaching whispered,

"Giuho, I am thine!"

[Here Bonaparte made a long pause.]

Giulio, overwhelmed with remorse, now became gloomy and

morose, even in the presence of Theresa : her most tender

caresses had no longer the power to soften him. But the love

of Theresa was, on the contrary, increased by the sacrifice she

had made. She secretly mourned the change that had taken

place in Giulio, but she forbore to complain, and flattered her-

self with the hope that she should yet be able to render him

happy, and that he would forget everything but her. Giulio,

far, however, from returning her affection, accused her as the

author of his misery :
" Thou hast seduced, thou hast destroyed

me; but for thee my soul had still been pure." His visits be-

came less frequent, and at last wliolly ceased. Theresa de-

manded to see him : she constantly frequented the church, and
VOL. II. — 30
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wrote to him daily. Her letters were sent back unopened, and

Giulio confined himself to his cell. But it helioved Theresa to

see him and confide to him a secret ; alas ! the secret that she

would at no distant period become a mother ! What would be

her fate should he persist in abandoning her 1 Knowing that

on the following Sunday Giulio was to celebrate Mass, she re-

solved not to neglect that opportunity, on which more than life

depended ; and this idea armed her with strength and courage.

XI.

Her whole attention during the two days which preceded her

expected interview with Giulio were employed in making prep-

arations for the flight she contemplated. The situation of the

monastery, on the sea-shore, would facilitate her project. She

bestowed not a moment's consideration on the place to which

they should direct their flight. Giulio would decide that ac-

cording to his pleasure : for except Giulio, all else was indifi"er-

ent to Theresa.

She had hired a small bark, and arranged everything with so

much prudence that no one suspected her design, so that she

had no fear of encountering any obstacles. The day so impa-

tiently expected at length arrived, and Theresa, enveloped in a

long black veil, approached the altar. Giulio did not recognise

her, while she watched all his motions ; and when the congre-

gation dispersed, she glided behind a column which Giulio must

pass on returning to the cloisters. On his approach she per-

ceived that he was more than ever a prey to sorrow. His arms

were folded across his breast, and his head bent forward. He

walked with the gloomy and lagging step of a criminal.

Theresa witnessed this with profound grief ; she would have

sacrificed her own life to secure his repose, but she durst no

longer hesitate : the innocent being to whom she would soon

give birth, demanded of her a father. She presented herself

before Giulio. " Stop," slie exclaimed, " I must speak to you
;

you must listen to me ! Never will I leave you until you give

me the key of the garden of the monastery. I 7nust have it.
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Oh, Giulio ! it is not my life alone that depends on you !
" At

these words Giulio believed that a fearful apparition had arisen

before him. " Wretched woman ! what meanest thou 1 De-

part ! fly from this ])lace !
" But Theresa threw herself at his

feet, and vowed that she would not stir until he had granted

her request. All tlae eftbrts of Giulio to escape were ineffectual.

Theresa seemed endowed with almost supernatural strength.

" Swear," said she, "that you will meet me at midnight," As
she spoke, Giulio was startled at hearing a slight noise, and gave

her the key. "At midnight," said hej and they separated.

XII.

Theresa repaired at the appointed time to the garden. The
night was dark. She durst not call on Giulio for fear of dis-

covery ; but in a short time she heard approaching footsteps,—
they were those of Giulio. " Speak your purpose," said he,

" the moments are precious. Cease to pursue a wretch who
can never reader you happy. Theresa, I adore you ! without

you life is an unsupportable burden : yet even in your arms I

experience the torments of remorse,— torments which impoison

our most rapturous moments. Thou hast witnessed my de-

spair. How often have I reproached thee 1 Pardon me,

adored Theresa ! it is just I should punish myself. I re-

nounce thee, and this sacrifice will expiate my crime." He
ceased speaking, almost suffocated by his grief. Theresa en-

deavoured to console him by anticipating greater happiness for

the future. " Giulio," said she, " had it been only for myself

I would not have sought this interview. Like you, I fear not

death ; but the pledge of our love demanded that I should see

you. Come, then, Giulio, let us depart ! — everything is pre-

pared for our flight." Giulio, a prey to tlie most horrible feel-

ings, suffered himself to be conducted by her , a few moments
and they would be united for ever. But suddenlj' disengag-

ing himself from the arms of Theresa, " No," exclaimed he,

" never !
" and he plunged a poniard into her bosom.
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[In pronouncing these words the Emperor, approaching the Em-
press, made the motion of drawing a dagger. The illusion was so

great that the ladies shrieked with horror. Bonaparte, like a con-

summate actor, continued his recital without appearing to notice the

effect he had produced.]

She fell, and Giulio was covered with her blood. Rooted to

the spot, and with a wandering eye, he long contemplated his

victim. Day began to dawn, and the bell of the monastery rang

for matin service. Giulio raised the lifeless form of her who

had so devotedly loved him, and threw it into the sea. In a

state of frenzy he rushed into the church. His blood-stained

garments, and the dagger in his hand declared him a murderer

!

He offered no resistance on being seized, and -was nevermore

seen

!

[The Empress pressed Napoleon to relate the fate of Giulio. He
replied— ]

The secrets of the cloister are impenetrable.

[The story of Giulio is not fictitious. Previously to the Revo-

lution an adventure of a similar kind occurred in a convent at

Lyons, of which the documents fell into the hands of Bona-

parte, and furnished him with the basis of this tale. I have

frequently heard him relate such stories, which he always did

in a dimly lighted apartment in order to produce greater effect.

I experienced more pleasure in reading Giulio from being able

to recall to mind the varied tones of his voice, his action, his

look, and the gestures with which he accompanied those im-

provisations. I can aflfirm that in no case whatever are words

of ^schines more applicable :
" What then would it have been

had yourself heard him ]
"]
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